
BCP Council Offices, Town Hall, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY 

 

 
 

 

Notice of Cabinet 
 

Date: Wednesday, 27 May 2020 at 10.00 am 

Venue: Skype Meeting 

 

Membership: 

Chairman: 
Cllr V Slade 

Vice Chairman: 
Cllr M Howell 

Cllr L Allison 
Cllr D Brown 
Cllr L Dedman 
 

Cllr A Hadley 
Cllr S Moore 
Cllr M Phipps 
 

Cllr Dr F Rice 
Cllr K Wilson 
 

 

All Members of the Cabinet are summoned to attend this meeting to consider the items of 
business set out on the agenda below. 
 
The press and public are welcome to view the live feed from the Skype meeting at: 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=4252&Ver=4 
 
If you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please 
contact: Sarah Culwick (01202 795273) or email democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries should be directed to the Press Office: Tel: 01202 454668 or 
email press.office@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
  
This notice and all the papers mentioned within it are available at democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

 

A
v
a

ila
b
le

 o
n

lin
e
 a

n
d

 

o
n
 t

h
e
 M

o
d
.g

o
v
 a

p
p
 

 

 

 

 

 
GRAHAM FARRANT 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

 

7 May 2020 
 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=4252&Ver=4


 

 tanya.coulter@bcpcouncil.gov.uk  

tanya.coulter@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

mailto:tanya.coulter@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


 

 

AGENDA 
Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public 

1.   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies for absence from Councillors. 
 

 

2.   Declarations of Interests  

 Councillors are requested to declare any interests on items included in this 
agenda. Please refer to the workflow on the preceding page for guidance. 

Declarations received will be reported at the meeting. 
 

 

3.   Confirmation of Minutes 9 - 12 

 To confirm and sign as a correct record the minutes of the Meeting held on 
22 April 2020. 
 

 

4.   Public Issues  

 To receive any public questions, statements or petitions submitted in 
accordance with the Constitution. Further information on the requirements 
for submitting these is available to view at the following link:- 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=15
1&Info=1&bcr=1 

The deadline for the submission of public questions is Wednesday 20 May 
2020. 

The deadline for the submission of a statement is 12.00 noon, Tuesday 26 
May 2020. 

The deadline for the submission of a petition is 12.00 noon, Tuesday 26 
May 2020. 
 

 

5.   Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board  

 To consider recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board on 
items not otherwise included on the Cabinet Agenda. 
 

 

6.   Update on BCP Council's Response to the Covid-19 Pandemic 13 - 24 

 This report provides a further update to the report summarising the 
Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic, which was presented to 
Cabinet in April 2020. 
 

 

7.   BCP Council Finance Update 25 - 48 

 The country is currently facing the biggest public health emergency for a 
generation. This will require urgent and decisive action by the council to 
support its community while also supporting the integrity of the council’s 
financial position and sustainability. 
 
 
 

 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1


 
 

 

 

8.   Bournemouth Development Company LLP Business Plan 49 - 102 

 1. Bournemouth Development Company llp (“BDC”) is a joint venture 
between the Council and wholly owned subsidiary of Morgan Sindall 
Investments Ltd. 

 
2. This report summarises the BDC 5 year rolling business plan, with a 

particular emphasis on the programme of activity for 2020/21. This is the 
eighth update of the plan since BDC was formed in February 2011 and 
has been updated to reflect the recently approved Corporate Strategy. 

 
 

 

9.   Seascape Group Limited 5 Year Strategic Plan (2020-25) 103 - 122 

 The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the Seascape Group 
Limited 5-year Strategic Plan. 

Seascape Group Limited’s Strategic Plan sets out a 5 year vision for the 
period 2020-25 for how the Group will continue to deliver and grow its 
quality services, support communities and help deliver the Council’s 
Corporate Strategy.  

The activities within Seascape Group Limited will contribute towards the 
Council’s key objectives in many ways but primarily by ensuring 
investment in the homes needed, tackling homelessness and rough 
sleeping, and supporting people to live safe and independent lives. 

The Strategic Plan 2020-25 has been approved by the Directors of 
Seascape Group Limited, and those of the subsidiary companies, and sets 
out the growth ambitions moving forwards.  The Plan builds on the existing 
activities, bringing in additional expertise and capacity to help drive a step-
change in delivery and generate increased financial returns for the Council 
as its sole shareholder. 

The ambitions set out in this Plan remain current despite the context of 
Covid-19.  However, the impact and timing of being able to deliver this Plan 
will be considered in due course once the full impact of Covid-19 is 
understood. 

 

 

10.   Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) Programme 123 - 140 

 To inform Cabinet of progress to date regarding the Department for 
Transport (DfT) based Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) award and process 

To seek delegated authority to the Director of Growth and Infrastructure in 
consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder through the TCF Governance 
Structure for decisions on delivery 

To inform Cabinet of proposed next steps regarding the TCF programme. 

 

 

11.   Delivery of Sprinkler Installation at Sterte Court 141 - 144 

 This paper brings forward the recommendation of the award of a new 
contract for the delivery of works to install a full sprinkler system to 
Residential Category 3 (flats and communal areas) at 1-57 & 58-114 Sterte 
Court.  These works will deliver a new sprinkler system in order to enhance 

 



 
 

 

fire safety management across the buildings. 
 

12.   Whitecliff Recreation Ground - Pavilion Redevelopment 145 - 152 

 In December 2017 Borough of Poole Cabinet approved the commencement 
of procurement to seek a developer to deliver enhanced sports changing, 
permanent catering and public toilet facilities within Whitecliff Pavilion - see 
Appendix 1. 

Through the planning application process, approval has been granted to 
redevelop the pavilion. The tender to find an operator to design, build, 
manage & maintain the facility is live with a closing date 1 July.  
Consultation has been undertaken with stakeholders, ward councillors and 
the public. 

There are covenants on Whitecliff Recreation Ground which restrict the 
commercial uses of the space.  They prevent the development of a full-
service café appealing to a wider clientele.  The developer will need 
maximum opportunity to build a successful business model for financial 
viability.  The café will provide a service for all park users and the income 
will cross subsidise the cost of running the changing rooms and public 
toilets.  The Council’s Estates Team tried to negotiate the release of the 
covenants but negotiations failed when the Council were asked to 
indemnify against possible future claims from other parties. 

If Cabinet agree to the appropriation - and delegate authority to officers to 
make the award of contract to the successful bidder - when the tender 
closes the development can be commenced. 

 

 

13.   Holes Bay, Poole (former power station site) acquisition strategy 153 - 182 

 To seek agreement for the Council to purchase the former power station 
site according to the defined terms set out in the report.  A potential 
purchase is proposed based on negotiations with the landowner and with 
support from both Homes England and the Dorset Local Enterprise 
Partnership (DLEP). 

[PLEASE NOTE: Should the Cabinet wish to discuss the detail of Appendix 
1 to the report the meeting will be required to move into Confidential 
(Exempt) session]. 
 

 

14.   Bournemouth Town Centre Vision (TCV): Winter Gardens Site – 
Regeneration Opportunities 

183 - 216 

 Cabinet on 12 February 2020 approved a number of decisions in relation to 

the Winter Gardens scheme relating to the funding and lease terms which 

will assist the ability to secure third party funding. 

The purpose of this report is to (i) seek approval for additional Council 

finance in accordance with the terms of the BDC Members Agreement to 

deliver the scheme and realise the scheme benefits and; (ii) consider the 

acquisition of certain elements of this strategically important scheme to 

enable the Council to meet its housing targets and long term regeneration 

objectives.  

The proposed financing structure for the Winter Gardens Scheme is made 

 



 
 

 

up of Third-Party Finance (Debt and Forward Funding) and what is termed 

under the BDC Members Agreement as “Member Loans”, Additional 

Council Finance and Additional Private Sector Partner (PSP) Finance. The 

relevant extract from the BDC members Agreement is set out at Appendix 

B. 

The Additional Council Funding requested will be in the form of a loan 

which will be repaid back at the end of the scheme in advance of 

development returns in accordance with Clause 7 and 26 of the BDC 

Members Agreement. 

A key part of the financing structure is to secure investors via the forward 

sales/funding of key elements such as the Public Car Park, Private Rented 

Sector units (PRS) and Age Friendly residential elements. 

In addition to agreeing the Additional Council Finance it is proposed that the 
Council acquire the Public Car Park and Private Rented Sector (PRS) 
elements of the scheme to  support its Corporate Plan objectives to deliver 
socio-economic benefits to the town and create Dynamic Places through 
strategic regeneration or redevelopment opportunities. 

The PRS element will be operated via the Council’s wholly owned 
company, Seascape Homes and Property Limited. 

The financial case for acquiring these elements is detailed in the 
confidential appendix attached to this report.  

The outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19), declared by the World 
Health Organisation as a “Global Pandemic” on 11 March 2020, has 
impacted global financial markets and market activity is being impacted in 
many sectors.  

The short to medium term impact of COVID-19 on the residential PRS 
market sector is unclear at this stage. The impact on the market and 
valuations will be constantly reviewed and considered as part of the due 
diligence still to be undertaken prior to completion. 

[PLEASE NOTE: Should the Cabinet wish to discuss the detail of Appendix 
D to the report the meeting will be required to move into Confidential 
(Exempt) session]. 
 

15.   Children's Services Capital Strategy 217 - 226 

 To seek approval of the Children’s Services Capital Strategy 2020/23 and 
the associated use of capital programme funds for 2020/21. 
 

 

16.   Traffic Regulation Orders 227 - 230 

 This covering report asks the Cabinet to consider representations made in 
response to the advertisement of a number of Traffic Regulation Orders. 

Additionally, Cabinet is asked to approve the sealing and advertisement of 
a number of other Traffic Regulation Orders. 
 

 

a)   Traffic Regulation Orders - Sub Report A - Aston Way 231 - 236 

b)   Traffic Regulation Orders - Sub Report B - Steeple Close and 
Tollerford Road 

237 - 242 



 
 

 

c)   Traffic Regulation Orders – Sub Report C - Dear Hay Lane 243 - 248 

d)   Traffic Regulation Orders – Sub Report D - North Street 249 - 252 

e)   Traffic Regulation Orders – Sub Report E - Sherwood Avenue 253 - 258 

f)   Traffic Regulation Orders - Sub Report F - Douglas Gardens 259 - 264 

g)   Traffic Regulation Orders – Sub Report G - Salterns Road 265 - 270 

h)   Traffic Regulation Orders – Sub Report H - Sunridge Close 271 - 278 

i)   Traffic Regulation Orders – Sub Report I - Southill Road/Sunnyside 
Road 

279 - 284 

j)   Traffic Regulation Orders – Sub Report J - Sealing of Traffic 
Regulation Orders Ref P16 2019 

285 - 304 

k)   Traffic Regulation Orders – Sub Report K - Sealing of Traffic 
Regulation Orders (Ref P17 2019) 

305 - 322 

l)   Traffic Regulation Orders – Sub Report L - Sealing of Traffic 
Regulation Order Ref P18 2019 

323 - 336 

17.   Cabinet Forward Plan  

 To consider the latest version of the Cabinet Forward Plan for approval. 
 

 

 
No other items of business can be considered unless the Chairman decides the matter is urgent for reasons that 
must be specified and recorded in the Minutes. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 – 1 – 
 

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL 
 

CABINET 
 

Minutes of the Meeting held on 22 April 2020 at 10.00 am 
 

Present:- 

Cllr V Slade – Chairman 

Cllr M Howell – Vice-Chairman (In the Chair) 

 
Present: Cllr L Allison, Cllr D Brown, Cllr L Dedman, Cllr A Hadley, 

Cllr S Moore, Cllr M Phipps, Cllr Dr F Rice and Cllr K Wilson 
 

Also in 
attendance: 

Cllr P Broadhead (Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board) 

 
In opening the meeting the Leader advised that the Deputy Leader 
Councillor Howell would be chairing the meeting as she was only able to 
join the skype meeting by phone due to technical issues. 
 

154. Declarations of Interests  
 
There were no declarations of interest made on this occasion. 
 

155. Confirmation of Minutes  
 
The Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 18 March 2020 were confirmed 
and signed as a correct record. 

Voting: Nem. Con 
 

156. Public Issues  
 
The Deputy Leader advised that there had been no public questions, 
statements or petitions received on this occasion. 
 

157. Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Board  
 
Cabinet were advised that there were no additional recommendations from 
the Overview and Scrutiny Board on items not otherwise included on the 
Cabinet Agenda on this occasion. 
 

158. BCP Council's response to the Covid-19 pandemic  
 
The Chief Executive presented a report, a copy of which had been 
circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as Appendix 'A' to 
these Minutes in the Minute Book. 
In presenting the report Chief Executive stressed that situation is constantly 
moving.  

Cabinet were requested to note the Council’s response to the Covid-19 
pandemic and in relation to this were informed of the many changes that 
had taken place including the way services were managed and the 

9

Agenda Item 3



– 2 – 

CABINET 
22 April 2020 

 
command structures within the Council. Further details were provided of 
some of the changes including the budgetary implications which were 
identified and in addition to this Cabinet were advised that a fundamental 
review was required of the Councils budget for the current financial year. 

The Leader addressed Cabinet advising of the challenges presented in 
both dealing with the implications of Covid-19 whilst still bringing the work 
of three Councils together. The Leader made particular mention of the 
networks she had been involved with and the work which had taken place 
in setting up the community resilience hub, which had taken place over a 
couple of days and gave credit to the officers involved.  

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed Cabinet 
advising that whilst there were no formal recommendations from the Boards 
recent meeting, that the Board had recognised that there was a lot of good 
work going on, whilst stressing the importance of having a full discussion 
with regards to the budget. 

Cabinet Members each provided an update in relation to the impact the 
Covid-19 pandemic was having within their Portfolio, and the work of 
officers was praised.  

RESOLVED that the Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic be 
noted. 
 

159. Capital Investment to Increase Special Educational Needs Capacity  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Children and Families presented a report, a copy of 
which had been circulated to each Member and a copy of which appears as 
Appendix 'B' to these Minutes in the Minute Book. 

Cabinet were advised that the number of children and young people 
assessed as requiring a place at a specialist education provision in the BCP 
area had increased in recent years. In relation to this Cabinet were advised 
that local provision to meet these needs is of high quality but that capacity 
had not been expanded sufficiently to meet this additional demand. 

Further to this Cabinet were advised that as a result, increased use has had 
to be made of local Independent and Non-Maintained special schools which 
are comparatively expensive and often located outside of the BCP area.  
The result of this has been significant pressure on the school Transport 
budgets. 

Cabinet were advised that in partnership with the BCP community of 
schools, a range of proposals have been developed to increase capacity 
and create new provision to meet the needs of these pupils, and that these 
will both deliver savings and ensure appropriate provision is available to 
meet needs closer to where children and young people live.  

Cabinet were informed that the report requested that funds are released to 
meet these costs, and that resources are available to support this 
investment from existing DfE ringfenced grant allocations for this purpose. 

The Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Board addressed Cabinet 
advising that whilst there were no formal comments from the recent 

10



– 3 – 

CABINET 
22 April 2020 

 
meeting of the Board that Members had recognised the work which had 
been carried out with secondary schools. 

RESOLVED that:- 

(a) the proposals set out at Appendix 2 in order to create additional 
capacity to meet the assessed educational needs of children and 
young people in BCP be approved; 

(b) the allocation of £0.65m of SEND capital grant and £1.47m of 
Basic needs capital grant to support the delivery of these 
proposals be approved; 

(c) the allocation of £0.25m of SEND capital grant to allow feasibility 
work to be undertaken in support of future proposals to increase 
capacity be approved; and 

(d) it be noted that a longer-term Children’s Capital Strategy will be 
brought forward for Member approval in due course. 

Voting: Nem. Con.  

Portfolio Holder: Children and Families 
 

160. Cabinet Forward Plan  
 
The Leader advised that the latest Cabinet Forward Plan had been 
published on the Council’s website. 
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 11.27 am  

 CHAIRMAN 

11



This page is intentionally left blank

12



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Update on BCP Council's Response to the Covid-19 Pandemic 

Meeting date  27 May 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  This report provides a further update to the report summarising the 
Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic, which was 
presented to Cabinet in April 2020. 

 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that: the Council’s response to the 
Covid- 19 pandemic be noted. 

  

Reason for 
recommendations 

To ensure that members of the Cabinet are fully informed of the 
way that services have been managed and changed under the 
Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic 

Portfolio Holder(s):  N/A 

Corporate Director  N/A 

Report Authors Graham Farrant 

Corporate Management Board 

Wards  All  

Classification  For noting  
Title:  

  

13

Agenda Item 6



Background 

1. This report provides an update on the impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic and the 
multi-agency emergency response to the pandemic on the Council’s services and 
the way that we are operating. As previously noted, we are still very much in 
response mode, but have begun to look forward to planning recovery both within 
the Council and across Dorset.  
 

2. The Corporate Incident Management Team (CIMT) continues to meet regularly, 
currently three times per week with one more lengthy meeting (Mondays) and two 
summary meetings (Wednesdays and Fridays). The CIMT co-ordinates with the 
Dorset Local Resilience Forum (LRF) and the multi-agency approach across 
Dorset. In addition to the Strategic and Tactical Coordinating Group and 
workstreams, the LRF has now established a Recovery Coordinating Group.  
 

3. An initial recovery impact assessment (RIA) workshop has been held and the aim 
is to have a strategy agreed and a high-level plan in place by mid-May. Regional 
recovery structures have not yet been established but sub-groups covering the 
key workstreams will be set up by the end of May.  
 

4. There will, of course, be a strong relationship and alignment between the Dorset 
LRF RCG/RIA, but within that context, it is critical that BCP Council quickly 
identifies the key strategic and operational issues that will impact the Council in 
the wake of the Recovery Phase. At this early stage, and accepting that the 
public sector is still firmly in the Recovery Phase of the pandemic, the key issues 
are likely to be: 

a. Smoothly transitioning from the service positions during the recovery phase 
towards a “new normal” while continuing to provide the support for the most 
vulnerable in our community. This will be challenging considering the 
significant differences in service models during the response phase, where 
some have been operating at substantially increased levels while some have 
been closed.  

b. Ensuring that the Council continues to provide extremely strong community 
leadership during the recovery phase. This has been visible during the 
response phase across a variety of different perspectives, from playing a 
much more visible role through initiatives such as Facebook Live through to 
key strategic leadership in delivering, beyond central government 
expectations, the Operation Shield programme.  

c. Addressing the critical financial impact of the pandemic on the agreed budget 
of the Council, and its ongoing financial sustainability. This will require very 
strong leadership and will only be successful if we completely embrace and 
accelerate the already planned Transformation Programme delivering the 
new BCP Council Operating Model. The Transformation programme 
identified up to £43m worth of efficiencies that can be achieved through 
leading edge organisational design, technology enablement and using 
modern ways of working. This will be brought to Cabinet in June 2020 and 
set out how the programme can be delivered and funded.  

5. Governance and delivery workstreams for the issues outlined above are being 
developed and mobilised, complimenting the very successful Incident Response 
Framework that the Council has used/is using to support the recovery phase 

14



COUNCIL RESPONSE  

Key Issues and cross-Council projects  

Community Response – Community Resilience and Operation Shield 

6. The food distribution element of Operation Shield has now been handed over to 
the national distribution companies. We continue to contact those on the NHS 
shield list, and are cross-referencing confidential data with adult social care 
databases.   
 

7. BCP Community Hub continues to provide a Community Response Helpline and 
an on-line request function has been mobilised. Prescriptions are starting to 
overtake food as the main issue being raised by callers. During April the team 
delivered the following: 

 

Calls to helpline  8,532  

Community resilience cases resolved  2,905  

Proactive calls to Operational shield residents  5,295  

Volunteers deployed to support vulnerable residents  1,244  

Online requests  526  

 

Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)  

8. Recent national guidance will increase the level of usage of PPE in care settings 
and plans to move to the national Clipper system for delivery of PPE to the care 
sector are delayed, which means care providers will continue to be reliant on 
receiving PPE through the Council, supported by the LRF. Large scale and long-
term support to the care provider sector is not sustainable for BCP Council and we 
continue to raise, both directly and through the LRF, the critical importance of 
Clipper supply system being introduced nationally at the earliest possible date.    

Testing  

9. A testing facility opened at Creekmoor Park and Ride on 26 April. The Council 
prepared and stood up the infrastructure for the site, then handed over the site to 
the Department for Health and Social Care. We are not expecting huge numbers 
of BCP staff to need testing based on the numbers of current sickness and the 
guidance setting out who testing is useful for.   

Vulnerable People  

10. Building on our safeguarding arrangements I am chairing a regular meeting with 
the Corporate Directors for Children’s Services; Adult Social Care and 
Environment and Community in order to identify and address key issues related 
to vulnerable people and households. Senior representatives of the Dorset Police 
and Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) also attend this meeting.   
 

11. Colleagues continue to be reminded about the importance of safeguarding within 
their roles and our focus remains on ensuring the welfare of the most vulnerable.  
 

15



12. The Homelessness Reduction Board governance is now up and running, and 
ensures that a multi-agency approach continues in order to address the needs of 
those facing homelessness.   

Social Distancing and Managing Open Spaces  

13. A BCP Council representative attends the Warning and Informing workstream of 
the LRF. This includes Dorset Police, Public Health and Dorset Council and 
coordinates our response to issues around social distancing, overcrowding in key 
locations, staff abuse and policing. There is clear evidence from various services 
that lockdown restrictions are impacting on people’s behaviours, and occasionally 
our colleagues have been subjected to incidents of abuse.  We have supported 
the #unacceptable behaviour campaign across Dorset to highlight incidences of 
abuse and to be clear that as authorities we will not hesitate to deal with 
perpetrators through the toughest legal avenues available. 

Frontline Service Update  

14. I reported in April on the massive impact on all of the Council’s services, and the 
closures or restricted services across all our directorates. The situation continues 
to evolve and within that we have been able to reinstate green waste collection in 
April and are currently engaging in the national preparations to re-open 
household waste recycling centres. Other services will continue to eb reviewed 
on a regular basis and reinstated in a new format wherever possible.   

Public Health  

15. The public health response continues to focus on ensuring BCP Council and 
partners in the Integrated Care System are responding to the local outbreak 
effectively. As of 1 May there were 400 confirmed cases of COVID-19 in the BCP 
area. Across Dorset and BCP there have been 117 deaths from hospitals and 46 
from care homes.  
 

16. Key activities have included the new local testing facility, and preparation for the 
launch of a workforce wellbeing offer called “Our Dorset” which includes a range 
of resources designed to support mental health. The team has also continued to 
develop local advice and guidance on using personal protective equipment for 
Council and community facing roles as the national guidance has changed.   
 

17. Public Health intelligence specialists continue to support the Epidemiology Cell 
through the Local Resilience Forum to support the development of planning 
assumptions for groups considering excess death planning, the likely impact of 
the outbreak on local health services, and timescales for recovery. The group has 
produced some summary findings highlighting the impact of the pandemic with 
social distancing measures. The key message is that the peak has been delayed 
while social distancing has been effective. Any change to the social distancing 
measures will require effective local surveillance, contact tracing and testing to be 
in place in order to contain and limit the transmission of new cases.  

Adult Social Care and Dorset wide health and social care issues  

18. There has been a rise in the number of Care Homes where there are outbreaks 
or suspected outbreaks of COVID19. Across Dorset and BCP (as of 1 May 2020) 
there have been 46 deaths in care homes and in approximately 33% of care 

16



homes Public Health England has led a multi-agency process to investigate 
possible COVID19 outbreaks and ensure appropriate support to homes where an 
outbreak has occurred. We continue to work with all partners, (including Care 
Home providers to implement national guidance and action-planning on 
prevention and infection control and to support specific homes with outbreaks. 
The Council and the Dorset Local Resilience Forum continue to supply adult 
social care providers with the PPE required by national guidance when the 
providers cannot access this through their supply chains. This will continue until a 
new national supply chain for PPE for social care providers has been 
implemented.    
 

19. Nationally led approaches have been implemented so that Adult Social Care 
sector staff and care home residents have access to testing for COVID19 and all 
people moving from a hospital to a care home are tested prior to admission to the 
care home.   
 

20. We continue to work with the NHS and Dorset Council to ensure that people can 
be discharged swiftly and safely from hospital. This includes working with the 
home and residential and nursing care market to ensure sufficient capacity 
including 150 new block booked residential and nursing care beds; social workers 
and brokerage staff working on 7 day a week, 8 am to 8pm rotas, to implement 
discharging plans for individual residents and additional expenditure on 
equipment services provided by the Dorset Integrated Community Equipment 
Services.    
 

21. Contingency plans have been put in place to set up an accommodation based 
rapid discharge service in a local hotel but this service has not yet been stood-up 
as rapid response and home-care capacity has meant it has been possible to 
facilitate people’s return to their own homes. The need for this contingency plan 
will be kept under review. The additional costs for these services are funded from 
a pooled budget with the Dorset CCG to which the Council is required only to 
commit the funding which it would have otherwise spent on hospital discharge 
and all other expenditure is funded through the NHS. This multi-agency work has 
enabled the hospitals to have significantly lower occupancy than is normal and to 
have the capacity to address the needs of people requiring hospital treatment 
both in relation to COVID19 and for all other reasons.     
 

22. Due to social distancing rules and to ensure the protection of people with medical 
conditions, day centres remain closed and all day service providers have 
reviewed and revised their operations, developing innovative and personalised 
service and support responses so that service users and their carers are 
supported through this period. Where a provider is no longer providing a 
service, funding from the Council has been ceased and people who receive Direct 
Payments have also been advised to cease their payments to these 
providers. People who would normally pay a Fairer Contribution towards the cost 
of their day service are only being billed if the service which they are receiving 
each week is comparable with support provided within a day centre session (a 
half day) or more. People who are receiving advice, guidance and low level 
support are not being billed. This is in line with the Fairer Contribution policies of 
the three predecessor Councils to which BCP Council is currently working.   
 

17



23. Statutory Safeguarding and Mental Health Act duties continue to be delivered 
with changes in how services are delivered to reduce direct contact with 
members of the members of the public who have underlying health conditions 
and in line with national rules for social distancing. During April 2020, there has 
been some increase in the number of safeguarding referrals received by Adult 
Social Care. Increased referrals have mainly been made by Police and 
Ambulance staff and it is positive to see the proactive approach to identifying 
concerns being taken across agencies. Additional resources have been directed 
to ensuring that all safeguarding referrals are addressed in a timely way.    
 

24. The Coronavirus Act makes provision for Councils to decide not to implement 
specific provisions of the Care Act 2014 during the pandemic period if the 
Council’s staffing levels or the capacity of the local care market are diverted to 
hospital discharge work and/or are significantly depleted by staff sickness. The 
Council has had to enact Easements only at Level Two of the Coronavirus 
Act (which is the lowest level of Easements) as a result of the national social 
distancing rules which predominantly relate to the closure of day centre and day 
services following a comprehensive review of the impact of the pandemic on the 
ability of the Council to fulfil its Care Act duties.    

Children’s Services  

25. We are continuing to monitor capacity within the schools and early years sector to 
ensure support for key workers’ children and vulnerable children as defined within 
the guidance.  
 

26. As at 5 May 13% of our vulnerable pupils, excluding Children with Education, 
Health and Care Plans (EHCP), were attending school, which includes 22% of 
children subject to child protection plans attending school. 7% of our children with 
EHCP are attending school. This work remains an area of concerted focus and 
we expect will also be helped with the anticipated easing of the lock down. 

  
27. We understand that there are a range of issues underpinning the number of 

vulnerable children attending schools, ranging from understandable parental 
decisions in line with the government messages, some parents and carers being 
in the shielded community, and some schools not yet being clear on their offer. 
We are working with the Head Teachers community and the Regional School 
Commissioner to target support to schools during May. We are also working 
through some of the staffing issues that some schools face with the impacts of 
some of their staff being within the shielded community. 
 

28. We are working well with the Early Years sector to ensure sufficient capacity in 
the market over the coming weeks and months in anticipation of the easements; 
currently we are content with the sufficiency of provision for key workers and 
vulnerable children. 
  

29. The demand for services has not significantly increased through the last few 
weeks. We remain concerned about the lower number of referrals being received 
regarding children who may have suffered child sexual abuse, and domestic 
abuse. We are working through the potential impacts of unmet need that may 
become visible to the safeguarding services over the coming months. 

18



Business and economy   

30. The Council continues to distribute the Government-funded financial support for 
the economy including business rate reliefs and grants. To date (1 May) 4902 
eligible businesses have received grants amounting to £62,475,000 from 
the Small Business Grants Fund (SBGF) and the Retail, Hospitality and Leisure 
Business Grants Fund (RHLBGF).  
 

31. The Economic Development team is providing communications to businesses via 
our e-newsletter and twitter feed which has had many positive comments and 
developing positive case studies. Business e-newsletter subscriptions have gone 
up to 7,429 subscribers (+910 new subscriber since April 1), and our Twitter feed 
now has 551 followers (an increase of over 25%). The main BCP e-newsletter 
now has 37,878 subscribers (+983 new subscribers since April 1).  
 

32. We have continued to co-ordinate business support offers with the wider 
initiatives including the “TogetherWeCan” campaign, and the supply of PPE. Over 
170 companies have engaged directly, either offering donations or access to their 
PPE products.  
 

33. Major regeneration projects are continuing to progress, in particular the purchase 
of the Former Power Station Site in Poole and Council investment in the Winter 
Gardens Project, Bournemouth will be presented for approval at Cabinet in May 
and will also be subject to approval by Council. Preparation work, commissioning 
of consultants and bid writing is continuing for the Poole Regeneration 
Programme, Future High Streets Fund and the Town Fund in Boscombe. All 
reports and bids are taking account of the likely impacts of COVID19.  
 

34. The Destination Management Board and BAHA are engaged with business 
support and an initial assessment of the impact to the sector. 
A recent survey was completed by 159 businesses of which 83% are temporarily 
closed. Estimates of loss are between 3 and 6 months depending on the nature 
of the business. The longer the situation continues the higher the chances that 
businesses will not be able to survive:  

 77% likely or highly likely to survive if ends in June 2020  
 40% if continues until September 2020  

 23% if measures still in place in December 2020  

 Long-term more than half of restaurants, attractions, international education, 

events and transport businesses do not think they can survive. 

Environment and Community   

Housing  

35. Multi-agency work continues to support residents who are vulnerable and in 
housing need.  As well as approximately 100 single people initially 
accommodated we continue to make basic service provision available for those 
10-15 people across BCP choosing to remain rough sleeping outside, including 
support for all of them and sanitation facilities in both Bournemouth and Poole 
town centres. The Housing Options team are currently housing around 300 single 
people in temporary accommodation, who may have previously either been rough 
sleeping or precariously housed. Support packages are being put into place with 

19



the help of our many partners to sustain the placements and discussions with 
MHCLG continue to determine an exit strategy.   
 

36. The Operations Centre continues to deliver an out of hours service for the 
Council and responds to all telecare customer calls across BCP 24/7.   
 

37. Our focus on essential services means that a backlog of repairs and maintenance 
is building which will be a challenge for the Service once lockdown is lifted. We 
need to understand what this reduction of works requests and orders over the last 
few weeks means for the longer term.  Some repairs may have been resolved by 
the tenant in the meantime, whereas it is likely that many will still be required or 
perhaps will have worsened and incur greater costs.  At the start of March 2020, 
the teams were completing approximately 350 responsive repairs per week 
compared with just over 100 per week more recently, so the backlog is likely to 
be building at something over 200 per week.    

Environment   

38. Residual, recycling, food waste and commercial collection services continue to 
operate as normal, and garden waste collection services have been 
recommenced successfully. 
 

39. The Council’s Household waste recycling centres are still closed at the time of 
drafting, but DEFRA have issued guidance that Local Authorities should plan to 
re-open sites providing that safe working practices can be maintained. These will 
include restrictions on the number of vehicles allowed on site at any one time. 
The commercial waste tipping over the weighbridge will be re-introduced at both 
Nuffield and Millhams, operating within normal hours.  
 

40. A reactive service for urgent safety matters across the wider highway network 
continues, as well as work to complete lower category outstanding highway 
defects while non-critical highway improvement schemes remain suspended. 
Plans are being developed to fully relaunch these services from 1 June, subject 
to supply chain providers reopening and where current social distancing 
measures can be achieved.  
 

41. CIMT has agreed that the Service should continue with procuring the pre Covid-
19 fleet replacement needs. This comprises fleet assets to the value of £2.188m 
including 8 mini sweepers for use across the conurbation and 8 recycling 
collection vehicles for the Bournemouth locality, with options to procure further 
vehicles over the next 2 years, but with no guarantees on future orders.  
 

42. The Port of Poole Mortality Support Facility (MSF) is now fully functional with 
robust operating procedures, administration processes and governance 
arrangements in place. Prior to opening, a comprehensive training package was 
provided for MSF staff who had volunteered from BCP, DWFRS, Team Rubicon 
and retired police officers.  
 

43. General amenity, highways verge and back up grass cutting remain suspended. 
Gang mowing has commenced throughout a selected range of larger destination 
parks and playing fields in order to facilitate their usage for exercise whilst 

20



allowing social distancing to be maintained. To date one cycle of grass cutting 
has been completed throughout these sites.  

Communities   

44. Work on several key areas is underway: developing projects with volunteers, 
work on food security including food-focused neighbourhood community 
networks; community development projects (over 100 have been promoted 
through our web pages); and developing a single point of contact on financial 
advice with Citizens Advice Bureau and other partners  
 

45. Within the Safer Communities service, we continue to support the administration 
and delivery of Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARAC) in order to 
manage risks relating to domestic abuse and our Community Safety Partnership 
is developing a Domestic Abuse Response Strategy which sets the partnership 
response to issues of domestic abuse in the context of Covid 19. Our restorative 
justice and domestic abuse perpetrator programmes are working remotely, and 
we continue to provide outreach support to those experiencing domestic abuse. 
Our Community Safety Accreditation Scheme (CSAS) service is still operational 
in Boscombe, Bournemouth town centre and Poole town centre and we are 
working with Police colleagues to support management of the lock down as well 
as dealing with issues of anti-social behaviour and low-level criminality in these 
areas. Tactical multi agency partnership meetings continue in order to monitor 
crime and disorder issues across BCP which now feed in to a fortnightly 
Community Safety Partnership whose structure has been temporarily amended to 
account for the need to respond in these exceptional times.   
 

46. Environmental Health are now directed by Public Health England to be the lead 
agency on the management of infectious diseases such as Norovirus. Systems 
are in place to fully support this. The environmental health service are supporting 
the roll out of essential training on infection control to care home settings.   

Resources  

Technical Resilience   

47. There has continued to be an enormous effort by the IT teams to support our 
systems and to maintain the roll-out of modern and remote ways of working, 
including building and deploying 690 new laptops and 285 mobile phones.   
 

48. The Application Development and Infrastructure teams have continued to roll 
out Microsoft Teams and aim to have all staff enabled to use this remote 
collaboration software by the end of July.   
 

49. Due to issues with the supply chain (Covid-19 lockdown and social distancing 
restrictions) MLL Telecom are no longer able to successfully migrate all Poole 
sites onto the new wide area network (WAN), prior to the incumbent, KCOM, 
contract expiry on July 3 2020. CIMT has agreed to extend the current KCOM 
wide area network (WAN) contract to enable the safe migration of legacy Poole 
site circuits to the new BCP WAN, which creates an additional financial pressure 
of £190k.  

21



Communications  

50. We continue to use a range of communications channels to ensure that our 
communities receive information as quickly as possible, including social media, 
press releases and TV and other media interviews as appropriate.   
 

51. The Leader has introduced a weekly live question and answer session for 
members of the public via Facebook and this has been very successful and well 
received.  
 

52. Weekly telephone conferences continue with the five Bournemouth, Christchurch 
and Poole MPs, chaired by the Leader These calls have enabled discussions 
about important issues including PPE, local mortuary arrangements, relationships 
with private care providers and the Council’s budget.  The MPs have agreed to 
lobby on our behalf on specific issues as a result.  The Leader is also publishing 
a regular email to all councillors and MPs to ensure they are all kept fully 
informed of local issues.  
 

53. Internal communication to both staff and councillors has continued to be an 
important focus with a range of internal communications with colleagues during 
April, including Chief Executive’s video blogs, a Facebook group has been 
established and regular newsletters and written updates.   

Finance  

54. The last report set out the situation on liquidity, the expenditure controls we have 
set in place and the financial management structure. These remain the same and 
the focus now is on balancing the budget. The second tranche of the £11.1 
million award from the Covid-19 Emergency fund has now been received, 
bringing the government’s financial support up to £22m, to support the council in 
funding our estimated £53m gap in the current financial year.  The budget reports 
to cabinet will provide further detail on our response and budget pressures.  
 

55. The Council continues to experience significant reductions in its incomes 
streams: Council Tax, Business Rates, rent, licence fees and from fees and 
charges. Financial Regulations allow Service Directors to increase existing fees 
and charges in consultation with their Portfolio Holder and the Chief Finance 
Officer. Service Directors have been asked to exercise this delegation in respect 
of any fee increases for 2020/21 which are not subject to consultation.  

People and wellbeing   

56. Maintaining the required staff capacity to deliver our critical services continues to 
be a priority and we have now supported the re-direction of 652 staff who are not 
being fully utilised due to changes in their services, who are now involved in 
projects such as Operation Shield, the Community Hub and PPE distribution.  
 

57. The majority of the Council’s employees are working, and many are working 
enhanced hours to support our collective response.  At the time of writing there 
are 286 current absences due to self-isolation and 100 cases of sickness related 
to Covid-19, which is a small increase to absence reported in April.  
 

22



58. CIMT has agreed in principle to utilise the Job Retention Scheme (JRS) or 
“furlough”, for staff within our traded services, with roles that have specific grant 
funding allocated to them, income generating roles where income generation has 
ceased and employees who cannot be re-directed. The driver for this decision 
has been a financial pressure to recover and mitigate staff costs.  The first 
tranche to be furloughed will most likely be 84 BBML staff and approximately 145 
support staff from across the Academy Trusts we support. BCP Council is 
validating the data that has been submitted for Council employees selected for 
furlough which is currently 393 employees and will be submitted by the end of 
May.  

 
59. Staff wellbeing continues to be a focus. An Employee Assistance Program (EAP) 

has been authorised for procurement and the selection and implementation of 
this should be in place by the end of May, which will provide enhanced support to 
all our employees at a reduced cost.  

Council Governance and Decision Making  

60. In light of the necessity to ensure compliance with the requirements relating to 
social distancing the decision was made not to hold the planned meeting of the 
Council on 31 March 2020. The meeting had been due to consider various 
recommendations relating to the Council’s Constitution which had been 
recommended by the Audit and Governance Committee, and these items will be 
considered at a future Council meeting, scheduled for 10 June.  The next Council 
meeting has been brought forward to 7 July and will consider the budget changes 
which are to eb considered in detail by the Cabinet on 24 June  
 

61. The Council has successfully held a number of remote virtual meetings, including 
Licensing sub-Committee, Overview and Scrutiny Board, Cabinet and Planning 
Committee through use of the Skype for Business application and with live 
broadcast via YouTube. These meetings have all operated successfully and have 
included specific provisions to enable licensing and planning decisions to be 
informed by the required input from applicants and objectors to applications. 

 
Conclusions:  

62. The Covid-19 pandemic continues to have a major impact on the way that 
the Council delivers our services, how we support our communities and how we 
are working. All services have been affected and the forecast is that these effects 
will continue until well into the summer.  Any release from lockdown is expected 
to be gradual and partial and I will report in more detail on the opportunities to 
reinstate services and move towards reset to the next Cabinet meeting. However, 
in the meantime, we continue in “Respond” mode and to make short-term 
decisions to ensure that the spread of infection is limited and our communities 
and colleagues are protected.  

Background papers 

63. N/A 

Appendices   

There are no appendices to this report. 

23



This page is intentionally left blank

24



CABINET 

 

Report subject  BCP Council Finance Update 

Meeting date  27 May 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  The country is currently facing the biggest public health 
emergency for a generation. This will require urgent and 
decisive action by the council to support its community while 
also supporting the integrity of the council’s financial position 
and sustainability. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet:  

 a) Note the contents of the report and that a further report 
is scheduled for June Cabinet outlining the progress 
made in establishing and managing the financial impact 
of Covid-19. 

b) Request that a revised annual budget for 2020/21 is 
developed for Council approval in July 2020.  

c) Request that the Corporate Director for Resources 
brings forward a report outlining the Council’s 
transformation programme to June Cabinet.   

Reason for 
recommendations 

The Covid-19 pandemic has a very significant impact on the 
council’s finances beyond that currently expected to be supported 
by central government. Early action has been taken to limit 
expenditure where possible. Further actions are now needed. 
There is the prospect of measures to maintain social distancing 
continuing for some time with venues remaining closed during 
periods when higher income levels are normally generated. There 
is also no certainty that there will not be further periods of disruption 
related to the outbreak this financial year or in future. The council’s 
response in maintaining services during the pandemic may also 
have consequences for the transformation agenda which should be 
refreshed to take account of the latest developments.   

Portfolio Holder(s):  David Brown, Cabinet Member for Finance  

Corporate Director  Julian Osgathorpe, Corporate Director for Resources 

25

Agenda Item 7



Report Authors Adam Richens, Finance Director and Section 151 Officer   

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Decision 
Title:  

Background 

 Since 2010 local authorities have had to face significant reductions in government 
funding. For BCP Council this has been equated to £105 million with the 
consequence that within the £283 million net budget for 2020/21 the council will only 
be receiving £3 million in un-ringfenced government funding (revenue support grant). 
Most of our net budget is being funded from council tax (£218 million) and business 
rates (£58 million). 

 The public health emergency has resulted in extra pressures on services in support 
of the most vulnerable; the elderly, disabled and homeless. This includes getting 
rough sleepers off the street, supporting new shielding programmes for clinically 
extremely vulnerable people and assisting the heroic public sector and social care 
workforce. 

 At the same time the council’s income base is collapsing with leisure centres shut, 
seafront services closed, and parking fees not being generated, as well as lower 
council tax and business rates yields. This loss of income represents a real reduction 
in the resources available to fund local services and will mean that, without further 
government funding, the council will have to fundamentally rebase its 2020/21 
budget. 

 A revised basic financial management framework was agreed by the Covid-19 
Corporate Incident Management Team on 19 March 2020. These new temporary 
measures are to protect the council’s position while awaiting greater clarity as to the 
impact of the public health emergency on our financial sustainability and the extent of 
any government support. 

 These measures can be cited as only revenue or capital expenditure which supports 
the council’s response to Covid-19 can now be incurred (until further notice) unless: 

 

a. it honours a pre-existing contractual commitment. 
 

b. the expenditure is directly (as opposed to incidentally) supporting; 
 

 safeguarding services to vulnerable members of our community. 
 

 the delivery of those services which the Council has decided to continue to 
provide to its community during this period. 

 

 services or projects transparently being funded by a source external to the 
Council (such as grant funded). 

 

 exceptions agreed by the Corporate Incident Management Team (CIMT). 

 In addition, a council wide vacancy freeze has been implemented, with agreement to 
any exceptions delegated to the relevant corporate director in consultation with the 
Head of Human Resources.  

26



 All Covid-19 financial commitments in either 2019/20 or 2020/21 are being captured 
separately to facilitate the council’s budget monitoring processes and regular returns 
which the council is required to make to government.   

 Cabinet at its meeting on the 18 March 2020 requested a fundamental review of the 
2020/21 budget in response to the impact on the council’s finances of the 
coronavirus and the costs likely to be incurred in support of the most vulnerable 
within our community. 

 The review is a high-level assessment of the key impacts on the council’s 
expenditure and income streams based on three scenarios for the disruption period 
of 16 weeks, 24 weeks and 52 weeks. 

2019/20 Financial Outturn  

 The process of closing the 2019/20 accounts is still in progress with the statutory 
deadline for their completion extended due to the Covid-19 outbreak. The council’s 
draft accounts are to be presented to the external auditors by the end of August 
(previously end of May) with the audit to be completed and accounts signed off by 
the end of November. Reporting of the summary outturn position to Cabinet has 
been deferred from the June meeting to July in line with a revised internal timetable.  

 Based on its 2019/20 £272 million net budget before the contingency the council was 
estimating to have an overspend of £5.3 million by the 31 March 2020. This position 
was to be mitigated by using the £2.6 million in-year base budget contingency and 
applying £2.7 million of the financial resilience earmarked reserve which had been 
specifically established to support the high level of uncertainty in the first year of the 
new council. This approach left unearmarked reserves intact at £15.4m.  

 The council will have incurred additional budget pressures in March due to lost 
income and increased costs as a result of Covid-19. It is anticipated that any such 
costs will be covered by the ongoing review of balance sheet items brought forward 
from the legacy authorities alongside the conclusion of the workstream to 
disaggregate the balance sheet of Dorset County Council. That said, once the final 
2019/20 position is known the council will need to consider the extent to which the 
emergency Covid-19 funding allocated for 2020/21 should be brought forward to 
cover earlier costs. At present the council intends to use the grant to meet the 
significant costs that will be incurred in 2020/21 as a result of the outbreak.  

Covid-19 Emergency Government Funding 

 The government’s initial Covid-19 emergency fund for BCP of £11.1 million was 
allocated to support additional costs and to contribute towards lost income. Funding 
for additional costs is provided particularly for:      

 Meeting increased demand for adult social care and enabling us to provide 
additional support to social care providers. The Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) will separately be funding the additional costs of discharging and keeping 
people out of hospital, including social care costs (commissioned by the local 
authority).  

 Meeting the cost of extra demand and higher business-as-usual costs of 
providing children’s social care.  

 Providing additional support for the homeless and rough sleepers, including 
where self-isolation is needed.  

27



 Supporting those at higher risk of severe illness from Covid-19, who were asked 
to self-isolate in their homes for the duration of the pandemic. 

 Appendix 1 provides a summary of the 15 April return to government to show how 
funding was initially allocated to support services. The major proportion was 
earmarked for cost pressures in adult social care (61%), largely to support care 
market pressures. Other main areas of additional spend include within housing 
services (11%) to reduce homelessness during the outbreak and children’s social 
care (9%) to allow for additional placements and savings that are unlikely now to be 
delivered as budgeted. A further £1 million (9%) was earmarked to support the 
anticipated significant loss of income (notionally allocated to transport for reduced car 
parking income). 

 The costs of the council’s response to support vulnerable residents in the community 
are largely met from within existing resources by the redeployment of existing staff 
from their normal roles, with this not captured through the return. 

 Since the initial work and submission of the April return, the government on the 18 
April announced a further allocation from the emergency fund with BCP due to 
receive a further £10.9 million bringing the total Covid-19 funding to £22 million. 

 The two allocations have been distributed based on a different formula. The majority 
of the first grant payment was based on the Adult Social Care Relative Needs 
Formula. The second was based on population with a 65:35 Upper to Lower local 
authority weighting. This second approach gave greater recognition to the impact the 
loss of fees and charges income is having on district councils.      

2020/21 Budget Impact Scenario Planning. 

 The Council set a balanced budget for 2020/21, with a net budget requirement of 
£283m that was predicated on delivering corporate savings of £9.4m. 

 Three different outcomes have been considered dependent on the length of the 
lockdown and the recovery period.   

 16-week impact - it has been assumed the impact lasts until the end of July 
2020. 

 24-week impact - the coronavirus has a complete impact on the activity of the 
council and its community until the end of August with the impact in September 
being 50% of that experienced in the months between April and the end of 
August.  This averages out to a 24-week period. 

 52-week impact - the impact of the emergency lasts for the whole of 2020/21 

 The 24-week scenario has particular significance to the council as a coastal 
community reliant on the economic contribution from tourism to finance the services 
it has budgeted to provide. This scenario means most of the positive impact from the 
2020 summer months is lost to the council. 

 Set against our £283 million net budget for 2020/21 and gross of the £22 million 
grant, we estimate in May for a 24-week disruption period, to have a £53.3 million 
pressure 

 Included in the forecast net pressures is significant income loss to the council with 
this likely to be of greater severity than the additional costs as summarised in the 
table below:  

28



 

 

£'m Notes 

Lost Income: 23.9 Car parking and other commercial income 

Council Tax and 
Business Rates Income 

11.9 Council Tax and Business Rate reduced income 

Additional Expenditure 14.5 
Adults & Children’s social care buying more places 
at a higher price, PPE, chilled storage for excess 
deaths, homelessness and staffing costs 

Transformation, other 
efficiencies and savings 
not achieved. 

3.0 
Management and change capacity has been 
refocused on responding to the Covid-19 crisis. 

Total 53.3 

  

Summary 2020/21 forecast budget impact by service area  

 The review has been based on numerous key assumptions that, although they have 
been informed by the best available information including government 
announcements, will ultimately be primarily based on professional judgements. It 
should though be emphasised that the financial assessment of the impact of Covid-
19 is constantly being updated as we gain additional experience as to how it is 
impacting on the council and our community. 

 Appendix 2 includes the detail of the estimated impact across services forecast as 
at May 2020.   Appendix 3 provides the forecast budget impact for each scenario 
summarised in appendix 2 compared with the annual budget agreed at Council in 
February 2020. 

 A summary of the updated estimates of net budget pressures for the May 2020 
return to MHCLG is in the following table:   

Previous  Latest Estimate - May 

24 week at 
April £m 

Service Area / Scenario 16 week 
£m 

24 week 
£m 

52 week 
£m 

8.5 Adults & Public Health 5.8 9.4 18.0 

1.8 Children 1.4 1.8 3.9 

5.7 Environment & Community 3.5 4.9 9.1 

19.1 Regeneration & Economy 15.4 21.8 36.4 

1.2 Resources   0.9 1.4 2.5 

3.3 Investments 1.3 2.1 4.3 

11.9 Funding - Council Tax/ NDR 7.4 11.9 22.5 

51.5 Total 35.7 53.3 96.7 

(11.1) Emergency Funding (22.0) (22.0) (22.0) 

29



40.4 Net Budget Pressures 13.7 31.3 74.7 

 The assessment of the additional pressures has grown since the April return, 
including for the 24- week period. That said, the second allocation of emergency 
funding has significantly improved the overall financial position, but a £31.3 million 
forecast funding gap remains. 

Adult Social Care (comparator £111.1 million net budget) 

 Adult social care costs in the main reflect additional expenditure, largely to support 
the care market and additional internal staff costs. The increase from the April return 
is due to greater anticipated staff overtime and the expected loss of savings from 
delayed transformation in services.   

Children’s Services (comparator £61.9 million net budget) 

 The pressures in children’s services in the main reflects an anticipated increase in 
social care placements, with the cost of placement breakdowns during this period 
linked to the impact of carers needing or wanting to be shielded and cost pressures 
from the market. The May estimate includes new allocations agreed for the early 
years sector where settings have remained open and they are accepting new 
children of key workers or those that are vulnerable. The cost of these new 
allocations during April have been offset by a revised estimate for additional 
placement costs. 

Environment and Community (comparator £51.6 million net budget) 

 Environment and Community has significant additional costs in providing 
accommodation to a greater number of otherwise homeless people during the 
pandemic. There are also increased costs for the bereavement service, including for 
new arrangements to manage excess deaths. The directorate is also suffering loss of 
income from traded waste services, highways works and concessions and catering in 
parks. The reduced pressure from the April forecast is largely due to the waste 
service now that collection rounds have started to return to normal sooner than 
expected.     

Regeneration and Economy Service (comparator £6.7 million net budget) 

 Regeneration and Economy are currently impacted by a significant loss of income 
with this certain to continue throughout any period of lockdown and phased return to 
normal. Longer term impact is also likely, particularly for carparking income as more 
people will have embraced on-line shopping, different leisure activities and home 
working. Seafront income is also expected to be significantly lower in 2020/21 
including the current loss of casual beach hut rentals. However, this demand is 
expected to recover in normal times. There is also expected to be reduced income 
from work done to support the capital programme.    

Resources (comparator £33.0 million net budget) 

 The resources directorate is undertaking significant extra work within the revenue 
and benefits service. Staff have been working extra hours to implement several 
government-funded schemes as a result of the pandemic. Some council staff have 
been redeployed to support this effort. It has been assumed that any extra costs will 
be covered by new burden funding announced by the government although individual 
local authority amounts are not yet known. Income losses are expected from the 

30



registrars service from cancelled weddings and from legal services due to reduced 
land charges as the house market stagnates.     

 

Corporate Items (comparator £18.9 million net budget) 

 Income from investments is expected to reduce from both the retail and business 
sectors with a longer-term impact highly likely.     

Council Tax / National Non Domestic Rates impact assumptions 

 The councils act of collecting council tax and business rates is in the capacity as an 
agent for the preceptors. This means that a separate account is held by the council 
which each year passes across to the preceptors the amounts they formally 
requested as part of their approved budget proposals. Any variances between the 
amount paid across and the actual amounts collected from taxpayers in the year are 
then held as a surplus/deficit on the account and distributed or addressed as part of 
the following years budget (on the basis of an estimated outcome position predicted 
in the December of each year). 

 Therefore, putting aside any cash flow issues, as the legislation stands any impact 
on council tax or business rates income because of the conorovirus outbreak will be 
an impact on the 2021/22 budget. That said, it is considered good financial practice 
to address these issues in the current year and avoid having the impact on 2020/21 
and 2021/22 both having to be addressed as part of next year’s budget setting 
process. The assumptions used are described in the following paragraphs.  

Council Tax (comparator £218 million budgeted income) 

 Impact of 5% reduction in the annual yield creating a deficit on a cash flow basis 
which will need to be settled next year. The 52-week scenario is then profiled to 16 
weeks and 24 weeks. In addition, provision has been made for an assumed increase 
in the bad debt requirement with provision being made of 1% / 1.5% / 2% in respect 
of the 16 / 24 / 52-week scenarios. 

Business Rates (comparator £58 million budgeted income) 

 Based on a £58.102 million 2020/21 budget and a £50.781 million safety net set by 
the government (below which the council’s annual business rates income cannot 
fall), the worst-case scenario would be the £7.3 million difference. 

 For the 16-week scenario it has been assumed that the impact will be 25% of the 
worst case (£1.830 million). 

 The 24-week scenario assumes 50% of the worst case (£3.661 million). 

 

Financial Strategy to mitigate the impact of Covid19 on the 2020/21 Budget and 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 

 On the basis that the government Covid-19 funding announced to-date does not 
cover the combination of forecast lost income and extra costs it has been assumed, 
as a matter of prudence, that sufficient resource will not be forthcoming  and that the 
balance will remain as a significant pressure.  

 The council has therefore produced the following financial strategy to mitigate the 
estimated pressure of a £31 million deficit based on a 24-week scenario. On an 
assumption of no further emergency funding allocations to BCP Council it is 

31



recommended that we develop a mitigation strategy based on this amount. It is also 
suggested that the final June costed strategy should operate within a range of plus or 
minus 10% on this figure to determine its adequacy. 

 The detail of this strategy will need to be confirmed over the following month with a 
view to it supporting a formal rebase of the 2020/21 budget as part of the June 
Cabinet report and subsequent July Council meeting. The principle elements of the 
mitigation strategy are detailed in the following sections of this report, however, they 
can be summarised as principally a robust process designed to encourage 
transformation and to reduce the cost base of the authority.  

 Each heading has also been RAG (Red, Amber, Green) rated as to the likelihood of 
providing a positive contribution towards the financial challenge. 

Government lobbying RAG 

 The council will continue to lobby government on a range of issues in support of our 
financial position. Matters being raised include: 

a. Encouraging the government to continue to meet the commitment from Robert 
Jenrick the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government 
that councils will get all the resources they will need to cope with this pandemic. 

b. Providing certainty regarding the financial parameters that councils should be 
using to plan for 2021/22. This is in the absence of a spending review which 
would normally set out the framework for financial planning purposes. 

c. Provide a solution to the long-term funding of Adult Social Care which has now 
been promised by successive Governments and which is now critical due to the 
likely additional future pressure that will be asserted post Covid-19 on the 
council and adult social care sector.  

d. In respect of providing the funding for the council’s transformation programme. 

i. Requesting an extension of the flexible use of capital receipts beyond the current 
time period to enable assets sold after the 31 March 2022 to also be utilised.  

ii. Continuing the dialogue regarding the council’s request for a capitalisation 
direction which would enable the council to borrow to finance/fund the revenue 
costs associated with the programme. 

e. Requesting that the Department for Education (DfE) fund the high needs deficit 
inherited by BCP council as this has arisen largely from government policy changes 
since 2014. The Council is having to set aside £10.5 million to act as a 
counterweight to this debt which it would otherwise be investing in its transformation 
programme. 
 

f. In respect of the Housing Revenue Account (HRA), the council continues to request 
the government extend the time frame over which it is required to have spent 
retained right to buy receipts before they must be repaid. An example of this is the 
work planned in quarter 1 of 2020/21 on the Herbert Avenue redevelopment. The 
intention had been to spend £2.3 million to deliver 24 units of temporary 
accommodation based on a factory built modular construction with on-site work 
compressed into an 18-week period. Current lockdown arrangements have delayed 
the outcome of the local planning application process delaying completion of the 
final legal work associated with the formal contract and therefore preventing on-site 
work starting. Another example is the £0.75 million the council intended to spend 

32



buying back certain leaseholder flats connected to the Poole old town tower blocks 
refurbishment. These buybacks are now likely to be delayed due to leaseholders 
being unwilling/unable to move property at the current time, compounded by 
difficulties in completing the necessary legal paperwork. 

 

 

 

Transformation RAG 

 In November 2019 the Cabinet endorsed and adopted an organisational design and 
operating model with an estimated range of potential savings between £26.8 million 
and £43.9 million per annum, deliverable over the next four-year period. A report 
outlining the implementation plan and budget for the programme was scheduled to 
be presented to Cabinet in April 2020. This was not possible due to the Covid19 
public health emergency. The cost to implement a programme of this scale is a 
significant investment for the Council and it was considered appropriate to wait and 
obtain a better understanding of potential implications before making such a long-
term commitment by the Council. 

During the current climate, huge strides have been made towards different ways of 
working. The approach is to embrace these changes and to outline what can be 
achieved in this regard by bringing forward a separate paper to the June Cabinet 
which aims to review our options through a reassessed transformation programme. 
The funding to support the investment required for this programme will need to be 
carefully balanced alongside that required in support this mitigation strategy. That 
said, such investment will be critical to enable the Council to become a more 
modern, agile organisation and in doing so support the delivery of the savings 
needed in support of the in-year position and the Councils Medium Term Financial 
Plan. 

Employee Cost Base RAG 

 Introduction of reduction in the Councils employee cost base.  

Implementation of such a programme will not only provide a significant contribution to 
the financial challenges both in the current year and next year but will also act as a 
change generator in making it a necessity for services to embrace the transformation 
programme. As an example, a 1% saving would equate to an annual saving of £1.6 
million in respect of an estimated 41 FTE posts. 

 To facilitate this process the first stage will be to consider removing vacant posts 
from the establishment in 2020/21 which could also benefit the council’s financial 
position on an ongoing basis.  

 In addition, the council are in the process of applying to the Government’s Job 
Retention Scheme in respect of employees in services that are currently not being 
provided to the public, are funded from fees & charges as opposed to general 
taxation, and the staff have not been redeployed into the community and wider 
Covid19 response. This includes employees in the council’s companies such as 
Bournemouth Building and Maintenance Ltd (BBML). 

33



Expenditure Cost Base RAG 

 A robust review of the base budget across all services is being undertaken to 
determine what reductions to the 2020/21 assumed expenditure can now be made 
both in 2020/21 and ongoing. This work will also need to reflect the fact that; 

a. Some services have been dormant therefore expenditure should be reduced as 
per the three different planning scenarios. 

b. Some activity/events will now have been cancelled or reduced which will need 
lower levels of expenditure to support. 

c. The council will have choices around the level of investment it makes into 
certain categories of spend such as the training and maintenance expenditure. 

This review should also include a fundamental review of the expenditure being 
incurred in direct support of Covid-19 to ensure it is kept to absolute minimum 
alongside assurance that partner organisations such as the Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) are picking up costs they have been provided resources to support. 

Reset Services RAG 
 

 The Council will be looking to reset rather than resume business as usual activity 
after the lockdown restrictions end. We will not be looking to put back services the 
way they were before the pandemic and will instead look to understand what the 
changes have been in our community and how we support them. We will be looking 
to support any reset services with a process akin to a zero-based budget review to 
ensure the budget for such services is both robust and has been determined as 
effectively as possible. 

Project Review RAG 

 A fundamental review of all projects (revenue or capital) will need to be undertaken 
to determine the extent to which they can be deferred, cancelled or refinanced 
alongside the financial and community impact of doing so. This will need to include 
any previous or current revenue contributions to capital (RCCOs).  

 

Reimagined Estates Strategy RAG 

 National data is showing that there has been a 90% reduction of the utilisation of the 
property estate during lock-down accompanied by a massive increase in the use of 
digital connectivity and collaboration tools like skype and Microsoft Teams. It will 
therefore be critical at this time that the Council re-evaluates its investment in the 
digital estate and determines its physical estate needs moving forward. This will 
include a reappraisal of the planned for 2020/21 investment in each of its four major 
administrative centres. 

 

Standard Accounting Practices RAG 

 Officers of the council’s finance team continue to make representation to the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) to relax various 
accounting requirements. Suggestions include reducing the annual provision for the 
repayment of debt (MRP - minimum revenue provision) below the standard 4%. The 
Council has budgeted to make a £9.8 million repayment in 2020/21. 

34



Base Budget Reviews RAG 

 A detailed review of the outstanding work programme agreed through the base 
budget reviews, taking place as part of the 2020/21 Budget Strategy, will be 
undertaken to determine the feasibility of early implementation in support of the 
current financial challenge. 

 

Review of Reserves & Contingencies RAG 

 Earmarked reserves have been set aside for specific purposes and these now need 
to be reconsidered in the light of the new financial environment. In addition, the 
adequacy of the £15.4 million of unearmarked reserves will need to be reviewed 
even though these are at the lower end of the recommended range and the council’s 
financial risks have now grown.    

 As part of this review consideration will need to be given to releasing the £1.16 
million base revenue budget contingency which was set aside for 2020/21. 

 While the emergency funding is certainly a step in the right direction, it goes without 
saying that more will be needed. Councils are seeing reduced income at a time when 
demand is set for a rapid rise, and this is alongside ongoing systemic funding issues 
that are yet to be solved. It is vital we ensure that councils can maintain services 
such as adult social care, as well as provision for the homeless and for those in other 
vulnerable groups.   

 As previously stated, a report is planned for June Cabinet to provide updated 
progress on the management of the financial impact of Covid-19 with 
recommendations for a revised 2020/21 annual budget by Council in July. 

 
2021 to 2023 Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) Update 

 Alongside the reassessment of the council’s budget for 2020/21 work is progressing 
to review the impact for the next two years. Much is not yet known about the extent 
of the current disruption period and whether further periods can be expected this 
financial year and over the MTFP period.  

 It is also difficult to estimate the financial impact on business-as-usual services this 
early in the pandemic as new trends have yet to be established and it is unknown 
how long and what form the recovery will take.  

 Appendix 4 includes the latest MTFP which can be compared to the £17.3 million 
deficit identified for 2021/22 as part of the February 2020 Budget Report. This will be 
further updated as part of the June Cabinet report alongside the proposals for the 
current year budget.  

 At this stage only council tax and business rates estimates have been updated to 
reflect Covid-19 related estimates as further work is needed before revised service 
pressures and new savings proposals can be brought forward. 

 The loss of funding reflected in the MTFP increases the projected gap for 2021/22 to 
£31.6m. This is comprised of: 

a. Council Tax – removing growth of £1.0m and reducing the yield by £5.1m based on 
the 24 week scenario of 5%. An increase in the bad debt provision of £3.4m based 
on the 24 week scenario of 1.5% has also been factored in. Total change £9.5m. 

35



b. Business Rates – removing growth of £1.1m and reducing yield by £3.7m (the 24-
week scenario half way to safety net). Total change £4.8m 

c. Therefore £14.3m has been added to the existing gap of £17.3m to give £31.6m to 
find to balance next year.  

Dedicated Schools Grant High Needs Budget 

 The high needs budget for 2020/21 was set with a shortfall of £6 million compared 
with funding available from the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).  

 Schools are to remain open for vulnerable children and those of key workers where 
they cannot be looked after at home. Non-state provision, such as independent 
special schools and early years settings are being encouraged to remain open 
wherever possible. Funding allocations from the DSG are to continue as normal 
regardless of whether a service is delivered as for other council services.   

 Work is progressing to establish the impact on demand for new education and health 
and care plans (the main budget driver) during this period whilst the majority of pupils 
are not attending schools. Also, under review, is whether there are any increased 
costs for non-state specialist providers that do remain open. The DfE are allowing 
state schools that are staying open and incurring additional costs to make a claim to 
the department directly and we will encourage any relating to high needs provision to 
be included.   

 Councillors are reminded that the council is in dialogue with the DfE in respect of its 
High Needs recovery plan. The first meeting on 24 April 2020 provided an 
opportunity to discuss the specific circumstances for the council as a result of local 
government reorganisation and the pattern of school provision locally. The main 
focus of the discussion concerned the actions currently underway within the council 
to address the funding shortfall.  

 The deficit recovery plan was shared ahead of the meeting and this was explored at 
length along with other initiatives being implemented successfully elsewhere.  The 
DfE were made aware of the enormous financial risk the deficit is adding to the 
council with a request that additional funds should be made available by government 
to address.  

 The plan to reduce revenue expenditure includes building more places across a 
range of provision but with limited capital resources available. This was 
acknowledged but all agreed that creating more provision was only part of the 
solution to the annual funding deficit.  

 Meetings are being arranged at six monthly intervals to enable the DfE to monitor the 
progress of the action plan and share best practice examples as they emerge 
elsewhere.   

 The latest position as discussed with government representatives on the 24 April 
2020 is set out below. 

36



 

 

 

Capital Investment Programme 

 As part of this fundamental base budget review the council has also considered the 
impact of the public health emergency on the councils Capital Investment 
Programme. 

 Initial indications are that the Council will not have to suspend/mothball works and 
consequently incur additional site management costs on any major schemes. It is 
though likely that there will be a general delay to the overall programme and the 
schemes within it.  

 Separate reports on this agenda set out the Councils ambition to purchase the Holes 
Bay site and progress with the Winter Gardens development both of which will 
support the council’s corporate strategy which in doing so will provide a stimulus to 
help the recovery of the local economy. 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

 Alongside the review of the General Fund the council has also reviewed the position 
on its Housing Revenue Account which records the income and expenditure on the 
9,593 council homes that it directly owns and manages. As part of this process each 
of the separate Poole and Bournemouth neighbourhood accounts have been 
assessed based on the three scenarios used within the general fund. The impact can 
be summarised as; 

37



 Latest Estimate 

Service Area / Scenario 16 week 
£m 

24 week 
£m 

52 week 
£m 

Net Budget Pressures 1.4 1.9 4.0 

 

 These pressures reflect reductions in rental income due to bad debts, additional 
cleaning costs, and additional costs associated with voids. That said the initial 
indication is that these pressures can be completely managed by reducing the 
2020/21 revenue contribution to capital or reversing such contributions made in 
previous years. The impact on the agreed HRA capital investment programme will be 
detailed in June Cabinet report. 

Options (Scenarios) Considered 

 The report considers the financial impact for 2020/21 within 3 scenarios. These will 
be kept under review and updated as government arrangements for the recovery 
period progress. 

Summary of financial implications 

 This is a financial report with all relevant matters considered in the body of the report. 

Summary of legal implications 

 In a situation where the Council is unable to balance its budget there is a statutory 
obligation on the Council s151 Officer to issue what is referred to as a s114 
Statement. This notice basically prohibits the council from incurring further 
expenditure while it goes through the process of working out its options although it 
must continue to provide statutory services during this period. Historically such 
measures are rare with the last statement issued by Northamptonshire County 
Council in 2018. 

 The view being taken is that such drastic action is not necessary as councillors and 
officers will be able to work together and as part of the June report to Cabinet and 
July report to Council make the necessary difficult decisions to ensure the Council 
can balance its budget for 2020/21. 

Summary of human resources implications 

 Mitigation actions to recover losses from the outbreak include a vacancy freeze for all 
but essential posts from the start of the financial year. Other actions to deliver new 
savings are likely to include further consideration of staffing levels. The period of 
home working for many office-based employees is likely to result in some permanent 
changes in ways of working and improved efficiency that has not yet been captured 
in financial modelling.   

Summary of sustainability impact 

 These is no impact on sustainability from the recommendations in this report.  

Summary of public health implications 

 There are no public health and wellbeing implications requiring consideration.  

38



Summary of equality implications 

 Services will need to consider equalities issues in the development of any individual 
future budget proposals in accordance with the council’s Equalities Policy. 

Summary of risk assessment 

 There is significant uncertainty in the length and depth of impact from the Covid 19 
emergency. Three scenarios have been illustrated for the impact on the budget for 
2020/21 with assumptions made for the recovery period. The MTFP impact will be 
modelled on the 24-week disruption period. However, the funding gap shown for 
each year is likely to increase as the recovery period lengthens.  

Background papers 

 2020/21 Budget and MTFP report to February 2020 Council  

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=3726&Ver=4 

Appendices   

 April 2020 return to MHCLG of the early initial assessment of the financial impact of 
the Covid 19 outbreak.  

 Summary for May of the financial impact on the 2020/21 budget by service area for 3 
different scenarios according to assumed periods of disruption – 16 weeks to end of 
July, 24 weeks to mid-September or 52 weeks. 

 Forecast 2020/21 outturn compared with the budget set in February 2020 for the 
scenarios included in Appendix 2.  

 Updated first draft MTFP for the periods 2021 to 2023 reflecting anticipated reduced 
income from council tax and business rates only at this stage. 

 

39

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=285&MId=3726&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank

40



WORKINGS FOR MHCLG FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT RETURN (SUBMITTED 15.04.20)

Section A: Proportions of Grant Funding Allocated

Value %

ASC (not pooled with CCGs) £6,813,000 61%

ASC (pooled with CCGs) 0%

Children's Social Care £975,000 9%

Education £0 0%

Highways and Transport £967,000 9%

Public Health £451,000 4%

Housing £1,177,000 11%

Cultural Services £0 0%

Env & regulatory services £650,000 6%

Police £0 0%

Fire & rescue £0 0%

Planning & development £0 0%

Finance / Corporate Services £20,000 0%

Other services £49,000 0%

Not yet allocated £0 0%

£11,102,000 100%

Section B: Additional Spending Pressures

£millions £millions £millions

Mar-20 Apr-20

Full Year 20/21 

('52 week' scenario)

ASC - Additional Demand 0.007 0.092 2.652

ASC - Supporting the Market 0.473 0.945 11.590

ASC - Workforce Pressures 0.022 0.045 0.540

ASC - Other (Inc PPE) 0.002 0.054 0.648

CSC - Workforce Pressures 0.010 0.042 0.500

CSC - Other 0.052 0.207 2.210

Children's - SEND 0 0 0

Education - Excl SEND 0.013 0.053 0.787

Highways & Transport 0 0 0

Public Health 0.021 0.082 0.985

Housing & homelessness 0.074 0.296 3.017

Cultural Services 0 0 0

Environmental & Reg Svs (incl death management) 0.140 0.560 1.306

Planning & development 0 0 0

Financial / corporate svs 0.014 0.058 0.749

Other services 0.025 0.025 0.050

TOTAL ADDITIONAL SPENDING 0.853 2.458 25.035

41



Section C: Income Reductions

Mar-20 Apr-20

Full Year 20/21 

('52 week' scenario)

Retained Business Rates (net rates payable) 0 0.61 7.321

Council Tax 0 1.268 15.215

Sales, Fees & Charges 1.280 3.978 41.333

- Childrens 0.024 0.048 0.375

- Env & Comm 0.332 0.663 6.2908

- Car Parking 0.644 2.147 21.271

- Resources 0.029 0.115 1.536

- Destination & Culture 0.251 1.005 11.860

Commercial Income 0.128 0.514 6.679

Other (specify)

TOTAL INCOME REDUCTIONS 1.408 6.370 70.548

TOTAL SPENDING PRESSURES & INCOME 

REDUCTIONS 2.261 8.828 95.582

42



Category Description Comments

16 week 24 week 52 week

1 Car Parking Parking charges, PCN income 8,589 12,537 21,271 Car parking income virtually nil during end of March - worse than originally expected

2 Seafront and Tourism
Short term beach hut lets, concession 

income
4,490 5,820 5,860 Does not include impact from loss of income from any annual beach hut income 

3 Culture and Heritage
Highcliffe Castle, Arts & Museums, Libraries, 

Archives, Russell Cotes
320 460 930 Estimates of net loss of income  

4 Leisure Centres BH Live, Two Riversmeet 820 1,120 4,680 Includes £2.1m bad debt in worst case

5 Upton Country Park All park activities 240 350 490 Comprehensive workings available, but further work to refine once there is more certainty

6
Parks and Open 

Spaces

Kings Park Nursery, Catering, Golf, 

Hengistbury Head Visitor Centre & Land 

Train

737 1,050 1,867 Various estimates including significant loss of income 

7 Land Charges Land charges 268 435 870 % reduction in activity

8 Registrars
Reduced weddings, increased death 

certificates
379 616 1,231 Reduced weddings, increased death certificates

9 Emergency Planning Standby payments 12 20 39 Additional standby costs above base budget

10 Investment Property Rent reductions / company administrations 1,319 2,143 4,286 Rent reductions / company administrations

11 Waste Services
Income-generating services:closure of 

HWRC, loss of trade waste income
32 57 (48) Various Estimates

12
Highways 

Maintenance

Reduced inspections, potentially increased 

insurance claims, loss of income-generating 

work

336 504 1,008 Various Estimates

13
Bereavement 

Services

Establishment of excess death facility and 

additional service activity
634 750 1,105 Various Estimates

14
Catering & 

Concessions
Income loss due to closures 444 658 1,355 Various Estimates

15 Housing
Temporary accommodation costs, telecare, 

additional communal cleaning costs
1,146 1,716 3,357

Estimate - temp accommodation costs based on known number of individuals with 20% benefit 

assumed.  £287k per month submitted on MHCLG request for additional funds form which was 

sent out at the same time £54k urgent funding was awarded.

16 Financial Services Fees & charges 0 0 46 Dorset Path lab delay - arrangement fee not in 2020/21

17
Children's - Social 

Care 
Additional places 761 944 2,010

Possible additional social care places if carers become unwell / placement breakdowns(not yet 

quantified)

18

Children's - 

Previously assumed 

MTFP savings

Staffing restructures 167 229 500 Unlikely to meet MTFP expectations due to delay (Potential only 50% achieved).

19
Children's - Support 

to Schools
Support in the recovery period 150 250 600 Estimate

20
Children's - Social 

Care
Early help contact/ S17/ and loss of income 321 416 762 Estimate

21 Communities Licensing/Markets loss of income 141 213 433 Estimate

22 Housing Benefits Housing Benefit Subsidy error 31 50 100 Estimate - BCP mid year return

23 Council Tax 5% on annual yield for duration of scenario 3,340 5,009 10,854

24 Council Tax Increased bad debt provision 2,180 3,271 4,361

25 Business Rates Loss of excess income to safety net 1,830 3,661 7,321

26 Adult Social Care Potential Market Pressures 4,004 6,925 13,012 Initial estimate of potential adult social care market pressures

27 Adult Social Care Learning disabilities 328 451 984 Earlier elderly carers breakdowns, additional respite

28 Adult Social Care Service user contributions  148 204 444 Reduced income from delay in financial assessments / day center closure 2% allowed

29 Adult Social Care In house care provision 56 77 168 In house services 10%

30 Adult Social Care Other client related expenditure 60 83 168 Ad hoc support/equipment etc

31 Adult Social Care Workforce costs 220 303 660 7 day working and extended hours 

32 Adult Social Care Other worker related expenditure 20 28 35 PPE etc

33 Public Health Estimated overspend 328 451 985 Marker only - significant extra costs have been signalled 

34 PPE Purchases Estimate for items not within services 195 195 195 Based on PPE order monitoring 

35 ICT Services
Continuity of service due to lack of ability to 

do on site installation
190 190 190 £70k savings unachievable, £120k additional costs

36 Adult Social Care Delayed transformation and other savings 460 690 1,380 Implementation delayed at the current time

37
Growth and 

Infrastructure

Fewer hours able to be recharged to capital 

schemes
982 1,473 3,191

Although schemes have funding in place, social distancing and other factors are leading to 

fewer chargeable hours 

Total Estimated 

Pressure
35,676 53,347 96,700

Less Government 

Grant
(22,007) (22,007) (22,007)

Net Pressure 13,669 31,340 74,693

Appendix 2 

BUDGET RISK AREAS AS A RESULT OF COVID-19

Estimated Financial Impact *

43



This page is intentionally left blank

44



Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3

 Originally 16 Week 24 Week 52 Week

Approved Impact Impact Impact

Net Net Variance Net Variance Net Variance

Budget Budget from Budget from Budget from

2020/21 2020/21 Original 2020/21 Original 2020/21 Original

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Adult Services Exp 171,585 176,881 5,296 180,344 8,758 188,436 16,851

Inc (60,471) (60,471) 0 (60,471) 0 (60,471) 0

Net 111,114 116,410 5,296 119,873 8,758 127,965 16,851

Public Health Exp 19,353 19,681 328 19,804 451 20,338 985

Inc (19,353) (19,353) 0 (19,353) 0 (19,353) 0

Net 0 328 328 451 451 985 985

Childrens Services Exp 171,106 172,506 1,400 172,947 1,842 174,980 3,875

Inc (109,170) (109,172) (3) (109,172) (3) (109,172) (3)

Net 61,936 63,334 1,398 63,775 1,839 65,808 3,872

Environment & Community Exp 88,480 91,809 3,330 93,215 4,736 97,123 8,644

Inc (36,923) (36,782) 141 (36,710) 213 (36,490) 433

Net 51,557 55,027 3,470 56,505 4,948 60,634 9,077

Regeneration & Economy Exp 68,534 68,534 (0) 68,534 (0) 68,534 (0)

Inc (61,792) (46,352) 15,440 (40,033) 21,759 (25,371) 36,421

Net 6,742 22,182 15,440 28,501 21,759 43,163 36,421

Resources Exp 146,539 146,937 398 146,945 406 146,964 425

Inc (113,588) (112,911) 678 (112,488) 1,101 (111,341) 2,247

Net 32,951 34,026 1,076 34,457 1,507 35,623 2,673

Total net cost of services Exp 665,596 676,348 10,752 681,789 16,192 696,376 30,780

Inc (401,297) (385,041) 16,256 (378,227) 23,070 (362,198) 39,099

Net 264,300 291,308 27,008 303,562 39,262 334,178 69,878

Corporate Items

 Provision for repayment (MRP) 10,615 10,615 0 10,615 0 10,615 0

 Pensions 5,612 5,612 0 5,612 0 5,612 0

 Revenue contribution to capital - general 2,839 2,839 0 2,839 0 2,839 0

 Interest on borrowings 1,799 1,799 0 1,799 0 1,799 0

 High Needs Reserve Contribution 1,230 1,230 0 1,230 0 1,230 0

 Contingency 1,160 1,160 0 1,160 0 1,160 0

 Parish, Town, Neighbourhood Councils & Charter 

Trustees
969 969 0 969 0 969 0

 Contingency for pay award 960 960 0 960 0 960 0

 Movement to and (from) reserves 734 734 0 734 0 734 0

 Levies (Environment Agency / Fisheries) 597 597 0 597 0 597 0

 Apprentice Levy 565 565 0 565 0 565 0

 Revenue expenditure on surplus assets 61 61 0 61 0 61 0

Corporate Items Exp 27,141 27,141 0 27,141 0 27,141 0

 Investment property income (6,678) (5,359) 1,319 (4,535) 2,143 (2,392) 4,286

 Income from HRA (949) (949) 0 (949) 0 (949) 0

 Other Grant Income (351) (351) 0 (351) 0 (351) 0

 Interest on cash investments (185) (185) 0 (185) 0 (185) 0

 Dividend Income (100) (100) 0 (100) 0 (100) 0

Corporate Items Inc (8,263) (6,944) 1,319 (6,120) 2,143 (3,977) 4,286

Net Budget Requirement Exp 692,737 703,489 10,752 708,930 16,192 723,517 30,780

Inc (409,560) (391,985) 17,575 (384,346) 25,213 (366,175) 43,385

Net Budget Requirement 283,178 311,505 28,327 324,583 41,405 357,342 74,164

Funding

Covid19 Grant - Tranche 1 0 (11,102) (11,102) (11,102) (11,102) (11,102) (11,102)

Covid19 Grant - Tranche 2 0 (10,905) (10,905) (10,905) (10,905) (10,905) (10,905)

 Council Tax Income (217,075) (211,555) 5,520 (208,795) 8,280 (201,860) 15,215

 Net Income from Business Rates (58,102) (56,272) 1,830 (54,441) 3,661 (50,781) 7,321

 Revenue support grant (3,005) (3,005) 0 (3,005) 0 (3,005) 0

 New Homes Bonus Grant (2,647) (2,647) 0 (2,647) 0 (2,647) 0

 Collection Fund Surplus Distribution (1,380) (1,380) 0 (1,380) 0 (1,380) 0

 Parish/Town/Neigh Coun & Charter Trustees (969) (969) 0 (969) 0 (969) 0

Total Funding (283,178) (297,835) (14,657) (293,244) (10,066) (282,649) 529

Net Position (0) 13,669 13,670 31,340 31,340 74,693 74,693

Appendix 3 - Fundamental Base Budget Review 2020/21

45



This page is intentionally left blank

46



Appendix 4 

 

 

This table sets out the General Fund budget for 2020/21 and MTFP to 2023. It 

should be emphasised that the table shows the incremental changes, positive and 

negative from the preceding year. It does not show absolute amounts. 

19/20 20/21 Additional Investment into Services 21/22 22/23 Total

£m £m £m £m £m

6.9 11.0 Adult Social Care – growth in demand and cost increases. 8.2 7.9 16.1

2.9 3.0 Pay award - allocated to be allocated to services 2.9 2.9 5.8

6.9 1.1 Government Funding reductions 4.3 0.8 5.1

1.3 3.0 Children’s Services – demand and cost increases 1.9 1.1 3.0

1.3 3.2 Environment and Communities  - inc price inflation contract related 0.6 0.6 1.2

1.1 2.0 Regeneration and Economy - including price inflation 0.5 1.0 1.5

0.0 0.9 Central Items - potential additional 0.75% Pay Award 0.9 1.1 2.0

0.7 0.6 Minimum Revenue Provision inc Holes Bay / Interest payable 1.3 0.0 1.3

1.1 0.8 Corporate Services  – including Microsoft licence costs. 0.6 0.5 1.1

0.0 1.4 Corporate Priorities 1.1 0.0 1.1

0.0 1.2 Investment related to the high needs deficit 0.0 0.0 0.0

1.1 1.1 Revenue Contribution to Capital 0.0 0.0 0.0

1.8 (1.7) Pension Fund – tri-annual revaluation impact 1.0 1.0 2.0

0.1 0.0 Public Health 0.0 0.0 0.0

1.7 0.0 Adult Social Care - winter pressures 0.0 0.0 0.0

2.0 (1.3) Contingency 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0 (1.1) Interest Payable (0.1) 0.0 (0.1)

28.9 25.2 Total Additional Investment into Services 23.2 16.9 40.1

Cumulative Investment into Services 23.2 40.1

19/20 20/21 Additional Resources 21/22 22/23 Total

£m £m £m £m £m

(3.9) (6.0) Council Tax – Income 5.0 (6.8) (1.8)

(2.7) (1.7) Council Tax - Tax base Increases 0.0 (1.2) (1.2)

(0.4) 0.0 Council Tax – Discounts / Local CT Support Scheme 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.3 0.0 Charter Trustees 0.0 0.0 0.0

(1.7) (1.0) Business Rates Income 3.7 (1.1) 2.6

(0.6) (1.2) Collection Fund – Surplus Distribution 1.4 0.0 1.4

(0.8) 0.8 Use of Reserves 0.0 0.0 0.0

(1.3) 0.0 DCC Disaggregation 2018/19 Budgets 0.0 0.0 0.0

(3.0) (6.7) Social Care Funding 0.0 0.0 0.0

(1.7) 0.0 Adult Social Care – winter pressures funding 0.0 0.0 0.0

(1.9) 0.0 Improved Better Care Funding 0.0 0.0 0.0

(2.2) (3.2) Adult Social Care – services savings & efficiencies (1.4) (0.8) (2.2)

(1.6) (1.0) Children’s Services – services savings & efficiencies (0.2) 0.0 (0.2)

0.0 (2.2) Environment and Community  - services savings & efficiencies (0.1) 0.0 (0.1)

(4.3) (2.1) Regeneration and Economy  - services savings & efficiencies 0.0 (0.1) (0.1)

(3.1) (0.9) Corporate Services – services savings & efficiencies 0.0 0.0 0.0

(28.9) (25.2) Total annual extra resource & savings 8.4 (10.0) (1.6)

Cumulative extra resources & savings 8.4 (1.6)

0.0 0.0 Annual – Net Funding Gap 31.6 6.9 38.5

Cumulative MTFP – Net Funding Gap 31.6 38.5

BCP Council - 2020/21 Budget - Financial Strategy Update

47



This page is intentionally left blank

48



CABINET  

  

Report subject  Bournemouth Development Company LLP Business Plan  

Meeting date  May 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  1. Bournemouth Development Company llp (“BDC”) is a joint 
venture between the Council and wholly owned subsidiary of 
Morgan Sindall Investments Ltd. 

 
2. This report summarises the BDC 5 year rolling business plan, 

with a particular emphasis on the programme of activity for 
2020/21. This is the eighth update of the plan since BDC was 
formed in February 2011 and has been updated to reflect the 
recently approved Corporate Strategy. 

 
 

Recommendations  

  

It is RECOMMENDED that:  

Cabinet approves the updated BDC Business Plan, a copy of 
which is set out at Appendix 3. 

   

Reason for 

recommendations  

The BDC Business Plan sets out the strategic direction of BDC 
over the next five years, with a particular emphasis on the 
development activity BDC will undertake during 2020/21. The 
Council has reserved the right for Cabinet to approve the annually 
updated BDC business plan which highlights the next steps to be 
undertaken on sites which are currently in the development phase 
and those which are earmarked for development but yet to enter 
the development cycle. 
  

49

Agenda Item 8



Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Mark Howell, Regeneration Culture & Economy 

Corporate Director  Bill Cotton, Corporate Director, Regeneration & Economy 

Report Author Martin Tiffin, Town Centre Vision Programme Leader  

Wards  Bournemouth Town Centre  

Classification  For Decision 
Title:  

Background   

1. The BDC Business Plan sets out the nature and extent of development that will be 
undertaken by BDC. The format and content of the plan is prescribed in BDC 
members agreement. An extract from this agreement is set out at Appendix 1.  

2. The key aim of the updated BDC Business Plan is to deliver the BDC objectives as 
set out in the LLP Members Agreement. Appendix 2 sets out these objectives. The 
BDC Business Plan recognises that the strategic direction of BDC, such as pace of 
development, geographic focus to facilitate regeneration across the BCP area are 
matters for the BDC Members (Council and Morgan Sindall) to determine and drive 
forward. The Business Plan identifies a potential site in Poole Town Centre which 
could act as a catalyst to drive forward much needed regeneration in this area. This 
will be the subject matter for a separate cabinet report including a risk assessment 
based on the Councils legal advice. In addition, the BDC Business Plan notes that 
the Durley Road scheme can now move forward having achieved planning consent 
at appeal.  

Purpose of the BDC 

3. BDC was initially set up to kick-start development in Bournemouth Town Centre 
(phase 1 sites) with the ability to spread its geographical focus and add in sites 
which were either in the Council ownership or third-party ownership. The decision to 
add sites is one for the two members of BDC to determine based on the process set 
out in the BDC legal agreements and will be the subject of a future Cabinet report.  

4. The BDC Business Plan sets out the proposed uses for each of the Phase 1 sites 
and the likely timescale for bringing these sites forward for development. 

Consultation 

5. The Council Officers and the Morgan Sindall Development Team involved in the day 
to day delivery of the BDC objectives have been consulted on the key priorities 
within the Business Plan. 

Options 

6. Option 1. Approve a Business Plan for BDC. This gives the BDC a clear direction 
enabling further investment and brings the plan into line with the Council’s recently 
approved Corporate Strategy. 

50



 Option 2. Do not approve a business plan for BDC. 

 The current BDC Business Plan dated Feb 2019 is a five-year plan and therefore 
sets out the strategic direction and objectives to the period ending January 2024. If 
the Council does not approve the latest draft of the plan this would mean that the 
current Business Plan  

 (dated Feb. 2019) would not be updated to reflect the Council’s new Corporate 
Strategy and the recent progress made by BDC over the past 12 months. 

Summary of financial implications  

7. Revenue 

 The initial sums (“Advance Sums”) required to bring forward the BDC Business Plan 
and the individual Site Development Plans are met by Morgan Sindall Investments 
as part of an early drawdown of their cash contribution to the BDC.  

  Summarising the BDC activity for context, it is worth noting that Cabinet has already 

approved the following Advance Sums: - 

 

Site Anticipated 

total 

scheme 

value 

Total 

advance 

fees 

Approved Advance 

fees 

spent (ex 

VAT) as 

at Dec 

2019 

Expected 

completion 

date 

Durley Road £12.8m £750k October 

2014 

£468k Q4 2022 

Eden Glen £10.5m £1,110k November 

2018 

£13k Q4 2024 

Winter 

Gardens 

£150.0m £4,900k February 

2020 

£2,626k Q4 2024 

Cotlands & 

York Road 

£150.0m £4,978k February 

2019 

£275k Q4 2025 

Total £323.3m £11,738k  £3,382k  

 

  Any new schemes requiring financing will have their own individual report requesting 

approval as they arise in the form of a Site Development Plan and will set out the 

level of Advance Sums to be injected into the BDC by Morgan Sindall. 

  Should any scheme not be completed as anticipated then the Advance Sums 

incurred will roll forward and become a reduction in returns to future schemes and 

therefore may affect the actual returns to the Council from those schemes.  

 

 

 

51



8. Returns 

 BDC as a vehicle has traditionally operated as a low capitalised limited liability 
partnership and as a result the BDC members (the Council and Morgan Sindall), 
under the direction of the “BDC Partnership Board”, have historically withdrawn 
profits at the end of each scheme. As a result, BDC has not built up reserves to 
account for potentially undelivered schemes. The Council has however enjoyed 
healthy returns from its participation in BDC over and above the purely regeneration 
benefits. The Council has received a profit distribution of circa [£3.6 million], land 
value payments totally [£5.2 million] and retained a number of developed assets, 
namely Madeira Road Car park £7million, Berry Court Car Park £3 million, Madeira 
Road Student Scheme £27 million and St. Stephen’s PRS Scheme which when 
completed in 2021 will be worth £12 million. All of these assets not only help support 
the Council’s revenue requirements but also add to the Council’s balance sheet, 
upon which should the need arise can be disposed of in the future.  

9. Property 

 BDC will utilise a proportion of the Council’s property assets for regeneration 
purposes. This is in accordance with the Council’s priorities in the Capital Strategy 
and Corporate Asset Management Plan and with Government guidance that the 
Council should make best use of these resources in pursuit of agreed corporate 
priorities. 

10.  Covid-19 

The Covid-19 pandemic has caused worldwide disruption and there is a lot of 
speculation as to what the ultimate impact the pandemic will have on the global 
economy. The construction and development market has been severely impacted.  

The BDC platform was conceived and put in place during the financial crash of 
2008/9. The business case for the creation of BDC was that it would be a 20-year 
endeavour and in that time would need to navigate different economic cycles. The 
BDC in many ways helped Bournemouth kick start the boom in development that we 
have seen over the past 10 years, with Bournemouth rising to a town with the third 
most development activity outside of London in 2015/6.  

BDC is central to once again to kick starting the local economy once we move out of 
the current recessionary period and into recovery mode. BDC has four projects in 
the pipeline with a gross development value of over £350 Million. This translates into 
approximately £260 million being pumped into the local economy over the next 5 
years.  

The BDC platform therefore offers an opportunity to help us move into recovery 
mode once the Covid-19 pandemic has been beaten. 

Summary of legal implications   

11.  The legal obligations of the Council and a wholly owned subsidiary of Morgan 
Sindall Investments Limited, as members of BDC, are set out in a limited liability 
partnership members’ agreement which was negotiated as part of an EU 
Procurement Process undertaken in 2009/10. The delegation’s policy contained in 
the limited liability partnership members’ agreement requires BDC to annually 
update the Business Plan to be approved by BDC members. 

 

 

52



Summary of human resources implications  

12. BDC has four Board representatives, two from the Council and two from Morgan 
Sindall Investments Ltd. These Board representatives are responsible for delivering 
the BDC Business Plan and deferring to the Council’s Cabinet and the Morgan 
Sindall Main Board on  more strategic matters. 

13. BDC has appointed Morgan Sindall Investments Limited as the Development 
Manager. The Development Manager is tasked with implementing BDC Board 
decisions and reporting on progress. 

 
Summary of environmental impact   

 

14. The Council has declared a climate emergency. The Council’s role is to consider the 
future planning policy and transport solutions which will also promote sustainable 
modes of transport, including greater use of public transport, cycling and walking. 
BDC’s role is to ensure that its contractors and consultants take into account best 
practice on sustainability issues when designing and constructing new buildings and 
respond to the Council’s Corporate Strategy. 

  
Summary of equality implications   

 

15. The Equality Impact Needs Assessment indicates that the Bournemouth Town 
Centre Vision provides substantial opportunities to create a positive Equalities 
Impact, particularly by improving accessibility of Bournemouth Town Centre and 
harnessing substantial resources for the provision of homes which are affordable. 

 

Summary of risk assessment   

 

16. As a major programme of the Council, the Bournemouth Town Centre Vision has 
been subject to a full Risk Assessment. The key risks that will be considered as part 
of this detailed assessment when individual site development plans are prepared 
include the following: 

 

 Investment Risk including the risk that the development is non-profit making 

 Pre-Construction Risk including planning, design and funding risks 

 Construction Risk including late completion and cost overruns.  

 

Background papers  

 
BDC Business Plan - Cabinet Report dated 20 February 2019 
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Data/Bournemouth%20Cabinet/20190220/Agenda/
agenda-and-reports-public.pdf#search=%22BDC%22 
  
Appendices 

Appendix 1 – Format and Content of a compliant Partnership Business Plan 

Appendix 2 – BDC Objectives 

Appendix 3 – Partnership Business Plan dated April 2020 

 

 

53

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Data/Bournemouth%20Cabinet/20190220/Agenda/agenda-and-reports-public.pdf#search=%22BDC%22
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Data/Bournemouth%20Cabinet/20190220/Agenda/agenda-and-reports-public.pdf#search=%22BDC%22


 APPENDIX 1 - Extract from LLP( BDC) Members Agreement 

 
AGREED FORM BUSINESS PLAN CRITERIA  

 
1. PARTNERSHIP BUSINESS PLAN 

 
The Partnership Business Plan shall set out the Objectives of the LLP for the life of the LLP and the annual 
over-arching objectives of the LLP for each Accounting Year on a 5-year projection. 
 
The requirements for an acceptable Partnership Business Plan include the following based on a 5-year 
projection- 
 

REF. CONTENT TO BE IN COMPLIANCE WITH 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 Strategic Management Objectives 

1.1.1 Council’s Town Centre Vision Objectives  Members’ Agreement Clauses 4 and 5 

1.1.2 Partnership Objectives  Members’ Agreement Clauses 4 and 5 

1.2 Operational Management 

1.2.1 Delivery – Resourcing the Partnership Development Management Agreement         
Schedule 3 - Resource Plan 

1.2.2 Commercial  Members’ Agreement Clause 4.1.4 

1.2.3 Best Value Members’ Agreement                                
Schedule 8 – Procurement Policy 
Option Agreement – Definition of Market 
Value 

1.2.4 KPIs and Performance Specification Development Management Agreement    
Schedule 4 

1.2.5 Risk Management To reflect the adopted Site Development 
Plans 

1.2.6 Corporate Governance Members’ Agreement Clause 18 

2.0 Partnership Structure 

2.1 Resource and Management Structure 

2.1.1 Strategic Management Members’ Agreement Clauses 13-15 

2.1.2 Operational Management Members’ Agreement Clauses 9-11 

2.1.3 Resource Development Management Agreement         
Schedule 3  - Resource Plan 

2.1.4 Accommodation and Facilities  Not applicable 

2.1.5 Corporate Policies Good Industry Practice 

2.1.6 Quality Management and Quality 
Assurance 

Good Industry Practice 

2.1.7 Health & Safety Management All law and Good Industry Practice 

2.1.8 Professional Services Members’ Agreement                                
Schedule 8 – Procurement Policy 
Adopted Site Development Plans 

2.1.9 Supply Chain Members’ Agreement                                
Schedule 8 – Procurement Policy 
Adopted Site Development Plans 

2.1.10 Strategic Services Members’ Agreement                                
Schedule 8 – Procurement Policy 

2.2 Proposals for Subsidiary LLP Members’ Agreement                                
Schedule 10 – Development Subsidiaries 
Adopted Site Development Plans 

3.0 Development Programmes 

3.1 Development Programme (next 5 years) Adopted Site Development Plans 
Indicative Drawdown Profile (as updated 
from time to time) 

54



REF. CONTENT TO BE IN COMPLIANCE WITH 

3.2 Indicative Development Programme            
(all years) 

Indicative Drawdown Profile (as updated 
from time to time) 

4.0 Car Park and Transport Policy Highways and Transportation advice 
procured by the Development Manager 
from time to time on behalf of the LLP 

5.0 Financial Matters 

5.1 Funding Structure Adopted Site Development Plans 

5.1.1 Loan Notes Members’ Agreement Clause 7 

5.1.2 Third Party Funding Members’ Agreement Clause 6.5.5 
Adopted Site Development Plans 

5.1.3 Funding Hierarchy Members’ Agreement Clause 26 

5.1.4 Recycling of Loans Members’ Agreement Clause 26 
Adopted Site Development Plans 

5.2 Financing Strategy Adopted Site Development Plans 
Indicative Drawdown Profile (as updated 
from time to time) 

5.3 Taxation Assumptions Adopted Site Development Plans 

5.4 Cashflow Adopted Site Development Plans  
Indicative Drawdown Profile (as updated 
from time to time) 

5.4.1 Partnership Operating Costs Development Management Agreement 
clause 7, Members Agreement clause 
7.4.1 and the Adopted Site Development 
Plans 

5.4.2 Capital Requirements of the Partnership Adopted Site Development Plans  

5.5 Distribution Policy and Summary                   
of Forecast Distributions 

Members’ Agreement Clause 26 
Adopted Site Development Plans 

5.6 Indicative Drawdown Profile Adopted Site Development Plans 

   

6.0 Exit Strategies 

6.1 Development Sites Adopted Site Development Plans 

6.2 Cessation of the Partnership  Members’ Agreement Clauses 31 and 32 

 
 

  

55



 

 

Appendix 2 – BDC Objectives 

 

Extract from LLP ( “ BDC”)  Members Agreement 

 
2. OBJECTIVES 
2.1 The following shall be the Objectives of the LLP in relation to the Area, any Site and/or any 

Additional Site:- 
 
2.1.1 Regeneration 

(a) to maximise the full economic potential and kick start wider regeneration in the 
Area; 

(b) through the activities and Business of the LLP, improve Bournemouth's 
competitiveness as a place to live, work, visit and shop; 

(c) drive the demand for new homes and jobs in the town centre by acting as a 
place maker, increasing the number of town centre residents and work 
opportunities through the development of mixed use developments, 
improvement of existing business and increasing sustainable job opportunities 
to encouraging a more diverse and skilled workforce to work in the Area; 

(d) to create a vibrant, 24/7 residential and visitor community through the 
development of new attractions to cater for a more wide-ranging customer 
base;  

(e) to create and improve access, signage, landscaping, roads and public 
transport throughout the town;  
 

2.1.2 Design and Standards 
(a) to deliver development that is innovative in design and quality, and which is in 

itself exemplar in terms of all aspects of sustainability; and integrating social, 
economic and environmental goals; 

(b) to deliver inclusive, diverse, high quality, safe public spaces and landscapes; 
(c) to develop parts of the town centre so that each designated area has a distinct 

identity, with high quality public realm areas providing a sense of arrival and 
place; 

(d) to retain, conserve and enhance the architectural style of the town as a historic 
public realm through improved access, linkages and integration to the 
surroundings; 

(e) making improvements to Bournemouth's public realm, to make the town easier 
and more pleasant to experience on foot; 

2.1.3 Delivery 
(a) to bring forward development on the Sites (and any Additional Sites) in phases 

within a timescale which responds positively to and quickly to market demand 
for commercial, residential and other development; 

(b) to carry out the above in partnership with and in continued dialogue, 
consultation and engagement with the local communities, residents, 
stakeholders, to provide development that meets the needs of a diverse range 
of inhabitants and visitors to Bournemouth; 
 

2.1.4 Commercial 
(a) to deliver an appropriate level of financial return to the Members, both as 

capital and revenue; and 
(b) (unless otherwise agreed by the Members) to capture profit through direct 

development rather than pure land transfer.  
 
Note Area is defined as “ the AAP Boundary as indicated by the red line set out of the 
Plan attached at Error! Reference source not found. including the Sites and any 
additional sites as agreed between the Parties from time to time (which may for the 
avoidance of doubt fall outside the Bournemouth administrative area)” 

 

56



 

 

 
 

 
 

The Winter Gardens 
 

Partnership Business Plan 
   

Status: Annual update 
Prepared: April 2020

57



 

 

Contents 

THE YEAR AHEAD 1 

PREFACE: REVIEW OF 2019 2 

FINANCIAL SUMMARY 2019 2 

1 INTRODUCTION 3 

 2020 PARTNERSHIP BUSINESS PLAN 3 
 THE STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES OF BDC 3 
 ECONOMIC BENEFITS 7 
 OPERATIONAL MANAGEMENT 8 

2 PARTNERSHIP STRUCTURE 10 

 PRINCIPLES 10 
 FRAMEWORK 10 
 LLP STRUCTURE 10 
 SUBSIDIARY LLP STRUCTURE 11 
 STRATEGIC MANAGEMENT 11 
 OPERATIONAL MANAGEMENT 12 
 COMMUNICATIONS 12 
 OFFICE ACCOMMODATION 13 
 RESOURCE 13 

 CORPORATE POLICIES 14 
 QUALITY MANAGEMENT AND QUALITY ASSURANCE 14 
 HEALTH & SAFETY MANAGEMENT 14 
 SUSTAINABILITY 14 
 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 15 
 STRATEGIC SERVICES 15 

3 DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME 17 

 ANNUAL STRATEGY REVIEW 17 
 OPERATIONAL AREA 17 
 AREA ACTION PLAN (AAP) 17 
 BCP LOCAL PLAN 17 
 PLANNING 17 
 DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITY 18 
 COMPLETED PROJECTS 18 
 LIVE PROJECTS – CONSTRUCTION PHASE 21 
 LIVE PROJECTS - STAGE 1 SDP ADOPTED / PRE-CONSTRUCTION 21 

 PIPELINE PROJECTS 22 
 THIRD PARTY SITES 23 

4 MOVEMENT, PARKING AND TRANSPORT POLICY 24 

 INTRODUCTION 24 
 POLICY REVIEW 24 
 CAR PARKING STRATEGY 25 
 IMPACT OF STRATEGY ON PARTNERSHIP DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES 27 
 REVIEW OF CAR PARKING STRATEGY 28 

5 FINANCIAL MATTERS 30 

 FINANCIAL SUMMARY 2019 30 
 FUNDING STRUCTURE 30 
 ANNUAL BUDGET 30 
 FUNDING OF DURLEY ROAD 31 
 FUNDING OF FUTURE PROJECTS 31 
 TAXATION ASSUMPTIONS 31 
 LLP OPERATING COSTS 32 

6 EXIT STRATEGY 33 

 SUBSIDIARY DEVELOPMENT LLP’S - DISPOSAL OF ASSETS 33 
 EARLY MEMBER EXIT FROM THE LLP 33 58



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
Appendix A – Indicative development programme  
Appendix B – Key communication messaging 

 

 

59



60



 

 

 
Prepared: April 2020 

Status: Annual update 

 

 

Page 1 of 35 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

The year ahead 
 

Following the grant of planning permission for The Winter Gardens in November 2018, 
BDC will continue progressing detailed design, contractor procurement with a target of 
achieving financial close and start of construction in late 2020 / early 2021.   
 
Durley Road achieved a grant of planning permission at appeal and we are working up 
detailed design alongside contractor procurement with the objective to start construction in 
Q4 2020.  
 
At Eden Glenn we are working up proposals for submission of a planning application in 
late 2020/early 2021.  The proposal is for a residential-led development of 60-100 
apartments which will be designed and priced as a first home. 
 
The final quarter of the year will see the practical completion and handover of St Stephens 
Road.  This scheme will deliver 44 apartments for private rent to BCP Council who will 
own and manage them, generating revenue for The Council and helping to support the 
provision of services to BCP residents. 
 
2020 will see significant continued focus on the strategic sites at Cotlands and York Road 
car parks.  The emerging proposals are for a scheme comprising a significant proportion 
of employment space alongside other uses, including residential, that will meet the Towns 
wider ambitions.  BDC will also start considering proposals for Central car park and 
continue to evaluate the significant opportunity at Bath Road North and South car parks.  
We will start work on two new projects this year.  The first will look at the Town Hall Annex 
site in Bournemouth, where we will look at proposals for a n office or residential-led 
scheme.  The second, at Chapel Lane car park in Poole, will be for a residential-led 
scheme and help BCP Council deliver its ambitious targets for major investment in the 
town centre. 
 
On all of our sites, we will strive for excellence in sustainable design and delivery of the 
Vision in Bournemouth Town Centre. 
 

   
 

The Winter Gardens  

61



   
 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 2 of 35 

Preface: Review of  2019  
 

Since 2011, the Members have worked well together combining the resource and 
strengths of both organisations to achieve a number of important milestones, which will 
enable the LLP to drive forward delivery of the Town Centre Vision.   
 
Since the last update, BDC has achieved the following milestones: 
 
February  2019 BCP Council approved the Cotlands Road and York Road SDP 

enabling design work to commence on this ambitious employment 
and residential mixed use scheme. 

 
 
November 2019 BCP approved the Winter Gardens reserved matters application 

enabling detailed design to continue. 
 
 
January 2020 Planning Inspector approves grant of planning for 44 new homes at 

Durley Road. 
 
 
February 2020  Successful Strategy Review agreeing priorities for the next 5 years.  
 
 
February 2020 BCP Council approve funding of the new public MSCP at York Road.  

This will be the first phase of the delivery of the wider Cotlands Road 
masterplan.  

 
 
2019 / 2020 Throughout the year we have continued to make good progress on 

the delivery of St Stephens Road where we are delivering 44 
apartments for private rent for BCP Council 

 

Financial summary 2019 
 
The forecast draft financial statements of the Bournemouth Development Company LLP 
and its subsidiary’s Leyton Mount Development LLP and Winter Gardens Development LLP 
show positive results for the year ending 31st December 2019. The consolidated profit for 
the period is £384k (2018: £490k) with retained earnings of £1.221m (2018: £854k). The 
group has net assets attributable to members of £11.304m (2018: £10.903m).  
 
 

  

62



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 3 of 35 

1  Introduction 

 2020 Partnership Business Plan 

 
This is the Partnership Business Plan (‘the Plan’) for the operating year commencing April 
2020, providing a rolling 5 year projection agreed by the LLP members, covering the 
strategic, operational business and governance framework of The Bournemouth 
Development Company Limited Liability Partnership (‘the LLP’).   
 
The LLP is a joint venture between Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (‘the 
Council’) and Morgan Sindall Investments Limited (‘MSIL’), through a wholly owned 
subsidiary of MSIL.   
 
The LLP is an active development partner and regeneration catalyst for the delivery of the 
Bournemouth Town Centre Vision. 
 
The Plan forms an overarching strategic framework, informing and integrating the individual 
Site Development Plans. As such, it serves as a management tool for the Council and the 
PSP (“the Members”) and Representatives and provides strategic guidance in delivering 
Partnership Objectives (see section 1.2.2 below). 
 
The Plan is updated annually by the Development Manager and presented to the LLP Board 
and Members for approval. It is also amended to reflect changes to existing, and adoption 
of new, Site Development Plans as agreed by the Members from time to time.  
 

 The strategic management objectives of BDC 

 
The Plan is based on the premise that Members are committed to working in partnership to 
achieve the Partnership Objectives, informed by the aspirations and drivers underpinning 
the Bournemouth Town Centre Vision and the Council’s regeneration objectives. It is only 
through active contribution, commitment and accountability from both Members and their 
representatives that meeting the Town Centre Vision aspirations will become reality. 
 

 BCP Corporate Strategy 
 

We are aligning BDC activity to the BCP Corporate Strategy.  This includes addressing each 
priority within the Corporate Strategy in relation to our developments.   
 
Sustainable Environment includes adopting a Fabric First design approach, with 
appropriate air permeability to optimise energy consumption.  Also, where possible, 
replacing decaying trees and planting a higher number of trees in replacement to help 
provide a sustainable development while providing employment for local labour and 
businesses during the pre-development, development and operation of the buildings long 
term. 
 
Dynamic Places includes investment in safe, well-lit car parks using 21st century digital 
infrastructure along with creating active street frontage on developments such as Turtle Bay 
on the Citrus Building.  Also creating vibrant town centre homes for a blend of residents 
while investing in homes for rent for local residents who are not ready to buy. 
 
Connected Communities being created within developments with high amenity through 
shared facilities, gardens, cycle storage and open space.  In additional setting out a blend 
of generational housing with rented homes, homes for sale and age friendly homes within 
a safe community of well maintained walkways and communal areas. 

63



   
 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 4 of 35 

 
Brighter Futures includes providing site visits to share experience, education and learning 
for local schools and colleges as well as providing course material for AUB’s architectural 
degree students. 
 
Fulfilled Lives in creating a safe and happy environment, with easy access to the town 
centre, lower gardens and seafront for age friendly community development residents to 
live independent lives, while promoting active healthy lifestyles with the development of 
leisure space, cycle storage and public realm areas for public enjoyment. 
  

 
 

 Town Centre Vision objectives 

 
The LLP acknowledges the aspirations and objectives of the Council in achieving 
regeneration outcomes. The Council’s regeneration objectives (“the Programme 
Objectives”) are as follows: 
 
 increasing the number of people living and working in the town centre; 
 retaining local businesses, attracting new and retaining graduates to build a more 

skilled and diverse workforce; 
 improving the transport network to reduce peak congestion and carbon footprint; 
 sustainable buildings with quality design in mixed use developments; 
 improved public realm, landscaping and signposting to make the town better to 

navigate on foot; 
 rejuvenating parts of town which have become tired such as Pier Approach and 

Westover Road; 
 boosting retail by improving shopping streets; creating a better pedestrian environment 

with distinctive retail zones; positioning Bournemouth as a great place to visit and stay 
with an interesting and diverse shopping experience; 

 promoting all weather cafe and food culture; 

64



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 5 of 35 

 creating new all-weather attractions for both visitors and residents; 
 an exciting events programme to boost visitor appeal and place Bournemouth on the 

festival circuit; and 
 balance an ambitious 20-year programme with a determination to create early 

momentum. 
 
These Key Objectives are informed by the Vision as set out below: 
 

 Bournemouth 2035: A chic urban coastal destination where thriving leisure and retail 
offer a rewarding place to live and a complete visitor experience.  The town is 
characterised by alfresco dining, outside performance areas and defined shopping 
precincts offering high street, niche and top-quality boutiques.   All-weather attractions 
and a thriving events programme ensure Bournemouth is always buzzing. 

 Through the Vision the beach, gardens, shopping and business district are better 
linked as one graceful space with clear landscaping and signage. 

 The Vision should give a greater priority to pedestrians and cyclists and encourages 
use of public transport to reduce congestion. 

 Enhancing Bournemouth’s green spaces is a key to this Vision.   The flyover at Pier 
Approach will be removed or improved to improve links from the Gardens to the 
seafront.   Some work will be carried out to thin out dense tree canopies and improve 
views and links between Westover Road and the Lower Gardens.   This will be 
supported by improved lighting and landscaping.   The Vision aims to reduce crime 
through quality design. 

 Quality office space is created on the town centre fringes to enable high value 
employment.   Affordable live-work units provide space for enterprising individuals to 
develop new business. 

 The Vision strives for a less alcohol-driven night-time economy.   A variety of 
entertainment, dancing and dining establishments and a thriving evening events 
programme will create a destination for all ages. 

 New attractions will build on the success of Pavilion Dance Centre and promote other 
all-weather family facilities. 

 Landscaping and signage is improved to enhance the street scene and create a more 
coherent town centre which is easier to navigate.   Buildings of high architectural merit 
are maintained and new development will offer a mix of sympathetic and landmark 
buildings. 

 The Vision builds on Bournemouth’s credentials as a clean, green, environmentally 
aware resort.   New developments will incorporate high standards of energy efficiency 
and minimise carbon output. 

 The Vision also supports efforts to ensure customer service training is widely offered 
to businesses to ensure the town is always represented well, recognising that an 
individual’s experience of a place is largely determined by the people they meet. 

 
The Council is currently assessing The Vision.   
 

 Partnership objectives 

 
The LLP itself has a number of Partnership Objectives in relation to the development of 
Bournemouth Town Centre. The Partnership Objectives are an integral part of the strategic 
management and operational business activity of the LLP and are set out in the Members’ 
Agreement as summarised below:  
 
The Objectives of the LLP in relation to the Area, any site and / or any Additional Site:- 
 
 Regeneration Objectives 

 
 Maximise the full economic potential and kick start wider regeneration 

65



   
 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 6 of 35 

 Improve Bournemouth’s competitiveness as a place to live, work, and shop 
 Drive the demand for new homes and jobs in the town centre  
 Create a vibrant, 24/7 residential and visitor community  
 Create and improve access, signage, landscaping, road and public transport  

 
 Design and Standards Objectives 

 
 Deliver development that is innovative in design and quality, and exemplar in 

terms of all aspects of sustainability, integrating social, economic and 
environmental goals 

 Deliver inclusive, diverse, high quality, safe public spaces and landscapes 
 Develop parts of the town centre with designated areas of distinct identity and with 

high quality public realm areas, providing a sense of arrival and place 
 Conserve and enhance the architectural style of the town as a historic public realm  
 Improve the public realm to make the town more pleasant to experience on foot 

 
 Delivery Objectives 

 
 Bring forward development of the Sites and any further land identified in phases 

within a timescale which responds positively and quickly to market demand for 
commercial, residential and other development 

 Work in partnership with and in dialogue, consultation and engagement with the 
local communities, residents, stakeholders and the Council  

 
 Commercial 
 

 Deliver an appropriate level of financial return to the Members 
 Capture profit through direct development rather than pure land transfer 

 
The Area as defined in the Members Agreement to mean the AAP Boundary as indicated 
by the red line set out of the plan including the Sites and any additional sites as agreed 
between the Parties from time to time (which may for the avoidance of doubt fall outside 
the former Bournemouth administrative area and include the wider BCP area). 

66



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 7 of 35 

 Economic benefits 

 

The overriding aim of the LLP is to act as the delivery mechanism of the Town centre Vision, 
which will bring forward a broad spectrum of benefits to the Town. 
 
Development of sites will generate capital receipts and revenue to BDC and the Council: 
 
 
 BDC  Council 
Land capital receipt   

  

Profit 
  

 
  

New Homes bonus   
  

Long term revenue / credit enhancement   
  

Enhanced asset base (MRW SA)   
  

S106 and CIL contributions   
  

Domestic and non-domestic rates   
  

Public realm improvements   
  

Quality of design   
  

Provision of Infrastructure   
  

 
BDC will, through development and investment activity, aim to act as a catalyst for additional 
investment in the Town centre from other investors. 
 

 
 
 

67



   
 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 8 of 35 

 Operational Management 

 

 Delivery - human resourcing of the LLP 

 
The principle human resource is the Development Management team, provided by MSIL 
as set out in the Development Management Agreement.   

 Delivery – working capital 

 
In accordance with the Members’ Agreement and agreed Site Development Plans, the PSP 
provides working capital to the LLP to fund the operation of the business. 
 

 Commercial  

 
The LLP leverages the skills, capacity and delivery capability of its Members and the 
Development Manager to generate appropriate returns to its Members by active 
development and management of Council land. Where appropriate, strategies for risk 
transfer to 3rd parties are considered. 
 

 Best value 

 
The LLP is committed to the delivery and creation of best value across all areas of its 
activity, including: 
 
 Land transfer 
 Development and supply chain services 
 Provision of services to the LLP or its subsidiaries 
 
This is in accordance with the Procurement Policy, set out in the Members’ Agreement and 
the Market Valuation mechanism for sites transferred from the Council as set out in the 
Option Agreement. 
 

 Performance specification 

 
In accordance with the Development Management Agreement, the LLP employs MSIL as 
Development Manager (DM) for the delivery of Development Management Services.   
 
Throughout the business and development activity of the LLP, and that of the DM and 
supply chain partners, an ethos of collaborative working is encouraged and promoted, to 
enable: 
 
 Development of close working relationships between parties, underpinning efficiencies 

in delivery and enhanced decision making 
 Compliance with best practice principles and relevant Council Policies 
 Delivery of efficient operational performance 
 Identification of partnering challenges and remedial strategies 
 Development of effective communication, transparency and sharing of best practice 

methodologies and solutions 
 

68



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 9 of 35 

 Risk management 

 
Effective risk identification and management is an essential and dynamic business process. 
The Partnership Board is responsible for identification, assessment and management of 
the key business risks facing the LLP.  
 
A project Risk Register will be produced for each site. This provides an overarching risk 
management tool, consolidating risk management best practice that potentially arises at 
both LLP and at development subsidiary level. Further site specific risk analysis is 
undertaken as part of the Site Development Plan approval process. 
 

 Corporate governance 

 
The Partnership Board is responsible for the strategic management and direction of the 
LLP and is accountable to the Members in accordance with the Members’ Agreement. The 
Partnership Board has and will continue to adopt and implement best practise in the form 
of corporate governance and risk management. 
 
 
  

69



   
 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 10 of 35 

2  Partnership structure 

 Principles 

 
The LLP is structured on the principles of equal sharing of risk and reward by the Members, 
with parity between. At all times the Members need to meet their fiduciary duties to the LLP, 
and the Council needs to meet its statutory obligations to the electorate. 

 Framework 

 
The LLP conducts its business activity in accordance with the following contract documents,  
 
 Members Agreement 
 Option Agreement; and   
 Development Management Agreement.  

 LLP structure 

 
The diagram below sets out the structure or indicative structure for the LLP, including 
subsidiaries, and provides details of key relationships, contract structure, loan note 
structure and key fund flows. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

70



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 11 of 35 

 Subsidiary LLP structure 

 
Once option conditions have been satisfied, development will be taken forward by an LLP 
subsidiary, which will be formed in accordance with the Members’ Agreement.  The benefits 
of this structure are to: 
 
 ring fence the development of specific sites  
 enable the individual entities to raise development specific finance; and 
 provide the flexibility to enter into joint venture arrangements  
 
Joint ventures will be considered with third parties such as other landowners, investors and 
developers who can enhance the performance of the LLP by  
 
 providing a project specific delivery capability 
 introducing project finance, either as debt, equity or possibly a forward funding 

commitment 
 helping with site assembly that helps to deliver Partnership and wider Council 

Regeneration Objectives 
 sharing in the risk (and reward) of a project 
 
Any proposed joint venture arrangements will be discussed with the Council teams, with a 
preferred option (if any) being presented to the Partnership Board and Members for 
approval. 

 Strategic management 

 
The strategic direction and management of the LLP is the responsibility of the Partnership 
Board.  Certain decisions are reserved back to the Members for approval in accordance 
with the Delegation Policy annexed to the Members’ Agreement. 
 
The Board currently comprises two nominated representatives from The Council and two 
from MSIL.  Partnership Board meetings are determined to be quorum with at least two 
Representatives from each Member present. Representatives from each Member vote 
collectively with a single vote.  
 
BCP representatives are: 
 
 Cllr Mike Brooke  
 Bill Cotton, Executive Director Environment & Economic Services  
 
MSIL representatives are: 
 
 Richard Dixon, Director Morgan Sindall Investments 
 Wes Erlam, Director Morgan Sindall Investments  
 

71



   
 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 12 of 35 

 Operational management  

 
The LLP has appointed MSIL as Development Manager (DM).  The scope of DM services, 
terms and conditions and remuneration are set out in the Development Management 
Agreement.    
 
Key services include the following: 
 
 Management of day-to-day operations  
 Management of overall development activity  
 Operational reporting on a regular basis to the LLP 
 Production, maintenance and review of Site Development Plans and Partnership 

Business Plans 
 
In order to perform the necessary services to the LLP the following work streams have been 
identified as set out below: 
 

 
 
As DM, MSIL manages the above work streams, leveraging internal resource as well as 
that of external advisors, service providers and the Council, where appropriate. 

 Communications 

 
Liz Lean PR, who are based in Poole, are the LLP’s communications and marketing advisor.   
Their remit is to forward plan, engage and deliver public relations activity with the local 
community and other stakeholders.  
 
Liz Lean has refreshed the key messages, a copy of which is enclosed at Appendix B. 
 
 
 

 

Development 

Appraisal

Construction 

Delivery

Land Assembly & 

CPO Planning

Programming

Estate 

Management

Planning

Community

Consultation

Development 

Finance

Investment
Transport 

Planning

Sustainability

Architectural 

Design

Urban Realm 

Design

Consents & 

Compliance

DEVELOPMENT 

MANAGER

Partnership

Board

Support Financial Business Planning
Master Planning 

& Vision
Development

Lease Structuring 

& Negotiation

Contractor

Procurement

Supply Chain 

Management

Construction 

Delivery

Agency Sales & 

Lettings 

Property 

Valuation

Lease 

Management

Life Cycle & 

Maintenance

Site 

Development Plan

Partnership

Business Plan
Legal

Health & Safety

ICT Support

Audit & 

Accounting

Company

Secretarial

Human Resources

72



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 13 of 35 

 Office accommodation  

 
MSIL operate out of offices in the Town Centre.  The location, adjacent to the Town Hall, is 
convenient and accessible, enabling better communication between the Members which 
underpins the relationship. 

 Resource 

 
The day to day management and development role is undertaken by a small team of direct 
employees, based in Bournemouth. They are supported by an ‘in-house’ commercial, 
accounting and secretariat team, based in London, who provide management reports, 
management accounts (as appropriate), annual statutory documentation, payment 
processing and other services detailed in the Development Management.  
 

 
 
 
When additional resource is required, potential employment and/or secondment of suitable 
staff will be considered. 
 

73



   
 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 14 of 35 

 Corporate policies 

 
The Policies of the LLP have been established in line with best industry practice and 
include, but not exclusively, health and safety, quality, human resources, discrimination, 
and environmental policies. 
 
Whilst the LLP is an independent development business, its policies have regard to and 
accord with those of the Members as identified in the Members Agreement. 
 
The LLP has produced and adopted its own: 
 
 Health & Safety Policy (revised and approved April 2018) 
 Equality & Diversity Policy (revised and approved April 2018) 
 Sustainability Policy (revised and approved April 2018)  

 Quality management and quality assurance 

 
The LLP’s approach to Quality Management and Assurance is one of continuous 
improvement. The LLP is covered by MSIL's ISO and benefits from a fully comprehensive 
quality policy and manual that is updated on a regular basis.  
 
This policy covers all areas of the Partnership’s work and includes quality  
 
 control of work and output 
 assurance in what is provided and  
 management. 

 Health & safety management 

 
The LLP takes Health and Safety with the utmost seriousness and a Health and Safety 
Policy has been adopted. 
 
This ethos toward Health and Safety will continue to be extended to all partners, design 
and professional team appointments and contractors.  The appointments focus around the 
Principle Designer and Principle Contractor. 

 Sustainability 

 
The Bournemouth Development Company prides itself on working locally and within the 
community, represented by local members of the community through Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole to optimise the value added both economically in terms of returns 
for the Council in potential revenue income and also capital receipts, as well as for the 
community providing employment and new homes in the town.  
 
There is a key focus on local employment and local labour which is passed onto contractors 
to provide employment for local people during the construction period. This also has a 
positive impact on our Carbon Omissions with a reduced number of miles travelled to the 
site.  
 
Long-term improvements to the community are delivered with new homes in the town with 
new safe and well set out car parks on what used to be under used surface car parks. The 
developments include cleaning up and landscaping large areas of undergrowth in the town 
centre through construction and also through charity fundraising events.  
 

74



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 15 of 35 

Working with the supply chain is key to achieving a sustainable build, including 100% 
sustainable timber being procured, and the use of local suppliers to reduce our carbon 
footprint. Our sustainable policies are passed down to the Contractors along with our Local 
Employment Policy which has been signed up to along with the Council and the local Job 
Centre to also encourage a number of Apprenticeships to help create the next generation 
of skilled construction workers. 
 
Keeping people safe including visitors, subcontractors, workers and reducing the number 
of accidents on site during the build period are a priority. Also creating a safe place to live, 
visit, work, invest, learn and socialise once developments are complete as set out within 
the Town Centre Vision.  
 
Developing a talented team to deliver the challenging developments we have achieved 
within Bournemouth has been key to our success. Motivation, innovation and development 
is ongoing as we evolve with changes within the town and the environment. 

 Professional services 

 
The LLP continues, where appropriate, to draw upon the experience of local professional 
firms who can demonstrate a track record of delivery and are passionate about the benefits 
the LLP can bring to Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole.  
 
Details of the core design teams are included within the individual Site Development Plans.  
Further appointments will be procured in accordance with the Procurement Policy. 

 Strategic services 

 
The purpose of the strategic advisor role is to provide the LLP with the ability to plan its 
activity and resource allocation around a number of forward-looking initiatives which relate 
directly to its role as a delivery vehicle of the Vision. At a practical level, this will be achieved 
by way of day-to-day advisory as appropriate, with periodical input into the business 
planning and reporting activity of the LLP.  
 
The on-going requirement for Strategic Advisors and the current status of appointments is: 
 

Role Advisor Status 

 
Communications  
 

 
Liz Lean PR  

 
Retained & active  
 

Master Planning & Planning 
 

To be confirmed To be instructed as required 

Transport and Car Parking 
 

Alan Baxter Associates To be instructed as required 

Legal 
  

Eversheds, Pinsent Mason, 
Womble Bond Dickinson 
 

To be instructed as required 

Tax To be confirmed To be instructed as required 
   
 
The LLP will continuously review the need and merit of procuring strategic services, with 
any engagement having regard to: 
 
 The independence of the LLP in discharging its role and objectives 
 Performance of the Council in discharging its statutory obligations 
 Management of potential conflicts of interest arising from time to time 

75



   
 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 16 of 35 

 The ability of service providers to complement and enhance services provided by 
individual Members 

 Principles enshrined in the Procurement Policy. 
 Commercial protection of the LLP 
  

76



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 17 of 35 

3  Development programme 

 Annual strategy review 

 
Following the February 2020 Annual Strategy Review by The Board, the LLP has agreed a 
revised development programme for all sites as attached as Appendix A.  This is subject 
to on-going review and will change in response to specific demand and opportunity to 
deliver sites during the life of the Partnership.  The detailed timeline for each site will be 
reflected in individual SDP’s. 
 
The LLP will also monitor development activity on other sites around the Town Centre to 
establish pipeline and delivery of potentially competing schemes.  The Partnership will aim 
to deliver sites when demand is improving and competing supply is constrained to maximise 
revenue and profit. 

 Operational area 
 

BDC has a remit to operate within the AAP Boundary, including the Sites identified within 
the Option Agreement and any additional sites as agreed between the Parties from time to 
time (which may for the avoidance of doubt fall outside the Bournemouth town centre area 
and include the wider BCP area). 
 
At the Strategy Review the Council invited BDC to draw up proposals for the Chapel Lane 
surface car park site in Poole town centre.  The site will enable BCP Council to start delivery 
of its ambitious £1.5 billion town centre regeneration initiative.   

 Area Action Plan (AAP) 

 
The Council adopted the AAP as policy in March 2013.  
 
The LLP will have regard to the AAP to determine the proposed mix and use of their sites.  
Where a departure from the AAP can be justified, for example to meet a specific occupier 
requirement, or as part of a comprehensive site assembly redevelopment and regeneration, 
the LLP will engage with the Council.  
 

 BCP Local Plan 

 
The Council is currently exploring the future shape of a local plan for the new BCP 
conurbation.   As part of setting up BCP the Government has approved consequential 
orders that specifically require a new BCP wide local plan is adopted by 2024. 

 Planning 

 Planning Performance Agreements 
 

BDC will consider entering into a planning performance agreement (PPA) with the Planning 
Authority on a site specific basis. 

 Appropriation 
 

The Council has the power to acquire land by agreement for planning purposes. This power 
is presently contained in sections 226 and 227 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  
 

77



   
 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 18 of 35 

Planning purposes means an acquisition (or appropriation) which will facilitate the carrying 
out of development, re-development or improvement which is likely to contribute to the 
economic, social or environmental well-being of the area, or which is required in the 
interests of the proper planning of the area in which the land is situated. 
 
The Council has previously approved and continues with the BDC recommendation to 
exercises this power in respect of the following sites as part of the Cabinet approval of the 
previous PBP: 
 

 Site 3, Town Hall Annex 
 Site 8, Eden Glen  
 Site 11, Central Car Park 
 Site 12, Glen Fern 
 Suite 5, Richmond Hill 
 Site 1 Durley Road 
 Site 4 St Stephens 
 Site 6 Winter Gardens 
 Site 9 Bath Road North 
 Site 10 Bath Road South 
 Site 16 Cotlands 
 Additional sites at 

o York Road East car park 
o York Road West car park 

 
In 2020 BDC recommends that The Council exercises this power in respect of: 

 Chapel Lane, Poole 

 Development activity 

 
Since the formation of the Partnership in February 2011, Site 15 Madeira Road West MSCP 
and Student Accommodation, Site 14 Leyton Mount (Citrus Building) and Site 13 Berry 
Court have been completed.   Construction is underway on Site 4 St Stephens Road.  
Further development activity will be focussed on Sites 1 Durley Road, 6 Winter Gardens, 
Site 8 Eden Glenn, Site 11 Central, Site 16 Cotlands Road along with the two York Road 
car parks and Chapel Lane, Poole.  
 
Progress on these sites is summarised below.  

 Completed projects 

 Madeira Road West – Student Accommodation (SA) 

 
This project was completed on time and to budget on 26th August, 2014. The building was 
officially opened on 3rd October 2014. 
 

78



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 19 of 35 

 
 
 
 

 Madeira Road West – Multi-storey car park (MSCP) 

 
This project was completed on time and to budget on 28th February, 2014. The facility was 
officially opened on 12th March, 2014. 
 

 
 

79



   
 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 20 of 35 

 Site 14 Leyton Mount (Citrus Building) 

 
This project was completed on time and to budget on 24th March, 2015.  

 

 
 

 Site 13 Berry Court 
 
This project was completed on time and to budget on 10th August, 2018. 
 

 
 

80



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 21 of 35 

 

 Live projects – construction phase 

 Site 4 St Stephens 
 
Activity Status 

 
Development proposal 
 

 
A Private Rented Scheme (PRS) of 46 apartments to be owned and 
managed by The Council 
  

Status Construction started in December 2018 with a target completion 
date Q4 2020.   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 Live projects - Stage 1 SDP adopted / pre-construction 

 Site 1: Durley Road 

 

81



   
 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 22 of 35 

Activity Status 

 
Development proposal 
 

 
An open market residential development of circa 40-45 
apartments. 
  

Status Planning permission was approved in January 2020 by the 
Planning Inspector. We have started detailed design and 
contractor procurement with a target start on site in Q4 2020. 

 

 Site 6: Winter Gardens 
 

Activity Status 

 
Development proposal 
 

 
A mixed-use development comprising leisure, community and 
residential. 
  

Status Detailed design is underway with a target financial close in 
Q4 2020 and start on site Q1 2021.   

 

 Cotlands Road / York Road 
 

Activity Status 

 
Development proposal 
 

 
A mixed-use scheme that will complement an employment-
led scheme including high quality public realm, café / 
restaurants and public parking (420 spaces). 
  

Status Council Cabinet adopted SDP in February 2019 and January 
2020.  BDC are now working up proposals prior to submission 
of a planning application. 

 

 Eden Glen 
 

Activity Status 

 
Development proposal 
 

 
A residential-led mixed use. 
  

Status Council Cabinet adopted the SDP in October 2018.  BDC are 
now working up proposals prior to submission of a planning 
application. 

 

 Pipeline projects   

 
In addition to the above sites, the LLP is proposing to bring forward and / or evaluate a 
number of new sites during the course of 2020. 
 

 

Site Proposed use 

Chapel Lane, Poole 
 

A residential-led mixed scheme. 
 

82



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 23 of 35 

Status Proceed to SDP. 
 

Town hall Annex 
 
Status 

A residential or office-led mixed scheme 
 
Proceed to SDP. 
 

Central  
 
 
 
 
Status 

A residential-led scheme with a mix of tenure types and target 
markets.  An exciting design will need to make best use of the 
elevated nature of the site, optimise views and attract 
aspirational buyers to the Town. 
 
Proceed to Draft Stage 1 SDP. 
 

Richmond Hill 
 
 
 
 
Status 

A sustainable residentially-led “beacon” scheme consisting of 
commercial on the ground floor level above car parking and 
residential, with a mix of First Homes, open market sales and 
affordable. 
 
Prepare for Stage 1 SDP. 
 

 
Pavilion Gardens: 
Bath Road North and 
Bath Road South 
 
Status 

 
A mixed use development including leisure, culture, and 
entertainment uses to complement the Pavilion and 
encourage greater footfall along Westover Road. 
 
Prepare Draft Stage 1 SDP. 
 

 
 
With Winter Gardens coming forward in 2019, it is anticipated that there may be some 
contribution towards the costs of development at Bath Road from the Winter Gardens site. 
 

 Third party sites 

 
Bournemouth town centre continues to attract further investment from a number of third 
party investors and developers.  The Partnership is monitoring a number of sites that are 
controlled by other developers.   
 

  

83



   
 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 24 of 35 

4  Movement, parking and transport policy 

 Introduction 

 
This section of the Plan was updated by Alan Baxter Ltd in 2019 and will be reviewed again 
once The Council has concluded a review of its approach to car parking.  

 Policy review 

 
The Parking and Transport Policy is informed by and has regard to the: 
 
 Town Centre Vision Programme Objectives,  
 Local Transport Plan,  
 Core Strategy, and  
 Town Centre Area Action Plan. 
 
An outline assessment of the impact of proposed developments on movement and parking 
provision will be provided for in each of the proposed Site Development Plans. 
 

 Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset Local Transport Plan 3 

 
LTP3 was adopted in April 2011. This document sets out the strategy for the delivery of a 
first class transport system between 2011 and 2026. The vision set out is for "A safe, reliable 
and accessible low carbon transport system for Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset that assists 
in the development of a strong low carbon economy, maximises the opportunities for 
sustainable transport and respects and protects the area’s unique environmental assets".  
 

 Bournemouth Local Plan: Core Strategy  

 
The Core Strategy was adopted in October 2012. Key themes in the strategy relate to 
preparing for climate change, promoting a healthy society and delivering sustainable 
communities. The sustainable communities theme in particular is strongly linked to transport 
with reference made to improving accessibility through direct, attractive and convenient 
pedestrian and cycle links and locating new development adjacent to high frequency public 
transport corridors and in strategic locations like the town centre. Within the Transport 
chapter it is stated that the character of South East Dorset and Bournemouth in particular 
means that a conventional city centre traffic restraint strategy is not appropriate.  
 
From the Core Strategy it seems that there is no intention to deliver a Park and Ride for 
Bournemouth prior to 2026. However, reference is made to the longer term potential for a 
network of park and ride sites across South East Dorset. 
 
The Local Plan, which includes the Core Strategy, is currently being reviewed. As part of 
the initial (Regulation 18) consultation in autumn 2017, it was suggested that key issues to 
consider could include how to ensure the provision of adequate transport infrastructure, 
reduce congestion and encourage sustainable transport, and how to ensure adequate 
parking provision to meet the need for public and private spaces. The consultation 
document recognises the benefits of promoting development in dense, accessible areas 
like the town centre, but also recognises the conflicting challenges of promoting more 
sustainable patterns of movement and reducing reliance on the private car, with continuing 
to cater for current and predicted car parking demands. These challenges will need to be 
carefully balanced in any revised car parking policy that may emerge from the Local Plan 
Review. 

84



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 25 of 35 

 
The Local Plan Issues & Possible Options consultation document was expected to be 
published in 2018, but has been delayed pending a decision over whether to produce a 
single Local Plan covering the new combined authority of Bournemouth, Christchurch & 
Poole. 
 

 Bournemouth Local Plan: Town Centre Area Action Plan  

 

The Town Centre AAP was adopted in March 2013. In terms of transport this document sets 
out a strategy to make it easier for pedestrians and cyclists to move around, improve 
conditions for public transport, create attractive streets, improve safety, and maintain traffic 
circulation and access to public car parking.  
 
The Town Centre AAP also forms part of the Local Plan that is currently being reviewed. It 
includes key policies on development sites and the strategy for maintaining levels of public 
parking provision across the town centre (see section 4.3 below). As noted, the conflicting 
policy challenges of promoting sustainable movement and accommodating demands for car 
parking will need to be carefully balanced in any revised car parking policy that may emerge 
from the Local Plan Review. 
 

 Parking Supplementary Planning Document 
 

This SPD was adopted by Bournemouth Borough Council in July 2014. This purpose of this 
document is to manage the parking associated with new development, in order to limit the 
negative impacts of increased on-street parking pressure and ensure good design that feels 
intuitively safe and welcoming. It is intended to provide clear guidance and certainty to 
developers as to the Council’s approach to vehicle and cycle parking in new developments. 
 
The SPD includes guidance on layout and design, including physical dimensions for car, 
cycle and motorcycle parking, disabled facilities, servicing bays, electric vehicle charging 
and car clubs. It also includes a comprehensive set of parking standards for a range of uses, 
based on three designated Parking Zones across the borough. 
 
The Parking SPD also forms part of the Local Plan that is currently being reviewed. Key 
policies that affect the viability and deliverability of developments include requirements for 
the size and type of cycle storage, as well as the size and layout of car parking spaces. 
 
As part of the Local Plan Review it would be useful to review the operation and usage of 
cycle and car parking in recently completed developments in Bournemouth as well as 
benchmark standards in other areas around the country, to ensure that policies allow for 
the convenience of users, make the most efficient use of space, and take account changing 
technologies. 

 Car parking strategy 

 
The Council’s current strategy for car parking (Policy T7 in the Town Centre AAP) seeks to 
“maintain a total off-street public car park capacity of around 6,400 spaces” in the town 
centre which includes Lansdowne. This quantum of spaces was informed by the 
Bournemouth Town Centre Parking Study (2006) which assessed demand at the time, as 
well as anticipated demand from future development sites. 
 

85



   
 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 26 of 35 

It calculated that by 2016, based upon a planned delivery of new development in the Town 
centre (some of which has been delivered but by no means all), the demand for off-street 
car parking would begin to exceed supply. Beyond 2016, growth would be accommodated 
not by increasing car parking but by relying on a shift to sustainable modes to keep parking 
demand at manageable levels (approx. 85% of capacity). The AAP acknowledges that 
growth in the town centre should not be accommodated by allowing unrestrained use of the 
car.  
 
The AAP also sets out the proposed future location of public car parks, their capacity and 
how they will be accessed. Approximately 5,100 spaces are proposed for the town centre 
and 1,400 for Lansdowne. In terms of pricing, the policy is to implement tariffs that will deter 
commuting by car. 
 
The principles underpinning the BDC Parking and Transport Policy and impact assessment 
for each development site include all of the following: 
 
 Consideration of movement and access in the context of the Local Transport Plan, the 

Core Strategy, the Town Centre Area Action Plan, and the physical context of the 
Town Centre 
 

 Consideration of movement and access in the context of peak demand for travel  
 

 Understanding of user demand characteristics 
 

 Enabling travel by the most sustainable transport modes, and widening accessibility 
for different users 
 

 Consideration of transport and public car parking provision in the context of carbon 
footprint reduction 
 

 Consideration of the requirements of an improving public transport network 
 

 Consideration of existing public car parking capacity over time and the relationship of 
this to Council policy objectives 
 

 Understanding of function and role of public car parking in the context of pricing and 
length of stay restrictions 
 

 Grouping and balance of car parks in clusters of use across the Area Action Plan area 
(Town Centre and Lansdowne) 
 

 Consideration of car parking provision in the context of revenue generation 
 

 Mitigation of the effects of any additional car trips generated by the proposed 
development sites on the local highway network 
 

 The potential for contributing towards the wider traffic impact of the proposed 
development sites on the strategic highway network in accordance with the South 
East Dorset Transport Contributions policy (shortly to be replaced by CIL) 
 

 Provision of on-site cycle and vehicle parking, and achieving servicing arrangements 
 

 Consideration of car parking provision in the context of maintaining the viability and 
vitality of the town centre 

 

86



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 27 of 35 

The Car Parking Strategy is a key policy requirement that influences the viability and 
delivery of development sites in Bournemouth Town Centre. The Local Plan Review offers 
the opportunity to update its underlying demand data, comparing against the original 2005 
surveys, to understand changes in demand against projections set out in the 2006 Parking 
Study, and to assess the effectiveness of the policy in achieving its objectives over the last 
twelve years.  
 
It is understood that a town centre parking study was undertaken in 2018, based on surveys 
commissioned by the Council in Aug and Nov 2017. The findings of this study will inform 
policy positions for any revisions to the Town Centre AAP. However, no study findings or 
proposed AAP revisions have been published for consultation at this time. 
 
The BDC will provide data and assist the Council’s Planning and Transport departments to 
ensure the policy review is as robust as possible. 

 Impact of strategy on partnership development activities 

 
The car parking strategy within the Town Centre AAP has major implications for the 
development of sites that are currently within the remit of the BDC. The main sites that are 
impacted are: 
 

 West Hill - currently there are 127 spaces and it is proposed that this be increased to 
200. This would require more than one level of car parking on a site that is irregular in 
shape, and surrounded by housing. 

 Richmond Hill - currently there are 112 spaces and it is proposed that this be 
increased to 200. This would require more than one level of car parking. 

 Central - currently there are 315 spaces and it is proposed that this be increased to 
400. This would require more than one level of car parking. 

 Town Hall Annex - currently there are 114 spaces and it is proposed that this be 
maintained. As per the existing arrangement more than one level of car parking would 
be required. 

 Eden Glen – currently there are 60 sub-standard parking bays and it is proposed that 
these be increased to 64 larger accessible bays. As the current development site is 
smaller than the AAP policy site, this would require more than one level of car parking 

  Cotlands Road & York Road – currently there are 390 public car parking spaces on 
the AAP policy site and it is proposed that these be increased to 420 spaces. This 
would require more than on level of car parking. 

 
The Parking SDP, adopted July 2014, introduced a number of design 
standards with implications for development projects. The main points are: 
 

 The increased minimum size of car parking spaces over previous standards, which 
has increased the cost of provision with a potential impact upon land value.  

 The constraints over the size and type of cycle parking permitted (widely spaced 
Sheffield stands only), which do not make the most efficient use of space and 
therefore impact on costs and values. 

 
These existing policies will continue to impact upon the viability and delivery of new 
investment in the town centre. 
 
As part of the Local Plan Review it is recommended that the following issues be explored 
with a view to better managing parking demand and supply, and allowing development to 
come forward in an efficient and flexible manner: 

87



   
 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 28 of 35 

 

 Use 2017 parking surveys to establish current base demand, compare against the 
original 2005 surveys, understand changes in demand against projections set out in 
the 2006 Parking Study, and assess the effectiveness of the policy in achieving its 
objectives over the last twelve years. 

 Consider development activity projected in the current AAP and actually delivered (eg 
volume of retail on Westover Road and Commercial Road), review the effect on 
anticipated parking demand, and consider how parking supply is linked to 
development activity. 

 Consider the potential for modal shift and changes to parking tariffs to reduce 
demand over and above that already assumed. This could be supported by measures 
such as: 

 Improved bus services and facilities 

 Cycle lanes 

 Safer pedestrian routes including Grand Garden Walk 

 Greater investment in car clubs 

 Automated parking sign system to manage and communicate to drivers availability of 
spaces in public car parks 

 Consider the potential for car parks in Lansdowne to function as edge of the town 
centre Park and Rides, with drivers walking or using conventional buses to access the 
town centre. 

 Consider the potential for other development sites in the town centre and Lansdowne 
to accommodate car parking and test the impact on viability of these schemes. 

 Review the operation and usage of cycle and car parking in recently completed 
developments as well as benchmark standards in other areas around the country, to 
ensure that SPD design standards allow for the convenience of users, make the most 
efficient use of space, and take account changing technologies. 

 
As part of the yearly reviews of the Business Plan the impact on future car parking will be 
considered. This will enable a regular update taking into account the changing factors 
relating to both supply and demand and will inform decision making relating to the LLP sites 
going forward. 

 Review of car parking strategy 

 
October 2013, BDC wrote to The Council expressing concerns with the adopted planning 
policies regarding parking provision contained in the Town Centre AAP and the LTP3, that 
these might constrain the development of car park sites and therefore impact upon the 
BDC’s ability to deliver the Town Centre Vision. 
 
It noted that the Town Centre Parking Study (2006), which informed these policies, was 
based on a survey of parking demand undertaken in 2005 and assumed demand for off-
street car parking would increase by 11% between 2005 and 2016. However, information 
from the DfT over the intervening period shows that traffic flows have actually decreased by 
5% between 2005 and 2012, and it is therefore very likely that demand for car parking has 
also decreased. 
 
The 2006 study also assumed that there would be significant new development completed 
and occupied by 2016. Whilst some of this development has come forward, it had not all 
been completed prior to the end of 2016 (Pavilion Gardens, Exeter Road NCP). 
 

88



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 29 of 35 

In relation to the LTP3, it recognised that document’s various strategies for encouraging 
more sustainable travel choices and noted that, for 80% of the time the plentiful amount of 
parking available in the town works directly against these strategies. It suggested a shift in 
parking strategy towards better demand management. 
 
BDC will, during the course of 2020, continue to seek to review the current parking strategy 
with the Council as part of the production of the new Local Plan for the combined authority.  

  

89



   
 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 30 of 35 

5  Financial matters  
 

The following provides an overview of the principles underpinning the financial strategy of 
the LLP.  

 Financial summary 2019 
 

The forecast draft financial statements of the Bournemouth Development Company LLP 
and its subsidiary’s Leyton Mount Development LLP and Winter Gardens Development LLP 
show positive results for the year ending 31st December 2019. The consolidated profit for 
the period is £384k (2018: £490k) with retained earnings of £1.221m (2018: £854k). The 
group has net assets attributable to members of £11.304m (2018: £10.903m).  
 

 Funding structure 

 
The Partnership is a limited liability partnership (LLP) established to carry on a trade of 
property development either directly in its own right or through one or more development 
subsidiary LLPs.    

 Annual budget 

 
Profit for 2020 is budgeted at £80k, c£500k is a result of the profit recognised over the 
course of construction relating to St Stephens. This has been offset by BDC overhead costs 
and PSP interest costs relating to the budgeted advance sums; 
 
Three sites, Durley Road, Eden Glenn and Winter Gardens have budgets approved by the 
BDC Board and adopted by Council Cabinet.  The following table presents the balance of 
budget not yet spent and forecast 2020 cash flow expenditure relating to development 
projects. 
 

Site 
 

2020 £ Total approved £ 

Durley Road 
 

675,000 675,000 

Eden Glenn 
 

500,000 1,110,000 

St Stephens 
 

- - 

Winter Gardens 
 

4,200,000 3,000,000 

Cotlands & York Road 
 

1,000,000 TBC (subject to 
separate SDP 

adoption)  
 

Chapel Lane, Poole 
 

  

Town Hall Annex 
 

  

Central TBC TBC 
   
Pavilion Gardens (Bath Road North & 
South) 

TBC TBC 

90



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 31 of 35 

  
Total 6,375,000 4,785,000 
   

 
The 2020 budget includes cumulative unspent sums for previous years for adopted sites 
compared against the total SDP approved expenditure. 
 
The PBP will be updated to reflect any changes to the Annual Budget, for example with new 
Loan Note commitments as new sites come forward and SDP’s (for instance Cotlands and 
York Road and Central car parks) are adopted by Cabinet.  

 Funding of Durley Road 
 
The PSP and BCP Council are expecting to make further equity investments into this scheme, the 
quantum of which will be confirmed at land draw-down.    

 Funding of future projects 

 
The LLP has a budget, referred to in the Members Agreement as the Advanced Sum Cap, 
with a base value of £500,000, which after indexation has increased to £623,534 for 2020 
in aggregate, “which shall be expended to pursue Stage 1 Project Appraisal Sign Off”.  This 
will be used to undertake initial project appraisal and viability in respect of the sites to be 
progressed, with input from professional consultants: 
 
 Planners: to identify planning constraints and opportunities 
 Transport: to identify highway / parking constraints and opportunities;  
 Property Consultant: to advise on mix of uses, quantum and values;  
 Architect / Master Planner: initial density / massing studies 
 Cost Consultants: budget construction costs 
 Surveys: topographical, arboriculture etc. 
 Legal: to identify title constraints  
 Desk top surveys 
 

Once initial viability studies have concluded, and the DM is in a position to recommend that 
the project proceeds, an SDP for each will be issued to the LLP for approval.  This will 
incorporate the above costs into a full budget of surveys, design and professional fees.  

 Taxation assumptions 

Generic advice has been sought and received from KPMG in regards to the BDC Tax 
Assumptions, SDLT and VAT.  A review will be need to be undertaken for each project with 
KPMG continuing to provide advice around project specific requirements, 

 Direct tax assumptions 

A LLP is a body corporate with separate legal personality from that of its members. 
However, unlike a limited company, LLPs are transparent for UK tax purposes meaning 
profits of the LLP are not taxed in the LLP but rather in the hands of its members according 
to their taxable status. 
 

 Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT) assumptions 

Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT) applies to all land transactions in the UK. Project specific 
advice will be obtained in relation to SDLT for each development.  
 

91



   
 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 32 of 35 

 Value Added Tax (VAT) assumptions 

An LLP has an obligation to VAT register if the value of its “taxable supplies” (i.e. supplies 
that are subject to the standard, reduced or zero rate of VAT) exceed the VAT registration 
threshold. Subject to HMRC’s approval it is possible to apply for a VAT registration where 
a compulsory liability has not crystallised, but the LLP intends to make taxable supplies at 
some point in the future. Subject to fulfilling the relevant conditions it is also possible for 
LLP’s to form or become members of a VAT group registration.  
 
BDC has been registered for VAT purposes in a standalone capacity with effect from 17 
February 2011.  

 LLP operating costs 

LLP operating costs are identified as £60k (Indexed) per annum.   This is the Basic Fee 
under the Development Management Agreement.  These costs are based on a basic 
operating structure and include company secretarial and statutory accounting and auditing 
services.  Further operating costs are budgeted through the Development Management 
fee. 
 
This does not include costs arising from the provision of any strategic services as set out in 
section 2.1.10 above. 
  

92



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 33 of 35 

6  Exit strategy 

 Subsidiary development LLP’s - disposal of assets 

 
There is no current intention for the LLP to hold assets in the longer term however each 
project will be assessed on its own merits by BDC.  At an early stage of a development 
project, an exit strategy together with a recommended sales and marketing budget (if 
relevant), will be proposed and form part of each Site Development Plan (which will be 
approved by the Board).   
 
Where applicable, the DM will secure a forward commitment from end users / occupiers, 
typically of retail, employment, leisure and healthcare developments.  The resultant lease 
and rental revenue will enable the DM to secure a forward-funding commitment or a 
purchase on practical completion, ideally at initial project viability stage but up to start of 
construction, from an investor.  This reduces significantly the risk associated with 
development projects. 
 
Alternatively, the LLP may develop speculatively, prior to securing a commitment from 
occupiers / investors.  This exposes the LLP to “market risk”, principally the demand for the 
end product (from occupiers and investors), the price that purchasers are prepared to pay 
and the period in which to negotiate and complete a sale.    
 
The choice of exit will reflect the best commercial advice at the time, informed by and 
contingent upon a number of objectives and potential drivers, including: 
 
 Town Centre Vision objectives 
 Demand for proposed use, reflecting competing development pipeline 
 Demand from occupiers 
 Demand from investors 
 General economic conditions 
 Development, investment and asset management strategy 
 LLP capitalisation and funding requirements 
 LLP development return requirements 
 Mitigated risk balanced against risk appetite 

 Early member exit from the LLP 

 Duration of the LLP 

 
The LLP will continue its activities until: 
 
 the 20th anniversary of the Members’ Agreement; or 

 
 Members decide otherwise e.g. such time when objectives and targets have been 

completed. 
 

 Transfer of member interests 

 
The Members Agreement provides, subject to pre-emption and other conditions, the 
opportunity for a Member to transfer all (but not part) of its Member Interest to a third party. 
In the case of the PSP, there are provisions for MSIL to transfer all (but not part) of its 
interest to another MS Group Company without being subject to pre-emption rights. 
 

93



   
 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 34 of 35 

 Termination, default 

 
The Members Agreement sets out a number of events, termed Termination Events, which 
would trigger the winding up of the LLP.   
 

 Distribution of assets 

 
In the unlikely event of early termination, dissolution and sale of assets will be governed 
by the terms of the Members’ Agreement. 
  

94



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 35 of 35 

 
 

Appendices 
 

 

 
  

95



   
 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 36 of 35 

 
 
 

Appendix A 
 

 
Indicative Development Programme 

  

96



 
 

Prepared: April 2020 
Status: Annual update 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Partnership Business Plan 

 

Page 37 of 35 

 
 
 

Appendix B 
 

 
Key communication messaging 

  

97



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

1st Floor, 
8 St Stephens Court, 

15-17 St Stephens Road 
Bournemouth 

BH2 6LA  

98



THE BOURNEMOUTH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY
INDICATIVE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Development Proposal:  

Activity Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Feasability and scheme design
Planning Application
Detailed design & Procurement
Option Execute Date
Construction (D&B)
Disposal

Feasability and scheme design
Planning Application
Detailed Design & Procurement
Option execute date
Construction
Disposal

Feasability and scheme design
Planning Application
Detailed Design & Procurement
Option execute date
Construction
Marketing and sales

Feasability and scheme design
Planning Application
Detailed design & procurement
Option execute date
Construction
Disposal 

Feasability and scheme design
Planning Application
Detailed Design & Procurement
Option execute date
Construction
Sales and Lettings

Feasability and scheme design
Planning Application
Appeal
Detailed Design & Procurement
Option execute date
Construction
Sales and Lettings (resi led mixed use)

Feasability and scheme design
Planning Application
Detailed Design & Procurement
Option execute date
Construction
Sales and Lettings (commercial)
Sales and Lettings (residential)

Feasability and scheme design
Planning Application
Detailed Design & Procurement
Option execute date
Construction
Sales and Lettings 

Feasability and scheme design
Planning Application enabling MSCP York Road
Planning application Cotlands site
Detailed Design & Procurement enabling MSCP York roa
Detailed Design & Procurement Cotlands
Option execute date YR C
Construction
Sales and Lettings

Feasability and scheme design
Planning Application
Detailed Design & Procurement
Option execute date
Construction
Sales and Lettings

Feasability and scheme design
Planning Application
Detailed Design & Procurement
Option execute date
Construction
Sales and disposal

Feasability and scheme design
Planning Application
Detailed Design & Procurement
Option execute date
Construction
Sales and Lettings

Feasability and scheme design
Planning Application
Detailed Design & Procurement
Option execute date
Construction
Sales and Lettings

Feasability and scheme design
Planning Application
Detailed Design & Procurement
Option execute date
Construction
Disposal

Feasability and scheme design
Planning Application
Detailed Design & Procurement
Option execute date
Construction
Sales and Lettings

Feasability and scheme design
Planning Application
Detailed Design & Procurement
Option execute date
Construction
Sales and Lettings

Feasability and scheme design
Planning Application
Detailed Design & Procurement
Option execute date
Construction
Sales and disposal

2

7
Winterborne 
Hotel (BIC 

Hotel)

West Hill

Glen Fern12

5

Site

8

3

Residential-led mixed use

C
om

pl
et

e
O

n 
si

te

Development will be permitted for 
tourism.  Noting that SWRDA / HCA 
support the development of a hotel 

training school, and that the site has 
planning for a hotel development.

Mixed use.  Noting that a 
comprehensive redevelopment of the 

wider area, Glen Fern MSCP and 
Mercury House is desirable. Retain / 
provide a 398 space public car park.

Madeira Road 
West (MSCP)

Development will be permitted for a 
leisure, cultural and entertainment led 

scheme.  Proposals to provide 375 
space public car park.  

Development will be permitted for a 
variety of use but must provide a 64 

space public car park with the majority 
of spaces available to Blue Badge 

holders.  

Residential scheme in the region of 200 
units, noting AAP requirement for 400 

space public car park.

46 apartment build to rent scheme to be 
owned and managed by BCP council

Delivery of 113 unit Build to Rent 
scheme, with 155 space public &62 

private space decked car park.

46 apartment scheme for sale on open 
market.

Delivery of BCP owned and managed 
400 space public car park.

Delivery of student accommodation 
comprising 378 study rooms for use by 

AUB.   

Delivery of residential led mixed use 
scheme of 64 open market residential 

apartments with ground floor restaurant, 
operated by Turtle Bay.  

1

Development will be permitted for an 
employment / residential scheme that 

provides 114 space part-time public car 
park.  Consider as an alternative 

residential.  

Development will be permitted for a 
variety of uses as long as the required 

amount of public car parking is provided 
(200 spaces).  

Residential-led mixed use with leisure, 
retail, café / restaurants and 225 space 
public car park to make up balance of 

400 spaces for the area.

Central

Town Hall 
Annex Civic 

Campus

Eden Glen

Winter Gardens 

Development will be permitted for a 
variety of uses as long as the required 
200 space [public car park is provided 

on site.

15

Madeira Road 
West (SA)

4

6

Berry Court13

Leyton Mount

Durley Road

St Stephens

Mixed use to include employment / 
tertiary education, noting AAP 

requirement for with 420 space car park 
re-provision.  Consider site assembly 

with other Council surface car parks on 
York Road.

14

15

Chapel Lane, 
Poole

2024

COMPLETE

COMPLETE

COMPLETE

COMPLETE

20232020 2021 2022
In

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t -
 C

ab
in

et
 a

pp
ro

ve
d

16 Cotlands

9, 10, 17

11

M
on

ito
r

Pr
og

re
ss

 to
 S

D
P

Richmond Hill

Bath Road 
North, Bath 

Road South & 
Waterfront

23/04/2020
99



This page is intentionally left blank

100



We want to help deliver an improved quality of life for Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole residents, making 
it the best place to live in, work in, study in and visit

BDC has the knowledge and 
skills to deliver for BCP

BDC is helping to create a 
better quality of life for local 

people

BDC helps BCP’s economy to 
grow for everyone

BDC builds homes for BCP 
residents from all walks of life

• The Bournemouth 
Development Company is a 
long-term, 20 year partnership 
between BCP Council and 
Morgan Sindall Investments Ltd. 

• We combine Council-owned 
sites and the Town Centre 
Vision with Morgan Sindall’s 
design, financial and 
development experience. 

• We use our developments to 
unlock much-needed funds that 
the Council can use in the 
future. The Council then 
decides where to invest to 
continue rejuvenation of the 
town. 

• We are starting with profitable 
schemes which provide the 
Council with funds for 
improvements to public spaces, 
infrastructure and leisure 
facilities. Without these initial 
schemes, future funding could 
be limited. 

• We are thinking big. We aspire 
to help create a new, exciting 
town centre which will improve 
quality of life for local residents 
and visitors alike. 

• The conurbation already has a 
lot to be proud of, but we must 
safeguard this for future 
generations. We must aim to 
provide the best quality of life 
for all residents. 

• These plans include new 
housing, business hubs, arts 
and culture spaces, leisure and 
retail units, and new open 
public areas.

• We focus on quality design and 
architectural excellence, 
creating buildings that enhance 
the whole of the town. 

• We always have and always will 
consult with local people about 
our plans. We want their ideas 
and feedback to shape the 
future of their town. 

• A thriving local economy is 
good for everyone. It creates 
new jobs, encourages new 
visitors, future-proofs 
businesses, and makes the 
town a desirable place to live, 
work and visit. 

• Since 2011, BDC schemes have 
contributed over £67m to the 
local economy. 

• We anticipate delivering at least 
another £400m of new 
investments over the remainder 
of the partnership. 

• We have employed over 20 
local companies across the 
supply chain, supporting 
hundreds of local jobs for local 
people. 

• More people living in the town 
centre means more spending 
for local businesses, more 
council tax and business rates 
to pay for essential services, 
and more jobs for local people. 

• New homes for purchase or 
rental help to improve quality 
of life for individuals and 
families across the town. 

• Town centre homes make the 
best use of our restricted 
spaces. They drive more 
residents to town centre shops 
and restaurants, helping these 
businesses thrive – figures show 
a 16% increase in footfall across 
the town. 

• We are creating housing for 
people from all walks of life, 
including private housing, 
developer-managed rentals, 
and Council-run private rental 
schemes. 

• New homes will help to meet 
the Government’s new housing 
targets, which are rising to 
meet demand, especially in 
prosperous, popular towns like 
Bournemouth, where new 
housing is in short supply. 

Bournemouth Development Company – proactive key messaging

101



T
his page is intentionally left blank

102



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Seascape Group Limited 5 Year Strategic Plan (2020-25) 

Meeting date  27 May 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  The purpose of this report is to seek approval for the Seascape 
Group Limited 5-year Strategic Plan. 

Seascape Group Limited’s Strategic Plan sets out a 5 year vision 

for the period 2020-25 for how the Group will continue to deliver 

and grow its quality services, support communities and help 

deliver the Council’s Corporate Strategy.  

The activities within Seascape Group Limited will contribute 

towards the Council’s key objectives in many ways but primarily by 

ensuring investment in the homes needed, tackling homelessness 

and rough sleeping, and supporting people to live safe and 

independent lives. 

The Strategic Plan 2020-25 has been approved by the Directors of 

Seascape Group Limited, and those of the subsidiary companies, 

and sets out the growth ambitions moving forwards.  The Plan 

builds on the existing activities, bringing in additional expertise and 

capacity to help drive a step-change in delivery and generate 

increased financial returns for the Council as its sole shareholder. 

The ambitions set out in this Plan remain current despite the 

context of Covid-19.  However, the impact and timing of being able 

to deliver this Plan will be considered in due course once the full 

impact of Covid-19 is understood.  

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 (a) Cabinet approves the Seascape Group Limited’s Strategic 
Plan 2020-25 attached in Appendix A and;  

(b) Cabinet authorises officers to change the current 
obligation in the Shareholder Agreement between BCP 
Council and Seascape Group Limited from the 
requirement to produce an annual plan to a longer term 5 
year strategic plan, in order to facilitate planning in the 
medium term. 

103

Agenda Item 9



Reason for 
recommendations 

Seascape Group Limited enables the Council to trade and generate 

income in order to support its core services to residents through 

surpluses. 

It is a requirement of the shareholders agreement between 
the Council and Seascape Group Limited that Council/Cabinet 

approves the Strategic Plan. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Cllr Kieron Wilson, Portfolio Holder for Housing 

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan, Corporate Director of Environment and Community 

Report Authors Lorraine Mealings, Director of Housing 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Recommendation 
Title:  

Background 

1. Seascape Group Limited is a 100% owned Council Company, with BCP Council as 
the sole shareholder. 

2. It is a current requirement of the Shareholders Agreement between the Council and 
Seascape Group Limited that the company produces an annual strategic plan.  An 
Annual Strategic Plan was last produced and approved for 2017/18. Previous plans 
took the form of an annual report rather than a medium term Strategic Plan as 
intended and the production of subsequent plans were put on hold pending Local 
Government Reorganisation (LGR) and the creation of BCP Council. 

3. The Board of Directors recognised that the production of annual plans would not 
enable the company to develop its medium-term vision and development potential, 
and a longer term 5 year Strategic Plan was required. 

4. This Seascape Strategic Plan sets out a five year plan which allows a more longer 
term ambition to be articulated in addition to agreeing plans on an annual basis.  It is 
critical however that this plan, including the financial forecasts, remains flexible and 
fluid over time as external factors impact and different opportunities are presented. 

5. The Strategic Plan has been influenced by a range of issues, challenges and 
opportunities arising from the internal and external operating environment.  The Plan 
outlines the priorities, objectives, ambition, direction and financial projections of the 
Group’s subsidiaries which consist of Seascape South Limited and Seascape Homes 
and Property Limited. 

6. The Plan will help deliver the Council’s Corporate Strategy and its key objectives :- 

o Sustainable Environment 

o Dynamic Places 

o Connected Communities 

o Brighter Futures  

104



o Fulfilled Lives  

7. The activities within Seascape Group Limited will contribute towards these key 
objectives in many ways but primarily by ensuring investment in the homes needed, 
tackling homelessness and rough sleeping, and supporting people to live safe and 
independent lives. 

8. Overall, the Strategic Plan presents an ambition of growth and a ‘step-change’ for 
both subsidiary companies across the wider BCP geography. 

9. The ambitions set out in this Plan remain current despite the context of Covid-19.  
However, the impact and timing of being able to deliver this Plan will be considered in 
due course once the full impact of Covid-19 is understood.  

Seascape South Limited 

10. The Strategic Plan for Seascape South Limited involves being a trusted contractor of 
choice for the wider BCP Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) programme works, providing 
adaptation works for people living independently.  This will involve incrementally 
growing to a turnover of over £900k per year within five years. 

11. Seascape South Limited is also committed to grow the provision of construction 
services to additional private sector customers by 2025 across BCP.  During year one 
(2020/21), core services will be consolidated as the DFG works programme is 
expanded.  The service will be streamlined to drive through efficiencies and secure an 
excellent base on which to further grow.  Work will be carried during this time to plan 
additional staffing during Year 2 involving an additional £100k investment.  Additional 
investment in terms of staffing capacity and entrepreneurial expertise is essential to 
bring an exciting step-change in activity as we move forwards over the next few years.  
This is needed to develop and deliver a marketing strategy, test the local market, 
ensure access to the labour force we need and to secure the additional business in 
what is a competitive market. 

Seascape Homes and Property Limited 

12. Seascape Homes and Property Limited is committed to growing and providing housing 
options to the BCP community by providing a lettings solution for homeless households.  
It will continue to expand its portfolio of properties for homeless purposes across the 
wider Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole area, securing a further 26 homeless 
properties over the next few years. The portfolio will help further scale up the delivery of 
Housing First for our most vulnerable residents.  A strategic review of housing options 
for homeless households is underway as the services across BCP come together and it 
is likely that there will be scope for further growth of this portfolio in future years.  The 
opportunities for growth of this element of the portfolio will be reviewed over time with 
an ambition to expand where possible. 

13. Seascape Homes and Property Limited will grow its Private Rent Sector (PRS) activity 
by renting properties out at full market rent levels.  This portfolio will grow from the 12 
existing portfolio to more than 90 by 2025.  Additional investment is needed at key 
points during the 5 year plan to secure further staffing capacity and marketing expertise, 
as reflected in the financial plan, to help ensure the delivery of a robust upmarket rental 
offer to this client group. 

14. The ambition is for Seascape Homes and Property Limited to also directly build homes 
on Council owned land, primarily homes for private rent and private sale.  The resulting 
homes will be built to high standards of sustainability in response to the Climate and 
Ecological Emergency.  Council owned sites have already been identified which could 

105



deliver approximately 1,000 new homes over the next 5 years and the ambition is that a 
proportion of the private homes within that programme would be built within the 
Seascape Group.  The financial benefits of this activity cannot yet be quantified but the 
ambition is for this growth area to significantly contribute to the short, medium and long 
term financial pressures faced by the shareholder, BCP Council.  The resulting PRS 
homes will then be let through the company. 

Options Appraisal 

15. The objectives within the Strategic Plan have been identified as those which will best 
support the Group’s Vision and Mission, as well as the Council’s Corporate Strategy, so 
are recommended. 

16. The Strategic Plan could present a status quo position of maintaining existing levels and 
types of activity within the companies.  This however would not fully pursue the 
opportunities that are presented and would not generate the potential financial returns 
back to the Council as the sole shareholder. 

17. It is currently a requirement of the Shareholder Agreement to produce a Strategic Plan.  
This could remain as an annual activity but a 5 year approach is recommended because 
it provides valuable medium term planning. 

Summary of financial implications 

18. The financial forecasts detailed in the Strategic Plan in Appendix A have been 
prepared by the Company’s Finance Director and Company Accountant in 
consultation with the Section 151 officer. 

Summary of legal implications 

20. It is a requirement of the Shareholders Agreement that Seascape Group Limited 
produces an Annual Strategic Plan for the Council as sole shareholder to approve.  

21. Approval is now being sought from the Shareholder to amend the requirement to 
produce an annual plan to a 5 year plan in order to aid medium term planning. 

22. The Plan has been approved by the Directors of Group and the Directors of the two 
subsidiary companies. 

Summary of human resources implications 

23. There are no human resource implications associated with the approval of this 
strategy. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

24. The Strategic Plan’s vision and aims reflect the Council’s sustainability agenda and 
this will be further incorporated into subsidiary business plans as appropriate to 
consider the impact on the range of different products and services. 

25. The resulting homes through Seascape Homes and Property Limited will be built to 
high standards of sustainability in response to the Climate and Ecological 
Emergency.  Homes will be built using standards such as ‘Passiv Haus’ principles to 
make sure we are building sustainable, good quality homes that are fit for the future. 

Summary of public health implications 

26. A core business activity of one of Groups subsidiaries Seascape Homes and 
Property Limited is to provide good quality housing options to homeless customers 
which attributes to a healthier living environment. 

106



Summary of equality implications 

27. The Strategic Plan considers the profile of the Group’s customers and additional 
demographic information on the population of BCP as a whole, which has influenced 
the identified priorities and objectives.  

28. An initial, high-level Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and it is not 
anticipated that the Strategic Plan will cause any detriment to any particular group. 
The objectives are expected to broadly have a positive impact upon and advance 
equal opportunities for most protected groups. 

Summary of risk assessment 

29. The Strategic Plan and high-level objectives within it do not represent a risk in 
themselves, but rather are intended to help mitigate risks within Seascape Group 
Limited. 

30. The subsidiary companies have a robust risk management system and risks are 
shared with the Council throughout the year, with joint risk activities undertaken.  
There are inherent risks in delivering construction services, building and managing 
homes - these risks are managed appropriately and regularly reviewed. 

Background papers 

Appendices   

Appendix A - Seascape Group Limited Strategic Plan 2020-2025  

107



This page is intentionally left blank

108



 

1 

 

Appendix A 

 

Strategic Plan 
Seascape Group Limited   
2020 - 2025 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

             
A Wholly owned subsidiary    

109



 

2 

 

Foreword 

In April 2019 Bournemouth 
Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP 
Council) was created, becoming the 
12th largest unitary Local Authority in 
England.  
 
The ownership of Seascape Group 
Limited transferred to the new Council 
and this has created an opportunity to 
deliver on a larger scale of ambition 
and opportunities across an urban 
population of nearly 400,000 residents 
and a strong commercial and tourist 
economy. 
 
The opportunities – and challenges - 
facing the Council in the provision of its 
housing and community services have 
never been greater. Faced with high 
housing and care demands, and rising 
homelessness, together with a 
challenging financial environment it is 
more important than ever that our 
business continues to adapt and be 
responsive whilst operating in a 
responsible and sustainable manner. 
 

Seascape Group Limited enables the 
Council to trade and generate income 
in order to support its statutory 
services through surpluses. 
 
This capability allows the creation of 
new, innovative quality services that 
complement, grow and help sustain 
the heart of our business, representing 
real value; not just for our customers 
and shareholders, but also for the 
wider communities. 
 
This five-year strategic plan sets out 
how we will ensure we stay true to our 
values and achieve our ambitions 
across Bournemouth, Christchurch 
and Poole, within the context of the 
corporate strategy and priorities of the 
Council. 

 

 

 
Vikki Slade 
Seascape Group Limited  
Board Chair 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

110



 

3 

 

Summary 

Seascape Group Limited’s Strategic Plan sets out our five-year vision for the period 
2020-25 for how we will continue to deliver quality services whilst supporting our 
communities and BCP Council through the challenges they face.  
 
The objectives we have set are based on the Council’s new Corporate Strategy 
which includes the declaration of a climate and ecological emergency, a review of 
the wider external environment, the needs of our communities and our own 
strengths and weaknesses.  
 
The Council’s Corporate Strategy sets out its key objectives as follows :- 
 

 Sustainable Environment 

 Dynamic Places 

 Connected Communities 

 Brighter Futures  

 Fulfilled Lives  
 
The activities within Seascape Group Limited will contribute towards these key 
objectives in many ways but primarily by ensuring investment in the homes needed, 
tackling homelessness and rough sleeping and supporting people to live safe and 
independent lives. 
 
This Seascape Strategic Plan sets out a five year plan which allows a more longer 
term ambition to be articulated in addition to agreeing plans on an annual basis.  It 
is critical however that this plan, including the financial forecasts, remains flexible 
and fluid over time as external factors impact and different opportunities are 
presented. 

The Group Board reviews progress quarterly and will aim to undertake a more 
comprehensive review of this Plan each year. 

The current Covid-19 context is clearly having a very significant impact on the 
business activity set out here and indeed on companies nationally.  We need to 
understand the full impact of this context in due course and consider how we 
respond and recover from this. 
 

Seascape Group Limited 2020 to 2025  

Having developed a successful track record of delivering services in Bournemouth 
through Seascape South Limited and Seascape Homes and Property Limited we 
are confident in, and excited by, the prospect of accelerating this growth over the 
next five years.  With the creation of BCP Council and the bringing together of 
services, this context provides a great base to further develop our company activity 
over the coming years. 
 
This will be achieved by; 
 

 Providing services across the expanded geographical area of the Council, 
stretching to cover Christchurch and Poole, automatically creating a larger 
customer base; 

111



 

4 

 

 Expanding our activity by utilising our existing skills and resources, and 
investing in additional capacity to ensure sustained growth;  

 Pursuing new business opportunities to achieve growth and maximise our 
potential, including directly building new homes for private rent and sale; 

 Gaining external accreditations from trade bodies for the provision of new 
services 

 
We will be focused on the Customer throughout.  Our customers will be satisfied 
that our services are being delivered reliably, to a high standard, to achieve quality 
outcomes, with a concern for their wellbeing. They will feel that our staff are friendly, 
approachable and have the customers best interests at heart. They will find our 
services inclusive, easy to access, and appropriate to their needs, and they will feel 
confident that we will get things right when they need to contact us. Our customers 
will be treated fairly and with respect and the services we provide will improve their 
lives 
 
In terms of staff employed to deliver the company activities, we will be focused on 
ensuring that we continue to develop the skills and expertise within the workforce.  
We will make sure that a clear apprenticeship programme is supported across the 
teams to help enable this and make sure we continue to invest in the staff who 
deliver these valuable services. 
 
 
  

112



 

5 

 

Seascape South Limited to 2025 
 
Disabled adaptations 
 
To date, the company has delivered disabled adaption works to approximately 300 
customers in Bournemouth.  Seascape South Limited has been offered as a 
contractor of choice for Bournemouth customers receiving Disabled Facility Grants 
(DFGs) from the Council to adapt their homes for independent living. 
 
With the creation of BCP Council, a single service offer is being developed for one 
consolidated DFG programme for the BCP area.  With a DFG funding programme 
which is now almost three times bigger, from 1 April 2020 Seascape South Limited 
will be offering services to all customers and therefore expanding into Christchurch 
and Poole over the next 5 years. 
 
Whilst the customer chooses the contractor to carry out the work and some work is 
not of a construction nature, the company will further position itself as a trusted 
contractor of choice for all DFG customers.  It will mobilise the workforce and 
infrastructure in order to do so and grow activity incrementally, aiming to secure a 
50% share of the DFG programme over the next few years, generating over £900k 
turnover per year.  The ambition is to grow this element of the service as quickly as 
practically possible. 
 
Additional private construction business 
 
With the creation of BCP Council, work that would previously have been carried out 
through Seascape South Limited for the legacy Borough of Poole and Christchurch 
Borough Council is now still undertaken but managed as internal construction 
works.  This is no longer a business area for Seascape South Limited but there are 
other business opportunities we aim to pursue in addition to the core business of 
disabled adaptations. 
 
Seascape South Limited is committed to seeking to grow the provision of 
construction services to additional private sector customers by 2025 across BCP.  
This includes expanding its grounds and amenity maintenance services, by offering 
the removal of Japanese Knotweed, having recently gained accreditation from the 
Property Care Association. 
 
During year one (2020/21), core services will be consolidated as the DFG is 
expanded.  The service will be streamlined to drive through efficiencies and secure 
an excellent base on which to further grow.   
 
Work will be carried during this time to plan additional staffing during Year 2 
involving an additional £100k investment of staff.  Additional investment in terms of 
both staffing capacity and entrepreneurial expertise is essential to bring an exciting 
step-change in activity as we move forwards over the next few years.  This is 
needed to develop and deliver a marketing strategy, test the local market, ensure 
access to the labour force we need and to secure the additional business in what is 
a competitive market. 
 

113



 

6 

 

The ambition is to invest in additional capacity within Year 2 whilst delivering the 
current business commitments alongside an expectation of securing 20% existing 
works with tenders submitted.  The ambition is for turnover to grow incrementally 
from here over the coming years.  It is expected that the skills already in place 
together with additional capacity can help secure further business opportunities and 
profit over the 5 year plan. 
 
Whilst works will not be limited to the BCP geographical area, it is expected that the 
vast majority of business over the next 5 years will take place in this immediate 
area.  There may be instances where it makes sense to work further afield and 
these opportunities should not be discounted but services delivered in the 
immediate locality of BCP will help to ensure the efficient delivery of services and a 
concentrated local presence will help roll out the branding across the geography. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

114



 

7 

 

Seascape Homes and Property Limited to 2025 
 
Homeless rented offer 
 
Seascape Homes and Property Limited is committed to growing and providing 
housing options to the BCP community by providing a lettings solution for homeless 
households.  This is critical to provide the most vulnerable households with safe and 
well managed homes when they most need it. 
 
The lettings activity for Seascape Homes and Property Limited is based on 
homeless property acquisition programme delivered by BCP Council.  This financial 
model has been reviewed and aligned in 2019/20 with £12m of a £44.5m acquisition 
programme remaining.  The property profiles and financial assumptions have been 
right-sized and reviewed to consider options going forward. 
 
Seascape Homes and Property Limited will continue to expand its portfolio of 
properties for homeless purposes in line with the remaining acquisition programme 
with properties to be secured across the wider Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole area.  This will include securing a further 26 homeless properties over the 
next few years.  
 
The additional homeless properties to be added to the portfolio will deliver much 
needed homes to further scale up the delivery of Housing First for our most 
vulnerable residents who would previously have been rough sleeping as well as 
providing valuable homes for other homeless households. The accommodation will 
be provided alongside essential wrap-around support services.  Some of the 
properties will be shared move-on accommodation whilst the majority will be self-
contained homes.  The larger family properties within the expanded portfolio will 
deliver affordable homes for tenants as an alternative to homeless leased properties 
currently in place across Poole and Christchurch. 
 
A strategic review of housing options for homeless households is underway as the 
services across BCP come together and it is likely that there will be scope for 
further growth of this portfolio in future years.  The opportunities for growth of this 
element of the portfolio will be reviewed over time with an ambition to expand where 
possible. 
 
Private rented sector – market rents 
 
Seascape Homes and Property Limited will grow its Private Rent Sector (PRS) 
activity by renting properties out at full market rent levels.  This portfolio will grow 
from the 12 existing portfolio to more than 90 by 2025.  This will include the letting 
of 46 PRS homes coming forwards St Stephens Road, approximately 34 homes 
coming forwards as part of the large housing development at Princess Road and 
the PRS homes developed as part of the Winter Gardens scheme. 
 
Additional investment is needed at key points during the 5 year plan to secure 
further staffing capacity and marketing expertise, as reflected in the financial plan, 
to help ensure the delivery of a robust upmarket rental offer to this client group.  
This will help ensure a timely and efficient housing management landlord service. 

115



 

8 

 

Building homes for private rent and sale 
 
Our ambition is for Seascape Homes and Property Limited to directly build homes 
on Council owned land, primarily homes for private rent and private sale. 
 
The resulting homes will be built to high standards of sustainability in response to 
the Climate and Ecological Emergency.  Homes will be built using standards such 
as ‘Passiv Haus’ principles to make sure we are building sustainable, good quality 
homes that are fit for the future. 
 
Due diligence work will be undertaken during 2020/21 to set Seascape Homes and 
Property Limited up to directly build new homes as part of the Council’s emerging 
Housing Development Strategy.  Council owned sites have already been identified 
which could deliver approximately 1,000 new homes over the next 5 years and the 
ambition is that a proportion of the private homes within that programme would be 
built within Seascape. 
 
This activity will generate financial surpluses for the Council to reinvest in its 
services for vulnerable residents.  The financial benefits of this activity cannot yet be 
quantified but the ambition is for this growth area to significantly contribute to the 
short, medium and long term financial pressures faced by our shareholder, BCP 
Council. 
 
The resulting PRS homes built within Seascape Homes and Property Limited will 
also be let through the company and added to the existing portfolio. 
 

  

116



 

9 

 

About Seascape Group Limited  

 
Seascape Group Limited (the Group) was established in October 2013 by 
Bournemouth Borough Council initially as a holding company to Bournemouth 
Community Finance Company Limited and Bournemouth Building and Maintenance 
Limited (BBML).  
 
As Bournemouth Building and Maintenance Limited (BBML) evolved it focused its 
activity on providing building and maintenance services solely to the Council’s 
housing stock and corporate assets and as such is a TECKAL company, which is 
not subject to corporation tax and was moved outside of the Group Structure in 
November 2014. 
 
In April 2019 the ownership of the Group transferred to BCP Council with local 
government reorganisation. 
 
Seascape South Limited was created within the Group in December 2014 to provide 
similar building maintenance and construction services to external customers and 
the wider community.  
 
Seascape South Limited’s core service is the undertaking of adaptations and 
conversions to accommodate client accessibility needs to their homes, which are 
funded through the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) scheme. Currently this accounts 
for 85% of company turnover. 
 
The company can provide building maintenance and construction services to other 
public bodies, educational establishments, commercial organisations, and private 
residential customers within the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Conurbation.  
 
Seascape Homes and Property Limited was incorporated in February 2016 with the 
aim of providing housing solutions to a variety of client groups. It focused initially, 
but not exclusively, on homeless customers in the Bournemouth area. It manages 
properties with the flexibility of a private landlord and lets them to households for 
whom the Council has a statutory homeless duty.  
 

By 31 March 2017 the company had leased 19 properties, this increased to 31 
properties by 31 March 2018, as a result the company met its original three-year 
business plan expectation of leasing 32 properties during this period a year ahead 
of schedule. By 31 March 2019 a total of 51 properties were leased by the 
company. The properties are a mixture of 1 and 2 bed flats and 3 bed houses. 
 
The Company also hold leases on residential properties to let to private sector 
customers at market rents. As at 31 March 2019 12 properties were leased at 
market rent to private tenants. 
 
The Group provides a range of services to people who live in Council-owned homes, 
people who are homeless or facing homelessness, the wider BCP community and 
private customers. 
 

117



 

10 

 

The Group is wholly owned by BCP Council as its sole shareholder, and reports to 
Council’s Cabinet.  
 
As a holding company the Group is not a trading entity itself and consequently has 
minimal expenditure associated with it. The consolidated accounts are formed almost 
exclusively from the subsidiaries financial statements. 
 

 

 

Our Vision 

Our vision is to sustainably grow our business delivering the best customer 
experience in the services we provide, supporting the delivery of the objectives of 
BCP Council’s Corporate Strategy. 

 

Our Mission 

Our customer focused mission is to be the trusted provider of choice to our 
community for the services we offer. 
 
We will achieve this and support our vision through our strategic aims of; 
 
Providing community focused services 
 

• We will put our community at the heart of what we do, providing customers 
with high quality, reliable and sustainable services that support their 
aspirations and achieve positive outcomes; 

• We will meaningfully engage and listen to our customers to improve services 
and decision-making, and empower individuals and communities; 

• We will deliver services in ways that are cost-effective, accessible, easy to 
use, inclusive, and offer choice to our customers; 

Seascape Group Limited

(SGL)

Seascape South Limited 

(SSL)

Seascape Homes and 
Property Limited

(SHP)

118



 

11 

 

• We will build a reputation for quality to become a dominant provider in the 
local market place, delivering services in an efficient and profitable manner. 

 
Sustaining our business through growth and creating dynamic places 
 

• We will sustain our business through seeking new opportunities that build on 
existing strengths and capabilities and support us to achieve our vision; 

• We will improve our financial strength in order to sustain our core services 
and increase our opportunities for growth, making a larger return to our 
shareholder, BCP Council; 

• We will combine our expertise and ethos with insight, innovation, and 
technology to deliver efficient, effective, and consistent services; 

• We will support skills development and innovation and provide apprenticeship 
opportunities within its companies;  

• To make a positive contribution to the delivery of housing to meet housing 
needs in all segments of the market; 

• Providing effective governance of the subsidiaries within the Group 

 

Our Values 

At the heart of our business are the BCP Council Values, aiming to be a modern, 
accessible and accountable organisation committed to providing effective 
community leadership. We will make sure these are delivered through our 
Behaviours. 
 
The Values are key in setting out the way we will conduct ourselves and how we do 
business: 
 

• We are passionate about our communities 
• We have integrity 
• We take pride in what we do 
• We embrace innovation 
• We treat everybody with respect 

 

Responding to the future 

We believe that understanding our operating environment is crucial to making the 
right decisions about the Group’s future. In addition to the Covid-19 context, in 
recent years we have seen other significant change, including housing supply and 
affordability, cost of living pressures, welfare reform, legislation and regulation 
affecting both social housing and adult social care, local and national politics, and a 
reduction in government funding.   
 
Whilst we constantly monitor our performance, effectiveness, efficiency, and the 
outcomes we deliver for our customers, we also take into consideration the world in 
which we operate and adjust our approach to keep pace. 
 
As the Council is our sole shareholder it is important that the activities of the Group 
support the priorities of BCP Council and support the delivery of key strategies 
including but not exclusively; 

• The Local Plan; 

119



 

12 

 

• Housing Strategy  
• Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
• Medium Term Financial Plan  

 
We must rise to the challenge of ensuring positive outcomes for our growing 
customer base with its changing demographics and expectations.  
 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole’s population is around 395,8001. Its 
population driven by net migration is expected to increase by 5.5% to 420,900 by 
20282, putting pressure on the demand for new homes and other Council services.  
 
Although there is currently uncertainty in the housing market, the average house 
prices in BCP are higher than the national average and have increased significantly 
in the last ten years. The average house price (Feb 2019) for Bournemouth is 
£255,900, Christchurch £346,900 and for Poole £312,3003. In Bournemouth and 
Poole, the median house price has increased at a higher rate than the median 
wage, which has led to an increase in the affordability ratio.  
 
Private sector rents are also high, the median rental price across the BCP area is 
consistently more expensive than for England for one, two and three bed properties. 
Within the conurbation Christchurch is the most expensive area at £10504 per month 
for a three-bed property. This results in significant demand for affordable rented 
housing in both the social and private sectors.  The demand for homelessness 
services across the BCP area is high. 
 
The majority of our customers continue to be the most economically disadvantaged 
within the borough, and as a result the most impacted by both welfare reform and 
the squeezing of disposable incomes. As such it will continue to be important for us 
to seek to build community resilience and enable opportunity through our services. 

 
In terms of the construction sector, we seek to better understand this local sector as 
we pursue additional business opportunities.  It is important to note that many 
national factors affect this which we need to track carefully.  For example, Brexit 
may affect on our ability to secure the workforce that we need.  

 
Financial plans 

 
The following sets out the anticipated financial position over the following 5 year 
period.  This is based on the assumptions and ambitions noted in this plan. 
 
End notes 
1 Mid-Year Estimates, 2018, ONS 

2 2016 Based Sub-National Population Projections, ONS 

3 Land Registry 2018 

4 Valuation Office Agency 2018 

120



Seascape Group Limited - Five Year Plan
Company Number 08743462

2019/20 Budget

2019/20 Outturn

2020/21 Budget

2021/22 Budget

2022/23 Budget

2023/24 Budget

2024/25 Budget

2019/20

Budget

2019/20

Outturn

2020/21

Budget

2021/22

Budget

2022/23

Budget

2023/24

Budget

2024/25

Budget

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

Turnover 1,365,400 1,058,000 1,690,200 2,403,100 2,576,300 3,034,100 4,029,800

Cost of sales

Labour (258,200) (139,200) (304,600) (435,700) (472,900) (512,000) (521,800)

Materials (187,200) (124,300) (267,900) (296,700) (331,400) (367,700) (376,700)

Other (146,500) (29,400) (68,900) (75,900) (84,200) (93,000) (95,200)

Premises Costs (1,200) (2,100) (2,200) (2,200) (2,300) (2,300) (2,400)

Management Fee (64,000) (39,300) (40,900) (41,700) (42,600) (43,400) (44,300)

Lease Payment (514,300) (517,100) (726,700) (1,237,500) (1,251,400) (1,513,200) (2,327,200)

Total Cost of sales (1,171,400) (851,400) (1,411,200) (2,089,700) (2,184,800) (2,531,600) (3,367,600)

Gross Profit 194,000 206,600 279,000 313,400 391,500 502,500 662,200

Administrative expenses

Bought in professional (support) services (107,000) (120,800) (131,400) (140,500) (142,100) (148,200) (163,500)

Insurance (9,400) (9,400) (11,300) (13,100) (13,400) (13,600) (13,900)

Other administrative expenses (14,200) (24,700) (33,500) (38,900) (41,800) (45,300) (53,700)

Marketing (8,000) (5,000) (47,200) (59,000) (8,500) (47,900) (59,400)

Total Administrative expenses (138,600) (159,900) (223,400) (251,500) (205,800) (255,000) (290,500)

Operating Profit 55,400 46,700 55,600 61,900 185,700 247,500 371,700

Interest payable and similar charges (3,800) (4,200) (2,100) (800) (800) (800) (800)

Profit before taxation 51,600 42,500 53,500 61,100 184,900 246,700 370,900

121



Seascape Group Limited - Five Year Plan Turnover Analysis
Company Number 08743462

2019/20 Budget

2019/20 Outturn

2020/21 Budget

2021/22 Budget

2022/23 Budget

2023/24 Budget

2024/25 Budget

2019/20

Budget

2019/20

Outturn

2020/21

Budget

2021/22

Budget

2022/23

Budget

2023/24

Budget

2024/25

Budget

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

Turnover 1,365,400 1,058,000 1,690,200 2,403,100 2,576,300 3,034,100 4,029,800

Seascape South 743,000 423,500 824,400 963,500 1,120,400 1,282,700 1,360,400

Disabled Facilities Grant - Bournemouth area 481,000 337,800 356,300 367,000 378,000 389,300 401,000

Disabled Facilities Grant - Christchurch area - - 127,500 155,000 175,000 200,000 206,000

Disabled Facilities Grant - Poole area - - 100,000 150,000 225,000 300,000 309,000

Construction Works 250,000 56,000 200,600 250,600 300,600 350,600 400,600

Knotweed - - 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

Tricuro 12,000 29,700 30,000 30,900 31,800 32,800 33,800

Seascape Homes & Properties 622,400 634,500 865,800 1,439,600 1,455,900 1,751,400 2,669,400

Residential 503,700 522,700 606,600 655,700 655,700 672,100 688,900

Other 118,700 111,800 131,100 131,100 131,100 134,400 137,700

Private Rented

 - St Stephen's Road - # - 128,100 652,800 669,100 685,800 703,000

 - Winter Gardens - - - - - 259,100 1,019,700

 - Princess Road - - - - - - 120,100

122



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) Programme 

Meeting date  27 May 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  To inform Cabinet of progress to date regarding the Department for 
Transport (DfT) based Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) award and 
process 

To seek delegated authority to the Director of Growth and 
Infrastructure in consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder 
through the TCF Governance Structure for decisions on delivery 

To inform Cabinet of proposed next steps regarding the TCF 
programme. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet:  

 (a) Notes the Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) Award, seeks 
Council approval to accept the grant funding and notes 
the progress to date regarding the TCF programme 

(b) Approves in principle the proposed three-year delivery 
programme, in line with the TCF Strategic Outline 
Business Case, and guidance set out by the 
Department for Transport (DfT) in the Assurance 
Framework 

(c) Approves the proposed Governance Framework and 
delegates authority to the Director of Growth and 
Infrastructure in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 
for Transport and Infrastructure, through the TCF 
Council Governance Board (CGB), for approval of 
future proposals, the detailed design of each element of 
the programme and to advertise associated Traffic 
Regulation Orders (TROs). 

(d) Approves any variation (as required) to the spend 
against the corridor based budgetary allocations 
identified in the SOBC and the making of TROs, 
following consideration of any objections to the 
advertising of those orders associated with the 
programme. 

123

Agenda Item 10



(e) Receives quarterly TCF reports on progress to Cabinet 
for approval prior to submitting to DfT.  

(f) Notes the proposed next steps regarding the TCF 
processes and the commitment of participating 
partners. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The delegations are designed to: 

 Allow maximum flexibility in meeting the strict DfT timeline 

for delivery over the next three years, with appropriate BCP 

approvals in place 

 Ensure that the authority is best placed to progress scheme 

delivery at pace. 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Andy Hadley - Portfolio Holder for Transport and 
Infrastructure 

Corporate Director  Bill Cotton – Corporate Director of Regeneration and Economy 

Report Authors Julian McLaughlin - Director of Growth and Infrastructure  

Gary Powell - Head of Engineering 

Marc Griffin - TCF Programme Manager 

Claire Clark - TCF Programme Management Team 

Wards  Various  

Classification  For Decision  
Title:  

Background  

1.  On 11 March 2020, BCP and Dorset Councils were awarded £79 Million by the 

Department for Transport (DfT) as part of the Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) 

programme, which forms a key part of the Government’s Industrial Strategy. The plan of 

the TCF SE Dorset City Region is shown in Appendix A. The award received equates to 

just over the ‘Low Ask’ amount that formed part of the Strategic Outline Business Case 

(SOBC) submitted on 28 November 2019. Details relating to this process were set out in 

the Cabinet Report, Agenda Item No.12 on 9 October 2019. The purpose of this report is 

to give an update to Cabinet on the TCF award and the progress to date regarding the 

TCF programme. 

2. The Award Letter from the DfT was received by BCP Council on 20 March 2020 and sets 

out how the capital grant funding will be paid over four years from 2019-20 to 2022-23. 

The letter further goes on to state that the funding is for public transport improvements in 

124



the South East Dorset city region as outlined in the SOBC and the terms under which the 

funding is granted are as follows: 

2019/20 2020/2021 2021/22 2022/23 TOTAL 

£3,955,973 £10,019,544 £30,876,142 £34,451,275 £79,302,934 

 

3. Funding is granted on the assumption that the local authority/private contributions are at 

least as stated in the SOBC. It has now been confirmed that there is no requirement to 

produce a Full Business Case for this level of funding, as none of the individual schemes 

are over £40M.  

4. The letter also states that BCP Council is required by the DfT to provide a final version of 

its Assurance Framework by 20 April 2020. Investment decisions on individual 

components of the package will be made locally in accordance with the BCP Council 

Assurance Framework which must be compliant with the requirements of the National 

Local Growth Assurance Framework guidance. The SED TCF Assurance Framework 

sets out the policies, rules and processes to be applied throughout the TCF programme. 

The framework provides details of roles and responsibilities, policies and procedures, 

accounting arrangements, governance, stakeholder and public engagement, programme 

delivery and financial arrangements. DfT also required a TCF Proforma to be submitted 

on 13 April 2020 setting out details relating to the schemes, costs, type, local/private 

contributions, location and start and completion dates.  

5. Due to the tight timeframe for submitting the Assurance Framework and TCF Proforma, 

these were approved in principle by the Director of Growth and Infrastructure in 

consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Transport and Infrastructure and later ratified by 

the TCF Council Governance Board.  

6. Cabinet is asked to approve in principle the proposed three-year delivery programme in 

line with the TCF Strategic Outline Business Case, and the guidance set out by the DfT 

in the Assurance Framework. This is in line with the Low Ask award of £79 million and is 

set out in Appendix B. A summary of the low ask schemes is shown in Appendix C. 

7. The proposed Governance Framework has been in place and followed since February 

2020, enabling the programme to continue at pace. As the programme is a joint 

undertaking with Dorset Council, Councillors and Officers from both authorities are 

involved at each level of governance and delivery. Julian McLaughlin, Director of Growth 

and Infrastructure, is Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) on behalf of BCP Council and 

Jack Wiltshire is SRO for Dorset Council. The Governance Framework is included at the 

end of this report as Appendix D. CGB consists of Julian McLaughlin, Cllr Andy Hadley, 

Cllr Felicity Rice, Jack Wiltshire, Cllr Ray Bryan and Cllr Mike Parkes, along with the TCF 

Programme Management Board representative/s. Cabinet is requested to approve the 

proposed Governance Framework and delegate authority to the Director of Growth and 

Infrastructure in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Transport and Infrastructure 

through the TCF CGB for approval of future proposals, the detailed design of each 

element of the programme and to advertise associated Traffic Regulation Orders.  

125



8. COVID-19 is currently having a major impact both locally and nationally. The TCF 

Programme Management Team is however fully engaged in the delivery process and 

communicating effectively throughout this time. There are numerous ‘virtual’ meetings 

ongoing, and include; weekly Programme Management Team Meetings, weekly update 

reporting to Programme Management Board Ops, Bi-Monthly Programme Management 

Board, BCP and DC Councillors Briefing sessions, Council Governance Board (CGB) 

meeting, along with regular communications, consultation and programme meetings. The 

Programme Management Team are currently actively exploring ways to undertake 

alternative ‘virtual’ workshops in May and June. Once a method for ‘virtual’ engagement 

and consultation has been established, this will be taken forward to wider Stakeholder 

engagement. 

9. A quarterly Forward Plan will be produced to draw together all the activities and tasks 

that occur within that period. The first one is in place for Q1 April-June 2020 and 

includes; meetings, governance, communications, high-level programme, risks, 

procurement, delivery, stakeholder engagement, financial updates and reporting 

requirements. This Forward Plan will in turn be utilised to report to the DfT as per the 

requirements as set out in the award letter and in line with the Assurance Framework. 

10. Updates relating to Programme and Delivery will be reported to the Programme 

Management Board and CGB. Work has progressed to establish the Delivery Teams 

under each Task Group across the programme. Within that, a reporting structure is 

identified, along with the scope of works, lead responsibilities, consultation, construction, 

programme management and delivery, budget and resource requirements. Additional 

Procurement workshops will be arranged to take the Procurement Strategy forwards. 

11. An agreed Design Guide Strategy is required to inform the TCF process. This will be 

implemented by BCP and Dorset Councils for consistency across the corridors and 

schemes. The Design Guide will take account of current best practice in addition to 

newly published guidance from the DfT. Workshops will be set up and include the 

Portfolio Holders, Council officers and relevant Stakeholders. It is important for 

agreement and clarity at an early stage to fully inform the TCF process going forwards. 

Decisions and agreement in relation to this will be presented to and approved by CGB. 

12. A Risk Register highlighting the Top Ten Risks across the programme is presented to 

the monthly Programme Management Board, mitigation is discussed where necessary, 

and reported back to the Programme Management Team for action. The Top Ten Risks 

will also be reported to the bi-monthly CGB meetings to fully appraise the board of the 

risks and the mitigation proposed. 

13. Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs) associated with the TCF programme will be advertised 

following approval by the CGB and then any objections reported to Cabinet, as per 

current approval process. This enables the programme to progress at pace whilst still 

ensuring there is opportunity for open and public debate prior to any decisions being 

made. Cabinet is requested to approve any variation (as required) to the spend against 

the corridor based budgetary allocations identified in the SOBC and the making of TROs, 

following consideration of any objections to the advertising of those orders associated 

126



with the programme. It is also proposed that Cabinet receives quarterly TCF reports on 

progress for approval prior to submitting to DfT. Dorset Council will follow similar due 

process in relation to TROs in Dorset and reporting to Cabinet where appropriate. 

Communications, Consultation and Stakeholder Engagement 

14. It is recognised that a key element of the TCF process from the outset is the 

communications, consultation and engagement with stakeholders and the public. 

Substantial preparatory work has already been undertaken to progress the 

documentation required. This includes a Communications Plan, Strategy, Protocol, 

Stakeholder lists, key messages, Q&As, vision, straplines, branding, and website. A 

number of these documents are ‘fluid’ due to the nature of their status and will continue 

to be refined as the programme progresses. BCP Council are leading on proactive 

communications and media activity in conjunction with Dorset Council. In line with DfT 

requirements, the TCF branding will be at the forefront of all communications and 

consultation. These documents and materials have been presented and comments 

received at the first CGB, which took place in early May.  

15. There is both a communications and consultation process in place, each informing the 

other. Consultation is currently being affected by the COVID-19 situation in terms of face 

to face consultation. Therefore, other proactive ways of consulting with stakeholders and 

the wider public are being considered and will be implemented over the coming months. 

It is further recognised that adequate tools for consultation must be available for the 

public to interact, be informed and ask questions in relation to the TCF programme. 

These are actively being explored, and the relevant platform will be purchased and 

become operational as part of the wider consultation process. The Programme 

Management Team and Delivery Teams will proactively engage with all interested 

parties, using these tools to work with ward councillors and local communities along the 

routes. 

16. In future, once the COVID-19 restrictions have been lifted, there will be opportunities for 

engagements, events and workshops in line with the communications and consultation 

proposals. The TCF communications and consultation material will be used to further 

promote sustainable transport solutions and form a wider legacy which it is hoped will go 

beyond the 3 year programme.  

17.  Upon receipt of the award letter from the DfT, the Programme Management Team wrote 

to the 70+ respondents as set out in the SOBC, thanking them for their support during 

the bid process. These respondents indicate the breadth of support for the TCF 

programme and we will continue to proactively engage with them, through the 

consultation processes in place. Regular Stakeholder meetings will form part of the 

consultation process going forwards.  

18. Cabinet is asked to note the proposed next steps regarding the TCF processes and the 

commitment of participating partners. 

127



Summary of financial implications  

19. Costs to date in relation to the SOBC and submission of the TCF bid in November 2019, 

can be claimed as part of the 2019/20 allocation. Significant further work has been 

ongoing in 2020 in relation to the Programme Management Team, setting up of the 

Governance, Comms and work streams to the end of March 2020. 

20. Going forwards, all further works will be fully funded through the TCF Funding Award 

across the next three financial years.  

21. The local authority is liable for the local contributions as detailed in the SOBC. This 

equates to an LTP Contribution of £6.1M (combined BCP and Dorset Council) phased 

over the life of the Programme, to deliver schemes locally that continue to promote 

walking, cycling and bus usage, complementing the TCF Programme. In addition, there 

are third party contributions that equate to just under £15M included in the SOBC.  

Summary of legal implications  

22.  The Council’s Constitution allows the Leader and Cabinet to delegate functions to the 

appropriate officers. Considering the timescales and the shared delivery with Dorset 

Council across the programme, we need the governance to be agile in order to enable 

delivery at pace. Delegation of functions to the CGB will facilitate this.  

Summary of human resources implications  

23.  Based on existing levels of funding within the BCP Council area of the SE Dorset City 

Region it is likely that TCF will increase the capital investment by circa 3-4 times in 

coming years. 

24. Trebling or quadrupling the amount of capital investment from TCF would inevitably lead 

to a significant demand for resource. The Council has existing consultancy and 

contractor frameworks in place to assist with filling this resource gap. The TCF 

programme will also require additional corporate support time, i.e. finance, procurement 

& legal. All resources will contribute to capital assets and are therefore chargeable to the 

TCF Programme and were covered within the SOBC and subsequent award. 

Summary of sustainability impact  

25. The proposed programme is designed to promote sustainable travel. 

26. All proposals will be developed to minimise the impact of the construction of any works. 

This will include Early Contractor Involvement (ECI) to ensure that construction methods 

minimise the impact of construction on the environment. 

27. Where practicable the proposals will include planting of new trees to create shade along 

routes. 

Summary of public health implications  

28. The proposed programme is designed to promote sustainable travel which should 

reduce harmful emissions, provide healthy choices, provide better connected 

communities, thereby improving health and wellbeing. 

128



29. The proposed programme should also improve road safety, thereby creating a safer 

environment for all. 

Summary of equality implications  

30. Equalities implication screening has indicated that a full assessment is not required at 

this stage. 

31. The proposals all promote sustainable travel and as such will likely enhance the lives of 

persons with protected characteristics. 

32. Equalities screening will need to be revisited once the programme content is confirmed 

to assess any implications during design and construction of the proposals. This has 

been built into the programme. 

Summary of risk assessment  

33. Proposed schemes along the TCF corridors have been developed in line with TCF 

objectives and the outputs of the Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Travel Survey 

(October 2018 to January 2019). These schemes have been developed to feasibility 

level to date and therefore have not been fully consulted upon at a local level. 

34. To ensure that local views are considered when developing the programme, consultation 

will be undertaken as part of the process of developing schemes from feasibility to their 

outline design. This will provide maximum flexibility for local views while keeping to the 

DfT guidance/expectation. 

35. A robust communications strategy will be implemented to promote the programme and 

also consider the management of expectations. 

Background papers  

South East Dorset Transforming Cities Fund Strategic Outline Business Case (submitted to 

DfT in November 2019) – available via email link on request 

South East Dorset Transforming Cities Fund Local Assurance Framework – available via 

email on request 

Appendices  

1. Appendix A – Plan of TCF SE Dorset City Region 

2. Appendix B – Proposed 3 Year Delivery Programme 

3. Appendix C – Summary of Low Ask Schemes 

4. Appendix D – TCF Governance Framework 

 

129



This page is intentionally left blank

130



Appendix A-	 Plan of TCF SE Dorset City Region 

131



132



Appendix B- Proposed 3 Year Delivery Plan

133



1 Submit Strategic Outline Business Case ü
2 DfT review and SED team reply to queries ü ü ü ü ü
3 DfT SOBC ‘Clarirfications’ at DfT ü ü
4 Surveys, base data collection and monitoring** ü
5 Resourcing plan of SED TCF Delivery Teams ü ü
6 Service level agreements between Councils
7  TCF Programme Management Meetings (PMT) - Weekly ü ü
8 TCF Programme Management Board (PMB) - Monthly ü ü
9 TCF Council Governance Board (CGB) - Bi Monthly ü ü
10 Cont dev of TCF comms and engagement strategy ü ü ü
11 Launch TCF comms and engagement strategy (Following CGB approval)

12 Due diligence and legal agreement for bike share ü ü
13 Launch bike share in Christchurch area of BCP
14 Launch E-bikes across BCP Council area
15 Development of consultation plans/images for platform ü ü ü
16 Consultation for TCF principles
17 Development of Design packages and strategy  (including any associated approval documents)

18 Analysis of consultation for presentation to Council
19 Approval of design packages/strategy by CGB
20 Independant checks of documentation as per local assurance
21 Design gateway approvals (PMT, PMB,CGB)
22 Design phase (Outline design through to detailed design)
23 Design scheme consultation
24 Tender contracts (open tender/GEN 4)
25 Award of contracts (open tender GEN 4)
26 Task orders issue to internal/partnership contractors
27 Contractor mobilisation

TCF Funded Schemes
28 S5* Construction period (including enabling)
29 S6* Construction period (including enabling)
30 C1* Construction period (including enabling)
31 C2* Construction period (including enabling)
32 C3* Construction period (including enabling)
33 C5* Construction period (including enabling)
34 Wayfinding - Design, Procurement and Construction
35 Bus Priority Within Signals - Design, Procurement and Construction
36 HGV Management System-Longham

Schemes supporting TCF funded schemes(as part of local contribution)

37 Wimborne Road East cycle scheme
38 Tricketts to Palmersford cycle scheme (link to S5)
39 Leigh Road NCN Cycle Scheme (S106)
40 Leigh Road NCN Cycle Scheme
41 Longham Mini-roundabout crossings
42 Improved bus infrastructure/shelters in vicinity of Ferndown Ind Est
43 Strategic Network improvements and Future Planning ü ü ü ü ü
44 BCP Safer Routes to schools
45  BCP Work Place and School Facilities
46 Bournemouth Town Centre Walking Improvements
47 Westbourne ped, cycle and bus improvements
48 Gervis Place - bus interchange improvements
49 BCP Bus Shelters/RTI
50 Subsiduary links to Ferndown industrial estate
51 DC Safer Routes to schools
52 DC Work Place and School Facilities
53 Ferndown Town Centre Walking Improvements
54 Dorset Bus Shelters/RTI

* Naming of corridors to be agreed for consultation and delivery. Please note that various
communications will take place during constructon.

** Monitoring  for the TCF programme has already taken place in advance  of SOBC
development (2019) and will take place following the end of delivery programme (2023-2025)

Note  - This programme will be reviewed on a regular basis during the Covid 19 crisis and any
risks on programme delivery will be flagged with the TCF Programme Board and Councils

Governance Board

Au
g-

20

Se
p-

20

O
ct

-2
0

N
ov

-2
0

ID Key Activities

M
ar

-2
0

Ap
r-2

0

Ju
l-2

0

M
ay

-2
0

Ju
n-

20

M
on

th

N
ov

-1
9

D
ec

-1
9

Ja
n-

20

Fe
b-

20

Ja
n-

23

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n-

21

Fe
b-

22

M
ar

-2
1

Ap
r-2

1

M
ay

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Ju
l-2

1

Au
g-

21

Se
p-

21

O
ct

-2
1

N
ov

-2
1

D
ec

-2
1

Ja
n-

22

Fe
b-

21

Consultants tbc
Contractor(s) tbc

Bike Share

South East Dorset City Region Transforming Cities Delivery Programme for TCF funded, LTP and 3rd party supported elements

M
ar

-2
3

Fe
b-

23

M
ar

-2
2

Ap
r-2

2

M
ay

-2
2

Ju
n-

22

Ju
l-2

2

Au
g-

22

Se
p-

22

O
ct

-2
2

N
ov

-2
2

D
ec

-2
2

March 2020 - Award of £79m
of TCF Funding

Key:
DFT

DC and BCP Councils
WSP/DC/BCP

134



Appendix C- Summary of Low Ask Schemes

135



Type Corridor Designation Corridor connection Description

Sustainable Transport
Connectivity Corridors

S5 Poole to Ferndown Connecting Poole town centre and rail station with the key
employment location of Ferndown

S6 North Poole/North
Bournemouth

Enabling improved connections on Castle Lane East and West to
link up with Wessex fields employment are and Bournemouth
Hospital

Cycle Freeways

C1 Lansdowne to
Christchurch

This key east-west route connects an important employment area
in Bournemouth town centre east via Boscombe to Christchurch
via Wessex Fields (another employment area) which includes
Bournemouth Hospital. This route has employment sites at both
ends and passes through densely populated residential areas;

C2 Bournemouth to
Ferndown

Links Bournemouth town centre, the university campuses,
Bournemouth Airport and Aviation Park and the key employment
area at Ferndown Industrial Estate. This route links to employment
sites and passes through densely populated residential areas

C3 Wareham to Poole Connecting local commuter route with Poole town centre, Port of
Poole and nearby employment sites completing the final gaps in
the existing cycle route between the two locations;

C5 Merley to Poole Links significant residential area to key industrial estates, Poole
Town centre and Rail station

136



Proposal Type Description

Wayfinding Create a comprehensive network of information totems and signs to enable people to intuitively follow walking and
cycling routes both along and to the Connectivity and Cycleway Corridors, key employment/education sites and places
of interest/destinations.

HGV Traffic Management
System

HGV traffic management system at Longham Bridge (to avoid HGVs becoming stuck on this key freight route into/out of
the conurbation).

Expansion of Bike share
Scheme

Expansion of bike share scheme into the Christchurch area (note Bournemouth and Poole already have a scheme) and
the introduction of E-bikes across the region.

Trip End improvements The improvement to workplace/education sites ‘end of trip’ facilities in the vicinity of the Connectivity Corridors and
Cycleways to encourage active travel

Bus priority measures This will include bus priority measures at key traffic signal locations to improve journey times.

Smart ticketing via app This app will enable users to purchase a multi-modal trip ticket and access a region-wide journey planner app

Bus infrastructure and public
realm improvements

This scheme is the upgrade or introduction of shelters, Real Time Information (RTI) and accessibility kerbs at locations
that complement the Connectivity Corridors

Safer routes to schools This scheme will aim to improve infrastructure in the vicinity of schools to encourage active travel

137



Appendix D- TCF Governance Framework

138



 

 
TCF PROPOSED GOVERNANCE 

IN ACCORDANCE WITH SOBC WITH A FEW ADDITIONS 

 

 

Proposed Members of 

specific group 

 

Councils Governance Board – CGB 

Cllr Approval/Portfolio Sign Off 

(Note – Needs to have a link with Assurance Framework Review Board as per 

SOBC) Delegation to CGB from Cabinet for sign off (proposed) 

S 

 

TCF Programme Management Board - PMB 

(Note – Needs to have a link with Assurance Framework Review Board as per 

SOBC) 

Complimented by regular PMB Ops communications/updates from PMT 

 

 

Frequency 

All relevant Councillors for 

BCP and DC 

 

Julian McLaughlin (SRO & 

Chair), Cllr Hadley, Cllr 

Rice, Cllr Bryan, Cllr Parkes 

or Cllr Adkins, Jack Wiltshire 

 

Gary Powell, Richard

Pincroft, Marc Griffin, 

Kate Tunks or

Wayne Sayers, Rachael

Mills, Legal/Finance (as

required)
 

As required 

by 

democratic 

services 

 

 

Bi Monthly 

Monthly 

BCP Cabinet/DC Cabinet 

For information purposes - To take place as per current arrangement 

at BCP/DC. Paper to TAG for info and TRO decisions 

 

 

TCF Programme Management Team - PMT 
Weekly  

(2 hour 

meeting) 

 

TCF Programme Delivery Team - PDT 
As required 

by Delivery 

Team 

Leads 

Links to contacts proposed 

for workshop in early April 

found here 

TCF Initial Design Workshop v4 

139

https://wsponline.sharepoint.com/sites/Bournemouth&PooleCommission/Shared%20Documents/01%20Shared%20Partnership%20Area/02%20Project%20Documentation/BCP%20projects/Transforming%20Cities%20Fund%20-%20Master%20folder/Governance/TCF%20Initial%20Design%20Workshop%20v4.docx?web=1
UKEMH003
Stamp



This page is intentionally left blank

140



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Delivery of Sprinkler Installation at Sterte Court 

Meeting date  27 May 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  This paper brings forward the recommendation of the award of a 
new contract for the delivery of works to install a full sprinkler 
system to Residential Category 3 (flats and communal areas) at 1-
57 & 58-114 Sterte Court.  These works will deliver a new sprinkler 
system in order to enhance fire safety management across the 
buildings. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet:  

 (a) Endorses the previous decision made in July 2018 by 
the Borough of Poole to install sprinklers in the tower 
blocks owned by BCP Council and managed by Poole 
Housing Partnership across; and 

(b) Approves the award of a new contract to Harmony 
Fire Ltd and associated budget of £575k for the 
sprinkler installation relating to the two tower blocks 
which comprise Sterte Court. 

 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The award of this contract will enable the delivery of new water 
sprinkler systems and further enhance fire precautions to the two 
10 storey tower blocks that comprise Sterte Court. This will then 
ensure full coverage across all 6 tower blocks owned by BCP 
Council.  

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Kieron Wilson 

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan, Corporate Director of Environment and Community 

Report Authors Su Spence & David Hood, Poole Housing Partnership 

Wards  Poole Town;  

Classification  For Decision  
Title:  

141

Agenda Item 11



Background 

1. The delivery of effective methods to mitigate against and manage fire safety is a key 
element in managing and maintaining buildings for any landlord.  When those 
buildings are above 18 metres tall and have one entry and exit route the risk to life 
should a fire occur increases and building regulations and fire prevention and 
management approaches change to reflect that increased risk.  Measures to 
mitigate the likelihood of a fire and then manage and contain one should it occur are 
numerous and require a number of elements that work together.  These are 
reviewed regularly during Fire Risk Assessments and involve the Fire Service in 
understanding the building and working with landlords to manage and reduce risk 
where possible. 

2. Following the tragic fire at Grenfell Towers in June 2017 all landlords reviewed fire 
safety measures necessary for high rise blocks. Discussions with the Dorset and 
Wiltshire Fire Service and across national bodies overseeing building safety 
suggested that it was appropriate to revisit decisions about the range of measures in 
place to manage and contain fire should it occur.  A move to a more risk adverse 
approach and a desire to ensure that all possible measures to deliver fire safety 
shaped discussions 

3. These discussions for the Council owned blocks recommended that procurement of 
a sprinkler system for the 6 high rise blocks be progressed.  This covered the 2 
tower blocks at Sterte Court and the 4 tower blocks in the Old Town.  This approach 
set out that it would retro-fit a new fire suppression sprinkler system to all flats and 
communal areas as part of ongoing fire prevention and fire management works.   

4. For the 4 tower blocks in the Old Town, the sprinkler work would be delivered as 
part of the Project Admiral proposals. 

5. In July 2018 the Borough of Poole Cabinet agreed the following: - 

That Poole Housing Partnership progresses with plans to fit sprinkler systems into 
the two tower blocks at Sterte Court. 

That the project budget of £630,000 to be funded from the Housing Revenue 

Account capital budget is approved.  

That Poole Housing Partnership includes the fitting of sprinkler systems within the 
major maintenance plans for the Old Town tower blocks. 

6. BCP Council is asked to reconfirm this decision made by the former Borough of 
Poole and that it agrees to install sprinklers at the two tower blocks that comprise 
Sterte Court. 

7. Following the decision in 2018 PHP progressed discussions to agree the design of 
the sprinkler system across all 6 tower blocks.   

8. The work to deliver Project Admiral contains the design and specification for the 
sprinklers in the tower blocks in the Old Town.  The discussions for Sterte Court 
have been run concurrently to ensure that there is similarity of approach and 
economies of scale.  The guidance around fire safety from central government has 
been carefully reviewed on an ongoing basis to make sure that the specifications 
and works set out here remain in line with national good practice and requirements. 

9. They have also taken into account the constraints of the Sterte Court tower blocks 
with regards storage capacity.  Detailed surveys identified that the current roof top 

142



water tanks, while sufficient to supply both current domestic and sprinkler water 
demand, would not withstand the alteration works required to connect the new 
sprinkler system valves and outlet pipework.  This means that new combined water 
storage tanks will need to be installed in order to deliver the sprinkler project with 
temporary domestic water storage being provided during the removal and change 
over process. 

10. These discussions have included the Dorset and Wiltshire Fire Service as an 
interested and vital 3rd party. 

Options Appraisal 

11. PHP undertook a stand alone procurement exercise in early 2020 to look at options 
for the delivery of the sprinkler systems across Sterte Court.  This built on the 
specification used for Project Admiral and requires delivery of the new water storage 
tanks in addition to the sprinklers. 

12. Four tender submissions were received, three of which were accessed as compliant 
with the specification and were evaluated with relative quality and price scores. 

Summary of financial implications 

13. The tender submission from the selected supplier is for a contract value of £523k, 
this includes all fees and project costs.  Further to the tender specification, recent 
discussions with the local Building Control Officer regarding the Project Admiral 
approach has led to the consideration of further sprinkler head protection to the 
balcony area of flats.  In preparation to this likely additional scope the normal 5% 
good practise contingency value for a project of this type has been increased to a 
10% contingency and this would be a value of £52k, making the overall project 
budget £575k. 

14. The 2020/21 HRA budget for the Poole Neighbourhood agreed by council in 
February 2020 included an identified budget of £1 million to deliver sprinkler 
installation works, reflecting the earlier decision from July 2018 by the Borough of 
Poole and presented in more detail for endorsement by BCP Council here.  The 
awarding of this contract would therefore be from within allocated resources and 
have no detrimental impact on any other works.   

Summary of legal implications 

15. The market tendering exercise and forming of a new water sprinkler contract is in full 
compliance of the councils procurement and financial regulations.  

Summary of human resources implications 

16. No human resource implications have been identified. 

Summary of sustainability impact 

17. The combined design approach to utilise the buildings domestic water storage 
capacity with that of the water sprinkler system has provided a more sustainable 
building life cycle and operational solution.  Through the installation of a dedicated 
change over system total water storage and therefore use has been reduced, 
substantially reducing the capital replacement costs and improving future water 
quality measures. 

143



Summary of public health implications 

18. The delivery of enhanced fire safety measures will support the overall well-being of 
residents within the Sterte Court tower blocks. It will ensure further peace of mind 
regarding safety. 

Summary of equality implications 

19. The delivery of the sprinkler system ensures that social housing residents have 
access to the same options for fire safety as those residents living in other tenures.  
It reflects the council view that there for fire safety actions should deliver what 
should be done, rather than the minimum of what should be done.    

Summary of risk assessment 

20. The main risk for this project is achieving access to resident homes in order to 
successfully install the sprinkler system.  PHP have undertaken a resident 
engagement programme and this will be ongoing throughout the project.  This will 
inform residents how the sprinklers work, listen to concerns and respond to ongoing 
queries.  This process should ensure that access is achieved across at least 95% of 
homes and this will be sufficient to meet effective coverage. 

21. It is likely that the work will not start on site until it is deemed safe to do so and that 
effective social distancing measures can be put in place to protect both residents 
and operatives.  This approach will be discussed with the successful contractor and 
managed on an ongoing basis with the residents affected. Approval of the scheme 
and associated budget will however help to ensure that the work can start at the 
appropriate time and as soon as practically possible. 

22. The delivery of the sprinklers will enhance the fire measures already in place on 
Sterte Court.  They are not required to make the building safe but would be a 
welcome enhancement. There is a regular and ongoing programme of management 
that checks the effectiveness of the fire management processes in place. These will 
continue before, during and after the installation of the sprinklers. 

Background papers 

None 

Appendices   

None  

 

144



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Whitecliff Recreation Ground - Pavilion Redevelopment 

Meeting date  27th May 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  In December 2017 Borough of Poole Cabinet approved the 
commencement of procurement to seek a developer to deliver 
enhanced sports changing, permanent catering and public toilet 
facilities within Whitecliff Pavilion - see Appendix 1. 

Through the planning application process, approval has been 
granted to redevelop the pavilion. The tender to find an operator to 
design, build, manage & maintain the facility is live with a closing 
date 1 July.  Consultation has been undertaken with stakeholders, 
ward councillors and the public. 
 
There are covenants on Whitecliff Recreation Ground which restrict 
the commercial uses of the space.  They prevent the development 
of a full-service café appealing to a wider clientele.  The developer 
will need maximum opportunity to build a successful business 
model for financial viability.  The café will provide a service for all 
park users and the income will cross subsidise the cost of running 
the changing rooms and public toilets.  The Council’s Estates 
Team tried to negotiate the release of the covenants but 
negotiations failed when the Council were asked to indemnify 
against possible future claims from other parties. 
 
If Cabinet agree to the appropriation - and delegate authority to 
officers to make the award of contract to the successful bidder - 
when the tender closes the development can be commenced.  

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

(a) Cabinet approve the appropriation of land at Whitecliff 
Recreation Ground for planning purposes. 

(b) Members delegate authority to officers to award 
contract to the successful bidder following close of 
Tender on 1 July and all subsequent decisions to 
enable the completion of the development.  

Reason for 
recommendations 

a) To enable the redevelopment and funding of land and 
buildings known as Whitecliff Pavilion, approved by the 

145

Agenda Item 12



Borough of Poole Cabinet 5 December 2017 - Appendix 1. 

b) Delegating authority to Officers to award a contract to the 
successful tenderer, following the tender process will ensure 
the development can progress in line with the conditions 
detailed in the legal contracts.  

Portfolio Holder(s):  Cllr Felicity Rice, Environment and Climate Change 

Corporate Director  Kate Ryan, Environment and Communities 

Report Authors Michael Rowland, Strategic Lead for Greenspace and 
Conservation; 

Rebecca Bray, Senior Strategic Estates Manager  

Lynda Adby, Recreation Development Officer 

Wards  Parkstone 

Classification  For Decision/Recommendation  
Title:  

Background 

1) The Council owns land at Queen Elizabeth II Harbourside Park (Whitecliff), 

Whitecliff Road, Poole on which Whitecliff Pavilion is situated.  

 

2) In 2015, following Cabinet recommendation to support medium term financial plan 

savings, Culture and Community Learning (Borough of Poole) was asked to 

explore alternative management options for sports facilities. Consultation was held 

with stakeholders including ward councillors to understand aspirations for the 

Pavilion.  

 

3) Whitecliff Pavilion provides changing accommodation and social facilities for sports 

organisations and also encompasses public toilet facilities. It is in poor condition 

and requires significant levels of maintenance and investment to remain viable for 

continued use. Due to budgetary constraints the Council has been unable to 

provide the sufficient level of investment without which the pavilion will be rendered 

unusable and therefore surplus to the Councils requirements. 

 

4) A market sounding exercise took place in March 2016 for Whitecliff Pavilion. 

Following this, further stakeholder consultation identified interest from commercial 

providers in developing and modernising the building and introducing an improved, 

permanent commercial catering offer to support the community uses. 

 

5) A report to the Property Steering Group (PSG) in May 2016, outlined plans to 

develop this idea further. An additional progress report to the PSG in February 

2017 resulted in support of a formal tender and the use of Section 106, Planning 

Obligations contributions. 

146



 

6) Meetings with Ward Councillors took place in June 2016, April 2017, January 

2018, and together with the Portfolio Holder, gave support to the project and to the 

use of planning obligations.    

 

7) In May 2017 a public engagement event was held at the Pavilion to share the 

ideas and plans. 

 

8) In August 2017, an application for outline planning was submitted and consent, 

with reserved matters, for a café, with sports changing rooms and public toilets 

was granted in Oct 2017. Reference: APP/17/01146/P. This process included a 

further period of statutory and public consultation. 

 

9) In November 2017, Fields in Trust approved ‘in principle’ consent to the 

development.  

 

10) In December 2017 Cabinet approved the commencement of procurement to 

deliver the proposed outline specification.  

 

11) In June 2018, the Council was considering how to develop the project and as a 

lease for more than 7 years was being considered, an advertisement was placed in 

the Bournemouth Echo to indicate that a decision was to be made as to the 

disposal of an area of public open space in accordance with Section 123 of the 

Local Government Act 1972.  

 

12) In November 2018, a Variation to Condition 4 of the original planning consent was 

approved by the Planning Committee.  APP/18/01105/F, for extended opening 

hours until 9pm (summer) and 6pm (winter). 

 

13) Various articles on the proposed redevelopment have appeared in the 

Bournemouth Echo.  

14) The tender to find an operator went live in February 2020 and is advertised on 
supplyingthesouthwest.org.uk, the National Catering Association website and in 
the Echo. The closing date is 1 July.  

15) The proposed development is to take place on land that is owned by the 
Council and has been for some time.  

Options Appraisal 

16) Appropriation 

a) Do not appropriate: 

 

The land which forms part of the Queen Elizabeth II Harbourside Park was 

obtained pursuant to a deed of exchange dated 26 June 1917 from the 

Canford Estate (the ‘Estate’).  

 

Within the deed of exchange the Council entered into a series of covenants in 

favour of the Estate which control the commercial uses which can be 

147



undertaken on the site.  As written these would prevent the development of a 

full service café appealing to a wider clientele  The proposed café will provide 

a service for all park users and the income would cross subsidise the cost of 

providing and maintaining the changing rooms and public toilets.  

The covenant restrictions will stay in place affecting the future viability of the 
catering business that will cross subsidise the cost of running the sports 
facilities and toilets.  

Therefore this option was rejected. 

b) Negotiate the release of the covenants with The Estate: 

The Council has tried to negotiate a release of the covenant with the Estate. A 
fee of £1,500 plus fees and VAT capped at £2,500 has been agreed for the 
release which has been assessed as a reasonable fee in the circumstances. 
However this cannot be pursued since the Estate has made the release 
conditional on the provision of an indemnity as follows:  

The land owned by the Estate that originally benefitted from the covenant has, 
at least in part, been sold off meaning that there are other potential 
beneficiaries who could enforce the same covenants (the ‘wider’ 
beneficiaries). The Estate has made it a condition of a release that in addition 
to the fee the Council indemnifies the Estate for claims made against them by 
the wider beneficiaries for releasing the covenant.  

As the Estate will not share any information regarding the extent of the former 
Estate land which benefits from the covenant or provide details of the 
assurances the Estate gave transferees over the years in respect of 
maintaining and enforcing the covenants, it is not possible to assess the likely 
financial value of the indemnity being sought.  

Further, the Council’s legal services have considered alternative approaches 
and  report that it is difficult for the Council to do its own legal due diligence on 
this point since the original conveyance is not specific as to the land benefiting 
from the covenants, beyond it protecting the extent of the original estate, at 
the date of the exchange. Further, the period of time since the original 
conveyances means that historical research would be required to establish 
what assurances have been given by the Estate to the various purchasers 
which would render this an extensive piece of legal work that would be time 
consuming, costly and in any event may prove inconclusive.   

The Council would not be required to provide an indemnity if the land is 

appropriated so it is unreasonable for it to be a condition of giving a release 

by agreement. Therefore the Estate has been told that the request for an 

indemnity is unreasonable and that it is the Council’s intention to appropriate 

the land. This appropriation does not preclude the Estate from coming 

forwards at a later date and submitting a substantiated claim.   

 

Therefore this option is also discounted.  

 

148



c) Appropriate:  

The Council has been in direct contact with the only currently identified 
beneficiary of the covenant, the Estate. The remaining possible beneficiaries 
have been consulted with by way of the planning application, the 
appropriation notices and the project web sites:   

https://www.poole.gov.uk/build/sports-and-fitness/whitecliff-recreation-ground-

pavilion-development/ 

https://pooleprojects.net/harbourside-park/ 

Once it became apparent that the initial negotiations had reached a stalemate 
the process of progressing the decision as to appropriation was commenced. 
This was done by advertising the Council’s intention in the Bournemouth Echo 
over two consecutive weeks in July and August 2019. As a result, two people 
asked questions, but no objections were raised and no comments or claims 
were received from anyone claiming to be a beneficiary.  

It is therefore recommended that the Council proceeds with the appropriation.  

17) Delegation Approval: 
 

Officers are seeking delegated approval to award contract to enable the post tender 
negotiations and decisions to be carried out within the timeframes set out in the 
tender documents and legal documents, which the operator will need to enter in to.  

 

Summary of financial implications 
18)   Following appropriation, beneficiaries of the covenant are entitled to statutory   

compensation based on diminution in value of their land by the removal of the 
covenants. 

19)    A fee of £2,500 was agreed with the Estate for a release of the covenant by 
agreement. Following appropriation the Estate will have to submit a valuation 
calculated on the statutory basis to substantiate this sum.   

20)      The land owned by the Estate that originally benefitted from the covenant has, at 
least in part, been sold off so there are potentially beneficiaries other than the Estate 
(the ‘wider beneficiaries’). The advertisement of the appropriation did not instigate 
any claims from the wider beneficiaries although this does not rule out receipt of 
claims in the future. 

21)     It is therefore not possible for the Council to quantify the amount of compensation at 
this stage but if statutory compensation becomes due it will be provided for out of the 
revenue generated by the development. 

22)   The tender seeks to modernise and enhance the pavilion which is in very poor 
condition. Without appropriation this may limit or generate no interest from the 
market. If we fail to find an operator for the facility the Council will retain financial 
liability for the changing rooms and public toilets which require significant investment. 
In 2017 this was identified as £12,900 per annum from the revenue budget and 
£104,000 worth of capital costs to address the defects. 

149

https://www.poole.gov.uk/build/sports-and-fitness/whitecliff-recreation-ground-pavilion-development/
https://www.poole.gov.uk/build/sports-and-fitness/whitecliff-recreation-ground-pavilion-development/
https://pooleprojects.net/harbourside-park/


Summary of legal implications 

23)  Under section 122 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council may appropriate, 
for any purpose for which it could acquire land, any land which belongs to the Council 
and is no longer required for the purpose for which it is held immediately before the 
appropriation.   

24)  This is expressed to be subject to the rights of third parties, but section 204 of the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016 provides that appropriation for planning purposes 
converts such rights into a claim for compensation (under section 10, Compulsory 
Purchase Act 1965).  As a result, building work may be carried out (by the Council or 
someone else), despite interference with such rights, provided it is in accordance 
with planning consent and the purposes for which the land was appropriated.  Use of 
the land is similarly authorised (section 203 of the 2016 Act). 

25)  Appropriation for planning purposes must comply with at least one of two statutory 
tests (set out in section 226 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990).   

26)  The first test is that the Council thinks: 

(1) the appropriation will facilitate the carrying out of development, re-development or  
improvement on or in relation to the land, AND 

 
(2) the development, re-development or improvement is likely to contribute to the 

achievement of any one or more of the following objects- 

(a)  the promotion or improvement of the economic well-being of its area; 

(b)  the promotion or improvement of the social well-being of its area; 

(c)  the promotion or improvement of the environmental well-being of its area. 

 For this site it is felt that the first test could be successfully applied in the circumstances.  

27)  Beneficiaries of the covenants could stop interference with the restrictions placed for 
their benefit by seeking an injunction, which would prevent the proposed 
redevelopment. Appropriation for planning purposes eliminates this risk.  
Accordingly, limb (1) of the first test set out above is met.   

28)  The proposed development of the site will modernise, improve and expand the sports 
and public facilities and will be undertaken in accordance with the planning consent 
dated 3rd October 2017.  It is therefore considered that appropriation for planning 
purpose satisfies the second test. 

29)  It has been established that appropriation for planning purposes is compatible with 
the Human Rights Act 1998, since compensation is payable for the interference with 
any rights protected by the 1998 Act, and the interference is therefore proportionate.  

Summary of human resources implications 

30)  None 

150



Summary of sustainability impact 

31)  If appropriation is agreed and an operator is found then there will be a responsibility 
on them to minimise the impact of its activities on the environment and to meet or 
exceed all the environmental legislation that relates to the business. The operator will 
need to minimise waste, actively promote recycling, source and promote the product 
range to minimise the environmental impact of both product and distribution.  

32) Once we know the final design then there could be further environmental 
enhancements to the building to combat climate change e.g. greater benefits with a 
new build as opposed to a refurbishment.  

33)  The development would encourage a central point in the community as a hub for 
individuals and groups to be active locally reducing the need to travel.  

Summary of public health implications 

34)  The establishment of a viable business with refurbished or new facilities will enhance 
the area and provide an improved catering service, public toilets and sports changing 
experience. Enhanced social and catering facilities would be achieved, encouraging 
engagement and access to a range of current and new service users.  

35)  The proposed development would actively promote healthier lifestyles, encouraging 
informal and formal recreational activities for all and engage a range of user groups 
and individuals.  

Summary of equality implications 

36)  The tender seeks to address any current barriers to facility access, services and 
information. Improved buildings will be compliant with the Equality Act 2010 
benefitting service users with disabilities.  

37)  Bids will be assessed to evaluate the community value and benefits, including 
how bidders will contribute to an increase in recreational use of the site.  

Summary of risk assessment 

38)  By appropriating and removing the restrictive covenants, the risk of the business 
being successful is increased as this will give maximum opportunity for financial 
viability by providing a full-service cafe which will appeal to a wider audience.  

39)  This risk is increased if the land and buildings are not appropriated for planning 
purposes as beneficiaries of these rights could stop interference with such rights by 
seeking an injunction, which would prevent the development. 

40) Coronavirus and the uncertainty and impact on the economy may deter bids from 
potential operators from making a large financial investment at this time. 

   

 Background papers 

Planning Portal – search Planning Application APP/17/01146/P 

Whitecliff Recreation Ground Pavilion Development web page 

Appendices   

1. Cabinet Report - Harbourside Park Facility Development – 5 December 2017  

151

https://www.poole.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-applications/find-a-planning-application/
https://www.poole.gov.uk/sports-and-leisure/parks-and-open-spaces/whitecliff-recreation-ground-pavilion-development/
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/Data/Poole%20Cabinet/201712051900/Agenda/att27592.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank

152



1 

 

CABINET 

 

Report subject Holes Bay, Poole (former power station site) acquisition 
strategy  

Meeting date 27 May 2020 

Status Public with confidential appendices 

Executive summary 
To seek agreement for the Council to purchase the former 
power station site according to the defined terms set out in 
the report.  A potential purchase is proposed based on 
negotiations with the landowner and with support from both 
Homes England and the Dorset Local Enterprise Partnership 
(DLEP). 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet: 

 (a) Agrees that the site is acquired on the acquisition 
proposal set out in this report for the 
consideration detailed in the confidential part at 
appendix 1 of this report (site indicatively edged 
red on the plan attached at appendix 2); 

(b) Agree in principle to accept the £5m Dorset Local 
Enterprise Partnership (DLEP) grant (with its 
associated terms and conditions) to part fund the 
acquisition of the site, with delegated authority to 
the Section 151 Officer; 

(c) Agree that plans are developed promptly following 
acquisition to bring the site forwards, with a 
further report to Cabinet/Council seeking approval 
on the associated investment decisions, revenue 
implications and proposed detailed delivery 
model; 

(d) Agree that a project team for this site be formally 
established as part of the Poole Regeneration 
Board framework within existing resources to 
drive the project forward and ensure appropriate 
governance; and 

(e) Delegate authority to the Corporate Property 
Officer to complete the acquisition and all 
associated property transactions to prepare the 
site for development. 

That Cabinet recommends to Council to: 

153

Agenda Item 13



2 

 

Amend the Capital Programme to include provision for 
this purchase, to be funded by prudential borrowing, on 
the basis set out in the confidential report. 
 

Reason for 
recommendations 

To facilitate the acquisition of this key brownfield site in order 
to ensure the timely delivery of much needed housing and 
create a new and vibrant community in Poole. 

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillors  

Kieron Wilson, Portfolio Holder for Housing 

Mark Howell, Portfolio Holder for Regeneration & Culture 

Corporate Directors Bill Cotton, Corporate Director, Regeneration and Economy 

Contributors Lorraine Mealings, Director of Housing 

Kerry Ruff, Housing Enabling Manager 

Julian McLaughlin, Director of Growth and Infrastructure 

Chris Shephard, Director of Development 

Stephen Dunhill, Corporate Estates 

Rebecca Bray, Senior Estates Management Surveyor 

Sian Ballingall, Head of Legal Services  

Adam Richens, Head of Financial Services 

Shirley Haider, Management Accountant 

Wards Hamworthy 

Classification For Decision 
Title:  

 

1. Background  

1.1 Holes Bay (the former Power Station site) is Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole Council’s largest housing regeneration opportunity and is one of the 
largest brownfield sites in the wider region.  It is allocated in the Poole local 
plan to bring forward 850 homes and associated uses 

1.2 Levels of unmet housing demand in Poole and across the wider BCP area are 
very high, where housing demand outstrips housing supply.  The new 
government methodology indicates the need to complete approximately 2,500 
new homes every year to address unmet housing demand across BCP, which 
is significantly higher than current delivery.  Net delivery of new homes for 
2018/19 was just over 1,500 for the year so it is clear that the delivery of around 
850 homes on this site will make a major impact on current unmet housing 
demand. 

1.3 There is a clear link recognised nationally between housing delivery and the 
economy.  The delivery of new homes on this site will therefore bring much 

154



3 

 

wider benefits to the BCP area in terms of jobs, inward investment and overall 
economic growth. 

1.4 The Power Station site is part of the strategic supply of housing in the Poole 
area and has remained undeveloped since the authority allocated this site for 
development over 20 years prior.  Delivery of the site is an integral part of wider 
plans to revitalise the Town Centre. 

1.5 In order to help unlock this significant area of brownfield land the Borough of 
Poole delivered the Twin Sails Bridge project by 2012.  The Bridge was also 
built to unlock housing within the wider Hamworthy area which has progressed 
at pace in recent years with circa 1000 homes built in this area since that time, 
adding confidence to the context of bringing this site forward. 

1.6 Following this an application was submitted by the joint landowners Gallaghers 
Estates and Lands Improvement Holdings in 2011 for 1,350 dwellings and 
commercial development (including a superstore). The application was 
withdrawn.  In 2017 London & Quadrant acquired Gallagher Estates and 
together with Land Improvement Holdings submitted an outline planning 
application (still pending) for up to 850 dwellings with 1,000sq.m of community 
and commercial uses.   

1.7 During this time, the Council and the Planning Authority had been assisting and 
negotiating with the owners to deliver the site, as well as facilitating input from 
key public sector funding partners.  Ongoing viability concerns however   
resulted in their application not progressing. 

1.8 Discussions during the planning application identified that the viability of the 
site is constrained by a range of exceptional costs such as ground conditions, 
contamination, removing the electric switching station, suitable highway 
infrastructure, flood defences as well as resolving planning requirements 
relating to parking, traffic impact and scale, bulk and mass. Redevelopment of 
the site will require a new quay wall with walkway for flood protection of this site 
and the surrounding area. The Port of Poole is a key location for economic 
growth and a port link road has been designed to improve the port’s 
accessibility and enhance traffic flows. It passes through the site and under a 
dedication agreement between the landowner and the Council the landowner 
is required to construct and dedicate the road as public highway. On acquisition 
those responsibilities will pass to the Council as landowner.   

1.9 As part of the Council’s commitment to unlocking the site, the Council applied 
for the land to be designated as a Government Housing Zone, which was 
confirmed in March 2015. This focused on a joint approach with Homes 
England and the Dorset Local Enterprise Partnership (DLEP) working with the 
landowners; a joint venture between Land Improvement Holdings and 
Gallaghers Estates.  Gallaghers Estates is now fully owned by London and 
Quadrant (L&Q).  The current landowners therefore are Land Improvement 
Holdings (LIH) and London and Quadrant (L&Q).   

1.10 Following an independent study of site viability, the case was made for gap 
funding. With Ministerial support for the site the Council successfully secured 
£5million Growth Deal 3 funding in 2015 but the existing landowners still felt 
unable to bring this site forwards. 

1.11 Cabinet and Council agreed in July 2019 to develop a site acquisition strategy 
for the site to help prompt delivery and agreed that a subsequent full business 

155



4 

 

case for acquisition would be developed, including the use of a Compulsory 
Purchase Order (CPO) as a contingency. 

1.12 Negotiations have subsequently progressed with the landowners to secure an 
acquisition strategy for the site and this report presents a proposal for bringing 
this forward which has been agreed in principle with the landowners. 

2. Corporate Strategy 

2.1 The Council’s Corporate Strategy sets out its key objectives as follows: - 

 Sustainable Environment 

 Dynamic Places 

 Connected Communities 

 Brighter Futures  

 Fulfilled Lives  

2.2 The purchase of this site will significantly help to deliver the Council’s 
Strategy in many ways.  Primarily it will help by ensuring valuable investment 
in the homes the BCP area needs, it will create a place which is sustainably 
designed, it will create a new, vibrant and connected community, will ensure 
fulfilled lives and add value for many of our residents.  The Local Plan 
planning policies will apply as they do for all other sites.  It will deliver much 
needed affordable housing and it will help address our climate emergency by 
creating a sustainable town centre development both in terms of the site 
construction itself but also in terms of the wider infrastructure and transport 
issues. 

3. DLEP funding 

3.1 The Outline Business Case and decision to accept the Growth Deal 3 DLEP 
funding was approved by the Borough of Poole Council in September 2017 and 
the DLEP Board in September 2017. This funding is for the period to March 
2021 and the DLEP are held responsible by Government for delivery of their 
programme and budget within that period.  

3.2 A Full Business Case was since presented to the DLEP Board in January 2020 
to secure the £5m funding for the purpose of part funding the whole site 
acquisition by the Council.   

3.3 The DLEP agreed to award this funding at their Board meeting on 26 March 
2020 and approval is therefore sought to accept this funding as to assist the 
Council with acquiring the site.  The following sets out the basis and conditions 
relating to the funding award: - 

 127 number of homes delivered 

 Completion of homes by 2025 

 Grant to fund the acquisition of site by Council to be completed by July 2020 

4. Acquisition and Council funding proposal 

4.1 Negotiations with the landowners for the Council to potentially buy the site 
were based on instructing an external valuation of the site as part of that 
process.  The District Valuer Services (DVS) were instructed to carry out this 

156



5 

 

work on behalf of the Council and by agreement and in discussion with the 
landowner. 

4.2 The acquisition price proposed within the valuation is included in the 
confidential part of this report  

4.3 The purchase is conditional on the following: - 

 Satisfactory title 

 Satisfactory results from the legal and estates due diligence  

 Subject to due diligence all environmental liabilities will pass to the 
Council as landowner on completion of the sale other than those that 
are the responsibility of third parties (i.e. anyone other than the Vendor 
and their group companies).  All site investigation information to be 
passed to the Council prior to exchange 

 The landowner is released from their obligations under the deed of 
dedication dated 31 July 2009 to construct the port link road   

4.4 The purchase is not conditional on the following: - 

 Planning consent 

 The Council’s site investigations but the Council will review the 
landowner’s site investigation information as part of its due diligence 
prior to purchase  

4.5 The acquisition proposal includes an overage agreement encompassing the 

following: - 

1. Overage applying to the property, excluding the switching station  
(i). When the Council obtains planning consent, if the permission 
results in a higher land value than assessed by DVS then the 
increase will be shared   equally with the current landowner t   The 
overage payment will be capped at a sum outlined in the confidential 
report. 

(ii) The overage clause will be for a term of 30 years from the 
purchase date 
(iii) Any grant money or uplift in land value arising from grant money 
will be disregarded when assessing the market value of the land  
(iv) If the Council disposes of the site prior to a planning consent 
being granted the overage will be 75% of the increase in value. 

2. There will be a separate overage agreement with regard to the 
switching station due to the fact that it is currently assumed it is not 
viable to develop this area and so is included in the DVS valuation at a 
nil value. Details are: -  

 An overage payment of 50% of the difference between (i) £1 and (ii) 
the market value of the site on grant of planning permission or (iii) 
the sale price (if sold before (ii) occurs)   

 This overage is separate and in addition to the capped overage. 

 The overage clause will be for a term of 50 years from the purchase 
date 

157



6 

 

4.6 Legal and Estates have agreed Heads of Terms with the landowners and 
work is now progressing on the necessary legal and estates due diligence to 
conclude the acquisition with a target completion date of 30 June 2020. 

4.7 With £5m secured in principle from the DLEP, the Council is required to fund 
a further sum for the site acquisition spend through Prudential Borrowing.  
The Section 151 Officer will determine how this borrowing is facilitated, in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance. Provision for repayment of 
the Prudential Borrowing has been included within the Medium Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP) as approved by Council in February 2020.  

4.8 It will be necessary to recruit a dedicated and specialist Development Project 
Manager resource to bring this site forwards.  Up to £135k of Council 
earmarked reserve is available to help fund this requirement. Additional 
funding will be required for staffing resources (including finance and legal 
services) to support regeneration projects within the Regeneration and 
Economy Directorate. Clearly, these will need to be considered in light of the 
budget restraints brought on by the Covid 19 pandemic.  

4.9 A specialist masterplanning design team will also need to be procured to help 
bring the site forward to delivery.  This will need scoping and funds sourced 
accordingly.  

5. Proposed project governance and project management 

5.1 Effective and robust project management is clearly essential to help manage 
this high value acquisition, make sure that it progresses at pace and ensure 
that associated risks are minimised.  It is proposed that the resulting site would 
be project managed as a key project with a Project Board within the overall 
Poole Regeneration Programme Board (see diagram below).  The Board is 
already in place and comprises the three Directors of Housing, Development 
and Growth and Infrastructure to ensure a joined up approach to regeneration 
in the Poole area. 

 

 

158



7 

 

5.2 The Programme Board has Terms of Reference in place stating that it will 
provide strategic oversight and take executive responsibility for driving 
forward all regeneration programmes in Poole, receive monthly Highlight 
Reports from the various Project Boards, be responsible for making decisions 
regarding the resolution of resource and dependency conflicts, risks, issues, 
challenges or opportunities within the delegated authority of the Board and 
bring to the attention of the Council’s Corporate Management Board and 
Portfolio Holder(s) any strategic risks, issues, challenges or opportunities that 
require attention. 

5.3 The Programme Board will fit within the Council’s overall governance structure, 
feeding into the proposed new BCP Place Board, the Council’s Corporate 
Management Board, Cabinet and Council. 

5.4 The Member Advisory Panel has been established as part of the overall 
governance framework.  It will provide a forum for shaping emerging proposals 
for the regeneration of Poole town centre area.   

5.5 Meetings of this Members Advisory Panel will be facilitated and chaired by the 
Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Culture. The Deputy Chair will be the 
Portfolio Holder for Housing.  This will help ensure a joined up approach within 
Cabinet.  A range of Councillors will be members of this group across all parties. 
Terms of Reference are in place stating that members will report to their political 
groups and fairly reflect the views of their political group, respond promptly to 
e-mailed consultation, keep confidential any matters of a commercial or 
sensitive nature discussed within or ancillary to Advisory Panel meetings, drive 
forward and champion regeneration in Poole Town Centre and bring to the 
attention of the Council’s Corporate Management Board and Portfolio Holder(s) 
any strategic risks, issues, challenges or opportunities that require attention. 

5.6 The Corporate Director for Regeneration and Economy will attend the Advisory 
Panel, as will the Director of Development, to ensure robust and joined up 
conversations across the governance framework. 

5.7 Project planning is already in place to manage the immediate priorities relating 
to this site and will be used as the basis for developing robust project 
management going forwards. 

5.8 The project governance will build on close partnership working which has taken 
place over the last few years between the Council, Homes England and DLEP.  
This approach will be built upon as we move forwards.   

5.9 The Project Board for this site is yet to be convened but will be formally 
established prior to acquisition to ensure momentum after this date. 

5.10 The Project Board will drive delivery forwards, approve spending and assist in 
monitoring and steering key milestones.  The Board will need to include a range 
of officers across specialisms including the appropriate technical financial and 
legal input. It will need to include officers from a numbers of teams; housing, 
legal, estates, highways, planning and finance.  It may also involve key external 
agencies. 

5.11 A dedicated and specialist Development Project Manager (DPM) will be 
formally recruited to help manage the site specifics and ensure momentum.  
This DPM resource will ensure a joined up approach amongst specialisms 

159



8 

 

within the Council and also importantly mobilise timely delivery with many 
external partners. 

5.12 Additional project management support will be secured within the Council to 
maintain an excellent project management discipline.  The Council has a well 
established team in place corporately to help oversee significant projects such 
as this. 

5.13 The Council has a strong track record in developing residential housing, both 
developing and building new homes internally and through contractor and joint 
venture arrangements.  This puts the Council in a good position to deliver this 
site effectively and robustly. 

6. Proposed delivery of site 

6.1 An initial consideration of options has identified one possible proposal to 
establish a joint venture arrangement with a development partner to deliver 
the site through to completion. The establishment of this arrangement could 
be at different points through the project.  The following section sets out our 
current expectations for delivery of the site but is likely to evolve as we 
progress. Consideration has been given to the following factors to help guide 
the choice of delivery model: - 

 Ability for the Council to provide strategic direction through to the 
development phase 

 The Councils aspirations to retain long term ownership for some elements 
of the site e.g. homes, public space 

 The Councils appetite for further financially investing and sharing profits 
for this site 

 Appetite for risk 

 Ability to maximise the use of in-house skills, capacity and expertise within 
the Council e.g. in-house development skills, project management 
expertise 

 Assurance around the timely completion of the site 
 

6.2 The later of these points is critical and there needs to be a very real focus on 
the delivery milestones, including the need to deliver the residential 
development in phases, starting in 2023. 

6.3 In the context of significant unmet housing demand across the BCP area, a 
full assessment of market demand including a strategic housing needs 
assessment will be undertaken.  This will guide the preferred housing mix in 
terms of property type, specialist needs and tenure mix.  This will include 
identifying local housing needs and local private rental and sales values.  

6.4 The Council has declared a Climate and Ecological Emergency.  As such, 
careful consideration will need to be given throughout to ensure the delivery of 
sustainable development that is fit for the future.  Subject to consideration of 
overall site viability, it may be appropriate for all or part of the site be 
developed as a national exemplar scheme in terms of sustainability, perhaps 
piloting new and emerging sustainable technology. 

6.5 The Council will continue to work closely with Homes England to enable this 
site to achieve the outcomes we need.  This will include detailed discussions 

160



9 

 

to assist in funding the necessary remediation and infrastructure works as well 
as maximising grant funding opportunities for the construction costs. 

6.6 One option might be to recruit a professional multi-disciplinary design team 
through the Homes England Delivery Partner Panel 3 (DPP3) framework.  
This framework is already set up nationally and helps accelerate the timeline.  
This team would guide the design work which will inform the development 
process. 

6.7 Another option would be to procure a JV development partner that has 
experience in placemaking at the start of the process to help master plan the 
development. This will give the JV partner an early stake in the process and 
ensure a planning application is submitted that is deliverable and 
commercially viable.   

6.8 Whichever option is chosen it will involve a high degree of community 
engagement whilst retaining the need to provide a commercially viable 
development.  Innovative and exemplar design will be sought for the site due 
to its scale and importance locally.  This will help create an exemplar, well 
designed development on what is the largest brownfield site in South West of 
England.  

6.9 Councillors will be engaged to help guide the development brief and help set 
the overall vision for the site. 

6.10 Delivery through a joint venture partner provides the balance between sharing 
risk and reward and ensures access to timely, specialist capacity and 
expertise.  It also brings access to additional funding for the development 
phase. 

6.11 There may be land assembly options beyond the red line of the Former Power 
Station site boundary.  The joint venture partnership would consider flexibility 
to extend as appropriate. 

6.12 When securing a joint venture partner, it is proposed that the Council 
considers its role in potentially funding an element of the development phase 
as an investment opportunity whilst sharing risks. 

6.13 The Council could seek to acquire some of the affordable housing units on the 
site or directly develop the homes itself.  These homes would be added to the 
existing c10,000 Council homes already in ownership.  The management of 
these resulting homes would be undertaken within the existing Council 
housing neighbourhood teams.   

6.14 The Council may also seek to acquire (or develop itself) an element of the 
private homes on the site.  The Council has a wholly owned company in place 
which provides a vehicle to rent resulting private sector homes on assured 
shorthold tenancies.  Work is currently underway to expand this company to 
build private homes for sale and rent. 

6.15 A Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) could be set up to consolidate the joint 
venture partnership on this particular site.  It is suggested that a bespoke 
negotiated approach to profit share and risk share between the Council and a 
partner is needed going forwards.  Due to the mixed-use nature of the site, 
delivering homes, commercial space and community facilities, a partner will 
need to be selected who has significant experience of developing large scale 
place making regeneration schemes such as this. 

161



10 

 

6.16 Site remediation works will be a key element to the site due to its former use.  
The current land owners have agreed to provide the site investigation 
information they already have. One option may be to undertake some of the 
remediation and infrastructure works upfront before securing a delivery 
partner where this will be needed whatever the eventual design and layout of 
the overall site. This would remove some risk and possibly make the site more 
attractive to potential JV partners. 

6.17 Discussions are being progressed with Homes England to help secure 
funding for the remediation and infrastructure works on the site that might be 
undertaken early in the development process.   

6.18 Much more detailed work is required to develop the delivery option for this site 
including a more detailed associated timeline as well as preparing the 
mobilise resources for the necessary site investigation works, technical input, 
remediation and starting construction of the site.  The following sets out the 
key expected activities/workstreams and the current expected associated 
timescales over the short/medium term: - 

 
Activity  Date Completed 

Site acquisition  Summer 2020 

Appointment of Development Project Manager Spring 2020 

Appointment of Design team and community engagement to start Autumn 2020 

Or selection of JV partner and gaining Cabinet approval for approach 
and associated investment decisions 

December 2020 

Non design specific remediation works commissioned and works 
commence 

2021/22 

Planning application submitted and determined 2021/22 

Design specific remediation and construction start on site 2022/23 

 

6.19 The timing for completion of homes on the site is yet to be determined but will 
occur incrementally and in a phased way. It is not expected to be fully 
complete for 15 to 20 years. 

6.20 A proposal will be presented in due course to Council setting out the delivery 
approach in more detail, including any proposed additional investment 
decisions.  This would aim to be completed within the next 9-12 months.  It is 
likely to involve a request for additional funding to help bring the site forwards 
to the next stage, including costs of submitting a planning application, legal 
agreement with a partner etc. 

7. Consultation 

7.1 As a Housing Zone recognised by Government this site has already been 
subject to a strong partnership approach with the landowners, Homes 
England, Dorset LEP and previously the Borough of Poole. This Housing 
Zone delivery team had been primarily focused on ensuring an effective 
response to the planning process, the securing of the DLEP grant funding and 
management of this allocation from the DLEP to the Council and on to the 
landowner.  

162



11 

 

7.2 All of Cabinet have been fully briefed as have the current ward councillors 
who are supportive of the proposed approach.  

7.3 The following internal teams have all been engaged to develop the proposal 
presented here: Corporate Estates, Housing, Development, Finance, Legal 
and Planning. 

8. Alternative Options 

8.1 The Cabinet report in July 2019 set out plans for the Council to develop an 

acquisition strategy for the site, using a CPO as a contingency.  This was 

based on the site not coming forward with the current landowners and the 

need to secure an alternative approach.  Negotiations since July 2019 with 

the landowners have explored different options for delivering homes in a 

timely way on the site.  Options that have been considered but discounted are 

as follows: - 

 Current landowners progressing with their planning application through 
to timely completion of the site 

 Entering a joint venture with the current landowners to help deliver the 
site 

 Entering a joint venture with Homes England to help deliver the site 

 Splitting the ownership of the site to aid delivery 

 Landowners to dispose of the site to another developer 

 Progress a CPO for the site 

8.2 The current landowners have formally stated that they do not want to develop 
the site.  It was therefore considered that direct acquisition by the Council 
would be preferable in order to help drive delivery of the site. 

9. Summary of financial implications 

9.1 These are set out in the confidential appendices.  

10. Summary of legal implications  

10.1 There will be the need to complete the title due diligence and review and 
report on searches and enquiries.  

10.2 There will be negotiations on the detail of the overage deeds for the main site 
and sub-station site.  

10.3 The State aid implications of the DLEP and any grant funding will need to be 
set out in detail to ensure that the proposed development complies with the 
regulations. This will be part of future Cabinet approvals as set out in 
recommendation 3 of this report. 

11. Summary of human resources implications  

11.1 There are implications in terms of funding additional Development Project 
management staff and project resource to help drive forward the delivery of this 
site.  This additional resource is essential to move this complex project forward 
robustly and effectively.  The expected staffing implications are noted in this 
report. 

163



12 

 

12. Summary of environmental impact  

12.1 Whilst a planning application of this scale and complexity will be required to be 
supported by an Environmental Impact Assessment and for the Authority to 
undertake an Appropriate Assessment, any such assessment is only relevant 
to the plan or project that is proposed and is of relevance upon implementation. 
In the absence of any firm proposal to develop the land there remains ecological 
issues both on the site and surrounding, as well as areas of contamination that 
are uncontrolled. Any acquisition of this site will need to take these into account 

13. Summary of public health implications  

13.1 Bringing this major brownfield site into public ownership will support the ultimate 
creation of a sustainable good quality housing development that benefits the 
current and new community and brings many benefits to the residents and the 
wider area. 

14. Summary of equality implications 

14.1 An equality impact assessment has been carried out based on the proposals of 
this report and there are no protected groups that will be disadvantaged as 
result should the decision be approved.  

15. Summary of risk assessment  

15.1 The DLEP has been provided with a copy of our initial risk assessment prior to 
approving the loan. This assessment focusses on the acquisition of the site. A 
copy of the risk assessment is included in the appendices. 

15.2 Covid-19 risks have been added to the Financial section in the risk register. 
Covid-19 does provide a risk to the acquisition of the site as market conditions 
are uncertain. The RICS has advised that market activity is being impacted in 
many sectors therefore valuations should be considered with a higher degree 
of caution as there is less certainty in the market. Notwithstanding this, 
valuations are based on historic comparables but with advice on any anticipated 
changes in the market. 
  

15.3 There has been a reduction in new house sales agreed of around 90% since 
the beginning of March 2020 and it is anticipated this will result in a 50% fall in 
house sales over the year. It is hard to forecast how long the market will take 
to fully recover; however, the development of this site will be a 15 to 20-year 
project with the first new homes not anticipated for completion before 2023/24. 
There will be fluctuations in the market during the period of the Holes Bay 
development and this is a standard development risk. These uncertainties 
should be considered in the light of the unmet housing demand set out in para 
1.2 above.  

 

15.4 The landowners have made it clear that they are not prepared to negotiate 
further on the current HOTs and so the only alternative would be to withdraw 
from the purchase until more certainty returns to the market. This will delay 
bringing the site forward for development and risks needing to use CPO powers 
in the future. In turn this will impact on our obligation to meet the government’s 
housing targets with related consequences.  

 

164



13 

 

15.5 The value of the site in the future could be more or less than the current 
valuation. There is some mitigation within the current HOTs as a discount on 
the market value has been applied to allow for uncertainties in acquiring a site 
without the benefit of a planning consent. Also, not proceeding at this time 
would result in the loss of the £5m DLEP funding.  

 

15.6 Homes England have indicated their support in bringing forward the 
development of this site. They are keen to enter into detailed discussion 
regarding financial support from the Housing Infrastructure Fund once we have 
formally made a decision to proceed with the acquisition. 

 
Appendices  

Appendix 1 - Confidential report – CONFIDENTIAL – Please note should Cabinet 
wish to discuss the contents of Appendix 1 the meeting will need to go 
into confidential (Exempt) session. 

Appendix 2 - Site map 

Appendix 3 - Site acquisition risk assessment 

Background papers  

 BoP Council Report: ‘Financial & Legal Arrangements for the Holes Bay Site 
(Former Power Station Site)’, 26 September 2017  

 BCP Cabinet Report July 2019 ‘Holes Bay, Poole (former power station site) 
acquisition strategy’, 10 July 2019 

165



This page is intentionally left blank

166



Document is Restricted

167

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Estates
BCP Council
Civic Centre
Poole
Dorset
BH15 2RU
Tel: 01202 261274
Text Relay: 18001 01202 261274

Former Power Station Site - Poole

Scale:  1:2500  True@A3L
Date: 10/02/2020

© Crown Copyright and Database Right 2020 – Ordnance Survey 100019829

INDICATIVE ONLY

File saved:  M:\10. Pre-Case Enquiries\KPI Enq - 010419 - 310320\KPI 9332

Draft

171



T
his page is intentionally left blank

172



Town Centre North Risk Register - Financial Work stream January 2018    Version 0.1

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

A B C D E F G H I J K L M N O

I L S I L S

F1 Financial Negotiation of Acquisition fails and the 
council loses the DLEP funding allocation 

3 3 9

Negotiations with the landlowners has 
reached a point wher ethe HoT inc 

overage have been agreed in principle 
along with proposed completion dates of 

June 30th 

DLEP money is lost and the council has 
to consider a new financial strategy but 
are already in discussion with Homes 

England for an alternative financial 
approach if required to ensure site 
progress and delivery can still be 

achieved

3 2 6

F2 Financial 

Covid-19 The RICS has advised that 
market activity is being impacted in 
many sectors therefore valuations 
should be considered with a higher 
degree of caution as there is less 
certainty in the market. The purchase 
price is based on RICS valuation that 
relies on historic comparables and 
was completed prior to the current 
pandemic

4 3 12

A discount on the market value has been 
agreed as the site is being purcahsed 

without the benefit of a planning consent. 
This also means there is a margin 

already included in the purchase price of 
the site. The project will be long term with 
development taking place over the next 

15 to 20 years

There is unlikely to be any evidence in 
changes in valuations comparables as 

the development market is stalled. Whilst 
the residual risk remains for the time 

being as this is a long term project the 
impact will be reduced.

3 3 9

To coninue to monitor the market 
particularly up to completion of the site 
purchase. Also to seek Homes England 
grant funding towards infrastructure and 
remediation costs that will help to reduce 

development costs and so will impact 
positively on the site value.

Number Risk Description

Gross Risk

Residual Risk DescriptionSummary /Area of 
Risk Notes Further Action Required (DATE) Owner

1-4 = Low (G)           
5-9 = Med (Y)          
10-12 = 
Significant (A)                                 
13-25 = High (R) 

1-4 = Low (G)           
5-9 = Med (Y)          
10-12 = 
Significant (A)                                 
13-25 = High (R) 

Residual Risk

Review dateMitigation So Far

173



Town Centre Regeneration Risk Register - Strategic 26 April 2018   Version 0.1

I L S I L S

S1 Strategic
Acquisition not completed, so site 
remains in private sector ownership 
and BCP loses DLEP funding 

4 3 12 Ongoing negotiations with current 
land owners with an aim to agree HoT

If acquisition strategy fails then a 
formal CPO will need to be 

progressed as well as a new financial 
strategy to fund the acquisition 

4 2 8 BCO to continue with Hot terms 
negotiations with land owners 31/05/20

S2 Strategic

Risk of scheme deliverability if a number 
of neighbouring regeneration sites in the 
locality start on site coinciding with the 

proposed programme

4 3 12

Monitor the planning consents of the  
neighbouring regeneration sites and 

ensure that their programme information 
is built into the programme management 
of this site to avoid overlap in the market 

supply

That the market risks being flooded with a 
similar housing supply 3 2 6

Maintain an ongoing dialologe with the 
neighbouring developers with 

regeneration sites to ensure a clear 
understanding of each others 

programmes to avoid conflict / negative 
market outcomes

Notes Number Further Action Required (DATE) Owner

1-4 = Low (G)           
5-9 = Med (Y)          
10-12 = 
Significant (A)                                 
13-25 = High (R) 

1-4 = Low (G)           
5-9 = Med (Y)          
10-12 = 
Significant (A)                                 
13-25 = High (R) 

Risk Description

Gross Risk

Mitigation So Far Residual Risk Description

Residual Risk

Summary /Area of 
Risk Review date

174



Town Centre Regeneration Risk Register - Legal - Procurement Work stream January 2018   Version 0.1

Completion/
Summary /Area of 

Risk Review Date Notes 
I L S I L S see score key - last tab

P1 Procurement

Establishment of a joint 
venture with a private 
partner proves difficult or 
cannot be achieved

4 3 12

Soft market testing to be 
carried out once the 

acquisition strategy is 
completed which Homes 
England will assist with 

The market response 
to the JV opportunity 
may be different to 
what the Council had 
anticipated and it may 
need to consider 
alternative delivery 
options 

3 2 8

Action Required (DATE) OwnerNumber Risk/Description

Gross Risk

Mitigation So Far Residual Risk

Residual Risk

175



Town Centre Regeneration Risk Register - Political January 2018 v0.1

I L S I L S

PO1 Political 

Members don’t artrive at a consensus 
agreement  regarding the vision for 
the development and what the site 

should be delivering 

4 3 12

To implement regular member 
meetings on both the acquisition 

startegy whilst keeping them 
appraised on delivery options to 
ensure the site constraints and 

remediation costs help to keep focus 
on the fundemental site delivery 

Programme time may be post as a 
result of drawn out discussions to 

agree on the masterplan and vision 
for the site 

3 2 6

To work through the delivery options 
in more details to help inform and 

steer members around what the site 
can deliver

PO2 Political Full Council are unhappy with the 
draft  terms agreed for the purchase. 3 2 6

The Council originally agreed to the 
principle of acquiring the site and 

have been kept updated with 
negotitions. Full Council agreed to the 

2020/21 budget on 18 Feb 2020 
which included revenue funding for 

the loan  to purchase the site.

Final decision to proceed to May Full 
Council 3 1 3

Number Risk Description

Gross Risk

Mitigation So FarSummary /Area of 
Risk Notes Further Action Required (DATE) Owner

1-4 = Low (G)           
5-9 = Med (Y)          
10-12 = 
Significant (A)                                 
13-25 = High (R) 

1-4 = Low (G)           
5-9 = Med (Y)          
10-12 = 
Significant (A)                                 
13-25 = High (R) 

Residual Risk

Review dateResidual Risk Description

176



Town Centre Regeneration Risk Register - Technical Work stream January 2018    Version 0.1

I L S I L S

T1 Technical 

Further ground investigations reveal 
issues which incur greater 
environmental and infrastructure 
costs

3 3 9

To negotiate with the land owners 
and secure detailed survey 

information as part of the acqusition 
requirements 

That the site requires more 
investment in order to remediate the 

site to deliver housing 
2 3 6

Homes England are preparing a 
remediation proposal to support delivery 

of this site and JV options can be 
considered which would help to share 

any remediation risk

01/06/20

T2 Planning

As part of the planning process there 
is an impact on the final design by 

third party statutory consultees  that 
affects viability. 

4 2 8

There have been previous pre app 
meetings by the current vendor that 

have included feedback from the 
statutory consultees and it is felt their 
requirements can be accommodated 

in the new design.

Some  design aspirations may need 
to be pared back to allow for 

concerns from statutory consultees.
2 2 4

Appoint designers/planning 
consultants to progress a planning 
application and continue to consult 

with statutory consultees

01/07/20

T3 Planning 

Adequate BCP resources for 
addressing the new planning 

application for the site when it is 
submitted

4 3 12

Whilst the current application was 
being considered there was a need 

for some officers to be seconded and 
this would need to be replicated when 

the new application os submitted

The Councils ability to backfil post to 
ensure that it's services are not 

impacted by officer being seconded to 
support this application 

2 2 4

Consider planning now for either 
project recruitment or hold initial 
discussions with recruitement 
agencyies to ensure sufficient 
planning is in place for meeting 
resources

Number Risk Description

Gross Risk

Mitigation So FarSummary /Area of 
Risk Notes 

Residual Risk

Further Action Required (DATE) Owner

1-4 = Low (G)           
5-9 = Med (Y)          
10-12 = 
Significant (A)                                 
13-25 = High (R) 

1-4 = Low (G)           
5-9 = Med (Y)          
10-12 = 
Significant (A)                                 
13-25 = High (R) 

Review dateResidual Risk Description

177



Town Centre Regeneration Risk Register - Legal - Procurement Work stream January 2018   Version 0.1

I L S I L S

LP1 Procurement

Procurement of legal and financial 
advisers delayed which then impacts 

on timeline for commencing the 
procurement process.

4 2 8
Securing Council approval for a 

budegt that so that a delivery 
programme can be implemented 

delay to programme and subsequent 
housing delivery 3 2 6 Confirm and act on implementing 

resource and documentation required 

LP2 Legal

As we progress with due dilligence 
there could be items included in the 
title that the vendor has not shared   

that have an impact on the 
viability/deliverability of the site

4 2 8
There have been open negotitions 
with the vendor  and nothing has 

been highlighted

There is a risk that any restrictions or 
encumberances on title could lead to 

the need to a renegotiation of the 
agreed purchase price.

3 1 3 13/06/20

Number Risk Description

Gross Risk

Residual Risk DescriptionSummary /Area of 
Risk Notes Further Action Required (DATE) Owner

1-4 = Low (G)           
5-9 = Med (Y)          
10-12 = 
Significant (A)                                 
13-25 = High (R) 

1-4 = Low (G)           
5-9 = Med (Y)          
10-12 = 
Significant (A)                                 
13-25 = High (R) 

Residual Risk

Review dateMitigation So Far

178



Town Centre Regeneration Risk Register - Communications January 2018 - v0.1

I L S I L S

C1 Comms
Control over the flow of information thus 
potentially prejudicing the commercially 

sensitive procurement process.
3 3 9

importance of confidentiality has been 
communicated to both Members and 
Staff and will continue to be reiterated 

throughout the project period

Procurement preparation has yet to 
commence. Consistency of dealing with 

market players shall be essential to avoid 
any challenge 

3 2 6

Ensure initial reporting has suitable 
confidentiality and to progress with a 

protocol for all in how to deal with market 
interest ahead of launch. 

C2 Consultation
Stakeholders not included in the 

consultation process at the appropriate 
time.

4 2 8
To ensure the programme for site 

delivery fully incorporates a comms plans 
for consultation 

BCP fail to manage the programme 
effectively 3 2 6 Adequate programme management 

resources 

Number Risk Description

Gross Risk

Residual Risk DescriptionSummary /Area of 
Risk Notes Further Action Required (DATE) Owner

1-4 = Low (G)           
5-9 = Med (Y)          
10-12 = 
Significant (A)                                 
13-25 = High (R) 

1-4 = Low (G)           
5-9 = Med (Y)          
10-12 = 
Significant (A)                                 
13-25 = High (R) 

Residual Risk

Review dateMitigation So Far

179



Town Centre Regeneration
Risk Register  January 2018 -complete/archive v0.1

I L S I L S

1-4 = Low (G)           
5-9 = Med (Y)          
10-12 = 
Significant (A)                                 
13-25 = High (R) 

1-4 = Low (G)           
5-9 = Med (Y)          
10-12 = 
Significant (A)                                 
13-25 = High (R) 

Number Risk Description

Gross Risk

Residual Risk DescriptionSummary /Area of 
Risk Review date Notes Mitigation So Far

Residual Risk

Further Action Required (DATE) Owner

180



181



T
his page is intentionally left blank

182



1 

 

CABINET 

  

Report subject  Bournemouth Town Centre Vision (TCV): Winter Gardens 

Site – Regeneration Opportunities 

Meeting date  27 May 2020 

Status  Public with confidential Appendix D 

Executive summary  Cabinet on 12 February 2020 approved a number of 

decisions in relation to the Winter Gardens scheme relating to 

the funding and lease terms which will assist the ability to 

secure third party funding. 

 

The purpose of this report is to (i) seek approval for additional 

Council finance in accordance with the terms of the BDC 

Members Agreement to deliver the scheme and realise the 

scheme benefits and; (ii) consider the acquisition of certain 

elements of this strategically important scheme to enable the 

Council to meet its housing targets and long term 

regeneration objectives.  

 

The proposed financing structure for the Winter Gardens 

Scheme is made up of Third-Party Finance (Debt and 

Forward Funding) and what is termed under the BDC 

Members Agreement as “Member Loans”, Additional Council 

Finance and Additional Private Sector Partner (PSP) Finance. 

The relevant extract from the BDC members Agreement is set 

out at Appendix B. 

 

The Additional Council Funding requested will be in the form 

of a loan which will be repaid back at the end of the scheme 

in advance of development returns in accordance with Clause 

7 and 26 of the BDC Members Agreement. 

 

A key part of the financing structure is to secure investors via 

the forward sales/funding of key elements such as the Public 

Car Park, Private Rented Sector units (PRS) and Age 

Friendly residential elements. 

183

Agenda Item 14



2 

 

 

In addition to agreeing the Additional Council Finance it is 
proposed that the Council acquire the Public Car Park and 
Private Rented Sector (PRS) elements of the scheme to  
support its Corporate Plan objectives to deliver socio-economic 
benefits to the town and create Dynamic Places through 
strategic regeneration or redevelopment opportunities. 

 

The PRS element will be operated via the Council’s wholly 

owned company, Seascape Homes and Property Limited. 

 

The financial case for acquiring these elements is detailed in 

the confidential appendix attached to this report.  

 

The outbreak of the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19), declared 
by the World Health Organisation as a “Global Pandemic” on 
11 March 2020, has impacted global financial markets and 
market activity is being impacted in many sectors.  
 
The short to medium term impact of COVID-19 on the 
residential PRS market sector is unclear at this stage. The 
impact on the market and valuations will be constantly 
reviewed and considered as part of the due diligence still to 
be undertaken prior to completion. 
 

Recommendations  

  

It is RECOMMENDED that Cabinet: 

(a) approves the request for up to a further £7.6M 
Additional Council Finance less the Site Lease 
Value.  The Site Lease Value will be calculated once 
the construction procurement process is complete 
and the terms of the Third Party Finance have been 
settled. It is anticipated this will be around Q1 2021; 

(b) approves the MTFP to be updated in 2021/22 to 
include £304k per annum (plus interest) for the 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) associated 
with this Additional Council Finance;  

(c) the purchase of the Private Rented Sector (PRS) 
and Car Park elements of the Winter Gardens 
Scheme, from the Bournemouth Development 
Company LLP, on the terms detailed in the 
confidential part of this report;  

184



3 

 

(d) authorises the Corporate Property Officer in 
consultation with the Monitoring Officer to agree 
the detailed [contract provisions];  

(e) approves the grant of a 50-year lease of the PRS 
elements to Seascape Homes and Property Limited 
on terms to be agreed by the Corporate Property 
Officer in consultation with the Monitoring Officer; 
and 

(f) approves the MTFP to be updated in 2021/22 for the 
net loss of income relating to the redevelopment of 
the Winter Gardens car park totalling £743,200.  

That Cabinet recommends to Council that; 

(g) the Capital Programme be amended to include 
Additional Council Finance up to £7.6M less the 
Site Lease Value anticipated to be drawdown in 
2021/22. [It would be prudent to assume the 
Additional Council Finance will be £7.6M];  

(h) the Capital Programme be amended to include 
provision for these acquisitions to be funded by 
prudential borrowing, which is subject to RPI as 
detailed in the confidential part of this report; and 

(i) the Section 151 Officer be authorised in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance 
to determine the detailed funding arrangements for 
both the forward purchase of the PRS and Public 
Car Park and the Additional Council Finance. 

Reason for 

recommendations  

To enable this exciting and reputationally important mixed-use 

regeneration scheme to go ahead, helping to deliver high 

quality homes, and increased footfall in Bournemouth Town 

Centre.  

To contribute to the Council’s Corporate vision, specifically 

helping to create dynamic places, investing in the homes our 

communities need and revitalising and re-inventing our high 

streets and local centres.  

The proposals in addition to delivering regenerative benefits 

are in accordance with the Capital Investment Strategy (Non-

Treasury) 2020-2025 (CIS) objectives and criteria adopted by 

Cabinet on 18 March 2020 and take note of the HM Treasury 

consultation document; Public Works Loan Board: future 

lending terms dated March 2020. 

185



4 

 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Mark Howell, Regeneration & Culture 

Corporate Director  Bill Cotton, Corporate Director, Regeneration and Economy 

Contributors  Report Author: Sarah Longthorpe, Strategic Projects and 

Investment Manager 

Martin Tiffin, Town Centre Vision Programme Leader  

 

Wards  Town Centre / West Cliff 

Classification  For Decision and Recommendation 
Title:  

Background   

 

1. The establishment of the Bournemouth Development Company LLP (BDC) as a joint 

venture between the Council and a wholly owned subsidiary of Morgan Sindall 

Investments Ltd, in the form of a limited liability partnership ( LLP), was designed to 

bring forward the regeneration of Bournemouth Town Centre. An LLP structure was 

utilised to restrict the Councils exposure to the financial risk on residential and 

commercial developments on council owned land while simultaneously ensuring the 

council has a stake in the rewards of ownership, in the form of 50% of the 

development profit. 

 

2. Where relevant a separate individual development subsidiary company of BDC is 

established for each development focused on one of the 16 car parks that 

Bournemouth Council entered into the agreement. 

 

3. The Council’s contribution of land is valued and turned into a member loan note to 

the individual development subsidiary. This is then matched by a cash injection 

(advance sum) from Morgan Sindall which is also turned into a member loan note to 

the individual development subsidiary company. Any member loan notes by the two 

partners in the joint venture should be on equal terms (pari passu) otherwise one 

party could be seen to be taking on more risk than the other and, in the Councils 

situation, it could be deemed as providing aid to a private sector company. 

 

4. In October 2015, Bournemouth Borough Council approved the Winter Gardens Site 

Development Plan (SPD). Following four years of detailed design, in March 2019 

BDC secured planning permission for a £150 million residential led mixed-use 

development at the site of the former Winter Gardens Concert Hall and the 

surrounding area.   

 

186



5 

 

5. On 12 February 2020 Cabinet received an update on the scheme and agreed to 

amend the existing loan of £3.4 million to an “Additional Council Finance Loan note” 

and increase the Advance Sum budget to enable this development scheme to 

progress and assist the Bournemouth Development Company (BDC) with securing 

third party funding. 

 

6. Third party debt funding requires an element of “equity”. Equity for the purposes of 

this report is the “Additional Council Finance” and the “PSP” Additional Finance” to 

be invested from the Members of BDC prior to their own investment, and to be repaid 

after the third-party debt has been repaid with any fees and interest incurred. 

 

7. The equity is based on a market gearing which can be between 25% and 40% of the 

total debt funding required. The BDC Members Agreement recognises that the equity 

requirement is shared between parties to maintain a pari passu basis to reduce 

funding costs to the development and therefore increase the anticipated profit.  As 

with the Citrus Building it is assumed that equity (in the form of Additional Council 

Finance and PSP Additional Finance)  is invested on an equal basis by both 

members of BDC  for the elements of the development which are not forward funded 

or covered by the Third Party Debt. Chart 1 detailed in Appendix A demonstrates the 

equal funding position with this scheme. 

 

8. Following 12 months of market engagement by the BDC development team, it is now 

proposed that the funding sources to be utilised in the delivery of the scheme will be: 

 

 Member Loans (For Advance Sums by MS / Site Lease Value by the Council and 

Cash Match (if any by MS)  

 Additional PSP Finance and Additional Council Finance 

 Third Party Debt funding for the open market sales product, residential parking, 

retail, convenience store and leisure elements and PRS in Block(A). 

 Forward Funding/ Sale for the PRS in Block B and the age friendly elements in 

Blocks C and D 

 Forward Funding/ Sale for the public car park 

 

9. Chart 2 in Appendix A highlights the sources of development funding identified 

above. 

 

BDC Contractual Information 

 

10. It is important to explain that the contractual relationship between the Council and 

Morgan Sindall Investments (MSIL), as Members of the BDC, consist of a number of 

legal documents, one of which is the Limited Liability Partnership Members’ 

Agreement (“LLP MA”).  The Delegations policy contained in the LLP MA requires 

certain decisions to be taken at “LLP Member” level the amount of the Members 

Loans requires Council approval. 

187



6 

 

 

Member Loans 

 

11. Under the terms of the LLP Members Agreement, members of BDC can make loans 

to BDC. To date MSIL have made a loan to fund the Advance Sums of up to £4.9m. 

The terms of this funding is enshrined in the BDC legal agreements. 

 

12. The Advanced Sums are the amounts required to fund the feasibility, outline design, 
planning, detailed design and procurement processes. They are funded by the winter 
gardens individual development subsidiary company of BDC by an Advanced Sum 
Loan Note from Morgan Sindall. 

 

13. The Advanced Sum Loan is repaid and replaced with the Additional PSP Finance 
Loan Note at contract completion.  The Additional PSP Finance Loan Note is repaid 
in pari passu with the Additional Council Finance Loan Note before the distribution of 
any profit or loss on the development.  

Additional Finance by the BDC members 

 

14. Under the terms of the LLP Members Agreement, members of BDC can make 

available funding (via a loan) to BDC under what are termed Additional Council 

Finance and Additional PSP Finance. To date both the Council and Morgan Sindall 

have made available to BDC (via its subsidiary) £3.4 million each to enable the 

purchase of an adjoining site to ensure comprehensive development. The terms of 

this finance must comply with the terms set out in clause 6.7 of the LLP Members 

Agreement (see Appendix B for an extract with relevant sections highlighted yellow). 

 

15. The BDC Members Agreement allows for provision by Morgan Sindall and the 

council of additional finance to an individual development subsidiary, on terms to be 

agreed between the parties. Any Council finance is required to be provided on arm’s 

length and genuine commercial terms which are fully State Aid compliant. Further 

loans can be provided by other third parties and institutional investors on terms 

agreed by the BDC. Such terms need to be approved by the Council and Morgan 

Sindall as members of BDC. 

 

16. Developments are therefore funded by differing forms of debt. When the 

development is completed and sold the proceeds are first used to repay the highest 

ranking debt. After that any additional finance loan notes to the Council and Morgan 

Sindall are repaid. Finally, the council and Morgan Sindall member loan notes issued 

against the land value (as match by MS) are repaid. Only then is any surplus (profit) 

potentially shared equally (50/50) between the Council and Morgan Sindall. If the 

scheme makes insufficient revenue to support the repayment of the low ranking debt 

then this debt is not repaid. 

 

188



7 

 

17. In respect of the Winter Gardens individual development subsidiary the council and 

Morgan Sindall have already issued, on equal terms, a loan to enable the £6.8 

million purchase of the connected Exeter Road site. The £3.4 million loan from each 

partner being at 2.98% for a fixed five-year period which meant it was repayable 

before the project’s completion and therefore outside of the established and normal 

debt structure as per the Member’s Agreement. 

 

18. This loan was issued on the basis that it would be repayable in five years from the 

date of drawdown, in August 2022. 

 

19. The recommendation in the February report was to reclassify the loan as an 

additional finance loan note and therefore would now be payable on completion of 

the scheme after any repayment of higher ranking debt. This means the Council is 

now taking on a higher level of risk. This higher level of risk obligates the council to 

consider a higher interest rate to ensure the loan is still state aid compliant. However, 

as the private sector company are happy to continue to invest their £3.4 million at 

2.98 per cent, then the Council can continue at this rate as it is deemed to be State 

Aid Compliant. 

 

20. That said, any additional finance loan notes or member contribution loan notes are 

unsecured and will potentially not be repaid if the development is not successful. The 

Winter Gardens scheme is a large (circa £150 million GDV) development and 

therefore there are several risks that need to be managed and are outlined the risk 

assessment section of this report. Councillors therefore need to understand when 

and how they have received assurance on the scheme’s overall viability as ultimately 

this £3.4 million of Council and a further £7.6m taxpayers money will be invested in 

the scheme alongside the value of the winter gardens car park land. 

 

21. Should the Council decide to invest an additional £7.6 million into the long-term 

viability of the scheme then it will be required to ensure its Non-Treasury Asset 

Investment Strategy discloses the material long-term, illiquid nature of this holding. 

 

22. The reclassification of this £3.4 million loan also obligates the council to adhere to 

the latest statutory guidance for such arrangements rather than those in force when 

the original loan was drawn down. By reclassifying this loan, the council will now 

treat the loan and the further loan of £7.6 million as capital expenditure financed by 

borrowing within its accounts. In turn this means the council is required to set-a-side 

a minimum revenue provision (MRP) payments for the prudent repayment of the 

debt, which in accordance with the councils approved MRP policy equates to 

£136,000 per annum (4%). 

 

23. Provision has been made as part of the proposed 2020/21 budget for this £136,000 

annual payment. Any resources set aside annually as part of this process should be 

available for redistribution when the loan is eventually repaid. In addition, a maximum 

£304k per annum (4%) will need to put aside as the Minimum Revenue Provision 

189



8 

 

(MRP) for the new £7.6m loan and the associated interest the council will need to 

bear on the associated borrowing and this will need to be reflected in the Medium 

Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2021/22. To model this more accurately we will need a 

forecast from BDC as to the time-period over which this drawdown will occur 

 

24. In respect of the value of the member loan note associated with land the council will 

hold in the Winter Gardens this will not be determined until later in the process when 

the conditions set out in the option agreement between the Council and BDC have 

been satisfied. 

 

25. The February report authorised the increase in the Advance Sums to be met from a 

loan to BDC from MSIL. This does not have an impact on the MTFP. The increased 

budget and cost of build could erode the Site Lease Value (Council’s Land Value) 

and the Council’s profit expectation, however it is too early to predict whether this is 

actually the case and as receipt of these payments are not included in the MTFP, 

there is no adverse impact. 

 

26. The change to the original £3.4 million loan to a Council Additional Finance Loan 

means that the loan will not be repaid on a set date. Instead the loan will be repaid 

once the higher ranking debt is repaid in full. The Council will however be entitled to 

receive interest until such time as the loan is repaid as it will be able to do so in 

relation to the additional £7.6 million which is likely to commence being drawn down 

in 2021/22. 

 

27. The amount of Additional Council Finance (“ACF”) required to secure Third Party 

Debt is estimated to be around £7.6 million less the Site Lease Value. It is too early 

to determine the precise amount of the ACF as the Site Lease Value will not be 

known until such time as the construction procurement process is complete and the 

“contract sum” under the fixed price lump sum construction contract has been agreed 

between BDC and the appointed contractor. It is anticipated that the precise level of 

ACF will be known around Q1 2021. It is prudent at this stage to assume that the 

ACF is £7.6 million.  

 

Regeneration Opportunities 

 

28. The BDC has been undertaking market engagement in relation to the forward funded 

opportunities within the scheme for the last 12 months.  

 

29. These opportunities within the mixed-use scheme consist of Private Rented Sector 

(PRS) and age friendly accommodation, a 225 public car park, 4,000m2 leisure 

provision, a range of A3 restaurant units with alfresco dining fronting Exeter Road 

and a convenience store facing the BIC roundabout.  

 

30. A brochure providing further detail on this development is attached at Appendix C.  

190



9 

 

 

31. The individual elements of the scheme have been considered by the Investment 

Panel against the criteria of the CIS and in the context of the Council’s existing 

investment portfolio asset base and sector exposure. The panel collectively 

determined that it is appropriate for the Council to focus its interests on the elements 

of the scheme that are strategically fundamental to the delivery of the regeneration of 

the town centre and the provision of new homes, the Residential PRS and Public Car 

Park elements, not the Retail and Leisure sector elements.  

 

32. As part of the Town Centre Vision, the Council acknowledges that transport 

movement is crucial to its long term success and that the future car parking locations 

and ownership play an important part in delivering holistic town centre regeneration. 

 

33. The scheme has been designed across four blocks A1 & A2, B, C & D to support a 

phased construction approach. It is proposed that blocks A & B are built out first 

which incorporate the majority of the basement parking, A3 retail street frontage, 

leisure space and the convenience store. This will be followed by blocks C&D.  

 

34. An indicative programme is detailed in the Investment Brochure, with a start on site 

scheduled for Q1 2021, blocks A & B are due to complete in late 2023 with the 

completion of the whole scheme in mid-2024. Based on this draft programme it is 

envisaged BCP would take ownership of the proposed investment elements in late 

2023 early 2024. 

 

35. In total the development has 350 plus dwellings providing 1,2, and 3 bed flats. It is 

essential to the overall scheme viability that the housing element contains a 

proportionate mix of sale, rent and age friendly accommodation that reflects current 

and future market demands. In this development it is roughly a third of each type. 

 

36. In accordance with the CIS all offers are made subject to contract and: - 

 

 all necessary surveys  

 an assessment of necessary capital works 

 a formal “Red Book” valuation to ensure best value is demonstrated in 
accordance with Section 123 of Local Government Act 1972 

 benchmarking with comparable transactions 

 an agreed “exit strategy”  

 legal due diligence  

 financial due diligence including credit information for all tenants 

 the requisite Council approvals 
 

37. As highlighted in the executive summary the short to medium term impact of COVID-

19 on the residential PRS market sector is unknown at this stage although industry 

experts such as Savills are currently reporting that rents remain largely unimpacted 

191



1

0  

at this stage. Current research by leading agents and property portals are all 

projecting that the current crisis will create a short sharp dip in market conditions with 

us starting to recover late 2020/early 2021. 

38.  

 

39. The Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) have issued guidance to its 
valuers highlighting that less weight can be attached to previous market evidence for 
comparison purposes, to inform opinions of value.  
 

40. Indeed, the current response to COVID-19 means that it is faced with an 
unprecedented set of circumstances on which to base a judgement. Consequently, 
less certainty and a higher degree of caution will be attached to valuations than 
would normally be the case. Given the unknown future impact that COVID-19 might 
have on the real estate market, RICS has recommend that valuations are kept under 
frequent review. 
 

41. The proposed PRS acquisition is a long term (50 year) opportunity for the Council, 
the impact on market rents and valuations will be constantly reviewed and 
considered as part of the due diligence still to be undertaken as detailed in item 35. 

42. The Council will be required to enter into an Agreement for Lease for both elements and 
will provide forward funding for the acquisitions later this year. The Agreement for lease 
will detail the contractual obligations and a stage payment schedule which will be drawn 
down during the two-year construction period. The Council is familiar with entering into 
these types of agreement and it is proposed that finalisation of the heads of terms for 
these contracts is delegated to the Corporate Property Officer and Monitoring Officer. 

43. The financial model for the acquisition of the PRS and Public Car Park elements are 
detailed in the confidential Appendix D attached to this report.  

44. The purpose of this report is to update Members and seek approval for the equity 

investment required for the delivery of the scheme and to acquire the specific 

elements highlighted to deliver new homes and support the long term regeneration of 

the town centre 

Private Rented Sector (PRS) 

45. This opportunity concerns the acquisition of a 250-year leasehold interest in relation to 
123 PRS homes located in block A2 and the four lower floors of block B and the 225 space 
Public Car Park within the Winter Gardens scheme. 

46. These blocks have been specifically designed to reflect the PRS market with a mix 

and size of accommodation to suit market demand. The units in block A1 and the 

upper floors of block B will be offered for open market sale, due to their projected 

values and positioning within the scheme. Blocks C& D will provide age friendly 

accommodation. 

47. A report compiled by Knight Frank revealed that demand for privately rented homes 
continues to grow with an additional 560,000 households expected to be living in the 

192



1

1  

private rented sector by 2023. There are currently 29,416 professionally managed PRS 
units completed, with a current pipeline of PRS units under construction or in planning of 
110,092.  

48. Favourable demographic trends, a continuing supply/demand imbalance in the housing 
market and attractive rental growth prospects, not to mention stable long-term returns, 
combine to make the UK’s PRS market a particularly strong investment proposition for 
institutional investors as well as local authorities who are increasingly entering this 
market. 

49. The letting market in the town remain strong and on prime newer housing stock, 

such as Citrus Building, Coast, The Summit and Berry Court there are currently 

properties on the market with rents of around £850 to £1,100 pm for a 1 bed and 2 

beds from £1,150 to £1,500pm. 

50. It is important to note that this scheme is strategically important to the Council to enable 
it to meet its Housing Targets and to support regeneration. Investing in the PRS element 
will improve tenant choice in the local marketplace and will ensure access to high 
quality, professionally managed, private-rented homes.  It is anticipated that, combined 
with low entry and exit costs for tenants, the homes will appeal to an increasingly 
mobile, professional workforce.  

51. This means that the 123 build to rent homes in the completed development will be 

owned by BCP Council and will be let at market rents on Assured Shorthold 

Tenancies. There will be parking provision within the scheme available separately to 

the public car park for the PRS tenants to use on an unallocated basis.  

52. Since the Council is not able to grant Assured Shorthold Tenancies, the homes will be 
managed and operated by the Council’s wholly owned company, Seascape Homes and 
Property Limited (SHP), on a long lease which is already set up to provide such services.  

53. It is a strategic objective of SHP to grow its market share in PRS schemes across the 

BCP area and to date the Council has acquired a 46 flat PRS scheme at St 

Stephens Road and is committed to funding 26 units of PRS accommodation within 

the Council’s Princess Road scheme. There is demand locally for smaller blocks of 

PRS units to meet housing need. 

 

Public Car Park 

54. In addition to the PRS element it is proposed the Council acquire the 225-space public 
car park which will be managed in-house. 

55. By developing on Council-owned town centre surface level car parks, such as the 
Winter Gardens it is acknowledged that during the construction phase of the 
development, the revenue generated from the car parks in question would cease and 
car parking would be displaced to other car parks in the locality.  

56. It should be noted that income projections within the financial model rely on increasing 
the car park tariffs for this site by 50% per annum.  Income is based on 2018-2019 
actual base income per space for the Winter Gardens car park.  

193



1

2  

57. It should be noted that in relation to this site only the proposed pricing strategy would be 
a change from the current Council pricing policy. 

58. It is proposed that the net operating income that can be reasonably and robustly 
assumed from this new public car park will be applied to fund (a) the capital and interest 
payments required under prudential borrowing and (b) annual operational expenditure.  

59. The car park element has been modelled over a 30-year term at 3.5% using prudential 
borrowing and at the end of the term the Council will own the asset with no outstanding 
loans.  

Lease Structure 

60. BCP is the freeholder of the majority site area with the exception of a parcel of land which 
was acquired by the Winter Gardens Development LLP (WGD), a wholly owned 
subsidiary of BDC in 2017 to enable the development.  Under the conditions of the Option 
Agreement for BCP land, the site under option will be transferred into WGD as a 250-year 
lease for development in addition to the land acquired.  The lease for the PRS and car 
park will be transferred back to the Council in the most efficient tax and funding structure 
which is to be determined with legal and tax advice.   

61. BDC are proposing to form a management company and purchasers of the scheme will 
share ownership to ensure everyone has an element of control in the management of the 
estate. It will be essential for the Council to ensure the correct management structure is 
in place for the robust control of building insurances, future maintenance and 
management of the estate and to obtain the benefit of collateral warranties.  

62. As these are leasehold acquisitions service charges and maintenance costs will be 
incurred, these have been factored into the financial appraisal for both elements. 

63. Acquisition of these long leasehold interests will enable the Council to retain control of 
public car parking provision within this prominent town centre redevelopment and provide 
high quality rented accommodation whilst generating a return. 

64. With regards to the timing it is envisaged that the Public Car Park lease will be transferred 
to the Council at the start of construction with forward funding to commence at that stage 
on a monthly drawdown basis. It is acknowledged that a Section 123 Valuation will be 
undertaken at this time. 

65. It is envisaged that the PRS leases will be transferred at what is termed as Golden Brick 
level (the level above the commercial elements and car park) with forward funding to 
commence at that stage on a monthly drawdown basis.   

 

Summary of financial implications   

66. The confidential financial report in appendix D considers the detailed terms for the 
acquisitions and the financial business case for proceeding.  

67. As part of Town Centre Vision and agreeing to develop on Council-owned town 

centre surface level car parks, the Council acknowledge that during the construction 

phase of the development, the revenue generated from the Winter Gardens car park 

would cease and car parking would potentially be displaced to other car parks in the 

locality. 

194



1

3  

 

68. The level of car parking income across the Town Centre Car Parks as a whole has 

been going up year on year despite a number of car parks being closed as people 

take up space in previously less used car parks. It is anticipated that the car parking 

revenue received from the closure of Winter Gardens car park will result in an 

increase in car parking revenue in other car parks in the area including those owned 

by the Council and third-party operators.  However, in this instance, displacement is 

negatively affected as the three largest alternative car parks to Winter Gardens are 

not owned by the Council. 

 

69. It must however be noted that any decrease in the level of the Council’s car parking 

income must be balanced against the value of regenerating the area, a land value 

which demonstrates “best value” under section 123 of the Local Government Act of 

1972 and a 50% share of the profit from the development. 

 

70. Overall the financial model concludes that these strategic acquisitions will deliver a 
positive return for the Council over the respective terms. At the end of this period, the 
Council will own the assets with no outstanding loans.  

71. In addition, the wider economic benefits of the proposals include; 
 

a. no debt (outstanding loans) associated with the assets at the end of its 
economic life. Therefore, any capital growth over this period will be a direct 
benefit to the Council. 

 

b. the estimate value of the assets at the end of its economic life, assuming this 
value increases by the standard rate of inflation and the asset is maintained in 
a consistent condition.  

 

c. the option going forward of selling the assets at any point to realise a capital 
receipt to recoup the original investment. 

 

d. in respect of the Bournemouth Development Company (BDC), protecting the 
Councils purchase price/contribution, as this is fixed with the risk of cost 
overruns covered by BDC. 

 

e. in respect of Seascape Homes and Property Limited, any profits arising from 
the management of the PRS scheme may be returned to the Council by way 
of dividend payments via Seascape Group Limited. 

72. Once purchased, the performance of these assets will be closely monitored to ensure that 
it continues to meet income and expenditure projections, with necessary corrective action 
taken as necessary.   

73. In addition to the financial risks associated with funding these acquisitions the following 
factors have also been considered; 

195



1

4  

 Legal parameters within which Prudential Borrowing can be undertaken –The 

Government retains the power to "cap" any local authority undertaking what 

they regard as risky borrowing. Any such cap could impact on other 

programmes and ambitions of the Council;  

 In addition, CIPFA has started a review of the prudential code in response to 

concerns expressed by some commentators regarding increasing property 

investment activity by Council solely for investment purposes;  

 HM Treasury consultation document title “Public Works Loan Board – future 

lending terms” dated March 2020; 

 State Aid implications; 

 Availability of capital resources – including Community Infrastructure Levy, 

and impact assessment of their depletion on the Council; 

 Cashflow implications. 

 

Summary of legal implications   

 

74. The legal obligations of the Council and Morgan Sindall Investments Ltd as members 

of BDC are set out in a Limited Liability Partnership Members’ Agreement which was 

negotiated as part of an EU Procurement Process undertaken in 2009/2010.  The 

Delegation’s Policy contained in the LLP MA identifies the decision to be taken at 

“LLP Member” level, decisions to be taken at Partnership Board level and decisions 

to be undertaken at Development Manager level. 

 

75. The Localism Act 2011 grants local authorities far-reaching powers to act 

commercially.  The purchase of these assets for investment purposes is entirely in 

accordance with these powers. 

 

Summary of human resources implications   

 

76. The BDC has board representatives from the Council and also from Morgan 

Sindall Investments Ltd.  The board representatives are responsible for delivering 

the Winter Gardens Development. BDC has appointed Morgan Sindall 

Investments Ltd as the Development Manager to manage the day to day 

development activity.  The Development Manager is tasked with implementing 

BDC Board decisions and reporting on progress.  

 

Summary of environmental impact   

 

77. A key objective of the Corporate Plan is to reduce the town centre’s carbon 

footprint, whilst improving its competitiveness.  The scheme presents many 

opportunities to do this by having more people living in the town centre thereby 

giving them better access to town centre amenities.  This reduces the need for a 

private car.  The location of the scheme within the town centre has easy access 

196



1

5  

to key retail and leisure attractions, the main Bournemouth transport terminal at 

the station and regular bus routes make this a very sustainable location.  The 

Environmental impact analysis indicates that this is likely to have a positive 

impact on the carbon footprint. 

 

78. The proposed new public car park provision is in line with current policy, however 

the current car parking strategy is being reviewed with a Supplementary Planning 

Document (SPD) due at the end of 2020.  With the shift towards fewer larger 

town centre car parks in the Council’s ownership more control can be exerted 

over future pricing strategies and usage. 

 

79. The evolution of the construction industry demands that buildings are delivered more 
economically, within shorter time frames, more cost-effectively and with reduced 
impact on the environment. BDC currently uses Building Information modelling (BIM) 
to deliver benefits on its projects, but going forward would look to integrate BIM more 
to increase the opportunity for offsite prebuild. This includes engaging and 
supporting the supply chain to adopt BIM standards and processes on a typical 
project, and delivery of data to drive automated manufacture and offsite production. 

80. BDC seeks to work closely with local suppliers, clients, designers to procure 
sustainable materials wherever possible.  Rather than just optimising the acquisition, 
use and disposal of resources, BDC looks to create a loop of reusable resources and 
assets for their clients. This is demonstrated on existing projects from choosing 
materials and components to optimise operation as well as build, to promoting 
training and employment within the local community. 

81. BDC will procure environmental risk assessments, through the supply chain, for each 
project that address the construction, commissioning and handover phases. Every 
project, once on site has an environmental management plan that describes the 
systems, monitoring and auditing to achieve the project’s objectives in a sustainable 
manner. 

 

Summary of equality implications   

 

82. The Equality Impact Needs Assessment indicates that the TCV provides 

substantial opportunities to create a positive Equalities Impact, particularly by 

improving accessibility of the town centre. 

 

Summary of risk assessment   

 

83. The Town Centre Vision, as a major programme of the Council, has been subject 

to a full Risk Assessment.   

 

84. Members should ensure they have considered matters relating to the risk, security, 

liquidity and proportionality associated with the proposal. They should also satisfy 

themselves that the potential returns are consistent with the level of risk. 

 

197



1

6  

85. Requests for finance loan notes or additional Member contributions from the Council 

is a standard market requirement for equity funding from partners for developments.  

 

86. Investment Risk: including the risk that the development is non-profit making.  This 

risk can, for certain elements of the development, be mitigated if parts of it are pre-

sold. In other words, parts of the scheme are sold to institutional investors before 

construction works on site commence.  The residential element of the scheme does 

however expose BDC to significant market risk.  By undertaking the residential 

element in stages, it is intended that this market risk can be mitigated to avoid 

creating an oversupply and building units that meet end users/purchaser’s 

requirements. 

 

87. Construction Risk including late completion and cost overruns.  BDC will enter 

into a fixed price lump sum contract with the building contractor to mitigate the 

effects of such risk being held by BDC. 

 

88. Prudential Borrowing Risk – as identified Item 54, it is likely that prior to the 

drawdown of funds CIPFA will have completed their review of the prudential 

borrowing code on Local Authority Investments. The outcome of this review may 

restrict the funding options available to the Council. However, this investment 

alongside the financial benefits identified will contribute to the Council’s 

Corporate vision, specifically helping to create dynamic places, investing in the 

homes our communities need and revitalising and re-inventing our high streets 

and local centres. It is therefore our understanding that suitable Prudential 

funding will be available to the Council. The consultation outcomes will be 

reviewed when available to ensure our understanding remains correct. The 

current view of HM Treasury  (as outlined in para 1.36 and 1.37 of the above 

mentioned consultation document) is that the government fully supports Councils 

using commercial structures to advance core objectives of service delivery, 

housing and regeneration and is merely aiming to address the relatively narrow 

sub set  of capital spending of Councils who have been using PWLB loans to 

buy investment assets primarily for yield. 

 

Appendices 

 

Appendix A - BDC Winter Gardens Scheme Debt & Development Funding 

Appendix B - Extract from LLP Members Agreement setting out clause 6 and 7 

Appendix C - Winter Gardens Brochure 

Appendix D - Confidential Financial Report - CONFIDENTIAL – Please note should 

Cabinet wish to discuss the contents of Appendix D the meeting will 

need to go into Confidential (Exempt) session. 

 

 

  

198



1

7  

APPENDIX A 

 

BDC Winter Gardens Scheme Debt & Development Funding 

 

Chart 1 

 
 

Chart 2 

 

199



1

8  

 

APPENDIX B  

 

Extract from LLP Members Agreement setting out clause 6 and 7 

 
6.4 No Member shall have the right to the return of its respective Capital Contribution except as 

otherwise provided under the terms of Clause 32.4. 

 
6.5 The Business Plans shall identify the envisaged funding requirements of the LLP and the 

relevant Development Subsidiaries and the requirements for drawdown of Member Loans from 
time to time. It is intended that the funding requirements of the LLP and the Development 
Subsidiaries shall be met through the following methods: - 

 

6.5.1 the Member Loans; 

 
6.5.2 the Interim PSP Finance; 

 
6.5.3 the provision by the PSP of Additional PSP Finance to individual Development 

Subsidiaries on terms as may be agreed by the LLP and the PSP from time to time; 

 

6.5.4  

 
 

 
6.5.5 further loans provided on arm’s length commercial terms from an institutional lender 

or other third party ("Third Party Funder") to individual Development Subsidiaries on 
terms as may be agreed by the LLP from time to time (''Third Party Funding"); and 

 
6.5.6 the LLP lending sums to Development Subsidiaries in accordance with Clauses 7.8 

and 7.9. 
 

6.6 Unless otherwise unanimously agreed by the Members, no Additional PSP Finance or Third 
Party Funding shall be provided in relation to a Site or Package of Sites until such time as all 
the PSP Loan(s) for that Site or Package of Sites is drawn down by the LLP. 

 
6.7 (Where required) the Business Plans shall identify the amounts of Third Party Funding to be 

provided by a Third Party Funder, Additional PSP Finance and/or Additional Council Finance 

(as applicable) provided always that:- 

 

6.7.1 the loans are provided on the most commercially and financially advantageous terms 

obtainable by the LLP (or the LLP acting on behalf of the Development Subsidiary) at 

the time of borrowing; 

6.7.2 the borrowings of any Development Subsidiary shall comply with the Maximum 

Gearing Threshold; and 

6.7.3 the amounts are approved by members in accordance with the delegation policy 

 

6.8 The Parties agree that the Council may provide funding to the LLP to meet up to 50% of: 

 
6.8.1 any Advanced Sums to be expended to pursue Stage 1 Project Appraisal Sign Off in 

relation to Sites to be brought forward in accordance with the Partnership Business 
Plan and Development Programme, subject always to the aggregate of any Council 
and PSP funding by way of Advanced Sums in relation to such activity being no 
greater than the Advanced Sum Cap; 

 
6.8.2 any Advanced Sums to be expended in relation to Non Site Specific Costs; and· 

the provision by the Council of Additional Council Finance to individual Development 

Subsidiaries on such arms length commercial terms as may be agreed by the LLP and the 

Council from time to time; 

200



1

9  

 
6.8.3 any Advanced Sums set out in the Site Development Plan(s) from time to time 

 
provided that the terms of such funding shall be in accordance with the principles set out in 
Schedule 15 and such further detailed terms as the LLP, the Council and the PSP may (in their 
absolute discretion) agree to give effect to such principles. 

 

MEMBER LOANS 

Council Loan 

7.1 Subject to the terms of the Option Agreement, the Council shall grant a lease of each site to an individual 

Development Subsidiary set up in accordance with Clause 21 and Schedule 10 for the purposes of 

developing out such site or Package of Sites. In consideration of the grant of a Lease by the Council to the 

relevant Development subsidiary the LLP shall issue to the Council such number of Council Loan Notes as 

is equal to the Site Lease Value for the relevant site transferred, The aggregate Site Lease Value of all sites 

so leased shall constitute the Council Loan from time to time. 

PSP Loan 

7.2 The PSP agrees to match the Council Loan and agrees to pay to the LLP the Site Lease Value of each 

site leased to the LLP by the Council pursuant to the Option Agreement, This shall constitute the PSP Loan 

which shall be provided by t he PSP in accordance with the provisions of  Clauses 7.4 and 7.7 (inclusive). 

It is acknowledged and agreed that: 

7.2.1 in relation to each Site, the Site Lease Value of such site will not be known by the Parties until such 

time as it is calculated in accordance with the Option Agreement and, consequently, the aggregate Council 

Loan and matching PSP Loan shall be unknown until such time; and 

7.2.2 from time to time the PSP shall contribute Advanced Sums in order to fund the Non Site Specific Costs 

which shall be excluded from the calculation of the PSP Loan. Package of Sites 

7.3 The Parties may package Sites  together  (each a "Package  of  Sites")  where  the aggregate  Site 

Lease Values for such Package of Sites is considered to be more than or equal to the aggregate of 

Advanced Sum to be advanced in relation to such Sites. In such circumstances, the aggregate Site Lease 

Values for such Package of Sites shall determine the PSP Loan to be paid by the PSP in relation to such 

Sites. Where a Site Lease Value for any Site comprised within the Package  of Sites is less than the 

Advanced Sums advanced by the PSP in relation to such Site the PSP Outstanding Loan Commitment in 

relation to such Package of Sites shall be determined in accordance with the following formula: 

PSP Outstanding Loan Commitment for the Package of Sites = A 

minus B Where: 

A= in relation to each Site where the Site Lease Value exceeds or is equal to the Advanced 
Sums (plus interest accrued thereon) advanced for such Site, the Site Lease Value minus the 
Advanced Sums (plus interest accrued thereon) advanced in relation to such Site (aggregated 
across the Package of such Sites) 

 
B = in relation to each Site where the Advanced Sums (plus interest accrued thereon) advanced 
for such Site exceed the Site Lease Value for such Site, the Advanced Sums (plus interest 
accrued thereon) advanced in relation to such Site minus the Site Lease Value (aggregated 
across the Package of such Sites). 

201



2

0  

 
In circumstances where the aggregate Advanced Sums advanced in relation to such Package 
of Sites is more than the aggregate Site Lease Values for such Sites, then the provisions of 
Clauses 
7.7.1 and 7.7.2 shall apply and reference to: 

 
7.3.1 Site in Clause 7.7.1 shall be to the relevant Package of Sites; 

 
7.3.2 Advanced Sum Capitalised Amount in Clauses 7.7.1 and 7.7.2 shall be to the 

outstanding Advanced Sum Loan Notes (plus interest accrued thereon and which 
has not yet been 

 

 

202



 

 

BOURNEMOUTH DEVELOPMENT COMPANY 

Winter Gardens 
Bournemouth 
RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL OPPORTUNITY 

March 2020

203



 

 
 

 
 

 

KEY DEVELOPMENT FUNDAMENTALS 
 

 

• Residential accommodation and amenity space 
spread across four buildings 

• In excess of 350 apartments providing a mix of 1, 

2 and 3 bedroom flats and penthouse apartments  

• Place making development with over 4000m2 of 
leisure space 

• A range of A3 restaurant units split and fronting 

Exeter Road 

• A small convenience store for all residential needs 

• Basement parking with separate decks for public 

parking and residential parking beneath attractive 
public realm landscaping and footpaths 

• Steps away from Bournemouth BIC and 7 miles of 

award winning beaches 

• Prime location within central Bournemouth close to 

prime retail and leisure amenities 
 

• Mix of Open Market units with Private Rented Sector units 
(PRS) and Age Friendly Opportunities across four individual 

blocks. 

• Bournemouth Development Company will oversee the 

delivery of the project 

• Morgan Sindall Investments as Development Manager 

• Main Contractor: VINCI Construction UK 

• Long leasehold interest of 250 years 

• Full planning secured in March 2019 

• At an advanced stage of design and procurement 

• Part land banked by the Winter Gardens Development SPV 
and part Bournemouth Development Company LLP Land 

Option with Bournemouth Christchurch and Poole Council 

 

 

204



DEVELOPMENT OVERVIEW 

 
The Development consists of four Blocks, A (split into A1 and A2), Block B, Block C and Block D as illustrated below. 

 

 

 

The four blocks are currently split to enable the option for two construction phases however the current plan is to have minimal 

phasing between the blocks by using different tenures to reduce the occupation period. The basement car parking and 
commercial uses will be built first followed by Blocks A and B and shortly after Blocks C and D. This is demonstrated in the 

indicative programme below: - 

 
 

 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Pre-construction

Planning

Contractor Procurement

Detail Design

Option Execute

Phase 1

Car Park construction

Block A1&2 construction

Block A1 Sales

Block B Construction

Block B Sales

Phase 2

Block C Construction

Block D Construction

2023 202420222019 2020 2021

205



 

 

DEVELOPMENT OVERVIEW 
 

 

There are a number of different opportunities, which include A3 retail, being made up of five restaurants, a small convenience 

store, leisure facilities which are a planning requirement, along with the public car park.   

In addition two sections of the development have been identified as being ideal for PRS units.  These are set out in the table 

below with the public car park rental income information: - 

 

Commercial Rent Roll  
 

Section Units/
Space 

GIA 
Sqm 

NIA Sqm 
Estimated rent 

P.A (£) 
Avg. £psm pa 

Public car park 225 - - £533,704 (net) - 

Block A2 PRS 65 4917 3858 £899,438 £233 

Block B (first 4 
floors) PRS 

58 4460 3564 £816,105 £229 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT STRUCTURE 

 

There will be a mix of leases in regards to the car park spaces being leased with the residential units and the public car park.  

This structure is not unknown within BDC where public car park space re-provision is a standard requirement.   

The scheme has a mixed use of Commercial A3 and Leisure units along with a Convenience Store and Residential Units.  The 

residential units are expected to be a mix of open market sales, PRS and age related units.   

The open market sales units are to be senior debt funded geared with BDC member’s equity along with the Commercial A3 
Retail units, Leisure units and Convenience Store.   

PRS and age related units are to be forward funded from the appropriate stage of construction to mitigate stamp duty on 

purchase of the assets. 

 

 

PUBLIC CAR PARK 
 

 

In order to carry out the Winter Gardens development there is a requirement for the re-provision of public car parking, for a 

total of 225 spaces.  This takes into account the 175 already provided on the BH2 development.  The cost of re-providing the 

car park spaces is c. £12m plus fees. 

Annual income from the existing temporary public car park has been gathered from the Commercial Finance team at BCP 

Council for the past three years. As set out below:-   

 

Project 

Code K1036  Winter Gardens/Priory Road 

 

Year   Income  Expenditure  Net Income 

2016-2017   £486,686.04 £84,835.20  £401,850.84 

 

2017-2018   £697,224.95 £84,523.35  £612,701.60 

 

2018-2019  £741,255.04 £55,849.00  £685,406.04 

 

The forecast revenue has been based on the current net income per space of £2,965 on the 225 spaces re-provided totalling 
£667,722.  An increased expenditure of 20% has been assumed reducing the net income to £533,704. This net income has 

been capitalised using a yield of 4.5% to total £11,646,599 with an allowance of 1.8% for purchaser costs. 

  206



 

RESIDENTIAL PRIVATE RENTED SECTOR UNITS 
 

 

Located just 0.1 miles from Bournemouth’s main square, less than 1.5 miles from Bournemouth’s mainline station and less than 

a five minute walk from Bournemouth’s award winning beach. With bars, restaurants and entertainment on the door step 
Winter Gardens is in a prime position for privately rented homes.  

The 2011 Census results showed that Bournemouth’s Central ward has an extremely active private rental market, with 51% of 

households renting privately. This reduces to 31% when considering the whole Borough of Bournemouth. Of those that rent 
privately the largest demand comes from the 16-34 age group due to both the population size of this group and the proportion 

of that age group renting privately. The 35-49 age group are also active renters however above this the proportion of people 
renting drops off. The highest use for rental accommodation in Bournemouth is for 1 and 2 bed properties with the use of 

larger properties being significantly lower. The mix at Winter Gardens reflects these apparent preferences for 1 and 2 bedroom 
homes. 

BDC have recently completed a Build to Rent scheme in Bournemouth called Berry Court which consisted of 113 units made up 

of Studios, 1, 2 and 3 bedrooms. Radian, the investor / operator, were able to make reservations for over 75% of the homes 

prior to completion, an indication of the high demand for good quality, professionally managed privately rented accommodation 
in Bournemouth.  

Both Blocks A2 and B’s first four floors are suitably designed for the build to rent market with a mix and size of accommodation 

to suit market demand. However, there is the ability for any investor to work with BDC to maximise the internal layouts to suit. 

At Berry Court the following rental values were achieved at completion in August 2018. 

 

 Studio 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 

Monthly 

Rent 

Range  

£750 £850 -

£1250 

£1050 - 

£1450 

£1350 - 

£1750 

Average 

Rent per 
month 

£750 £980 £1150 £1500 

 

The rental ranges within a mile of Bournemouth are currently as follows: 

 

 Studio 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 

Monthly 

Rent 
Range  

£375 - 

£775 

£450 - 

£990 

£650 - 

£2000 

£795 - 

£3500 

 

BDC estimates rents at Winter Gardens to have the following values: 

 

 Studio 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 

Monthly 
Rent 

Range  

£775-£825 £900-
£1250 

£1200 - 
£1650 

£1350 - 
£1750 

 

 

 

 

207



 

DELIVERY TEAM 
 

 
 

 

The Bournemouth Development Company LLP 
partnership was formed between the Bournemouth 

Christchurch and Poole Council (formally Bournemouth 
Borough Council) and Morgan Sindall Investments 

Limited.  To date five successful developments have 
been developed or are still in construction within 

Bournemouth providing secure investment for both 

external investors and the Council. 

Track Record 

•  Citrus Building, Horseshoe Common 

• Student Accommodation, Madeira Road        

• MSCP, Madeira Road 

• Berry Court, St Peters Road 

• Tree Tops, St Stephens Road

 
 

 
 

VINCI is a world leader in concessions and construction. 
The company employs approximately 185,000 people in 

100 countries. VINCI’s UK companies turn over circa £2 

billion per annum and employ around 900 employees. VINCI 
Construction UK is the largest British subsidiary of VINCI and 
is a national construction and facilities company. 

Track Record 

• BH2, Bournemouth 

• Eastbourne College  

• New Covent Garden Market 

• Olympic Stadium 

 
 

 

 

 

BrightSpace Architects are united by a shared belief that 

good design can elevate everyday places.  With a talented 
team of over 20 architects, designers, technologists and 

support staff working out of a purpose-built studio in 
Fordingbridge, Hampshire.   

 

 

Track Record 

• Zen, Southampton High St 

• Berry Court, St Peters Road 

• Waterlooville 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 
  

   
 

  

 

 

Duncan Johnston  
 

+44 (0) 7970 400508  
Duncan.johnston@morgansindall.co.uk  

 

 
Andrea Buckley 

 
+44 (0) 7815 639973 
Andrea.buckley@morgansindall.co.uk 

Developer: The Bournemouth Development Company LLP 

Contractor: VINCI Construction UK 

Architect: Bright Space 

208



Document is Restricted

209

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 

 

Report subject Children’s Services Capital Strategy 

Meeting date 27 May 2020 

Status Public 

Executive summary 
To seek approval of the Children’s Services Capital Strategy 
2020/23 and the associated use of capital programme funds 
for 2020/21. 

Recommendation 

 

 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDED that Cabinet: 
 
(a) Approves the adoption of the Children’s Services 

Capital Strategy 2020/21 to 2022/23 as contained 
within this report; 

(b) Notes the funding constraints within which the 
Strategy is drafted, as outlined in Appendix A; 

(c) Approves the inclusion of programme of activity / 
works as set out at Appendix B within the Capital 
Investment Programme; and 

(d) Approves the use of school condition grant for 
children’s centres to maintain urgent health and 
safety issues as identified. 

 

Reason for 
recommendations 

 
To agree the priorities for the investment of ring-fenced 
government capital grant received in support of Children’s 
Services for 2020/21 and beyond.  This will support the 
Council in complying with its statutory duties in relation to the 
supply of school places, special educational 
needs/disabilities (SEND) and school condition. 
 

Portfolio Holder(s): Cllr Sandra Moore, Portfolio Holder for Children and Families 

Corporate Director Judith Ramsden, Corporate Director Children’s Services 

Contributors Neil Goddard, Service Director, Quality and Commissioning 

Helen Rice, Principal Asset Planning and Development 
Manager 

 

217

Agenda Item 15



Background and Purpose 
 
1. The purpose of the Children’s Services Capital Strategy 2020/21 to 2022/23 is to 

agree the longer-term capital priorities of BCP Council, provide an overview of 

estimated funding available to deliver these priorities, and propose an internal 

governance process for the approval of decision making on school premises.  

 
Capital Projects Currently Approved  
 
2. BCP Council’s Children’s Services 2020/21 Capital Programme consists of 

£16.5m approved spend across the conurbation. The Programme includes £2.1m 

for SEND Capital Projects, as approved by Cabinet in April 2020 – Capital works 

at individual school sites identified by the SEND sufficiency team that contribute 

toward Basic Need Places for SEND pupils. These projects are essential in order 

to mitigate budgetary pressures on the High Needs Block. 

3. Unspent capital budget from 2019/20 for capital projects yet to complete will be 

added to the £16.5m currently approved. 

 

 
4. The £16.5m approved capital programme for 2020/21 utilises £5.8m Department 

for Education (DfE) Capital Grant funding. The remaining £10.7m is funded from a 

combination of Supported Borrowing, Capital Receipts, Council Reserves, s106 

contributions and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  

 
Children’s Capital Strategy – funding available for new capital projects 
 
5. Based on Government allocations of capital grant funding for 2020/21 and 

approved utilisation of £5.8m to support the existing 2020/21 Children’s Services 

Capital Programme, the Council estimates it will have £3.9m unallocated 

Government Capital Grant available to fund future schools and children’s 

Locality Capital Programme Budget 2020/21 £000

BCP SEND Capital Projects 2,120

BCP SEND Feasibility Studies 250

Bournemouth Avonbourne Academy - feasibility phase 150

Bournemouth Avonbourne Academy - delivery phase 800

Poole Carter Community College 2,949

Poole Ocean Academy 105

Poole Hillbourne School Workstream - new school build 9,346

Poole Hillbourne Housing Workstream - design phase 104

Poole St Aldhem's Internal Remodelling 390

BCP Contingency for Capital Maintenance 250

BCP Health & Safety Works 50

16,514

218



centres capital projects (see Appendix A). This funding is ringfenced to use in 

the following areas, each of which is statutory in nature: 

 
a. £1.9m Basic Need Funding – This funding is allocated by the government in 

response to the pupil place planning projections provided by the Authority in its 

annual data returns. It is formulaic in nature and is used by the Local Authority 

(LA) to meet its statutory duty in securing sufficient number of school and pre-

school places across the Authority. 

i. The allocation of this funding is targeted at schools where additional 
capacity is required and can be applied to LA maintained, Academies 
and SEN schools. 

 
b. £1.8m School Condition Funding (Capital Maintenance) – This funding is 

allocated by government on an annual basis based on pupil numbers in 

maintained schools only to ensure the safe operation of school premises.  

i. The LA’s allocation of this funding is targeted at schools in poor 
condition, which is determined by condition surveys of schools and 
children’s centres premises that are undertaken on a cyclical programme.  

 
c. £0.1m Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Funding – This 

funding is allocated by the government and is ring-fenced for the use of 

providing appropriate accommodation to meet the needs of pupils accessing 

specialist provision by creating new SEND places or developing existing 

facilities.  

i. The allocation of this funding is targeted at schools where young people 
with SEND requirements are educated and is allocated by the LA based 
on school funding bids that meet BCP Council’s priorities for reducing 
spending on the High Needs Block.  Further details on this fund and its 
allocation are contained in Appendix B of this report. This allocation was 
approved by Cabinet in April 2020 due to the urgency of the spend. 

 
6. Government Grants can only be utilised in accordance with grant conditions 

outlined above. 

 
7. The Council recognises that a programme of feasibility projects, studies and 

condition surveys is required to better understand the extent of capital investment 

required.  

 
New Capital Projects/Strategic Priorities Proposed for 2020/21 (Appendix B) 
 
8. £1.9m Basic Need Funding 

 
a. Poole North Feasibility Study - £100k allocation 

This funding is required to undertake a feasibility study on schools to the North 
of Poole, considering the impact of the three large housing developments in this 
area. Current estimates indicate an additional 2 Forms of Entry (FE) will be 

219



required in the primary sector. The feasibility study will consider which, if any, 
schools can be expanded or whether a new primary School is required. Costs 
associated with the agreed strategy will be included within the feasibility to be 
able to consider future pressures on the Basic Need Budget. 
 

b. St Aldhelm’s Nett Capacity - £460k to £610k for additional capacity  

The academy has indicated that they have insufficient capacity to accommodate 
their published admission number (PAN) of 180. An assessment has been 
undertaken by local authority officers and a scope of work agreed in principle. 
The places at this school are required to achieve the statutory function of 
providing sufficient secondary school places across the Authority. The work falls 
into two main categories; the remodelling of the existing space to provide 
additional capacity and address suitability; additional capacity through the 
addition of a 4 classroom modular block. These works are urgent in nature. The 
first phase is required for September 2020. The first allocation of £390k (to 
address the internal remodelling) has been agreed through delegated powers 
as a matter of urgency.  
 

c. Ocean Academy Remedials - £50k 

Additional funding is required to complete the remedials on this newly built 
primary school. This will enable the transfer agreement to the Academy Trust to 
be completed. 

 
9. £1.8m Capital Maintenance - Condition Funding 

a. Condition Surveys – 17 maintained schools and learning centres - £100k 

budget for surveys. 

In order to be able to identify the Capital Maintenance priorities for all BCP 
maintained schools, revised condition surveys are required at the majority of 
them. The surveys use a standard assessment framework and the findings will 
inform the schools capital works programme. 
 

b. Condition Works to maintained schools – estimate yet to be prepared. 

Based on the outcome of the condition surveys with estimates based on the 
identified priority works. Works to be agreed by SRO under delegated authority 
for works less than £100k/school. 
 

c. Condition Works to Children’s Centre - £10k/annum 

Rolling programme for minor repairs to Children’s Centres which require urgent 
health and safety works. 
 

d. Condition Works to Linwood School – M&E remedial works. – estimate yet 

to be prepared. 

Recent condition survey highlighted mechanical and electrical issues at the 
school. Maximum spend of £150k to be allocated to this school. 
 

220



e. Emergency Condition Works to maintained schools in respect of health and 

safety issues that cannot be funded from the schools’ devolved formula capital 

(DFC) allocation. £50 k per annum 

 

f. Winchelsea School (MLD) - £100k allocation for feasibility plus funding for a 

solution (estimate yet to be prepared) This school is the highest priority within 

the previous Borough of Poole Capital Strategy. The school has a capacity of 

96 pupils but currently houses 120 pupils. The school accommodates pupils 

with SEND and has a combination of sufficiency, suitability and condition 

issues, with a large amount of provision delivered from temporary 

accommodation. The proposal is to consider a feasibility study that identifies a 

project that could increase the capacity of the school whilst dealing with the 

significant suitability and condition issues. Funding for the initial feasibility study 

is sought within this strategy. 

 

g. Linwood School - £100k allocation for a feasibility study to achieve the 

same objectives as listed above for Winchelsea School. Both of these feasibility 

studies aim to minimise the demand on the high needs block by making 

additional places available locally to young people who require them. 

 
Children’s Services Capital Projects – Governance Process 
 
10. In line with BCP Financial Regulations, the approval process for new capital 

projects arising from feasibility work and studies is: 

 
a. Projects less than £100k in value can be approved by Service Director 

b. Projects over £100k but less than £500k can be approved by Executive 

Director, with approval by the Council’s Corporate Management Board 

c. Projects over £500k but less than £1m require Cabinet approval 

d. Projects over £1m require Council approval 

 
Summary of Financial Implications 
 
11. A summary of residual Government Grant funding available to fund the Children’s 

Capital Strategy is provided in Appendix A. 

 

12. Members will note that, at £3.9m, a comparatively modest level of Government 

Grant is available through which to deliver the Council’s Children’s Capital 

Strategy. This figure is, however, stated before Government announcements of 

new Grant funding post 2020/21 are known. The proposed Programme of spend in 

Appendix B ranges from £1m to £1.5m, leaving up to £2.4m unearmarked 

Government Grant funding available for new projects outside of the current 

Strategy (£3.9m current unearmarked grant less £1.5m planned works in Appendix 

B).  

221



 

13. Members are reminded that, historically, legacy Councils have drawn upon non-

Government Grant funding sources (including supported borrowing, capital 

receipts, Community Infrastructure Levy and s106 contributions) to help finance 

capital projects. Given competing pressures on BCP Council resources, there is 

no guarantee the same level of non-Grant funding will continue to be available for 

new schemes brought forward.  

 

14. Additional projects / pressures not included in the current Children’s Capital 

Strategy, but which may also require funding in the future, include: 

 Bournemouth Learning Centre – conversion of building into a school 

 Hillbourne School – potential for additional funding requirement pending 

outcome of District Valuer’s housing land valuation 

 Winchelsea School – a school that has been highlighted in legacy Poole 

Council as in urgent need of significant building improvement works 

 Capital projects arising from feasibility study and school condition survey 

work (in Appendix B) – It is highly likely the Council will have to seek 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funding in order to help finance these 

projects and fulfil its statutory responsibilities for the supply of school 

places. 

 Potential increase in construction costs as a result of impact of Covid-19 on 

market conditions. 

 
Summary of Legal Implications 
 

15. The use of funds articulated within this report is in line with the Authority’s statutory 

duty to ensure that sufficient school places are provided to every child. 

 
Summary of Human Resources Implications 
 
16. Appropriate monitoring and management of the capital spend, and works with 

schools to deliver the projects will be met from existing resources. 

 
Summary of Sustainability Impact 
 
17. The distance travelled by children and young people to attend school should be 

reduced through ensuring additional provision is available close to where they live 

to reduce travel by car. 

 
Summary of Public Health Implications 
 
18. Not applicable 

222



 
Summary of Equality Implications 
 
19. The Children’s Services Capital Strategy seeks to allocate funding to mirror their 

statutory responsibilities and ensure that funding is targeted at the areas of 

greatest need. All projects delivered through this process consider the equality 

impacts contained within each project. 

 

Background papers 

 

Appendix A 

Appendix B 

 

223



Appendix A 
 

This table seeks to provide information on the current level of funding contained within the Children’s Services Capital Programme as 
of early March 2020. Actual spend incurred in 2019/20 will not be finalised until the financial year closedown is complete. 
 

 

The Current Capital Programme has a number of projects contained within it set against the priorities of Basic Need, Capital 

Maintenance and SEND funding. The £3.9m funding listed above is an estimate of residual schools capital grant funding currently 

unallocated and available to support new capital projects and priorities going forward. 

 
  

Children's Capital Strategy

Objective: Understand level of schools capital grant funding available to underpin Children's Capital Strategy 2020/21 to 2022/23

Capital Grant Eligible Schools (type) 01-Apr-19 recvd in year planned spend 31-Mar-20 recvd in year planned spend 31-Mar-21

Basic Need Grant any 2,877 2,989 (2,113) 3,753 1,095 (2,915) 1,933

School Condition Allocation
maintained schools and Academies in first year after 

conversion
2,809 803 (576) 3,036 803 (1,987) 1,852

SEND Provision any - supported by published 3 year strategy 358 1,501 (1,354) 505 485 (900) 91

Healthy Pupils Capital Fund maintained schools  - schools to bid for money from BCP 23 0 (16) 7 0 0 7

6,067 5,293 (4,058) 7,301 2,384 (5,802) 3,883

Total 'unearmarked' schools capital grant funding 3,883

224



APPENDIX B 

No. Funding Source Project Title Estimated Cost for 
Approval 

Purpose of Project 

1 All funding 
Streams 

Winchelsea Feasibility £100k To assess sufficiency, suitability and 
condition of existing school premises. 

2 All funding 
streams 

Linwood Feasibility £100k To assess sufficiency, suitability and 
condition of existing school premises. 

3 Basic Need Poole North Feasibility £100k To develop a masterplan to house the 
additional pupils generated through the 
large scale housing development planned in 
the North of Poole 

4 Basic Need St Aldhelm’s Academy £460k - £610k Total To provide suitable accommodation as a 
matter of urgency to enable the PAN of 180 
at the school to be retained. 

5 Basic Need Ocean Academy 
Remedials 

£50k To facilitate the completion of the 
outstanding remedial works at Ocean 
Academy to enable the Transfer Agreement 
with the Trust to be concluded. 

6 Condition Funding Maintained School 
Condition Surveys 

£100k To undertake condition surveys at the 
remaining maintained schools within the 
conurbation to enable a list of urgent 
remedials to be compiled. 

7 Condition Funding Urgent School Condition 
Works 

Unknown until surveys 
complete. 
Each school less than 
£100k to be delegated to 
the SRO to allow works to 
commence. 

To ensure safety of pupils attending 
maintained schools. 

8 Condition Funding Children’s Centres £10k / annum To address urgent health and safety works 
at these premises. Individual schemes to 
approved through SRO. 

  Total Quantified £0.9m to £1.5m  
 

End  

225



T
his page is intentionally left blank

226



CABINET 

 

Report subject  Traffic Regulation Orders 

Meeting date  27 May 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  This covering report asks the Cabinet to consider representations 
made in response to the advertisement of a number of Traffic 
Regulation Orders 

Additionally, Cabinet is asked to approve the sealing and 
advertisement of a number of other Traffic Regulation Orders. 

Recommendations 
Cabinet is asked to approve: 

a) Confirm the Traffic Regulation Order as advertised in 

Aston Way as set out in TRO sub-report A,  

b) Confirm the Traffic Regulation Order as advertised in 

Steeple Close and Tollerford Road as set out in TRO 

sub-report B, 

c) Confirm the Traffic Regulation Order as advertised in 

Dear Hay Lane as set out in TRO sub-report C, 

d) Confirm the Traffic Regulation Order as advertised in 

North Street as set out in TRO sub-report D, 

e) Confirm the Traffic Regulation Order as advertised in 

Sherwood Avenue as set out in TRO sub-report E, 

f) Confirm the Traffic Regulation Order as advertised in 

Douglas Gardens as set out in TRO sub-report F, 

g) Confirm the Traffic Regulation Order as advertised in 

Salterns Road as set out in TRO sub-report G, 

h) Confirm the Traffic Regulation Order as advertised in 

Sunridge Close as set out in TRO sub-report H, 

i) Confirm the Traffic Regulation Order as advertised in 

Southill Road and Sunnyside Road as set out in TRO 

sub-report I, 

j) The sealing of Traffic Regulation Orders ref P16 2019 

k) The sealing of Traffic Regulation Orders ref P17 2019 

l) The sealing of Traffic Regulation Orders ref P18 2019 

m) The confirmation and sealing of the following Traffic 

Regulation Orders for which no representations were 

received:- 

i. Ashley Road (loading bay) 

ii. Cardigan Road (parking bay amendments) 

227

Agenda Item 16



iii. Kellaway Road (yellow line extension) 

iv. Sherborn Crescent (20mph Limit) 

v. Kitchener Crescent/Plumer Road (yellow lines) 

vi. Hoyal Road Stanley Road and Courthill Road 

(disabled bay changes) 

vii. Churchill Road (yellow lines) 

viii. Parr Street (Taxi bay) 

ix. Sandecotes Road, junctions with Overbury Road 

and Glengariff Road (yellow lines) 

x. Slip Way ( parking bay amendments) 

xi. Kingland Road Service Road (verge parking 

Order) 

 

  

Reason for 
recommendations 

The reasons for the recommendations are set out in the following 
reports. 

  

228



Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Andy Hadley, Portfolio Holder Transport & Infrastructure 

Corporate Director  Bill Cotton, Corporate Director Regeneration 

Report Authors Steve Dean, Traffic Management Engineer 

Wards  Various 

Classification  For Decision 

Title:  

Background  

1. The Council is required by statute to undertaken public consultation in respect of Traffic 

Regulation Orders it wishes to make. 

2. It has the power to advertise, consult upon and make Traffic Regulation Orders and 

related Highways Orders for a variety of different purposes. 

3. This covering Report is provided to enable the items to be considered as one agenda 

item and assist councillors and the public in the presentation of the matters for 

consideration. 

4. This report was due to be considered by the Transportation Advisory Group at its 

meeting scheduled for 1 April 2020, however, this meeting was not able to take place in 

light of the Covid-19 outbreak and therefore has been referred to Cabinet directly. 

Summary of financial implications  

 

5. None specifically relating to this covering report. 

Summary of legal implications  

 

6. The Council is required to follow the statutory process in respect of making the relevant 

Orders, and seeks legal advice where required. 

Summary of human resources implications  

 

7. None relating to this report. 

Summary of environmental impact  

 

8. There are no environmental impacts arising from this report. 

229



Summary of public health implications  

 

9. There are no public health implications arising from this report. 

Summary of equality implications  

 

10. There are no new equality implications arising from this report. 

Summary of risk assessment  

 

11. There are risks associated with the Orders as requested not being approved, and any 

risks are set out in the appendices. 

 

Background papers - None 

 

230



SUB REPORT A 

 

CABINET 
 
 

 

Report subject  Traffic Regulation Order - Aston Way 

Meeting date  27 May 2020 

Status  Public Report  

Executive summary  To consider representations to the advertisement Waiting 

restrictions in Aston Way  

Recommendations The Transportation Advisory Group is asked to consider 

recommending to the Cabinet that it approves: 

 The Orders are confirmed as advertised 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The proposed restriction would keep the road clear for use by 

commercial vehicles 

  

231

Agenda Item 16a



SUB REPORT A 

 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Andy Hadley – Cabinet Member for Transport and 

Infrastructure 

Corporate Director  Bill Cotton – Director of Regeneration and Economy 

Report Authors Steve Dean – Senior Engineer Traffic Management  

Wards  Alderney and Bourne Valley 

Classification  For Decision 

Title:  

Background  

Aston Way is an industrial estate road serving a number of commercial premises.  A 

Traffic Regulation Order, to prevent parking at any time along the whole length of the 

road, was made while the road was being constructed.  The yellow lines were not 

marked until after the final wearing course had been laid by the developer.  The 

developer did finally lay the yellow lines, but most of the commercial units had been 

occupied by then, and one of the occupiers objected to the yellow lines.  

Now that the road has been adopted as Public Highway, the restrictions have now been 

advertised to give road users an opportunity to comment on the proposals. 

Summary of financial implications  

1. The costs associated with both the advertisement and implementation of the TRO will be 

covered by the Minor Traffic Schemes budget. The cost is estimated to be £1,000, 

although the cost will be less in this case, as there are already yellow lines in the road.  

Summary of legal implications  

2. Highways Authorities are required to give formal consideration to any representations 

received during the advertisement period. 

Summary of human resources implications  

3.  None. 

Summary of environmental impact  

4. None 

Summary of public health implications  

5. None 

232



SUB REPORT A 

 

Summary of equality implications  

6. The Traffic Regulation Orders do not have direct equality implications 

Summary of risk assessment  

7. None 

Background papers  

8. None 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 – Summary of representations, and responses to issues raised 

 

Appendix 2 – Plan of proposals 

  

233



SUB REPORT A 

 

Appendix 1 

Summary of Representations, and Responses to Issues Raised 

Aston Way 

Eight objections have been received, using standard wording.  Two of the objections are 

from two of the companies on the road, and the other six come from members of staff.  The 

objectors feel that:- 

 The restrictions will make it difficult for customers and staff to park near these 

businesses, 

 The restrictions will lead to increased vehicle speeds 

 Unauthorised racing will lead to increased littering 

 They allege that a Council officer gave permission to park on the yellow lines as long 

as they kept the area clean.  Staff from these companies have carried out litter picks 

in the area. 

 They ask if permits can be issued to allow staff to park here 

 

A business from Aston Way has written to support the proposals and to ask that the existing 

yellow lines are enforced.  The business has regular deliveries throughout the week and 

parking on the existing lines makes access difficult, and is a potential hazard when vehicles 

meet near the bend.  The business subsequently submitted photos of an incident where a 

vehicle had needed to break sharply to avoid a collision with an oncoming HGV, which was 

driving past a row of parked vehicles, and had been struck by a vehicle from the rear. 

 

Conclusion 

Industrial estate roads are constructed to give unhindered access by commercial vehicles, 

and it is appropriate to impose waiting restrictions to keep them clear. 

Customer and staff parking should normally be provided within the commercial sites 

themselves. 

 

 

 

 

234



 

 
 

235



T
his page is intentionally left blank

236



SUB REPORT B 

 

CABINET  
 
 

 

Report subject  Traffic Regulation Order - Steeple Close and Tollerford Road 

Meeting date  27 May 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  To consider representations to the advertisement of Traffic 
Regulation Orders in Steeple Close and it’s junction with Tollerford 
Road 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 The Transportation Advisory Group is asked to consider 
recommending to the Cabinet that it approves: 

Confirming the Order as advertised 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The restrictions were originally requested by the Fire and Rescue 
Service, who use Steeple Close to gain access to Canford Heath. 

The proposal is supported by five residents of Steeple Close. Two 
local residents have written to object to the proposed Order. 

  

237

Agenda Item 16b



SUB REPORT B 

 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Andy Hadley – Cabinet Member for Transport and 
Infrastructure 

Corporate Director  Bill Cotton – Director of Regeneration and Economy 

Report Authors Steve Dean – Senior Engineer 

Wards  Canford Heath 

Classification  For Recommendation  
Title:  

Background 

1. The scheme was initiated by a request from the Dorset and Wiltshire Fire and 
Rescue Service who had experienced difficulties getting to the access gate onto 
Canford Heath.  Steeple Close is one of a small number of places where emergency 
services can gain access to the heath.   

2. The proposed Order would confine parking to one side of Steeple Close, and also 
clear the sightline where Steeple Close joins Tollerford Road. 

Summary of financial implications 

3. The costs associated with both the advertisement and implementation of the TRO 
will be covered by the Minor Traffic Schemes budget. The cost is estimated to be 
£1,000. 

Summary of legal implications 

4. Highways Authorities are required to give formal consideration to any 
representations received during the advertisement period. 

Summary of human resources implications 

5. None 

Summary of sustainability impact 

6. None 

Summary of public health implications 

7. The restrictions will assist the Emergency Services to reach incidents on the heath 
without undue delay. 

Summary of equality implications 

8. None 

Summary of risk assessment 

9. If the restrictions are not implemented, the emergency services may experience 
delays attending to incidents on the heath 

238



SUB REPORT B 

 

Background papers 

None   

Appendices   

Appendix – Summary of representations, and responses to issues raised 

  

239



SUB REPORT B 

 

Appendix 

Summary of Representations, and Responses to Issues Raised 

Steeple Close and it’s junction with Tollerford Road 

Representations Response 

Five residents of Steeple Close have written to 

support the proposed Order 

N/A 

A resident of Steeple Close has written to object 

that the restrictions: 

1. Serve no purpose, as there is no 

business or school in Steeple Close 

2. Is an unnecessary cost for the Council to 

implement and maintain 

3. Will lead to other residents asking for 

similar restrictions in their roads 

4. The road is only used by dog walkers, 

who live locally and can walk to the 

heath, 

5. There are plenty of other access points to 

the heath 

This is one of only a few places where 

emergency vehicles can access the heath. 

A resident of Tollerford Road has written to object 

that the restrictions are not required.  The 

objector has a number of concerns about the 

proposal and feels that there is not a great deal 

of parking in the road, and this is mostly 

associated with residents, who would move their 

cars if an emergency vehicle couldn’t get past. 

This is one of only a few places where 

emergency vehicles can access the heath and 

the fire service would need to gain access 

without delay if there were an incident. 

 

Recommendation 

The waiting restrictions will prevent obstructive parking, and clear the sightline onto 

Tollerford Road.  It is recommended that the Order is confirmed as advertised.  

 

 

240



SCHEME

TITLE

CHECKED

VARIANT

DRAWNDATE

SCALES

DRAWING
SCHEME

DRAWING NUMBER

SECTION 

Revisions  No. Date

SIZE

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2018.

Ordnance Survey 100019829.

© Getmappingplc 2012.

Drawn

L.Wait B.Eng, C.Eng, MICE

Interim Engineering Manager

Growth and

Infrastructure:

Transportation

\\artemis\transportation\unit information\old medusa data\section - traffic\traffic & parking\new drawing register\ndr18\autocad files

241

AutoCAD SHX Text
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
LONGFLEET DRIVE (Path)

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
24.7m

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
TOLLERFORD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
46

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
E

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
N

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
Double Yellow Lines `

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
Steeple Close

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
18136



T
his page is intentionally left blank

242



SUB REPORT C 

 

CABINET 
 
 

 

Report subject  Traffic Regulation Orders – Dear Hay Lane  

Meeting date  27 May 2020 

Status  Public Report  

Executive summary  To consider representations to the advertisement Loading 

restrictions in Dear Hay Lane  

Recommendations The Transportation Advisory Group is asked to consider 

recommending to the Cabinet that it approves: 

 The Orders are confirmed as advertised 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The proposed restriction is necessary to protect the footway and 

prevent obstruction by Blue Badge Holders in Dear Hay Lane.  

  

243

Agenda Item 16c



SUB REPORT C 

 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Andy Hadley – Cabinet Member for Transport and 

Infrastructure 

Corporate Director  Bill Cotton – Director of Regeneration and Economy 

Report Authors Steve Dean – Senior Engineer Traffic Management  

Wards  Poole Town 

Classification  For Decision 

Title:  

Background  

The stretch of Dear Hay Lane alongside the Brewhouse and Kitchen previously had 

guardrailing, and it’s proximity to the Hunger Hill junctions meant that vehicles would be 

unlikely to stop.  Since the new road layout has been introduced,  brewery drays have 

been pulling over the low kerb and onto the footway.  The footway is not constructed to 

take this loading, and the nearby tactile paving slabs are particularly vulnerable. 

This stretch of road is also likely to experience parking by Blue Badge Holders in due 

course, and this would obstruct access. 

. 

Summary of financial implications  

1. The costs associated with both the advertisement and implementation of the TRO will be 

covered by the Townside Access Scheme. The cost is estimated to be £1,000.  

Summary of legal implications  

2. Highways Authorities are required to give formal consideration to any representations 

received during the advertisement period. 

Summary of human resources implications  

3.  None. 

Summary of environmental impact  

4. None 

Summary of public health implications  

5. None 

Summary of equality implications  

6. The Traffic Regulation Orders do not have direct equality implications 

244



SUB REPORT C 

 

Summary of risk assessment  

7. None 

Background papers  

8. None 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 – Summary of representations, and responses to issues raised 

 

Appendix 2 – Plan of proposals 

 

  

245



SUB REPORT C 

 

Appendix 1 

Summary of Representations, and Responses to Issues Raised 

Dear Hay Lane 

 

The proposed Loading Restriction has prompted objections from the Brewhouse and 

Kitchen, and from two Ward Councillors.  They object that the Brewhouse would have 

nowhere else to load/unload. 

 

Officers have since met with the Manager of the Brewhouse and Kitchen and offered to trial 

the use of a hatched area within the adjoining car park and also a relaxation of the loading 

restriction along their Chapel Lane frontage 

 

Conclusion 

The alternative locations should be sufficient for the Brewhouse and Kitchen’s needs and the 

Loading restriction will protect the footway in Dear Hay Lane. 

 

 

246



 

  

247



T
his page is intentionally left blank

248



SUB REPORT D 

 

CABINET 
 
 

 

Report subject  Traffic Regulation Orders – North Street 

Meeting date  27 May 2020 

Status  Public Report  

Executive summary  To consider representations to the advertisement of a No Entry 

restriction in North Street 

Recommendations The Transportation Advisory Group is asked to consider 

recommending to the Cabinet that it approves: 

 The Orders are confirmed as advertised 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The proposed restriction would allow clearer signage at the 

Towngate Bridge, and assist with enforcement of the restriction. 

  

249

Agenda Item 16d



SUB REPORT D 

 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Andy Hadley – Cabinet Member for Transport and 

Infrastructure 

Corporate Director  Bill Cotton – Director of Regeneration and Economy 

Report Authors Steve Dean – Senior Engineer Traffic Management  

Wards  Poole Town 

Classification  For Decision 

Title:  

Background  

The scheme has been prompted the number of vehicles abusing the No Motor Vehicles ( 

except buses and taxis) restrictions outside Winchester Place. 

Summary of financial implications  

1. The costs associated with both the advertisement and implementation of the TRO will be 

covered by the Minor Traffic Schemes budget. The cost is estimated to be £1,000.  

Summary of legal implications  

2. Highways Authorities are required to give formal consideration to any representations 

received during the advertisement period. 

Summary of human resources implications  

3.  None. 

Summary of environmental impact  

4. None 

Summary of public health implications  

5. None 

Summary of equality implications  

6. The Traffic Regulation Orders do not have direct equality implications 

Summary of risk assessment  

7. None 

250



SUB REPORT D 

 

Background papers  

8. None 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 – Summary of representations, and responses to issues raised 

 

 

  

251



SUB REPORT D 

 

Appendix 1 
 

Summary of Representations, and Responses to Issues Raised 
North Street 

 
 
An objection has been received from a company occupying premises in Winchester 
Place.   

 They explain that Winchester Place is a significant employment location with a 

visitor car park accessed from the link from Towngate Bridge 

 They feel that the staff car park, to the rear, now has less convenient access 

because they do not have direct access to Holes Bay Road (northbound) 

since the Hunger Hill junction was changed, 

 The proposed Order would force visitors to make a similarly circuitous route.  

This would increase congestion and traffic movements through the town, and 

an increase in traffic crossing the High Street at The North Street/Lagland 

Street junction.   

They ask that an exemption is made for vehicles using the visitor car park at 
Winchester Place. 

 

Conclusion 

The current No Motor Vehicles signage is not widely understood, and the exemption 
for access means that it is very difficult for the police to enforce the restriction.  The 
No Entry restriction would inconvenience drivers wanting to use the visitor car park, 
but the signs would be much clearer.  It is not possible to allow an access exemption 
with a No Entry restriction (other than an exemption for buses and taxis). 

 
 

 

 

 

252



SUB REPORT E 

 

CABINET 
 
 

 

Report subject  Traffic Regulation Orders – Sherwood Avenue 

Meeting date  27 May 2020 

Status  
Public Report  

Executive summary  
To consider representations to the advertisement of Waiting 

Restrictions in Sherwood Avenue. 

Recommendations 
The Transportation Advisory Group is asked to consider 

recommending to the Cabinet that it approves: 

 The Orders are confirmed as advertised 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The proposed restrictions will prevent parking on the crest of the hill 

  

253

Agenda Item 16e



SUB REPORT E 

 

Portfolio Holder(s):  
Councillor Andy Hadley – Cabinet Member for Transport and 

Infrastructure 

Corporate Director  
Bill Cotton – Director of Regeneration and Economy 

Service Director 
Julian McLaughlin – Director of Growth & Infrastructure 

Report Authors 
Steve Dean – Senior Engineer Traffic Management  

Wards  
Parkstone 

Classification  
For Decision 

Title:  

Background  

The scheme has been prompted by requests from residents who are concerned 

that vehicles parking near the crest of the hill cause safety problems. 

Summary of financial implications  

The costs associated with both the advertisement and implementation of the TRO 

will be covered by the Minor Traffic Schemes budget. The cost is estimated to be 

£1,000.  

Summary of legal implications  

Highways Authorities are required to give formal consideration to any 

representations received during the advertisement period. 

Summary of human resources implications  

 None. 

Summary of environmental impact  

None 

Summary of public health implications  

None 

Summary of equality implications  

The Traffic Regulation Orders do not have direct equality implications 

254



SUB REPORT E 

 

Summary of risk assessment  

None 

Background papers  

None 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 – Summary of representations, and responses to issues raised 
 
Appendix 2 – Plan of proposals 
 

 
  

255



SUB REPORT E 

 

Appendix 
 

Summary of Representations, and Responses to Issues Raised 
Sherwood Avenue 

 
 
 
Two local residents wrote representations in support of the proposed restrictions and 
one resident wrote a representation objecting.   
 

Representations Response 

Two residents wrote to support the 
proposal.  These residents felt that 
visibility is obstructed over the brow of 
the hill 

 

One resident has written to object that 
the restrictions do not extend far enough 
to provide satisfactory sightlines. 

The Council cannot introduce more 
restrictions than have been formally 
advertised without re-advertising the new 
proposal.   

A 20mph limit is likely in this area in the 
next financial year. 

 

Conclusion 

There is no objection to the principle of imposing restrictions here, and the Order 
should be confirmed as advertised. 

 
 

 

256



SCHEME

TITLE

CHECKED

VARIANT

DRAWNDATE

SCALES

DRAWING
SCHEME

DRAWING NUMBER

SECTION 

Revisions  

Transportation Services

Interim Engineering Manager

No. Date

L.Wait BEng, C.Eng, MICE

SIZE

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2018.

Ordnance Survey 100024248.

© Getmappingplc 2012.

Drawn

t:\unit information\old medusa data\section - traffic\traffic & parking\new drawing register\ndr18\autocad files

257

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
SHERWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
13.0m

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
76

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
96

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
94

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
88

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
Allotment Gardens

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
4.6m

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
98

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
94a

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
57

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
59

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
CASTLEDENE CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
5.4m

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
E

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
N

jjrobertw
Rectangle

jjrobertw_1
Stamp

jjrobertw_2
Stamp

jjrobertw_3
Typewritten Text
Crest of the hill is where the existing no waiting at any timefinishes.

jjrobertw_4
Typewritten Text
Proposed no waiting atany time.

jjrobertw_5
Typewritten Text
Existing no waiting atany time.

jjrobertw_6
Typewritten Text
Sherwood Avenue

jjrobertw_7
Typewritten Text
31 Jan 2019         RW

jjrobertw_8
Typewritten Text
NDR18               75             A



T
his page is intentionally left blank

258



SUB REPORT F 

 

CABINET 
 
 

 

Report subject  Traffic Regulation Orders – Douglas Gardens  

Meeting date  27 May 2020 

Status  Public Report  

Executive summary  To consider representations to the advertisement of Waiting 

Restrictions in Douglas Gardens. 

Recommendations The Transportation Advisory Group is asked to consider 

recommending to the Cabinet that it approves: 

 The Orders are confirmed as advertised 

Reason for 
recommendations 

There have been long-standing requests for measures to 

discourage obstructive parking in the road.  The majority of the 

representations support the imposition of the restrictions. 

  

259

Agenda Item 16f



SUB REPORT F 

 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Andy Hadley – Cabinet Member for Transport and 

Infrastructure 

Corporate Director  Bill Cotton – Director of Regeneration and Economy 

Report Authors Steve Dean – Senior Engineer Traffic Management 

Wards  Alderney and Bourne Valley 

Classification  For Decision 

Title:  

Background  

The scheme has been prompted by requests from residents who are concerned that 

access along the road is obstructed when drivers park on both sides of the road and that 

service vehicles have difficulty accessing and turning. 

There are already double yellow lines at the bend in Douglas Gardens, and at the 

junction with Douglas Road.  The proposed yellow lines would allow service vehicles to 

manoeuvre at the end of the cul-de-sac. 

Summary of financial implications  

1. The costs associated with both the advertisement and implementation of the TRO will be 

covered by the Minor Traffic Schemes budget. The cost is estimated to be £1,000.  

Summary of legal implications  

2. Highways Authorities are required to give formal consideration to any representations 

received during the advertisement period. 

Summary of human resources implications  

3.  None. 

Summary of environmental impact  

4. None 

Summary of public health implications  

5. None 

Summary of equality implications  

6. The Traffic Regulation Orders do not have direct equality implications 

260



SUB REPORT F 

 

Summary of risk assessment  

7. None 

Background papers  

8. None 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 – Summary of representations, and responses to issues raised 

 

Appendix 2 – Plan of proposals 

 

  

261



SUB REPORT F 

 

Appendix 1 

 

Summary of Representations, and Responses to Issues Raised 

Douglas Gardens 

 

 

 

 

There were eleven representations in support of the proposed restrictions and one 

representation objecting.   

 

Representations Response 

Eleven residents wrote to support the proposal.  

These residents felt that parking causes 

obstructions to access, and had worries that 

emergency and service vehicles cannot always 

get along the road. 

 

One resident has written to emphasise how 

difficult it is for residents to find parking space in 

this area, and to object that the restrictions will 

cause difficulties to residents. 

Eleven residents wrote to support the proposals. 

Parking will still be allowed on the southern side 

of this section of  Douglas Gardens 

 

Conclusion 

The cul-de-sac is narrow (less than 5.5m in width), and the waiting restrictions will 

discourage obstructive parking.  The refuse vehicle is forced to reverse down the hill when 

the turning head is blocked. 

 

 

262



SCHEME

TITLE

CHECKED

VARIANT

DRAWNDATE

SCALES

DRAWING
SCHEME

DRAWING NUMBER

SECTION 

Revisions  

Transportation Services

Interim Engineering Manager

No. Date

L.Wait BEng, C.Eng, MICE

SIZE

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2018.

Ordnance Survey 100024248.

© Getmappingplc 2012.

Drawn

----

263

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
30b

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
30a

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
DOUGLAS GARDENS

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
23 to 27

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
54a

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
52

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
50

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
PO

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
32

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
48

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
30b

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
30a

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
DOUGLAS GARDENS

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
14

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
20

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
22

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
23 to 27

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
54a

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
E

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
N

jjrobertw_9
Rectangle

jjrobertw_10
Typewritten Text
Douglas Gardens

jjrobertw_11
Typewritten Text
31 Oct 18            RW

jjrobertw_12
Typewritten Text
NDR18              70

jjrobertw_13
Stamp

jjrobertw_14
Stamp

jjrobertw_15
Typewritten Text
Proposed No Waitingat any time.

jjrobertw_16
Typewritten Text
Existing No Waiting at any time.



T
his page is intentionally left blank

264



SUB REPORT G 

 

CABINET 
 
 

 

Report subject  
Traffic Regulation Orders – Salterns Road  

Meeting date  
27 May 2020 

Status  
Public Report  

Executive summary  
To consider representations to the advertisement Waiting 

restrictions in Salterns Road  

Recommendations 
The Transportation Advisory Group is asked to consider 

recommending to the Cabinet that it approves: 

 The Orders are confirmed as advertised 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The proposed restriction has been subject to a Ward Councillor 

consultation that indicated that the majority of residents would 

support parking controls.  

  

265

Agenda Item 16g



SUB REPORT G 

 

Portfolio Holder(s):  
Councillor Andy Hadley – Cabinet Member for Transport and 

Infrastructure 

Corporate Director  
Bill Cotton – Director of Regeneration and Economy 

Report Authors 
Steve Dean – Senior Engineer Traffic Management  

Wards  
Parkstone  

Classification  
For Decision 

Title:  

Background  

This road is on the fringe of the Ashley Cross parking zone.  Ward Councillors consulted 

residents on the introduction of parking controls, and the majority supported them – The 

response is summarised in the flowing table:- 

  
 In Favour Partially in favour Against 

Responses 29 1 11 

Percentage 71% 2% 27% 

. 

Summary of financial implications  

1. The costs associated with both the advertisement and implementation of the TRO would 

be covered by the Minor Traffic Schemes budget. The cost is estimated to be £1,000, 

although there may be some income from permit sales. 

Summary of legal implications  

2. Highways Authorities are required to give formal consideration to any representations 

received during the advertisement period. 

Summary of human resources implications  

3.  None. 

Summary of environmental impact  

4. None 

Summary of public health implications  

5. None 

266



SUB REPORT G 

 

Summary of equality implications  

6. The Traffic Regulation Orders do not have direct equality implications 

Summary of risk assessment  

7. None 

Background papers  

8. None 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 – Summary of representations, and responses to issues raised 

 

Appendix 2 – Plan of proposals 

  

267



SUB REPORT G 

 

Appendix 1 
 

Summary of Representations, and Responses to Issues Raised 
Salterns Road 

 
 
The proposal would impose a two hour limit on parking in the road, Monday to Friday 
between 8am and 6pm, except permit holders.  There are several sections of the 
road where a series of accesses join to prevent the provision of parking bays.  Some 
of these already have double yellow lines, and the proposal would impose double 
yellow lines across the remaining three groups of accesses. 
 
Three residents have written in response to the advertisement:- 

 One resident supports the principle of the limited waiting restrictions, but 

opposes the yellow lines across the accesses 

 One household objects to the scheme because of the yellow lines across the 

groups of accesses 

 One resident objects that the reduction of parking in the road will lead to 

higher speeds 

 
Conclusion 

The majority of residents have indicated that they would like parking controls in their 
road.   

The objections primarily concern the treatment of the stretches of road where there 
are a series of drop kerbs that join to prevent the provision of parking bays.  There 
are several stretches like this already, and they have double yellow lines.  Only one 
of the objectors has supplied an address, and they do not have another access.  The 
other representations do not indicate that they have an access. 

It is not appropriate to have uncontrolled stretches of road within an area parking 
zone, and it is not appropriate to have a different level of protection for different 
accesses within a controlled street.  The proposed yellow lines would keep the 
accesses clear and it is suggested that the Orders are confirmed as advertised. 

268



SCHEME

TITLE

CHECKED

VARIANT

DRAWNDATE

SCALES

DRAWING

SCHEME

DRAWING NUMBER

SECTION 

Revisions  

Transportation Services

Interim Engineering Manager

No. Date

L.Wait BEng, C.Eng, MICE

SIZE

© Crown Copyright and database rights

2018. Ordnance Survey 100024248.

© Getmappingplc 2012

Drawn

269

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
82

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
89

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
24

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
23a

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
54

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
68

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
68a

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
70

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
69

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
40a

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
5.5m

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
71

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
WORTHINGTON

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
MP .25

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
40

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
51

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
SALTERNS ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
68b

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
35

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
E

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
N

jjrobertw_17
Stamp

jjrobertw_18
Stamp

jjrobertw_19
Stamp

jjrobertw_20
Typewritten Text
Proposed no waiting at any time.

jjrobertw_21
Typewritten Text
Existing no waiting at any time.

jjrobertw_22
Typewritten Text
Proposed limited waiting Mon-Fri 8am-6pm 2 hours no return within 1 hour except zone G resident permit holders.

jjrobertw_23
Rectangle

jjrobertw_24
Typewritten Text
26/11/19          RW

jjrobertw_25
Typewritten Text
NDR18             89            B

jjrobertw_26
Typewritten Text
Salterns Road



This page is intentionally left blank

270



SUB REPORT H 

 

CABINET 

 

Report subject  Traffic Regulation Orders – Sunridge Close 

Meeting date  27 May 2020 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  To consider representations to the advertisement of Waiting 
Restrictions in Sunridge Close. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 The Transportation Advisory Group is asked to consider 
recommending to the Cabinet that it approves: 

The Orders are confirmed as advertised 

Reason for 
recommendations 

There have been long-standing requests for measures to 
discourage obstructive parking in the road.  The majority of the 
representations support the imposition of the restrictions. 

  

271

Agenda Item 16h



SUB REPORT H 

 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Andy Hadley – Cabinet Member for Transport and 

Infrastructure 

Corporate Director  Bill Cotton – Director of Regeneration and Economy 

Report Authors Steve Dean – Senior Engineer Traffic Management  

Wards  Alderney and Bourne Valley 

Classification  For Decision 

Title:  

Background  

The scheme has been prompted by requests from residents who are concerned that 

access along the road is obstructed when drivers park on both sides of the road.  This is 

a particular problem at school start and finish times. 

There are already double yellow lines at the junction with Wiinston Avenue, and at the 

turning area partway along the Close.  The proposed yellow lines would join these two 

stretches of yellow line and extend around the end of the close. 

Summary of financial implications  

1. The costs associated with both the advertisement and implementation of the TRO will be 

covered by the Minor Traffic Schemes budget. The cost is estimated to be £1,000.  

Summary of legal implications  

2. Highways Authorities are required to give formal consideration to any representations 

received during the advertisement period. 

Summary of human resources implications  

3.  None. 

Summary of environmental impact  

4. None 

Summary of public health implications  

5. None 

Summary of equality implications  

6. The Traffic Regulation Orders do not have direct equality implications 

272



SUB REPORT H 

 

Summary of risk assessment  

7. None 

Background papers  

8. None 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 – Summary of representations, and responses to issues raised 

 

Appendix 2 – Plan of proposals 

  

273



SUB REPORT H 

 

Appendix 1 

Summary of Representations, and Responses to Issues Raised 

Sunridge Close 

There were eleven representations in support of the proposed restrictions and seven 

representations (from 6 households in Sunridge Close) objecting.  There were three further 

representations neither supporting nor objecting, but making comments. 

Representations Response 

Five residents felt that there is quite widespread 

abuse of parking restrictions outside schools and 

there would need to be more enforcement for the 

proposed restrictions to be effective. 

Eleven residents wrote to support the proposals 

Three objectors felt that the restrictions are only 

needed for a short period of the day, and so the 

restrictions are not justified.  A further objector 

felt that there was not a need for restrictions in 

the road. 

Eleven residents wrote to support the proposals 

Three residents asked if the restrictions could 

only be imposed at school start and finish times 

(i.e. single yellow lines) 

While a short duration restriction would address 

school time parking, emergency and service 

vehicles could be called to the close at any time. 

A single yellow line would require timeplates and 

extra posts.  There are already double yellow 

lines tat the Winston Avenue Junction and the 

turning area in the middle of the road. 

There is a perception that single yellow lines are 

not as serious as double yellow lines, and might 

be ignored by some parents. 

two residents felt that the restrictions would 

displace the parking to other places nearby , 

where it would cause more problems. 

Eleven residents wrote to support the proposals 

Two residents objected to the restrictions 

because they would prevent them parking near 

their homes 

Residents would still be able to park on one side 

of the road 

274



SUB REPORT H 

 

A resident objected that the restrictions would 

concentrate parking on one side of the close, and 

this would be unsightly for residents on that side 

of the road. 

Eleven residents wrote to support the proposals 

A resident asked for the restrictions to be 

imposed on the northern side of the road 

The Council cannot introduce more restrictions in 

another location to that which has been formally 

advertised without re-advertising the new 

proposal.  Changing the pattern of restrictions 

would not address the main points raised by the 

objectors. 

 

Recommendation 

The cul-de-sac is narrow (less than 6m in width), and the waiting restrictions will discourage 

obstructive parking.  

 

 

275



This page is intentionally left blank

276



SCHEME

TITLE

CHECKED

VARIANT

DRAWNDATE

SCALES

DRAWING
SCHEME

DRAWING NUMBER

SECTION 

Revisions  

Transportation Services

Interim Engineering Manager

No. Date

L.Wait BEng, C.Eng, MICE

SIZE

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2018.

Ordnance Survey 100024248.

© Getmappingplc 2012.

Drawn

t:\unit information\old medusa data\section - traffic\traffic & parking\new drawing register\ndr18\autocad files

277

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
93

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
15

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
SUNRIDGE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
27

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
SUNRIDGE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
WINSTON AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
ETL

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
117

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
FARNHAM ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
E

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
N

jjrobertw_27
Rectangle

jjrobertw_28
Stamp

jjrobertw_29
Stamp

jjrobertw_30
Typewritten Text
Proposed no waiting at any time.

jjrobertw_31
Typewritten Text
Existing no loading or unloading Mon-Fri 8am-10am and 2pm-4pm 

jjrobertw_32
Typewritten Text
Sunridge Close

jjrobertw_33
Typewritten Text
26/11/19                RW

jjrobertw_34
Typewritten Text
NDR18            69                A



T
his page is intentionally left blank

278



SUB REPORT I 

 

CABINET 
 
 

 

Report subject  Traffic Regulation Orders – Southill Road/Sunnyside Road 

Meeting date  27 May 2020 

Status  Public Report  

Executive summary  To consider representations to the advertisement of Waiting 

Restrictions at the Southill Road/Sunnyside Road junction. 

Recommendations The Transportation Advisory Group is asked to consider 

recommending to the Cabinet that it approves: 

 The Orders are confirmed as advertised 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The proposed restrictions will prevent parking around the 

roundabout. 

  

279

Agenda Item 16i



SUB REPORT I 

 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Andy Hadley – Cabinet Member for Transport and 

Infrastructure 

Corporate Director  Bill Cotton – Director of Regeneration and Economy 

Report Authors Steve Dean – Senior Engineer Traffic Management  

Wards  Newtown and Heatherlands 

Classification  For Decision 

Title:  

Background  

1. The scheme has been prompted by requests from residents who are concerned that 

vehicles are parking around the mini roundabout. 

Summary of financial implications  

2. The costs associated with both the advertisement and implementation of the TRO will be 

covered by the Minor Traffic Schemes budget. The cost is estimated to be £1,000.  

Summary of legal implications  

3. Highways Authorities are required to give formal consideration to any representations 

received during the advertisement period. 

Summary of human resources implications  

4.  None. 

Summary of environmental impact  

5. None 

Summary of public health implications  

6. None 

Summary of equality implications  

7. The Traffic Regulation Orders do not have direct equality implications 

Summary of risk assessment  

8. None 

280



SUB REPORT I 

 

Background papers  

9. None 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 – Summary of representations, and responses to issues raised 

 

Appendix 2 – Plan of proposals 

  

281



SUB REPORT I 

 

 

 

Appendix 1 

Summary of Representations, and Responses to Issues Raised 

Southill Road/Sunnyside Road 

Two local residents wrote representations in support of the proposed restrictions and one 

resident wrote a representation objecting.   

Representations Response 

Two residents wrote to support the proposal.  

These residents felt that there was too much 

parking around the junction 

N/A 

One resident has written to object that the 

restrictions will cause difficulties to residents who 

need to park near their homes.  He does not feel 

that the parking obstructs visibility and he has 

seen no accidents in the last five years.. 

N/A 

 

Conclusion 

It is not appropriate for vehicles to park around a roundabout. 

 

 

 

 

282



SCHEME

TITLE

CHECKED

VARIANT

DRAWNDATE

SCALES

DRAWING
SCHEME

DRAWING NUMBER

SECTION 

Revisions  

Transportation Services

Interim Engineering Manager

No. Date

L.Wait BEng, C.Eng, MICE

SIZE

© Crown Copyright and database rights 2018.

Ordnance Survey 100024248.

© Getmappingplc 2012.

Drawn

----

283

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
29

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
30

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
44.1m

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
BM

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
43.87m

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
SUNNYSIDE ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
45

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
W

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
S

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
E

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
N

jjrobertw_35
Rectangle

jjrobertw_36
Stamp

jjrobertw_37
Typewritten Text
Proposed no waiting at any time.

jjrobertw_38
Typewritten Text
Southill Road

jjrobertw_39
Typewritten Text
NDR18                   97

jjrobertw_40
Typewritten Text
18 Jan 2019         RW



T
his page is intentionally left blank

284



SUB REPORT J 

 

CABINET 

 

Report subject  Traffic Regulation Orders – Sealing of Traffic Regulation 
Orders Ref P16 2019 

Meeting date  27 May 2020 

Status  Public Report  

Executive summary  To consider representations following the advertisement of Traffic 
Regulation Order for P16 2019 Autumn Review September 2019  

Recommendations The Transportation Advisory Group is asked to consider 
recommending to the Cabinet that it approves: 

 The Order is confirmed and sealed as detailed in Appendix 1 

Reason for 
recommendations 

P16 2019 Autumn Review September 2019 

To approve the making/sealing of the proposed changes to the 

Traffic Regulation Order so that the new restrictions (to improve the 

parking facilities available to the local community, improve road 

safety and to ensure essential services can take place) can be 

implemented. 

  

285

Agenda Item 16j



SUB REPORT J 

 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Andy Hadley – Cabinet Member for Transport and 
Infrastructure 

Corporate Director  Bill Cotton – Director of Regeneration and Economy 

Service Director Julian McLaughlin – Director of Growth & Infrastructure 

Report Authors Chris Parkes – Team Leader Traffic Management  

Wards  Various 

Classification  For Decision 
Title:  

Background  

1. The restrictions listed in Appendix 1 have been requested by members of the public, 

councillors and council officers throughout the year preceding the BCP merger. The 

restrictions have been subject to Officer scrutiny and a scoring system. This has ranked 

the requests to enable the limited resources to be allocated to the most important 

locations.  

Summary of financial implications  

2. The costs associated with both the consultation and implementation of the Traffic 

Regulations Order (TRO) would be covered by the Permanent Traffic Regulation Order 

budget or by the developer/property owner in the case of new vehicle accesses or 

development works. The whole review cost is estimated to be £20,000. 

Summary of legal implications  

3. Highways Authorities are required by The Local Authorities' Traffic Orders (Procedure) 

(England and Wales) Regulations 1996 to undertake a statutory consultation process to 

make any change to a TRO. This process would include notifications to all relevant ward 

councillors and all statutory consultees (including emergency services, disability groups, 

local public transport providers, national transport associations and various council 

departments) and a three week public consultation noticed in the Bournemouth Daily 

Echo, on the council’s website and by on-street notices in the relevant locations. 

4. All representations received have been formally considered. 

Summary of human resources implications  

5. None 

Summary of environmental impact  

6. None 

286



SUB REPORT J 

 

Summary of public health implications  

7. None 

Summary of equality implications  

8. The Equality and Diversity Impact assessment is enclosed in the background papers. 

Summary of risk assessment  

9. The initial risk assessment has classed the proposals as low risk. 

Background papers  

Initial Risk assessment  
EINA Screening Record 
 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 – List of schemes 

 

287



SUB REPORT J 

 

Appendix 1 

 

Summary of Representations, and Responses to the proposals 

P16 2019 Autumn Review September 2019 

 

Legend:  NWAAT – No Waiting At Any Time (double yellow lines), DYL – Double Yellow Line, NLAAT – No Loading/unloading At Any Time (double kerb blip), SPP – 
Street Parking Place, DPP – Disabled Parking Place, SYL – Single Yellow Line, NRT – No Return Time 

 Road Name Proposed Restriction 

Description 

Location BCP Wards Response Decision 

1. Christchurch Road NWAAT (one car length) No. 475 'Targ Florio' garage. Vehicle Access 

widened. 

Boscombe West 1 Objection. 

Loss of parking near shops 

Implement as advertised 

Reason: The proposed restriction is 

necessary to facilitate vehicular access 

to the garage. There is no legal right to 

park on the highway and is only 

permitted where it is safe to do so. 

2. Alum Chine Road New APM No. 32. Vehicle Access widened. Westbourne & West 

Cliff 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

3. Wimborne Road Limited Waiting 10am-7pm 

Max stay 1hr NRT 1hr 

Outside No.520 (Opposite junction with Luther 

Rd) 

Winton East No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

4. Lymington Rd NWAAT O/s 261 Lymington Rd Highcliffe, New 

development 

Highcliffe & Walkford No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

5. Balmoral Avenue Unrestricted.  O/s 5 and 5A Strouden Park No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

6. Robert Louis Stevenson 

Avenue 

Unrestricted  No. 55 Westbourne & West 

Cliff 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

7. Old Mulberry Close Correct to NWAAT Rear of Snooker Hall, 5m northside, 10m south 

side. 

Wallisdown & Winton 

West 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

8. Bramley Rd NWAAT Outside No.35 Bramley Rd Kinson North 1 in support 

 

Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received 

9. The Triangle NLAAT Across the entrance to Commercial Lane Central No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

10. The Triangle NLAAT Across the exit from Commercial Lane Central No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

11. Ensbury Avenue/Slades 

Farm Road 

NWAAT Down the length of road Wallisdown & Winton 

West 

2 in support 

2 objections 

1 observation 

Parking restrictions not extensive 

enough 

It will push problem onto nearby roads 

Implement as advertised 

Reason:  There is no legal right to park 

on the highway and is only permitted 

where it is safe to do so. The restriction 

improves access at the junction with 

Slade Farm Road and improves visibility 

288



SUB REPORT J 

 

Parking for residents will be more difficult 

Road.  

at the junction of Cornish Gardens. 

12. Ashley Close NWAAT (extension) and 

Car & Motorcycle Only 

Alongside No.147A Ashley Rd East Cliff & 

Springbourne 

3 Objections 

Loss of parking. 

Concerns over personal safety from 

parking further away from residence 

 

 

Implement as advertised 

Reason: There is no legal right to park 

on the highway and is only permitted 

where it is safe to do so. The proposed 

restriction will reduce the likelihood of 

obstruction to an access and the parking 

bay will accommodate one parked car. 

13. Anchor Rd NWAAT / New bus cage 

marking and relocate bus 

stop to assist access to 

stop. 

Join the existing DYLs outside Nos.51-55 

Anchor Rd 

Kinson 1 Objection.  

No objection to the double yellow lines 

however the bus stop marking will 

prevent blue badge holder parking 

Implement waiting restriction as 

advertised (bus stop marking not be 

implemented).  

Reason: the implementation/ location of 

the bus stop marking could be reviewed 

at a later date  

14. Fenton Road New DYLs on both sides 

of the junction 

Junction of Fenton Road with Stourvale Road West Southbourne 1 in support Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

15. Southern Road NWAAT Outside No. 55 Southern Road West Southbourne No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

16. Harcourt Road NWAAT Junction of Harcourt Rd and Paunceforte Rd. 

NWAAT to start at a point 5 m NW of the 

boundary of 2 Granville Rd and 17 Pauncefote 

Rd (leaving the driveway clear) for a distance 

of 10m (just past the give-way marking of 

Pauncefote Rd). 

Boscombe East 1 objection. 

1 comment. 

Area is blighted by trailers, old cars etc 

yellow lines will displace these in front 

residential properties exacerbating 

problems experienced by residents 

Not to be implemented. 

Reason: Objection received by Ward 

Councillor 

17. St Merrin's Close NWAAT Junction with East Howe Lane Kinson North No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

18. Minstead Rd NWAAT Junction with East Howe Lane Redhill & 

Northbourne 

1 in support Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received 

19. Castle Lane West NWAAT From Castle Gate Close to The Broadway 

roundabout 

Strouden Park and 

Throop & Muscliffe 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

24. Belle Vue Close NWAAT Access to the close and right-hand side East Southbourne & 

Tuckton 

1 in support 

1 objection 

The double yellow lines will make 

parking will be more difficult for resident; 

in favour if a free residents parking 

scheme  

Implement as advertised 

Reason: The proposed restriction will 

improve access/egress in particular for 

service and delivery vehicles and will 

improve forward visibility at the bend. A 

residents parking scheme is outside the 

scope of this consultation 

25. Capstone Rd / Chapsworth 

Rd 

NWAAT Junction of Chapstone Rd and Chatsworth Rd. Queen's Park 1 observation 

Double yellow lines need to be extended 

further. 

Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received 

26. Beechey Road NWAAT Junction of Milton Rd East Cliff & No response received Implement as advertised 

289



SUB REPORT J 

 

Springbourne Reason: no objections received. 

28. Brazier Close NWAAT At junction with Hankinson Rd. 5m either side 

of junction Development built without a bell 

mouth at the junction. 

Winton East 2 in support Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received 

29. Glenmeadows Drive NWAAT junction of Kinson Road Kinson 1 in support 

1 objection 

The restriction would exacerbate parking 

on the inside of the bend  

Would like give way markings 

implemented at the junctions of 

Glenmeadows Drive and Griffiths Close 

Not to be implemented. 

Reason; The advertised restriction is in a 

different location to the original request. 

To be re-assessed at requested location 

in a future TRO review. 

 

32. Howard Road/ St Albans 

Avenue 

NWAAT Junction with St Albans Avenue - Large 

vehicles parked 

Queen’s Park 1 in support Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

33. Redhill Drive NWAAT parking in front of bus stop causing problems Redhill & 

Northbourne 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received 

34. Richmond Park Crescent NWAAT at Junction with Richmond Wood Road Queen’s Park No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

35. Howeth Road/Beverley 

Gardens 

NWAAT the bend in the road and rise in the road 

making seeing diff 

Redhill & 

Northbourne 

1 objection 

1 observation 

Loss of convenient parking  

Parking will be displaced 

Speed limit change of traffic calming 

should be considered 

Implement as advertised 

Reason: There is no legal right to park 

on the highway and is only permitted 

where it is safe to do so. Original request 

was from a Ward Councillor. The 

proposed restriction will improve visibility 

at the junction of Beverley Gardens. 

Speed limit and traffic calming review is 

outside the scope of this consultation 

36. Howard Road & Queens 

Park Avenue 

NWAAT resident worried about sight lines for exiting 

cars 

Queen’s Park 2 in support Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received 

37. Barnes Road Near Draycott 

Road 

NWAAT Junction with Barnes Rd and Draycott Road Redhill & 

Northbourne 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

38. St Pauls Lane Doctors Only Bay Outside St Pauls Hotel St Pauls Lane Bournemouth Central No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

39. Alumhurst Road/ Beaulieu 

Road 

NWAAT Junction with Beaulieu Road extend the DYLS Westbourne & West 

Cliff 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

40. Avon Buildings, Christchurch NWAAT Outside 13 Avon Buildings, Christchurch Christchurch Town 3 in support 

1 observation 

Submission observes that it may improve 

the situation but will not cure the 

problems generally being experienced in 

the road. Suggest residents permit 

scheme. 

 

Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received.  

The comments suggesting a residents 

parking scheme have been noted and 

could be considered in the future. 

 

290



SUB REPORT J 

 

41. Victoria Park Road NWAAT On the right hand side to restrict parking to one 

side of the road 

Wallisdown & Winton 

West 

1 in support 

15 objections 

Double yellow lines will inconvenience 

residents 

Displaced parking will occur pushing the 

problem elsewhere 

Double yellow lines will increase vehicle 

speeds 

The problem is caused by the queuing 

back from the traffic signal. 

Parking restrictions on the southern side 

would be better 

Problem is cause by ‘rat running’ traffic 

Junction improvement needed instead 

 

Not to be implemented. 

Reason: objections received indicating 

concerns of higher traffic speed and 

more traffic caused by the removal of 

parking. We will continue to monitor the 

location. 

42. Woodfield Road NWAAT Junction Creasey Road, Kinson Kinson No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

43. Brassey Road NWAAT From Brassey Close Wallisdown & Winton 

West 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

44. Bailey Drive NWAAT Whole Length of Road Christchurch Town No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

45. Corhampton Road Remove NWAAT Outside No. 37 Littledown & Iford No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

46. Frederica Road Remove part of DYL. 

Leave as unrestricted 

Outside Nos. 28 & 21 (both sides) reduce DYL 

back to island 

Wallisdown & Winton 

West 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

47. Haworth Close, Christchurch Unrestricted (part only) Eastern side of garage block Christchurch Area 1 in support including 32-signature 

petition 

1 objection 

1 observation 

Lines need to be enforced 

Alternative markings have been 

suggested. 

 

Implement as advertised 

Reason:  the original request and letter 

of support includes a 32-signature 

partition in support of the alterations. 

Amendments to the restrictions could be 

considered in the future. 

49. Warwick Road Unrestricted From Wickham Road to Christchurch Road 

(both sides) 

Boscombe East & 

Pokesdown 

10 in support 

2 objections 

Short stay parking should be provided 

instead 

Parking will impede manoeuvring from 

driveways  

Reduced visibility at junction with 

Wickham Road 

If residents wish to have more parking a 

residents parking scheme should be 

Implement a reduce scheme to retain 5m 

of the existing restriction in Warwick Rd 

at its junction with Wickham Road to 

maintain visibility at the junction  

Reason: to maintain visibility at the 

junction  

 

 

291



SUB REPORT J 

 

considered. 

Hannington Road parking restriction 

should also be reduced 

50. Wickham Road Unrestricted Junction Warwick Road Boscombe East & 

Pokesdown 

4 in support 

1 objection  

Parking will reduce visibility at junction 

Wickham Road 

Implement amended scheme to retain 

the existing restriction at its junction with 

Warwick Rd for 8m on the northern side 

and 6m on the southern (up to tactile 

paving). 

Reason: to maintain visibility at the 

junction and at the tactile paving 

52. Central Drive  all existing limited waiting bays Talbot & Branksome 

Woods 

2 objections. 

Loss of free long stay town centre 

parking. 

The restriction will curtail the use of 

Meyrick Park 

Not to be implemented. 

Reason: The proposed restriction is 

correcting anomalies in the TRO. 

Possible Parks Team review all car 

parking in parks. 

53. Christchurch Rd NWAAT South-eastern side of the roundabout between 

Christchurch Rd and Gervis Rd arms outside 

No.21 Christchurch Rd. 

East Cliff & 

Springbourne 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received 

55. Beacon Road NWAAT From its junction with Priory Rd to a point 10m 

south of its junction with the car park. 

Westbourne & West 

Cliff 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

56. St Catherine's Road NWAAT Rear of Co-op East Southbourne & 

Tuckton 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

57. Coronation Ave / Mayfield Rd NWAAT At junction of Coronation Ave and Mayfield Rd Moordown 1 Objection 

Loss of parking outside property  

Implement as advertised 

Reason: The proposed restriction is 

correcting an anomaly in the TRO. The 

current restriction does not reflect the 

existing carriageway markings.  

 

60. Howard Road NWAAT At junction with Richmond Park Avenue Queen's Park 1 in support 

1 observation 

Too many vehicles parked on Howard 

Road at the Richmond park Road end. 

Cars /vans block visibility from driveways 

Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

61. Michelgrove Road Revoke the SYL Adj to the side of No. 2 Boscombe Cliff Rd 

covering disused access 

Boscombe West No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

62. Calvin Road Reduce bays by 5m for 

revised vehicle access 

width 

Alongside Winton Liberal Club Winton East No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

63. Tuckton Road No Waiting 3pm-10am No 

Loading 3pm-10am 

loading only 10am-3pm 

Outside Tesco's Tuckton Road East Southbourne & 

Tuckton 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

64. Shelley Road East Remain the same Whole length, north side Boscombe East & 1 in support Implement as advertised 

292



SUB REPORT J 

 

Pokesdown Reason: no objections received 

65. Broadway, Hengistbury Head Bus Stop / Loading Bay - Eastern end of Broadway, o/s Hiker Café East Southbourne & 

Tuckton 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

66. Boundary Road Service 

Road (opp. 144) 

SYL: 10-11am / 15 Sept-

15 June / Mon - Fri 

Opposite 114 Norton Road (in Boundary Road 

Service Road): From a point 10m south of 

Norton Road for 15m south (west side) 

Wallisdown & Winton 

West 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

67. Parley Lane/ Bmth Airport 

Service Rd 

NWAAT Christchurch Road Service Road junction with 

Parley Lane 

Commons No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

68. The Triangle Revoke existing 

compulsory left turn. 

Across the exit from Commercial Lane Central No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

69. St Michael's Road One-way only (southerly) Between junctions with Purbeck Road Westbourne & West 

Cliff 

2 in support Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received 

70. Broadway Lane  Outside Muscliff Primary School. Throop & Muscliff No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

71. Washington Avenue Remove DYL. Leave as 

unrestricted 

Eastern side of the junction of Washington 

Avenue with Spring Road 

East Cliff & 

Springbourne 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

72. Deansleigh Road Unrestricted (unadopted 

road) 

Eastern arm off roundabout towards Everdene 

House 

Littledown & Iford No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. 

73 Redhill Drive NWAAT from its junction with Coombe Ave to Parkside 

Gardens on the western side only (side with 

properties). 

Redhill & 

Northbourne 

5 in support 

1 objection 

1 observation 

Prohibiting parking would be better on 

other side of road; this would allow 

visitor parking across driveways. 

Congestion occurs on Redhill Drive 

 

Implement as advertised 

Reason:  The proposed restriction will 

improve traffic flow and improved 

access/egress from driveways  

 

74. Stourvale Road Loading Bay Outside Unit 2, No. 163 West Southbourne 2 Observations 

Loading bays is a good idea but in the 

wrong place. Loading bay is too small. 

Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received. The 

position of the loading bays is per the 

original request and the length is limited 

by the position of vehicle crossovers. 

 

 

 

293



T
his page is intentionally left blank

294



 

 

Equality Impact Needs Assessment - Screening Record 
 
The Diversity Promise – Better for all 
 
 

Title of Policy/Service/Project Traffic Regulation Orders – Advertisement of Traffic Regulation Orders (Ref P16 2019) 

Date of screening 27 August 2019 

Service Unit Growth & Infrastructure 

Lead Responsible Officer Chris Parkes 

Job Title Team Leader - Traffic Management  

Members of the Assessment Team Chris Parkes, Kevin Rodda 

 
If the answers to the following questions are Yes or Don’t know, then a full EINA will need to be carried out. 
 

Is there likely to be a positive or negative impact in 
terms of equalities? 

No 

295



 

 

Does it involve a significant commitment of 
resources? 

No 

 
It is not necessary at the screening stage to identify adverse or differential impact 
 
It is important to remember that even when it is decided that a policy/service/project does not require an EINA, it remains subject to 
the general duties.  Not carrying out a full EINA places our council at greater risk of legal challenge because it cannot use the EINA 
process to meet our Public Duties around equality.  It also means, more importantly, that opportunities may have been missed to 
promote equality. 
 

If you have answered no to the questions above and do not intend to carry out an EINA, please explain why? 
 
The restrictions confirmed in this process are widely used elsewhere in the borough and do not have an equalities impact.   

 

296

http://biz/BusinessUnits/SS/EqualDivers/default.aspx


1 

Equality Impact Needs Assessment 
 
The Diversity Promise – Better for all 
 
 

1. Title of Policy/Service/Project 
Traffic Regulation Orders – Advertisement of Traffic Regulation Orders (Ref P16 
2019) 

2. Service Unit Growth & Infrastructure 

3. Lead Responsible Officer and Job 
Title 

Chris Parkes, Team Leader - Traffic Management 

4. Members of the Assessment Team: 
Chris Parkes 
Kevin Rodda 

5. Date assessment started: 
 

6. Date assessment completed: 

13 August 2019 
 
13 August 2019 

 
About the Policy/Service/Project: 
 

7. What type of policy/service/project is this? (delete as appropriate) 
 

New/Proposed Traffic Regulation Order 
 

8. What are the aims/objectives of the policy/service/project? (please include here all expected outcomes) 
 

To implement Traffic Regulation Orders at a number of sites as requested by members of the public.  Residents who hold 
a blue disabled badge for parking may apply for a residential disabled bay outside their home subject to certain conditions.  
All of the disabled bays relevant to this decision record meet the required conditions and have completed the statutory 
process required.  

297



2 

9. Are there any associated services, policies or procedures?  Yes 
 
If ‘Yes’, please list below: 

Parking Enforcement, Road Safety, Development Control, and all legal requirements applicable to implementing Traffic 
Regulation Orders. 

10. List the main people, or groups of people, that this policy/service/project is designed to benefit and any other stakeholders 
involved? 
 
Disabled Blue Badge Holders 

11. Will this policy/service/impact on any other organisation, statutory, voluntary or community and their clients/service users? 
 
No. 

 
 

Consultation, Monitoring and Research 
 
Where there is still insufficient information to properly assess the policy, appropriate and proportionate measures will be needed to 
fill the data gaps.  Examples include one-off studies or surveys, or holding informal consultation exercises to supplement the 
available statistical and qualitative data. 
 
If there is insufficient time before the implementation of the policy to inform the EINA, specific action points will be need to be 
clearly set out in the action plan. Steps must include monitoring arrangements which measure the actual impact and a date for a 
policy review. 
 
Consultation: 
 

12. What involvement/consultation has been done in relation to this (or a similar) policy/service/project and what are the 
results? 

 
A public consultation will be undertaken as well as advertising the consultation on-street via public notices, in the Daily 
Echo and on the council’s website. 

 

298



3 

Notifications were sent to all councillors and all statutory consultees including emergency services, disability groups, local 
public transport providers, national transport associations and various council departments. 
 
The results of the consultation will be added to the BCP Council website. 
 

13. If you have not carried out any consultation, or if you need to carry out further consultation, who will you be consulting with 
and by what methods? 

 
N/A 

 
 
Monitoring and Research: 
 

14. What data, research and other evidence or information is available which is relevant to this EINA? 
 

Residential disabled bays are advertised and consulted on a number of times a year resulting in approximately 30-40 bays 
being installed annually.  This service has proven to be very popular with disabled residents and as such this project is the 
latest batch of residential disabled bays to be installed. 

15. Is there any service user/employee monitoring data available and relevant to this policy/service/project?  What does it 
show in relation to equality groups? 
 
N/A 

16. If there is a lack of information, what further information do you need to carry out the assessment and how are you going 
to gather this? 
 
N/A 

 
 
 
 

299



4 

Assessing the Impact 
 

 
Actual or potential positive benefit Actual or potential negative outcome 

17.  
Age 

No impact No impact 

18.  
Disability 

Provides disabled parking adjacent to residents’ 
properties who are registered disabled and meet 
the requirements 

Non-disabled residents do not have parking spaces 
adjacent to their properties  

19.  
Gender  

No impact No impact 

20.  
Gender 
reassignment 

No impact No impact 

21.  
Pregnancy 
and 
Maternity 

No impact No impact 

22.  
Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

No impact No impact 

23.  
Race  

No impact No impact 

24.  
Religion or 
Belief 

No impact No impact 

25.  
Sexual 
Orientation 

No impact No impact 

300



5 

 
Actual or potential positive benefit Actual or potential negative outcome 

26.  
Any other 
factor/ 
groups e.g. 
socio-
economic 
status/carers 
etc 

No impact No impact 

27.  
Human 
Rights 

No impact No impact 

 

Stop - Any policy which shows actual or potential unlawful discrimination must be stopped, removed or 
changed. 
 

28. If impacts have been identified include them in the action plan what will be done to reduce these impacts, this could 
include a range of options from making adjustments to the policy to stopping and removing the policy altogether.  If no 
change is to be made, explain your decision: 

 

 
 
Action Plan 
 
Include: 

 What has/will be done to reduce the negative impacts on groups as identified above.   

 Detail of positive impacts and outcomes 

 The arrangements for monitoring the actual impact of the policy/service/project 
 
 

301



6 

29. Issue identified Action required to reduce impact Timescale Responsible officer 

Which Business Plan 
does this action link 

to e.g. Service 
Equality Action 
Plan/Team Plan 

Non-disabled residents do 
not receive parking spaces 
adjacent to their properties 

No action is proposed as able bodied 
residents can use an alternative 
parking space when a space adjacent 
to their home is unavailable. 

N/A N/A N/A 

 
 

302



V1.0

G2   Initial Risk Assessment
PROJECT NAME:

PROJECT RISK LEVEL: *

CRITERIA Score

1) Duration of Project 0-6 months 7-12 months Above 1 year
2

2) Effort 1-4 people (FTE) 5-10 people (FTE) 11+ people (FTE)
1

3) Business Impact Service Unit/Service More than 1 SU Council/External
10

4) Priority Desirable Highly Desirable Essential
1

5) Costs &/or Savings Up to £250k £251k-£500k Over £501k or if project is to be funded through 

prudential borrowing
2

6) Risk Impact Low Impact - Minor service 

disruption/inconvenience, minor 

injury, small financial loss, isolated 

service user complaint.

Medium Impact - Service 

disruption, More serious injury or 

financial loss, adverse media 

coverage, numerous service user 

complaints

High Impact - Significant or total service 

disruption, major disabling injury or fatality, 

high or catastrophic financial loss, adverse 

national media coverage, ministerial intervention 

in service running.

1

Risk 

Score
17

Table 1 - Risk Status 

Project Risk Rating Points Total

Low Between 10-18

Medium Between 19-35

High 36+

Traffic Regulation Orders – Advertisement of Traffic Regulation Orders (Ref P16 2019)

Table 1 - Suggested criteria on which to score the type of project (please tick appropriate category)

PROJECT NUMBER: To be obtained from PMO

LOW

A numerical rating is applied to each cell (see Table 1)  For example a ‘Priority’ of ‘Highly Desirable’ is worth 3 points and a ‘Cost’ of ‘£501-£1m’ is worth 5 points. Totalling the points scored for each 

‘criteria’ gives a project score. This score is then mapped against a project-risk status in Table 1 below: 

Initial Risk Assessment

P16 2019 Initial Risk Assessment (IRA) 1

303



T
his page is intentionally left blank

304



SUB REPORT K 

 

CABINET 

 

Report subject  Traffic Regulation Orders – Sealing of Traffic Regulation 
Orders (Ref P17 2019)      

Meeting date  27 May 2020 

Status  Public Report  

Executive summary  To consider representations following the advertisement of Traffic 
Regulation Order for P17 2019 October Review 

Recommendations The Transportation Advisory Group is asked to consider 
recommending to the Cabinet that it approves: 

 The Order is confirmed and sealed as detailed in Appendix 1 

Reason for 
recommendations 

P17 2019 October Review  

To approve the making/sealing of the proposed changes to the 

Traffic Regulation Order so that the new restrictions (to improve the 

parking facilities available to the local community, improve road 

safety and to ensure essential services can take place) can be 

implemented. 

 

  

305

Agenda Item 16k



SUB REPORT K 

 

Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Andy Hadley – Cabinet Member for Transport and 
Infrastructure 

Corporate Director  Bill Cotton – Director of Regeneration and Economy 

Service Director Julian McLaughlin – Director of Growth & Infrastructure 

Report Authors Chris Parkes – Team Leader Traffic Management  

Wards  Various 

Classification  For Decision 
Title:  

Background  

1. The restrictions listed in Appendix 1 have been requested by members of the public, 

councillors and council officers throughout the year preceding the BCP merger. The 

restrictions have been subject to Officer scrutiny and a scoring system. This has ranked 

the requests to enable the limited resources to be allocated to the most important 

locations.  

Summary of financial implications  

2. The costs associated with both the consultation and implementation of the Traffic 

Regulations Order (TRO) would be covered by the Permanent Traffic Regulation Order 

budget or by the developer/property owner in the case of new vehicle accesses or 

development works. The whole review cost is estimated to be £10,000. 

Summary of legal implications  

3. Highways Authorities are required by The Local Authorities' Traffic Orders (Procedure) 

(England and Wales) Regulations 1996 to undertake a statutory consultation process to 

make any change to a TRO. The process includes notifications to all relevant ward 

councillors and all statutory consultees (including emergency services, disability groups, 

local public transport providers, national transport associations and various council 

departments) and a three week public consultation noticed in the Bournemouth Daily 

Echo, on the council’s website and by on-street notices in the relevant locations. 

4. All representations received have been formally considered. 

Summary of human resources implications  

5. None 

Summary of environmental impact  

6. None 

Summary of public health implications  

7. None 

306



SUB REPORT K 

 

Summary of equality implications  

8. The Equality and Diversity Impact assessment is enclosed in the background papers. 

Summary of risk assessment  

9. The initial risk assessment has classed the proposals as low risk. 

Background papers  

Initial Risk assessment  

EINA Screening Record 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 – List of schemes 

 

307



SUB REPORT K 

 

Appendix 1 

 

Summary of Representations, and Responses to the proposals 

P17 2019 Autumn Review October 2019 

 

 

The outcome of the public consultation was; 

 

Legend:  NWAAT – No Waiting At Any Time (double yellow lines), DYL – Double Yellow Line, NLAAT – No Loading/unloading At Any Time (double kerb 
blip), SPP – Street Parking Place, DPP – Disabled Parking Place, SYL – Single Yellow Line, NRT – No Return Time, TRO – Traffic Regulation Order 

 
 Road Name Proposed Restriction 

Description 

Location BCP Wards Response Decision 

1. Arthur Lane Christchurch  NWAAT Junction with Belvedere Road and Arthur Road Christchurch Town No response received. Implement as advertised. 

Reason: no objections received. 

3. Avon Close  NWAAT Extend the double yellow lines  East Cliff & 

Springbourne 

No response received. Implement as advertised. 

Reason: no objections received. 

6. Belle Vue Road  NWAAT Across the Bolton Close and between properties 

103-105 Belle Vue Road 

East Southbourne & 

Tucton 

No response received. Implement as advertised. 

Reason: no objections received. 

7. Browning Avenue NWAAT Even nos. from No 2, through to no. 18 

Browning Avenue 

Boscombe East & 

Pokesdown 

1 in support 

 

Implement as advertised. 

Reason: no objections received. 

10. Cranemoor Avenue / 

Cranemoor Close  

NWAAT around junction 

and limited wait 2 hours  

Cranemoor Avenue and Cranemoor close  Highcliffe & 

Walkford 

5 in support 

4 objections 

Local government should be encouraging 

train commuters  

Parking will be displaced pushing the 

problem elsewhere. 

Parking restriction will inconvenience 

residents 

Proposed parking restrictions should be 

extended 

Implement as advertised 

Reason:  The proposed restriction will 

improve access at the junction with 

Hinton Wood Avenue and at the 

junction of Cranmoor Close with 

Cranmoor Avenue. There is no legal 

right to park on the highway and is 

only permitted where it is safe to do so 

11. Hillcrest Road/Priory View 

Road 

NWAAT DYL needed around the corner with Priory View 

Road 

Moordown 2 in support 

 

Implement as advertised. 

Reason: no objections received. 

308



SUB REPORT K 

 

12. Hyde Mews, Christchurch NWAAT DYLs around turning circle Christchurch Town 1 in support 

1 objection 

1 observation 

Parking restriction will make it more 

difficult for residents to park. 

Suggest parking restrictions at the junction 

with Clarendon Road 

Suggest permit scheme or time restricted 

scheme during school times 

Implement as advertised. 

Reason: The proposed restriction will 

improve turning for delivery and 

service vehicles. 

13. Hopkins Close  NWAAT On entrance to Hopkins close where is connect 

with Jewell Rd 

Muscliff & Strouden 

Park 

No response received. Implement as advertised. 

Reason: no objections received. 

16. Kinson Road NWAAT Currently unrestricted outside the shell garage Kinson 1 in support. 

 

Implement as advertised. 

Reason: no objections received. 

17. Littledown Avenue NWAAT plus NLAAT. 10m 

around junction. 

Junction of Littledown Drive Littledown & Iford 1 in support. 

 

Implement as advertised. 

Reason: no objections received. 

18. Madeira Road Re advertise Loading Bay  Outside Leyton Mount area bottom end of 

Madeira Road  

Bournemouth 

Central 

4 objections. 

Existing loading facilities are sufficient. 

Flat owners bought their properties with 

the understanding that vehicles would not 

be parked outside. 

Delivery vehicles that currently unload 

here park and obstruct the footway. 

Loading bay would be detrimental to the 

good working of Horseshoe Common. 

Not to be implemented. 

Reason: No support for the scheme. 

Ward Councillor objection. Retain 

existing loading restriction. 

19. Malvern Road School keep clear Outside St Walburga’s school opposite 155 

Malvern Road  

Moordown No response received. Implement as advertised. 

Reason: no objections received. 

20. Mudeford and Farm Lane  NWAAT Corner of Mudeford and bay on Farm Lane  Mudeford, Stanpit & 

West Highcliffe 

3 objections. 

Loss of parking would be detrimental to 

local businesses. 

Parking would be displaced to a 

dangerous location 

Implement as advertised. 

Reason: The junction has a recorded 

Personal Injury Collision history. The 

proposed restriction improves access 

and visibility at the junction. There is 

no legal right to park on the highway 

and is only permitted where it is safe 

to do so.  

21. Norfolk Ave (St Catherine’s 

Parade) (Adj. to 241 

Fairmile Rd) 

NWAAT Norfolk Ave closure point at the junction with St 

Catherine’s Parade 

Commons 2 objections. 

Loss of parking.  

 

 

 

Implement as advertised. 

Reason: The proposed restriction will 

improve through access for cyclists 

(past the bollards). There is no legal 

right to park on the highway and is 

only permitted where it is safe to do 

so. 

22. Oakwood Close  NWAAT On the corner with Oakwood Road  Moordown No response received. Implement as advertised. 

Reason: no objections received. 

309



SUB REPORT K 

 

23. Paisley Road/ Watcombe 

Road 

NWAAT Junction with Paisley and Watcombe to prevent 

large vehicles parking and to prevent accident 

on approach to the junction 

East Southbourne & 

Tuckton 

No response received. Implement as advertised. 

Reason: no objections received. 

24. Portchester Road NWAAT In front of the entrance to Portchester Court East Cliff & 

Springbourne 

1 observation. 

Road marking are need for whole of road. 

Cars double park. 

Implement as advertised. 

Reason: no objections received 

25. Queens Avenue 

Christchurch 
1 hour limited wait 

allow more time in this location to use local 

amenities 
Christchurch Town 

No response received. Implement as advertised. 

Reason: no objections received. 

26. Rowena Road NWAAT Southlea Ave junctions with Horsa Road and 

Rowena Road (full 10m) 

East Southbourne & 

Tuckton 

1 objection. 

Will exacerbate problem of parking close 

to property. 

 

Implement as advertised. 

Reason: The proposed restriction 

improves visibility at the junction. 

There is no legal right to park on the 

highway and is only permitted where it 

is safe to do so 

27. Southlea Avenue NWAAT Southlea Ave junctions with Horsa Road and 

Rowena Road (full 10m) 

East Southbourne & 

Tuckton 

3 objections. 

Will exacerbate problem of parking close 

to property. 

Suggests removal of time restricted 

parking bays. 

Removal of parking will increase vehicle 

speed. 

Does not want double yellow across 

property’s dropped kerb. 

 

 

Implement as advertised. 

Reason: The proposed restriction 

improves visibility at the junction. 

There is no legal right to park on the 

highway and is only permitted where it 

is safe to do so. 

28. Stour Road  NWAAT Outside No 12 Stour Road Christchurch Town 2 in support 

2 objections 

Proposed restriction will not improve traffic 

flow. Bus stop should be re-positioned. 

The proposed restriction would improve 

safety of motorist and cyclists. 

 

 

Implement as advertised. 

Reason: The proposed restriction will 

improve traffic flow and congestion. 

There is no legal right to park on the 

highway and is only permitted where it 

is safe to do so. 

29. Strouden Avenue and 

Charminster Road  

NWAAT White Lines ineffective form Strouden Avenue 

down to Ashling Crescent 

Queen’s Park 1 in support 

1 objections 

1 observation 

Will improve inconsiderate parking. 

Agree in principle would lie the restriction 

extended past driveway 

Displaced parking. 

 

Implement as advertised. 

Reason: The proposed restriction 

completes the junction accessibility 

improvement scheme. The restriction 

will reduce inconsiderate parking close 

to accesses. 

There is no legal right to park on the 

highway and is only permitted where it 

is safe to do so. 

310



SUB REPORT K 

 

30. Surrey Gardens  NWAAT Upper end of Surrey Gardens in the turning 

circle  

Talbot & Branksome 

Woods 

1 in support  

4 objections 

Loss of parking would adversely affect the 

residents. 

Suggest a reduce scheme. 

Existing restrictions not enforced. 

Parking has never been an issue 

Areas is needed for visitor parking and 

trade-people. 

Not to be implemented. 

Reason: Little support for the scheme. 

Service and delivery vehicles can use 

alternative turning area.  

33. Wickfield Avenue, 

Christchurch 

NWAAT (short section 

only) 

Between Sopers Lane and the eastern loop of 

Wickfield Ave (part- north side)  

Christchurch Town 7 in support  

1 observation 

Requesting details of the scheme 

Implement as advertised. 

Reason: no objections received. 

34. Winsford Close Christchurch  NWAAT Allow more visibility from the junction onto Nada 

Road 

Highcliffe & 

Walkford 

1 in support. 

2 objections. 

No reason for restriction. 

Yellow lines would be out of character 

Restriction would not be enforced 

Implement as advertised. 

Reason: The proposed restriction 

improves visibility at the junction. 

There is no legal right to park on the 

highway and is only permitted where it 

is safe to do so. 

 

311



T
his page is intentionally left blank

312



 

 

Equality Impact Needs Assessment - Screening Record 
 
The Diversity Promise – Better for all 

 
 

Title of Policy/Service/Project Traffic Regulation Orders – Advertisement of Traffic Regulation Orders (Ref P17 2019) 

Date of screening 27 August 2019 

Service Unit Growth & Infrastructure 

Lead Responsible Officer Chris Parkes 

Job Title Team Leader - Traffic Management  

Members of the Assessment Team Chris Parkes, Kevin Rodda 

 
If the answers to the following questions are Yes or Don’t know, then a full EINA will need to be carried out. 
 

Is there likely to be a positive or negative impact in 
terms of equalities? 

No 

313



 

 

Does it involve a significant commitment of 
resources? 

No 

 
It is not necessary at the screening stage to identify adverse or differential impact 
 
It is important to remember that even when it is decided that a policy/service/project does not require an EINA, it remains subject to 
the general duties.  Not carrying out a full EINA places our council at greater risk of legal challenge because it cannot use the EINA 
process to meet our Public Duties around equality.  It also means, more importantly, that opportunities may have been missed to 

promote equality. 
 

If you have answered no to the questions above and do not intend to carry out an EINA, please explain why? 
 
The restrictions confirmed in this process are widely used elsewhere in the borough and do not have an equalities impact.   

 

314



1 

Equality Impact Needs Assessment 
 
The Diversity Promise – Better for all 
 
 

1. Title of Policy/Service/Project 
Traffic Regulation Orders – Advertisement of Traffic Regulation Orders (Ref P17 
2019) 

2. Service Unit Growth & Infrastructure 

3. Lead Responsible Officer and Job 
Title 

Chris Parkes, Team Leader - Traffic Management 

4. Members of the Assessment Team: 
Chris Parkes 
Kevin Rodda 

5. Date assessment started: 
 

6. Date assessment completed: 

13 August 2019 
 
13 August 2019 

 
About the Policy/Service/Project: 
 

7. What type of policy/service/project is this? (delete as appropriate) 
 

New/Proposed Traffic Regulation Order 
 

8. What are the aims/objectives of the policy/service/project? (please include here all expected outcomes) 
 

To implement Traffic Regulation Orders at a number of sites as requested by members of the public.  Residents who hold 
a blue disabled badge for parking may apply for a residential disabled bay outside their home subject to certain conditions.  
All of the disabled bays relevant to this decision record meet the required conditions and have completed the statutory 
process required.  

315



2 

9. Are there any associated services, policies or procedures?  Yes 
 
If ‘Yes’, please list below: 

Parking Enforcement, Road Safety, Development Control, and all legal requirements applicable to implementing Traffic 
Regulation Orders. 

10. List the main people, or groups of people, that this policy/service/project is designed to benefit and any other stakeholders 
involved? 
 
Disabled Blue Badge Holders 

11. Will this policy/service/impact on any other organisation, statutory, voluntary or community and their clients/service users? 
 
No. 

 
 

Consultation, Monitoring and Research 
 
Where there is still insufficient information to properly assess the policy, appropriate and proportionate measures will be needed to 
fill the data gaps.  Examples include one-off studies or surveys, or holding informal consultation exercises to supplement the 
available statistical and qualitative data. 
 
If there is insufficient time before the implementation of the policy to inform the EINA, specific action points will be need to be 
clearly set out in the action plan. Steps must include monitoring arrangements which measure the actual impact and a date for a 
policy review. 
 
Consultation: 
 

12. What involvement/consultation has been done in relation to this (or a similar) policy/service/project and what are the 
results? 

 
A public consultation will be undertaken as well as advertising the consultation on-street via public notices, in the Daily 
Echo and on the council’s website. 

 

316



3 

Notifications were sent to all councillors and all statutory consultees including emergency services, disability groups, local 
public transport providers, national transport associations and various council departments. 
 
The results of the consultation will be added to the BCP Council website. 
 

13. If you have not carried out any consultation, or if you need to carry out further consultation, who will you be consulting with 
and by what methods? 

 
N/A 

 
 
Monitoring and Research: 
 

14. What data, research and other evidence or information is available which is relevant to this EINA? 
 

Residential disabled bays are advertised and consulted on a number of times a year resulting in approximately 30-40 bays 
being installed annually.  This service has proven to be very popular with disabled residents and as such this project is the 
latest batch of residential disabled bays to be installed. 

15. Is there any service user/employee monitoring data available and relevant to this policy/service/project?  What does it 
show in relation to equality groups? 
 
N/A 

16. If there is a lack of information, what further information do you need to carry out the assessment and how are you going 
to gather this? 
 
N/A 

 
 
 
 

317



4 

Assessing the Impact 
 

 
Actual or potential positive benefit Actual or potential negative outcome 

17.  
Age 

No impact No impact 

18.  
Disability 

Provides disabled parking adjacent to residents’ 
properties who are registered disabled and meet 
the requirements 

Non-disabled residents do not have parking spaces 
adjacent to their properties  

19.  
Gender  

No impact No impact 

20.  
Gender 
reassignment 

No impact No impact 

21.  
Pregnancy 
and 
Maternity 

No impact No impact 

22.  
Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

No impact No impact 

23.  
Race  

No impact No impact 

24.  
Religion or 
Belief 

No impact No impact 

25.  
Sexual 
Orientation 

No impact No impact 

318



5 

 
Actual or potential positive benefit Actual or potential negative outcome 

26.  
Any other 
factor/ 
groups e.g. 
socio-
economic 
status/carers 
etc 

No impact No impact 

27.  
Human 
Rights 

No impact No impact 

 

Stop - Any policy which shows actual or potential unlawful discrimination must be stopped, removed or 
changed. 
 

28. If impacts have been identified include them in the action plan what will be done to reduce these impacts, this could 
include a range of options from making adjustments to the policy to stopping and removing the policy altogether.  If no 
change is to be made, explain your decision: 

 

 
 
Action Plan 
 
Include: 

 What has/will be done to reduce the negative impacts on groups as identified above.   

 Detail of positive impacts and outcomes 

 The arrangements for monitoring the actual impact of the policy/service/project 
 
 

319



6 

29. Issue identified Action required to reduce impact Timescale Responsible officer 

Which Business Plan 
does this action link 

to e.g. Service 
Equality Action 
Plan/Team Plan 

Non-disabled residents do 
not receive parking spaces 
adjacent to their properties 

No action is proposed as able bodied 
residents can use an alternative 
parking space when a space adjacent 
to their home is unavailable. 

N/A N/A N/A 

 
 

320



V1.0

G2   Initial Risk Assessment
PROJECT NAME:

PROJECT RISK LEVEL: *

CRITERIA Score

1) Duration of Project 0-6 months 7-12 months Above 1 year
2

2) Effort 1-4 people (FTE) 5-10 people (FTE) 11+ people (FTE)
1

3) Business Impact Service Unit/Service More than 1 SU Council/External
10

4) Priority Desirable Highly Desirable Essential
1

5) Costs &/or Savings Up to £250k £251k-£500k Over £501k or if project is to be funded through 

prudential borrowing
2

6) Risk Impact Low Impact - Minor service 

disruption/inconvenience, minor 

injury, small financial loss, isolated 

service user complaint.

Medium Impact - Service 

disruption, More serious injury or 

financial loss, adverse media 

coverage, numerous service user 

complaints

High Impact - Significant or total service 

disruption, major disabling injury or fatality, 

high or catastrophic financial loss, adverse 

national media coverage, ministerial 

intervention in service running.

1

Risk 

Score
17

Table 1 - Risk Status 

Project Risk Rating Points Total

Low Between 10-18

Medium Between 19-35

High 36+

Traffic Regulation Orders – Advertisement of Traffic Regulation Orders (Ref P17 2019)

Table 1 - Suggested criteria on which to score the type of project (please tick appropriate category)

PROJECT NUMBER: To be obtained from PMO

LOW

A numerical rating is applied to each cell (see Table 1)  For example a ‘Priority’ of ‘Highly Desirable’ is worth 3 points and a ‘Cost’ of ‘£501-£1m’ is worth 5 points. Totalling the points scored for each 

‘criteria’ gives a project score. This score is then mapped against a project-risk status in Table 1 below: 

Initial Risk Assessment

P17 2019 Initial Risk Assessment (IRA) 1

321



T
his page is intentionally left blank

322



SUB REPORT L 

 

CABINET 

 

Report subject Traffic Regulation Orders – Sealing of Traffic Regulation Order 

Ref P18 2019 

Meeting date 27 May 2020 

Status Public Report  

Executive summary To consider representations following the advertisement of the 

Traffic Regulation Order for P18 2019 Disabled Bay Proposals 

Recommendations 
The Transportation Advisory Group is asked to consider 
recommending to the Cabinet that it approves: 

 the order is confirmed and sealed as detailed in Appendix 1. 

Reason for 

recommendations 

To approve the making sealing of the Traffic Regulation Order 

(TRO) so that new on-street disabled bays and changes to existing 

on-street disabled bays can be implemented. 

 

Portfolio Holder(s): Councillor Andy Hadley – Cabinet Member for Transport and 

Infrastructure 

Corporate Director Bill Cotton – Director of Regeneration and Economy 

Service Director Julian McLaughlin – Director of Growth & Infrastructure 

Contributors Chris Parkes – Team Leader Traffic Management  

Steve Dean – Traffic Management Engineer 

Wards Various 

Classification For Decision 

Title:  

Background  

1. Residents who hold a blue disabled badge for parking may apply for a residential 

disabled bay outside their home subject to certain conditions. These can be either a 

general disabled bay for use by all blue badge holders, or a permit bay for use by the 

permit holder only. 

All the proposed disabled bays in Appendix 1 meet the required conditions and have 

successfully completed the disabled bay application process. All the proposed removals 

have been requested by the applicant or residents and have been ratified by Officers. 

323

Agenda Item 16l



SUB REPORT L 

 

Summary of financial implications  

2. The costs associated with both the consultation and implementation of the Traffic 

Regulations Order (TRO) would be covered by the income from the disabled bay 

application fees. The whole review cost is estimated to be £8,000. 

Summary of legal implications  

Highways Authorities are required to give formal consideration to any representations 

received during the advertisement period. 

Summary of human resources implications  

3.  None 

Summary of environmental impact  

4. None 

Summary of public health implications  

5. None 

Summary of equality implications  

6. Any Equality and Diversity Impact assessments are enclosed in the background papers. 

Summary of risk assessment  

7. Any initial risk assessments that have been completed have been classed as low risk. 

Background papers  

Initial Risk assessment  

EINA Screening Record 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 – List of schemes, summary of representations and responses to issues raised. 

  

324



SUB REPORT L 

 

Appendix 1 

 

Summary of Representations to P18 2019 Disabled Bay Proposals 

 

Legend:  DPP – Disabled Parking Place 
 Road Name Location Proposed Restriction 

Description 

Existing 

Restriction 

BCP Wards Response Decision 

1.  Jewell Road Adjacent to No. 181 Jewell 

Road 

Disabled - Permit Unrestricted Strouden Park No response received Not to be implemented via this 

Traffic Order 

Reason: included in this Traffic 

Order in error, previously included 

in P1 2019 

2.  Ibbertson Road Adjacent to No. 33 

Ibbertson Road 

Disabled - Permit Unrestricted Muscliff & Strouden 

Park 

No response received Not to be implemented 

Reason: Incorrect location 

advertised. The proposal for a 

permit disabled bay at the rear of 

the property on Ibbertson Way will 

be included in the next available 

traffic order. 

3.  Marmion Green Adjacent to the side of 7 

Marmion green (parking 

bay in Amethyst Road) 

Disabled - Permit Unrestricted Burton & Grange No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received 

4.  St Marys Road 

Bournemouth 

Adjacent to No. 2 St Marys 

Road 

Disabled - Permit Unrestricted East Cliff & 

Springbourne 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received 

325



SUB REPORT L 

 

5.  Kings Park Road Adjacent to No. 14 Kings 

Park Road 

Disabled - General Unrestricted East Cliff & 

Springbourne 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received 

6.  Coronation Avenue 28 Coronation Avenue Disabled - Conversion Disabled Bay Moordown 4 in support 

2 objections: 

- the existing bay is used by other 

blue badge holders, both 

residents and visitors 

- suggests additional bay is 

provided 

- questions eligibility for the bay 

- bay will be under-utilised as 

applicant has in the past been 

away for months  

Implement as advertised 

Reason: 

- the existing disabled bay was 

provided for this permit bay 

applicant  

- other residents who hold a blue 

badge may apply for a disabled 

bay 

- the conditions for a permit 

disabled bay have been met 

7.  Norwich Avenue 

West 

Adjacent to No. 34 Norwich 

Avenue West 

Disabled - Permit No Waiting At Any 

Time 

Bournemouth Central No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received 

8.  St Clements Road Adjacent to No. 36 St 

Clements Road 

Disabled - Permit Unrestricted Boscombe West No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received 

9.  Cheshire Drive Adjacent to No. 15 

Cheshire Drive. In last bay 

closest to the garages 

(near A338) beside the 

concrete bollards. 

Disabled - General Unrestricted Muscliff & Strouden 

Park 

1 objection received: 

- allows one resident their own 

parking space 

- parking is a problem as just 7 

spaces for 12 flats and parking 

taken by JP Morgan, leisure 

Implement as advertised 

Reason:  

- the disabled bay allows for a 

blue badge holder to access their 

vehicle as close as possible to 

326



SUB REPORT L 

 

centre and hospital workers 

 

their property 

- the conditions for a residential 

disabled bay have been met 

10.  Lincoln Avenue Adjacent to No. 34 Lincoln 

Avenue 

Disabled - Conversion Disabled Bay East Cliff & 

Springbourne 

No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received 

11.  Linwood Road Adjacent to No. 14 

Linwood Road 

Disabled - Permit Unrestricted Winton East No response received Implement as advertised 

Reason: no objections received 

 

 

327



T
his page is intentionally left blank

328



1 

Equality Impact Needs Assessment 
 
The Diversity Promise – Better for all 

 
 

1. Title of Policy/Service/Project Disabled Bay Proposals – October 2019 (P18 2019) 

2. Service Unit Growth & Infrastructure 

3. Lead Responsible Officer and Job 
Title 

Chris Parkes, Team Leader - Traffic Management 

4. Members of the Assessment Team: 
Chris Parkes 
Kevin Rodda 

5. Date assessment started: 
 

6. Date assessment completed: 

13 August 2019 
 
13 August 2019 

 
About the Policy/Service/Project: 
 

7. What type of policy/service/project is this? (delete as appropriate) 
 

New/Proposed Traffic Regulation Order 
 

8. What are the aims/objectives of the policy/service/project? (please include here all expected outcomes) 
 

To implement Traffic Regulation Orders at a number of sites as requested by members of the public.  Residents who hold 
a blue disabled badge for parking may apply for a residential disabled bay outside their home subject to certain conditions.  
All of the disabled bays relevant to this decision record meet the required conditions and have completed the statutory 
process required.  

329



2 

9. Are there any associated services, policies or procedures?  Yes 
 
If ‘Yes’, please list below: 

Parking Enforcement, Road Safety, Development Control, and all legal requirements applicable to implementing Traffic 
Regulation Orders. 

10. List the main people, or groups of people, that this policy/service/project is designed to benefit and any other stakeholders 
involved? 
 
Disabled Blue Badge Holders 

11. Will this policy/service/impact on any other organisation, statutory, voluntary or community and their clients/service users? 
 
No. 

 
 

Consultation, Monitoring and Research 
 
Where there is still insufficient information to properly assess the policy, appropriate and proportionate measures will be needed to 
fill the data gaps.  Examples include one-off studies or surveys, or holding informal consultation exercises to supplement the 
available statistical and qualitative data. 
 
If there is insufficient time before the implementation of the policy to inform the EINA, specific action points will be need to be 
clearly set out in the action plan. Steps must include monitoring arrangements which measure the actual impact and a date for a 
policy review. 
 
Consultation: 
 

12. What involvement/consultation has been done in relation to this (or a similar) policy/service/project and what are the 
results? 

 
A public consultation will be undertaken as well as advertising the consultation on-street via public notices, in the Daily 
Echo and on the council’s website. 

 

330



3 

Notifications were sent to all councillors and all statutory consultees including emergency services, disability groups, local 
public transport providers, national transport associations and various council departments. 
 
The results of the consultation will be added to the BCP Council website. 
 

13. If you have not carried out any consultation, or if you need to carry out further consultation, who will you be consulting with 
and by what methods? 

 
N/A 

 
 
Monitoring and Research: 
 

14. What data, research and other evidence or information is available which is relevant to this EINA? 
 

Residential disabled bays are advertised and consulted on a number of times a year resulting in approximately 30-40 bays 
being installed annually.  This service has proven to be very popular with disabled residents and as such this project is the 
latest batch of residential disabled bays to be installed. 

15. Is there any service user/employee monitoring data available and relevant to this policy/service/project?  What does it 
show in relation to equality groups? 
 
N/A 

16. If there is a lack of information, what further information do you need to carry out the assessment and how are you going 
to gather this? 
 
N/A 

 
 
 
 

331



4 

Assessing the Impact 
 

 
Actual or potential positive benefit Actual or potential negative outcome 

17.  
Age 

No impact No impact 

18.  
Disability 

Provides disabled parking adjacent to residents’ 
properties who are registered disabled and meet 
the requirements 

Non-disabled residents do not have parking spaces 
adjacent to their properties  

19.  
Gender  

No impact No impact 

20.  
Gender 
reassignment 

No impact No impact 

21.  
Pregnancy 
and 
Maternity 

No impact No impact 

22.  
Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

No impact No impact 

23.  
Race  

No impact No impact 

24.  
Religion or 
Belief 

No impact No impact 

25.  
Sexual 
Orientation 

No impact No impact 

332



5 

 
Actual or potential positive benefit Actual or potential negative outcome 

26.  
Any other 
factor/ 
groups e.g. 
socio-
economic 
status/carers 
etc 

No impact No impact 

27.  
Human 
Rights 

No impact No impact 

 

Stop - Any policy which shows actual or potential unlawful discrimination must be stopped, removed or 
changed. 
 

28. If impacts have been identified include them in the action plan what will be done to reduce these impacts, this could 

include a range of options from making adjustments to the policy to stopping and removing the policy altogether.  If no 
change is to be made, explain your decision: 

 

 
 
Action Plan 
 
Include: 

• What has/will be done to reduce the negative impacts on groups as identified above.   

• Detail of positive impacts and outcomes 

• The arrangements for monitoring the actual impact of the policy/service/project 
 
 

333



6 

29. Issue identified Action required to reduce impact Timescale Responsible officer 

Which Business Plan 
does this action link 

to e.g. Service 
Equality Action 
Plan/Team Plan 

Non-disabled residents do 
not receive parking spaces 
adjacent to their properties 

No action is proposed as able bodied 
residents can use an alternative 
parking space when a space adjacent 
to their home is unavailable. 

N/A N/A N/A 

 
 

334



V1.0

G2   Initial Risk Assessment
PROJECT NAME:

PROJECT RISK LEVEL: *

CRITERIA Score

1) Duration of Project 0-6 months 7-12 months Above 1 year
2

2) Effort 1-4 people (FTE) 5-10 people (FTE) 11+ people (FTE)
1

3) Business Impact Service Unit/Service More than 1 SU Council/External
10

4) Priority Desirable Highly Desirable Essential
1

5) Costs &/or Savings Up to £250k £251k-£500k Over £501k or if project is to be funded through 

prudential borrowing
2

6) Risk Impact Low Impact - Minor service 

disruption/inconvenience, minor 

injury, small financial loss, isolated 

service user complaint.

Medium Impact - Service 

disruption, More serious injury or 

financial loss, adverse media 

coverage, numerous service user 

complaints

High Impact - Significant or total service 

disruption, major disabling injury or fatality, 

high or catastrophic financial loss, adverse 

national media coverage, ministerial 

intervention in service running.

1

Risk 

Score
17

Table 1 - Risk Status 

Project Risk Rating Points Total

Low Between 10-18

Medium Between 19-35

High 36+

Disabled Bay Proposals – October 2019 (P18 2019)

Table 1 - Suggested criteria on which to score the type of project (please tick appropriate category)

PROJECT NUMBER: To be obtained from PMO

LOW

A numerical rating is applied to each cell (see Table 1)  For example a ‘Priority’ of ‘Highly Desirable’ is worth 3 points and a ‘Cost’ of ‘£501-£1m’ is worth 5 points. Totalling the points scored for each 

‘criteria’ gives a project score. This score is then mapped against a project-risk status in Table 1 below: 

Initial Risk Assessment

P18 2019 Initial Risk Assessment (IRA) 1

335



T
his page is intentionally left blank

336


	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of Minutes
	6 Update on BCP Council's Response to the Covid-19 Pandemic
	7 BCP Council Finance Update
	Enc. 1 for BCP Council Finance Update
	Enc. 8 for BCP Council Finance Update
	Enc. 7 for BCP Council Finance Update
	Enc. 5 for BCP Council Finance Update

	8 Bournemouth Development Company LLP Business Plan
	Appendix 3
	Appendix A
	Timeline

	Appendix B
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2


	9 Seascape Group Limited 5 Year Strategic Plan (2020-25)
	Appendix A - 5 year strategic plan
	5 Year Budget 2021-25

	10 Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) Programme
	Appendices A-D

	11 Delivery of Sprinkler Installation at Sterte Court
	12 Whitecliff Recreation Ground - Pavilion Redevelopment
	13 Holes Bay, Poole (former power station site) acquisition strategy
	Appendix 1 - Confidential Appendices
	Appendix 2 - Holes Bay site plan
	Appendix 3 - Holes Bay Rd (Former PS site) Risk Register
	Financial
	Strategic
	Procurement
	Political
	Technical
	Legal -Procurement
	Comms
	CompleteArchive
	Key


	14 Bournemouth Town Centre Vision (TCV): Winter Gardens Site – Regeneration Opportunities
	Appendix C - Winter Gardens Brochure
	Winter Gardens Regeneration Scheme Confidential Appendix D v3 - FINAL

	15 Children's Services Capital Strategy
	16 Traffic Regulation Orders
	16a Traffic Regulation Orders - Sub Report A - Aston Way
	Enc. 1 for Traffic Regulation Order - Aston Way

	16b Traffic Regulation Orders - Sub Report B - Steeple Close and Tollerford Road
	Enc 1 for Traffic Regulation Orders - Steeple Close and Tollerford Road

	16c Traffic Regulation Orders – Sub Report C - Dear Hay Lane
	Enc. 1 for Traffic Regulation Orders – Dear Hay Lane

	16d Traffic Regulation Orders – Sub Report D - North Street
	16e Traffic Regulation Orders – Sub Report E - Sherwood Avenue
	Enc. 1 for Traffic Regulation Orders – Sherwood Avenue
	Sheets and Views
	A4 LANDSCAPE



	16f Traffic Regulation Orders - Sub Report F - Douglas Gardens
	Enc. 1 for Traffic Regulation Orders - Douglas Gardens
	Sheets and Views
	A4 LANDSCAPE



	16g Traffic Regulation Orders – Sub Report G - Salterns Road
	Enc. 1 for Traffic Regulation Orders – Salterns Road
	Sheets and Views
	A4 PORTRAIT



	16h Traffic Regulation Orders – Sub Report H - Sunridge Close
	Enc. 1 for Traffic Regulation Orders – Sunridge Close
	Sheets and Views
	A4 LANDSCAPE



	16i Traffic Regulation Orders – Sub Report I - Southill Road/Sunnyside Road
	Enc. 1 for Traffic Regulation Orders – Southill Road/Sunnyside Road
	Sheets and Views
	A4 LANDSCAPE



	16j Traffic Regulation Orders – Sub Report J - Sealing of Traffic Regulation Orders Ref P16 2019
	Enc. 1 for Traffic Regulation Orders – Sealing of Traffic Regulation Orders Ref P16 2019
	Enc. 2 for Traffic Regulation Orders – Sealing of Traffic Regulation Orders Ref P16 2019
	Enc. 3 for Traffic Regulation Orders – Sealing of Traffic Regulation Orders Ref P16 2019

	16k Traffic Regulation Orders – Sub Report K - Sealing of Traffic Regulation Orders (Ref P17 2019)
	Enc. 1 for Traffic Regulation Orders – Sealing of Traffic Regulation Orders (Ref P17 2019)
	Enc. 2 for Traffic Regulation Orders – Sealing of Traffic Regulation Orders (Ref P17 2019)
	Enc. 3 for Traffic Regulation Orders – Sealing of Traffic Regulation Orders (Ref P17 2019)

	16l Traffic Regulation Orders – Sub Report L - Sealing of Traffic Regulation Order Ref P18 2019
	Enc. 1 for Traffic Regulation Orders – Sealing of Traffic Regulation Order Ref P18 2019
	Enc. 2 for Traffic Regulation Orders – Sealing of Traffic Regulation Order Ref P18 2019




